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Leveraged and Tracking Products Issuance Programme

Under the Leveraged and Tracking Products Issuance Programme (the Programme), each of Société Générale, SG Issuer and Société Générale
Effekten GmbH (each an Issuer and together the Issuers) may from time to time issue leveraged and tracking products (the Leveraged and
Tracking Products) denominated in any currency agreed by the Issuer of such Leveraged and Tracking Products (the relevant Issuer) and the
relevant Purchaser(s) (as defined below).

Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme may either be unsecured or secured (Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Products), as specified in the applicable Final Terms and as further described herein.

Payments in respect of Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by SG Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH will be unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed by Société Générale (the Guarantor).

The Leveraged and Tracking Products will be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified in the “General Description of
the Programme” and any additional dealer appointed under the Programme from time to time (each a Dealer and together the Dealers). Leveraged
and Tracking Products may also be issued to third parties other than Dealers. Dealers and such third parties are referred to as Purchasers. The
terms and conditions of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products (the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products) are set out
herein in “Terms and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products” and the terms and conditions of the German Law Leveraged
and Tracking Products (the German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products) are set out herein in “Terms and Conditions of the German Law
Leveraged and Tracking Products”.

English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products may be issued in global clearing system bearer form (Clearing System Global Securities), in
registered form (Registered Securities) or in uncertificated form (Uncertificated Securities). Registered Securities may be represented by one
or more Registered Global Securities (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products ”). Uncertificated
Securities shall include Uncertificated Nordic Securities, Uncertificated Italian Securities and EUI Securities (and will be issued in uncertificated, all
as defined and further described in “Form of the Leveraged and Tracking Products”).

Clearing System Global Securities and Registered Global Securities (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and
Tracking Products”) will be deposited with a common depositary (Common Depositary) on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the
Euroclear System (Euroclear) and Clearstream Banking, S.A. (Clearstream, Luxembourg). Clearing System Global Securities will also be
deposited with a depositary for Sociedad de Gestién de los Sistemos de Registro, Compensacion y Liquidacion de Valores, S.A. Unipersonal
(Iberclear).

Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders may hold EUI Securities through Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (formerly known as CRESTCo Limited)
(such clearing system, EUl or CREST).

German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products will be issued in materialised form (Materialised Leveraged and Tracking Products) as more
fully described in “Form of the Leveraged and Tracking Products” herein. A temporary global certificate in bearer form (a Temporary Global
Certificate) will initially be issued in connection with Materialised Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Application has been made to the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the CSSF) in its capacity as competent authority under the
loi relative aux prospectus pour valeurs mobilieres dated 10 July 2005, as amended, which implements the Prospectus Directive (the Luxembourg
Act) to approve this document as a base prospectus. Such application does not extend to money market instruments (as defined in the Prospectus
Directive) having a maturity of less than one year or to Leveraged and Tracking Products (which are not publically offered) to be admitted to trading
on the Euro MTF (as defined below). By approving this Base Prospectus, the CSSF gives no undertaking as to the economic or financial
opportuneness of the transaction or the quality or solvency of the Issuers in line with the provisions of article 7(7) of the Luxembourg Act. Application
has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme to be admitted to
trading on (i) the Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and (i)
the multilateral trading facility Euro MTF of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the Euro MTF). The regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange is a regulated market for the purposes of Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU of 15 May 2014 (as amended, MiFID I1)
(a Regulated Market). The Euro MTF is not a regulated market within the meaning of the Markets in Financial Instrument Directive 2004/39/EC,
as amended, of 21 April 2004 and accordingly the CSSF is not the competent authority for the approval of this Base Prospectus in connection with
Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme which are admitted to trading on the EuroMTF, but the EuroMTF is subject to the



supervision of the CSSF. Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme may also be unlisted or listed and admitted to trading on
any other market, including any other Regulated Market in any Member State of the EEA and/or offered to the public in any Member State of the
EEA. The applicable Final Terms in respect of the Issue of any Leveraged and Tracking Products (as defined below) will specify whether or not
such Leveraged and Tracking Products will be listed and admitted to trading on any market and/or offered to the public in any Member State of the
EEA and, if so, the relevant market.

The CSSF has neither reviewed nor approved any information in this Base Prospectus pertaining to Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to
trading on the Euro MTF. The CSSF assumes therefore no responsibility in relation to the issues of Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to
trading on the Euro MTF.

The Leveraged and Tracking Products and any guarantee thereof have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act
of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act) or under the securities law of any state or political sub-division of the United States, and trading in the
Leveraged and Tracking Products has not been approved by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the CFTC) under the United States
Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended (the CEA). No person has registered and no person will register as a “commodity pool operator”
of any Issuer under the CEA and the rules thereunder (the CFTC Rules) of the CFTC, and no Issuer has been and no Issuer will be registered as
an investment company under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder (the
Investment Company Act). The Leveraged and Tracking Products are being offered and sold in reliance on an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S thereunder (Regulation S).

Accordingly, the Leveraged and Tracking Products may only be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred in an “offshore transaction” (as
defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit of a person who (a) is not (i) a U.S. person as defined in Regulation S (Regulation S
U.S. Person) unless the applicable Final Terms specify that a U.S. person as defined in paragraph 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986 (IRS U.S. Person) is also applicable or (ii) if in the case of SGI Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products, Advised SGI Index is
applicable, a person who is either a Regulation S U.S. Person or an IRS U.S. Person unless the applicable Final Terms specify that only a Regulation
S U.S. Person is applicable;; and (b) is not a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the CEA or any CFTC Rule,
guidance or order proposed or issued under the CEA (for the avoidance of doubt, any person who is not a “Non-United States person” defined
under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv), but excluding, for purposes of subsection (D) thereof, the exception for qualified eligible persons who are not “Non-
United States persons,” shall be considered a U.S. person) , and (c) is not a "U.S. person" for purposes of the final rules implementing the credit
risk retention requirements of Section 15G of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the U.S. Risk Retention Rules) (a Risk
Retention U.S. Person) (such a person or account as described herein, a Permitted Transferee). The Leveraged and Tracking Products are
available only to Permitted Transferees.

THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED WITH, OR APPROVED BY, ANY UNITED STATES
FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES OR COMMODITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING
AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THIS OFFERING OR THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS
BASE PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES

U.S. Treasury regulations issued under Section 871(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Section 871(m) Regulations) generally
impose a 30% withholding tax on dividend equivalents paid or deemed paid to a non-United States holder as defined pursuant to Section 871(m)
Regulations (a Non-U.S. Holder), without regard to any applicable treaty rate, with respect to certain financial instruments linked to U.S. equities
or indices that include U.S. equities (U.S. Underlying Equities). Specifically, and subject to the special rules from 2017through 2020 set out in
Notice 2018-72 (the Notice), Section 871(m) Regulations will generally apply to Leveraged and Tracking Products the pricing date of which occurs
from 1 January 2017 that substantially replicate the economic performance of one or more U.S. Underlying Equities as determined by the Issuer
on the date for such Leveraged and Tracking Products as of which the expected delta of the product is determined by the Issuer (such date being
the pricing date) based on tests in accordance with the applicable Section 871(m) Regulations (for the purposes of the Notice, such Leveraged
and Tracking Products are deemed “delta-one” instruments) (the Specified Leveraged and Tracking Products). A Leveraged and Tracking
Product linked to U.S. Underlying Equities which the Issuer has determined not to be a Specified Leveraged and Tracking Product will not be subject
to withholding tax under Section 871(m) Regulations. Investors are advised that the Issuer’s determination is binding on all Non-U.S. Holders of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products, but it is not binding on the United States Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) and the IRS may therefore disagree
with the Issuer’s determination.

The applicable Final Terms will specify if the Leveraged and Tracking Products are Specified Leveraged and Tracking Products, and, if so, whether
the Issuer or its withholding agent will withhold tax under Section 871(m) Regulations and the rate of the withholding tax. Investors should note that
if the Issuer or any withholding agent determines that withholding is required, neither the Issuer nor the withholding agent will be required to gross
up any amounts withheld in connection with a Specified Leveraged and Tracking Product. Investors should consult their tax adviser regarding the
potential application of Section 871(m) Regulations to their investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Notice of the number of Leveraged and Tracking Products and the issue price of the Leveraged and Tracking Products which are applicable to each
Issue (as defined in the Terms and Conditions) of Leveraged and Tracking Products will be set out in a final terms document (the Final Terms)
which (except in the case of Private Placement Leveraged and Tracking Products (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the English Law
Leveraged and Tracking Products” and “Terms and Conditions of the German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products”)) will be filed with the CSSF.
The Programme provides that Leveraged and Tracking Products may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on such other or further
stock exchanges or markets or quotation systems as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the relevant Purchaser. Each
Issuer may also issue unlisted Leveraged and Tracking Products and/or Leveraged and Tracking Products not admitted to trading on any market.

The Leveraged and Tracking Products will not be rated.

IMPORTANT — EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Leveraged and Tracking Products state “Prohibition of Sales to
EEA Retail Investors” as Applicable, the Leveraged and Tracking Products, from 1 January 2018 are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise
made available to and, with effect from such date, should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European
Economic Area (EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of
Article 4(1) of MIiFID lI; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU (as amended or superseded, the Insurance Distribution
Directive), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified
investor as defined in Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended or superseded, the Prospectus Directive). Consequently no key information document
required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Leveraged and Tracking Products or otherwise
making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Leveraged and Tracking Products or
otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

MiFID Il product governance/ target market — the Final Terms in respect of any Leveraged and Tracking Products will include a legend entitled
“MIFID Il product governance”. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Leveraged and Tracking Products (a distributor)
should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID Il is responsible for undertaking its own target
market assessment in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining
appropriate distribution channels.



A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the Product Governance rules under EU Delegated 2017/593
(the MiFID Product Governance Rules), any Dealer subscribing for any Leveraged and Tracking Products is a manufacturer in respect of such
Leveraged and Tracking Products, but otherwise neither the Arranger or the Dealer nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for
the purpose of the MIFID Product Governance Rules.

Amounts payable under the Leveraged and Tracking Products may be calculated by reference to EURIBOR, LIBOR, STIBOR, NIBOR or SGI
Indices, which are respectively provided by the European Money Markets Institute (EMMI), ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (ICE), Swedish
Bankers’ Association (SBA), Norske Finansielle Referanser (NoRe) and Société Générale. Amounts payable under the Leveraged and Tracking
Products may also be calculated by reference to one or more “benchmarks” (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) for the purposes of
Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 (the Benchmarks Regulation). In this case, a
statement will be included in the applicable Final Terms as to whether or not the relevant administrator of the “benchmark” is included in ESMA’s
register of administrators under Atrticle 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation. As at the date of this Base Prospectus, (i) ICE and EMMI appear on the
register and (ii) SBA, NoRe and Société Générale do not appear on such register. As far as the Issuer is aware, the transitional provisions in Article
51 of the Benchmark Regulation apply, such that EMMI and Société Générale are not currently required to obtain authorisation or registration.

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to
time (the SFA) — Unless otherwise stated in the Final Terms in respect of any Leveraged and Tracking Products, in connection with Section 309B
of the SFA and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the CMP Regulations 2018), the Issuer has
determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309(A)(1) of the SFA), that the Levereaged and Tracking Products are
capital markets products other than prescribed capital markets products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Specified Investment
Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on
Recommendations on Investment Products).

On 26 October 2018, Société Générale, SG Issuer and Société Générale Effekten GmbH issued a base prospectus describing the Programme.
This Base Prospectus supersedes and replaces this base prospectus and the supplements thereto (except in relation to pending offers to the public,
as detailed in “On-going Public Offers”) for the purpose of Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in any
Member State of the EEA and/or offered to the public in any Member State of the EEA and issued after the date of this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus is dated 17 July 2019.

ARRANGER

Société Générale

DEALERS
Société Générale
Société Générale Bank & Trust
SG Option Europe

Société Générale, Sucursal en Espafia
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Summary

SUMMARY

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as Elements, the communication of which is required
by Annex XXII of the Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 as amended. These elements are numbered in
Sections A—E (A.1 - E.7).

This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities and Issuer.
Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the numbering sequence of the

Elements.

Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities and
Issuer, itis possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element. In this case a short description
of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of “Not applicable”.

[If several Issues of securities are to be issued or offered simultaneously in one set of Final Terms, the items which
differ for such Issues of securities can be grouped in a table (the Issue Specific Information Table)]*

Section A — Introduction and warnings

Al

Warning

This summary must be read as an introduction to the base prospectus.

Any decision to invest in the leveraged and tracking products should be based on
a consideration of the base prospectus as a whole by the investor.

Where a claim relating to the information contained in the base prospectus and the
applicable final terms is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might, under
the national legislation of the member states of the European Economic Area (the
“Member States”), have to bear the costs of translating the base prospectus
before the legal proceedings are initiated.

Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled this summary,
including any translation thereof, but only if the summary is misleading, inaccurate
or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the base prospectus or
it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of this base
prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when considering whether to
invest in the leveraged and tracking products.

A.2

Consent to the
use of the Base
Prospectus

[Not applicable. The leveraged and tracking products issued under a leveraged
and tracking products issuance programme (the Programme) pursuant to which
each of Société Générale, SG Issuer and Société Générale Effekten GmbH may
from time to time issue leveraged and tracking products (the Leveraged and
Tracking Products) are not subject to a public offer in the Member States.]

[The Issuer consents to the use of this base prospectus relating to a leveraged and
tracking products issuance programme (the Programme) pursuant to which each
of Société Générale, SG Issuer and Société Générale Effekten GmbH may from
time to time issue leveraged and tracking products (the Base Prospectus) in
connection with a resale or placement of leveraged and tracking products issued
under the Programme (the Leveraged and Tracking Products) in circumstances
where a prospectus is required to be published under Directive 2003/71/EC as
amended (the Prospectus Directive) (a Non-exempt Offer) subject to the
following conditions:

- the consent is only valid during the offer period from [Specify date] to [Specify
date] (the Offer Period);

- the consent given by the Issuer for the use of the Base Prospectus to make the
Non-exempt Offer is [an individual consent (an Individual Consent) in respect of
[Specify name and address] ([each a] [the] Initial Authorised Offeror[s])] and if
the Issuer appoints any additional financial intermediaries after the [insert date of
the applicable Final Terms] and publishes details of them on its website ([www.sg-
zertifikate.de] [www.sgbourse.fr] [etp.societegenerale.co.uk]
[www.societegenerale.se] [www.societegenerale.fi] [www.sgbolsa.es]

1 To be deleted in an issue specific summary
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[www.prodotti.societegenerale.it] [www.beurs.societegenerale.nl]), each financial
intermediary whose details are so published (each an Additional Authorised
Offeror;] [and] [a general consent (a General Consent) in respect of any financial
intermediary who published on its website that it will make the Non-exempt Offer
of the Leveraged and Tracking Products on the basis of the General Consent given
by the Issuer and by such publication, any such financial intermediary (each a
General Authorised Offeror) undertakes to comply with the following obligations:

(@)

(b)

©

(d)

(e)

it acts in accordance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and
guidance (including from any regulatory body) applicable to the Non-
exempt Offer of the Leveraged and Tracking Products in the Public Offer
Jurisdiction, in particular the law implementing the Markets in Financial
Instruments Directive 2014/65/EU of 15 May 2014 (as amended, the
Rules) and makes sure that (i) any investment advice in the Leveraged
and Tracking Products by any person is appropriate, (ii) the information
to prospective investors including the information relating to any
expenses (and any commissions or benefits of any kind) received or paid
by this General Authorised Offeror under the offer of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products is fully and clearly disclosed prior to their investment
in the Leveraged and Tracking Products;

it complies with the relevant subscription, sale and transfer restrictions
related to the Public Offer Jurisdiction as if it acted as a Dealer in the
Public Offer Jurisdiction and it takes into consideration the relevant
manufacturer's target market assessment and distribution channels
identified under the "MiFID Il product governance" legend set out in the
applicable Final Terms;

it ensures that the existence of any fee (and any other commissions or
benefits of any kind) or rebate received or paid by it in relation to the offer
or sale of the Leveraged and Tracking Products does not violate the
Rules, is fully and clearly disclosed to investors or prospective Investors
prior to their investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products and to
the extent required by the Rules, provides further information in respect
thereof;

it complies with the Rules relating to anti-money laundering, anti-
corruption, anti-bribery and “know your customer” rules (including, without
limitation, taking appropriate steps, in compliance with such rules, to
establish and document the identity of each prospective investor prior to
initial investment in any Leveraged and Tracking Products by the
investor), and will not permit any application for Leveraged and Tracking
Products in circumstances where it has any suspicion as to the source of
the application monies; it retains investor identification records for at least
the minimum period required under applicable Rules, and shall, if so
requested, make such records available to the relevant Issuer and/or the
relevant Dealer or directly to the competent authorities with jurisdiction
over the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer in order to enable the
relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer to comply with anti-money
laundering, anti-corruption, anti-bribery and “know your customer” rules
applying to the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer;

it co-operates with the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in providing relevant
information (including, without limitation, documents and records
maintained pursuant to paragraph (d) above) and such further assistance
as reasonably requested upon written request from the Issuer or the
relevant Dealer in each case, as soon as is reasonably practicable and,
in any event, within any time frame set by any such regulator or regulatory
process. For this purpose, relevant information that is available to or can
be acquired by the relevant financial intermediary:

0] in connection with any request or investigation by any regulator
in relation to the Leveraged and Tracking Products, the Issuer
or the relevant Dealer; and/or

(i) in connection with any complaints received by the Issuer and/or
the relevant Dealer relating to the Issuer and/or the relevant
Dealer or another Authorised Offeror including, without
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limitation, complaints as defined in rules published by any
regulator of competent jurisdiction from time to time; and/or

(i) which the Issuer or the relevant Dealer may reasonably require
from time to time in relation to the Leveraged and Tracking
Products and/or as to allow the Issuer or the relevant Dealer fully
to comply with its own legal, tax and regulatory requirements;

it does not, directly or indirectly, cause the relevant Issuer or the relevant
Dealer to breach any Rule or any requirement to obtain or make any filing,
authorisation or consent in any jurisdiction;

it meets [insert any other conditions to consent specified in the paragraph
“Other conditions to consent” in the applicable Final Terms];

it commits itself to indemnify the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if
applicable) and the relevant Dealer, Société Générale and each of its
affiliates (for any damage, loss, expense, claim, request or loss and fees
(including reasonable fees from law firms) incurred by one of these
entities because of, or in relation with, any failure by this General
Authorised Offeror (or any of its sub-distributors) to respect any of these
obligations above;

it is familiar with, and has policies and procedures in place to comply with,
any applicable rules and regulations relating to anti-bribery and
corruption, including any changes thereto;

(a) it and any person within its control (including any director, officer or
employee, each a controlled person) has not committed and will not
commit any corrupt act directly or indirectly and (b) to the best of its
knowledge, none of its sub-distributors has committed any corrupt act
directly or indirectly, in each case to or for the use or benefit of, any person
or any government official (which shall include any official, employee or
representative of, or any other person acting in an official capacity for or
on behalf of any government of any jurisdiction, any public international
organisation, any political party, or any quasi-governmental body);

it has in place adequate policies, systems, procedures and controls
designed to prevent itself, its sub-distributors and any controlled person
from committing any corrupt act and to ensure that any evidence or
suspicion of corrupt acts is fully investigated, reported to Société
Générale or the relevant Issuer and acted upon accordingly;

neither it nor any of its agents, sub-distributors or controlled persons is
ineligible or treated by any governmental or international authority as
ineligible to tender for any contract or business with, or to be awarded any
contract or business by, such authority on the basis of any actual or
alleged corrupt act;

it has kept adequate records of its activities, including financial records in
a form and manner appropriate for a business of its size and resources;

it represents and warrants that it shall not distribute financial instruments
to, or enter into any arrangement with respect to financial instruments
with, sanctioned persons;

it undertakes to promptly inform Société Générale or the relevant Issuer
of (a) any complaint received in relation to its activities or the financial
instruments; or (b) any event affecting it, including but not limited to any
of: (i) a regulatory investigation or audit of it or its affiliates, partners or
agents; (ii) legal proceedings initiated by a competent regulatory authority
against it or its affiliates, partners or agents; or (iii) a judgment rendered
or penalty levied against it or its affiliates, partners or agents, which in
each case might reasonably involve a reputational risk for Société
Générale or the relevant Issuer; and




Summary

[(0)/(p)] it acknowledges that its commitment to respect the obligations above is
governed by [German law] [English law] and agrees that any related
dispute be brought before the [German courts] [English courts].

[Any General Authorised Offeror who wishes to use the Base Prospectus
for an Non-exempt Offer of Leveraged and Tracking Products in
accordance with this General Consent and the related conditions is
required, during the time of the relevant Offer Period, to publish on its
website that it uses the Base Prospectus for such Non-exempt Offer in
accordance with this General Consent and the related conditions.]

- the consent only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Non-
exempt Offers of the Leveraged and Tracking Products in [Denmark] [Finland]
[France] [Germany] [ltaly] [Luxembourg] [Netherlands] [Spain] [Sweden] [the
United Kingdom].

[The information relating to the conditions of the Non-exempt Offer shall be
provided to the investors by [any Initial Authorised Offeror] [and] [any
Additional Authorised Offeror] [and] [any General Authorised Offeror] at the
time the offer is made.]]

Section B - Issuer[s] [and Guarantor]

B.1 Legal and [Société Générale (or the Issuer)]
commercial
name of the [SG Issuer (or the Issuer)]
Issuer o
[Société Générale Effekten GmbH (or the Issuer)]
B.2 Domicile, legal [If the Issuer is Société Générale:
form, legislation | pomicile: 29, boulevard Haussmann, 75009 Paris, France.
and country of Leaal form: Public limited liabilit 6t
incorpora-tion egal form: Public limited liability company (société anonyme).
Legislation under which the Issuer operates: French law.
Country of incorporation: France.]
[If the Issuer is SG Issuer:
Domicile: 16, boulevard Royal, L- 2449 Luxembourg.
Legal form: Public limited liability company (société anonyme).
Legislation under which the Issuer operates: Luxembourg law.
Country of incorporation: Luxembourg.]
[If the Issuer is Société Générale Effekten GmbH:
Domicile: Neue Mainzer Strasse 46-50, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany.
Legal form: Limited liability company (Gesellschaft mit beschréankter Haftung
(GmbH)).
Legislation under which the Issuer operates: German law.
Country of incorporation: Germany.]
B.4b Known trends

affecting the
Issuer and the
industries in
which it operates

[If the Issuer is Société Générale:

Société Générale continues to be subject to the usual risks and the risks inherent
to its business. More specifically, the Group could be affected by:

- The risks to global growth have ramped up owing to the high level of political
uncertainty. The markets will continue to dwell on the negotiations between
the US and China. The risk of new obstacles stemming from world trade
tensions, no Brexit deal and euro zone policy, notably the European
Parliament elections at the end of May, remains high. And this applies against
the backdrop of high debt levels and unstable financial markets.

- Business seems to be losing pace in the approach to 2019 on emerging
markets, undercut by the decline in world demand and by the tightening of
world financial conditions. Emerging Asia remains the strongest growth
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region. Central and eastern Europe are also showing resilience in the face of
the loss of pace in the euro zone.

- In Russia, the economy should resist the impact of sanctions in the short term
and the underlying financial situation is still sound. In Brazil, the new
administration will have to undertake pension reforms, essential to correct the
fiscal base.

- In terms of shift in central bank monetary policies:

o The Federal Reserve is determined to scale down its balance sheet and
is likely to raise rates in 2019. However, the recent increase in volatility on
financial markets and the global revaluation of risk premiums could prompt
the Fed to pause its monetary tightening.

o The ECB has confirmed that it will have put an end to its net asset
purchases as of January 2019. It is unlikely to raise interest rates before
the end of the summer 2019. The situation is unclear given the euro zone
slowdown that has set in since the end of 2018.

- 2019 will also be characterised by geopolitical uncertainty, in prolongation of
a number of events over the last two years.

- For 2019, the regulatory timetable is likely to loom large in the European
legislative process with regard to the set of texts on sustainable finance
(taxonomy, disclosures and benchmarks), in continuation of the third target
for the Paris agreements (reorientation of financial flows towards
decarbonised businesses), plus the revision to prudential rules applicable to
investment companies (Investment Firms Review — IFR).

Against this backdrop, and to generate responsible and profitable growth, the

Group’s main priorities in 2019 will be to:

- growth via implementation of the Group’s key revenues initiatives;

- accelerate transformation of all businesses and functions, notably for the
French retail relationship model, and adapt the Global Markets strategy;

- deliver on costs (notably an additional EUR 500m cost reduction in Global
Banking and Investor Solutions) and maintain strict control of risks and
selective capital allocation;

- continue its refocusing, via the disposal or closure of businesses lacking
critical size or not offering sufficient synergies, with a target raised from 50-
60bp to 80-90bp of impact on the CET 1 ratio by the end of 2020;

- foster responsibility via ongoing deployment of the Culture & Conduct
programme and further integration of the CSR strategy.]

[If the Issuer is SG Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH:

The Issuer expects to continue its activity in accordance with its corporate objects
over the course of 2019.]

B.5

Description of
the Issuer’s
group and the
Issuer’s position
within the group

The Société Générale group (the Group) offers a wide range of advisory services
and tailored financial solutions to individual customers, large corporate and
institutional investors. The Group relies on three complementary core businesses:

e  French Retail Banking;
¢ International Retail Banking, Financial Services and Insurance; and

e Corporate and Investment Banking, Private Banking, Asset and Wealth
Management and Securities Services.

[If the Issuer is Société Générale: The Issuer is the parent company of the Group.]

[If the Issuer is SG Issuer: The Issuer is a subsidiary of the Group and has no
subsidiaries.]

[If the Issuer is Société Générale Effekten GmbH:
The Issuer is a susbsidiary of the Group and has two subsidiaries.

Upon conclusion of the purchase agreement as of 1 January 2017, the Issuer
purchased the shares of Société Générale Securities Services GmbH (SGSS),

-10 -




Summary

Unterféhring, including its subsidiaries, and ALD Lease Finanz GmbH (ALD LF),
Hamburg (hereafter, such three companies together the SGE Group).]
B.9 Figure of profit Not applicable. The Issuer does not provide any figure or profit forecast or
forecast or estimate.
estimate of the
Issuer
B.10 Nature of any Not applicable. The audit report does not include any qualification.
qualifications in
the audit report
on the historical
financial
information
B.12 Selected [If the Issuer is Société Générale:
historical key
financial First Quarter | Year ended | First Quarter | Year ended
information 2019 31.12.2018®) 2018 31.12.2017
regarding the (unaudited) (audited) (unaudited) (audited)
| r
ssue Results (in millions of
euros)
Net Banking Income 6,191 25,205 6,294 23,954
Operating income 1,138 6,269 1,357 4,767
Underlying Group Net
income @ 1,010 4,468 1,204 4,491
Reported  Group  Net 631 3,864 850 2,806
income
French retail Banking 234 1,237 270 1,059
International Retail
Banking &  Financial 464 2,065 429 1,939
Services
Global Ban_klng and 140 1,197 166 1,593
Investor Solutions
Corporate Centre (207) (635) (15) (1,785)
Net cost of risk (264) (2,005) (208) (1,349)
Underlying ROTE ** @ 8.4% 9.7% 10.9% 9.6%
Tier 1 Ratio ** 14.3%9 13.4%® 13.6% 13.8%
Activity (in billions of
euros)
Total assets and liabilities 1,363.6 1,309.4 1,271.9 1,274.2%
Customer  loans  at .
amortised costs 436.8 447.2 423.3 417.4
Customer deposits 409.9 416.8 409.4 410.6*
Equity (in billions of
euros)
Shareholders' equity, "
Group Share 61.8 61.0 58.9 59.9
Non-controlling interests 49 4.8 4.6 4.5*%
Cash flow statements
(in millions of euros)
Net inflow (outﬂo_w) in ) (17,617) ) 18,023
cash and cash equivalent
* as at 1% January 2018 (audited). The consolidated balance sheet totalled EUR 1,309
billion at 31 December 2018 (EUR 1,274 billion at 1% January 2018, EUR 1,275 billion
at 315 December 2017). Balances at 1% January 2018 after first-time application of IFRS
9 except for subsidiaries in the insurance sector.
**  These financial ratios are neither audited nor subjected to a limited review.
(1) Adjusted for non-economic and exceptional items, and for IFRIC 21.
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(2) Adjusted for non-economic items (in 2017) and exceptional items.

(3) The presentation of the Groups consolidated income statement is modified as from
2018 following the transition to IFRS 9:
e income and expenses from insurance activities are grouped on a specific line

item within the "Net banking income";

e the line item "Cost of risk" is now exclusively dedicated to credit risk.
(4) Taking into account the option of a dividend payment in shares subject to approval by

the Ordinary General Meeting on May 21st, 2019, with the assumption of a 50%
subscription rate, having in particular an impact of +24bp on the CET1 ratio.]

[If the Issuer is SG Issuer:

(in K€) Year ended 2018 Year ended 2017
(audited) (audited)

Total Revenue 68,302 92,353

Profit before tax 251 105

g(ra?ifétdf/?/;;?e financial 187 78

Total Assets 49,362,650 48,026,909

]

[If the Issuer is Société Générale Effekten GmbH:

ASSETS Year ended 2018* | Year ended 2017**
(in euro thousand) (audited) (audited)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or

3,930,004 5,194,717
loss
Available-for-sale financial assets - 74,321
Loans to and receivables from banks 189,534 157,587
Loans to and receivables from customers 3,968,578 3,629,045
Receivables under finance leases 452,370 428,203
Tax assets 2,857 25,537
Other assets 122,928 119,456
Property, plant and equipment and intangible 560,374 456,817
assets
Goodwill 2,808 3,569
Total 9,229,453 10,089,252

Equity and Liabilities

Year ended 2018*

Year ended 2017**

(in euro thousand) (audited) (audited)
llzgsnual liabilities at fair value through profit or 3,856,117 5102135
Liabilities to banks 4,108,093 3,880,971
Liabilities to customers 1,317 1,997
Securitized liabilities 1,086,040 797,652
Tax liabilities 11 3,848
Other liabilities 182,508 225,289
Provisions 17,015 17,160
Total liabilities 9,252,814 10,119,051
EQUITY

Subscribed capital 26 26
Profit carried forward 1,138 1,138
Consolidated provisions/Other provisions (89,506) (88,765)
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]

Financial year profit/loss/Financial year 67.193 57799
profit/loss (net) ! !
Subtotal (21,149) (29,803)
Other comprehensive income / Other net income
for the period OCI (672) (129)
Subtotal equity (Group share) (21,821) (29,932)
Non-controlling interests (1,539) 133
Total Equity (23,360) (29,799)
Total 9,229,453 10,089,252

* The figures as of 31.12.2018 are figures that are included in the consolidated balance

sheet of the consolidated financial statements of Société Générale Effekten GmbH for the
financial year 2018. The information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS 9.

*x The figures as of 31.12.2017 are figures that are included in the consolidated balance
sheet of the consolidated financial statements of Société Générale Effekten GmbH for the
financial year 2017. The information has been prepared in accordance with IAS 39.

Statement as no
material adverse
changein the
prospects of the
Issuer since the
date of its last
published
audited financial
statements

[If the Issuer is Société Générale, SG Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH:

There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since
31 December 2018.]

Significant
changes in the
Issuer’s financial
or trading posi-
tion subsequent
to the period
covered by the
historical finan-
cial information

[If the Issuer is Société Générale:

Not Applicable. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading
position of the Issuer since 31 March 2019.]

[If the Issuer is Société Générale Effekten GmbH or SG Issuer:

Not Applicable. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading
position of the Issuer since 31 December 2018.]

B.13

Recent events
particular to the
Issuer which are
to a material
extent relevant
to the evaluation
of the Issuer’s
solvency

Not applicable. There have been no recent events particular to the Issuer which
are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the Issuer’s solvency.

B.14

Statement as to
whether the
Issuer is depen-
dent upon other
entities within
the group

See Element B.5 above for the Issuer’s position within the Group.

[Société Générale is the ultimate holding company of the Group. However, Société
Générale operates its own business; it does not act as a simple holding company
vis-a-vis its subsidiaries.]

[SG Issuer is dependent upon Société Générale Bank & Trust within the Group.]

[Société Générale Effekten GmbH is dependent upon Société Générale within the
Group.]
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B.15

Description of
the Issuer’s prin-
cipal activities

[If the Issuer is Société Générale: See Element B.5 above.]

[The principal activity of SG Issuer is raising finance by the issuance of leveraged
and tracking products as well as debt securities designed to be placed to
institutional customers or retail customers through the distributors associated with
Société Générale. The financing obtained through the issuance of such debt
securities is then lent to Société Générale and to other members of the Group.]

[The business purpose of Société Générale Effekten GmbH is the issue and sale
of securities as well as related activities, with the exception of those requiring a
licence. It is engaged in the issue and placement of securities, mainly leveraged
and tracking products, as well as related activities. Banking business as defined
by the German Banking Act (Kreditwesengesetz, KWG) is not included in the
business purpose. Société Générale Effekten GmbH is a financial entity as defined
in Sec. 1(3) Sentence 1 No. 5 KWG.]

B.16

To the extent
known to the
Issuer, whether
the Issuer is
directly or in-
directly owned
or controlled and
by whom, and
description of
the nature of
such control

[Not applicable. To its knowledge, Société Générale is not owned or controlled,
directly or indirectly (under German law) by another entity.]

[SG Issuer is a 100 per cent. owned subsidiary of Société Générale Bank & Trust
S.A. which is itself a 100 per cent, owned subsidiary of Société Générale and is a
fully consolidated company.]

[Société Générale Effekten GmbH is a wholly owned subsidiary of Société
Générale, Paris and is a fully consolidated company.]

[Delete Elements B.18 and B.19 if Société Générale is the Issuer of the Leveraged and Tracking Products]

[B.18

Nature and sco-
pe of the guaran-
tee

The Leveraged and Tracking Products are unconditionally and irrevocably
guaranteed by Société Générale (the Guarantor) pursuant to the guarantees
made as of 17 July 2019.

For Leveraged and Tracking Products which will be issued under the Terms and
Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products, the Deed of
Guarantee dated as of 17 July 2019 will apply (the Deed of Guarantee).

For Leveraged and Tracking Products which will be issued under the Terms and
Conditions of the German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products, the Form of
Guarantee dated as of 17 July 2019 will apply (the Form of Guarantee and
together with the Deed of Guarantee, the Guarantees).

The Guarantees constitutee a direct, unconditional, unsecured and general
obligation of the Guarantor and ranks and will rank at least pari passu with all other
existing and future direct, unconditional, unsecured and general obligations of the
Guarantor, including those in respect of deposits.

Any references to sums or amounts payable by the Issuer which are guaranteed
by the Guarantor under the Guarantees shall be to such sums and/or amounts as
directly reduced, and/or in the case of conversion into equity, as reduced by the
amount of such conversion, and/or otherwise modified from time to time resulting
from the application of a bail-in power by any relevant authority pursuant to
directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the
European Union.

B.19

Information
about the
Guarantor as if it
were the issuer
of the same type
of security that
is subject of the
guarantees

The information about Société Générale as if it were the issuer of the same type
of Leveraged and Tracking Products that is subject of the Guarantees is set out in
accordance with Elements B.19 / B.1, B.19/ B.2, B.19 / B.4b, B.19/ B.5, B.19 /
B.9, B.19/B.10, B.19/B.12,B.19/B.13, B.19/ B.14, B.19/ B.15 [,] [and] B.19 /
B.16 below, respectively:

[If Société Générale is acting as Guarantor insert here Elements B.1 to B.18 above
containing information relating to the Guarantor]]
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Section C — Securities

Cl1 Type and the [The Leveraged and Tracking Products are linked to [a] [share[s]] [,][and] [an]
class of the [index][indices][,][and] [a] [depositary [receipt][receipts]] [.][and] [an] [exchange
securities being traded fund[s] (ETF)] [,]J[and] [an] [exchange-traded product[s] (ETP)] [,][and] [a]
offered and/or [reference rate[s]] [,][and] [a] [foreign exchange rate[s]] [.][and] [a] [commodity]
admitted to [commodities] [,][and] [a][future[s]] (the Leveraged and Tracking Products).
trading, inclu-
ding any security | [The English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products are issued as
identification [Notes][Warrants].]
number

[The German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products are issued as
[Certificates][Warrants].]
[ISIN code of the Leveraged and [e]]
Tracking Products:
[Common Code of the Leveraged [e]]
and Tracking Products:
[Temporary ISIN Code of the [e]]
Leveraged and Tracking Products:
[Temporary Common Code of the [e]]
Leveraged and Tracking Products:
[[Insert other security identification [e]]
code] of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products:

C.2 Currency of the | [Insert the applicable settlement currency]
securities issue

C5 Description of | Not applicable. There is no restriction on the free transferability of the Leveraged
any restrictions | and Tracking Products, subject to selling and transfer restrictions which may apply
on the free trans- | in certain jurisdictions including restrictions applicable to the offer and sale to, or
ferability of the | for the account or benefit of, Permitted Transferees.
securities

A Permitted Transferee means any person who (i) is not a U.S. person as defined
pursuant to Regulation S [and Internal Revenue Code of 1986]; (i) is not a person
who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the CEA or any
CFTC Rule, guidance or order proposed or issued under the CEA. and (iii) is not
a "U.S. Person" for purposes of the final rules implementing the credit risk retention
requirements of Section 15G of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the U.S. Risk Retention Rules) (a Risk Retention U.S. Person).

C.8 Rights attached | Rights attached to the securities:

to the securities,
including
ranking and limi-
tations to those
rights and proce-
dures for the
exercise of those
rights

Unless the Leveraged and Tracking Products are previously cancelled or
otherwise expire early, the Leveraged and Tracking Products will entitle each
holder of the Leveraged and Tracking Products (a Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holder) to receive [a potential return on the Leveraged and Tracking
Products, the settlement amount, which may be [lower than][,] [equal to] [or] [higher
than] the amount initially invested] (see Element C.18).

[If the Issuer is SG Issuer and the Leveraged and Tracking Products are Secured
Leveraged and Tracking Products:

In addition to the Guarantees of the Guarantor, payments due under the
Leveraged and Tracking Products will be secured by a pledge over collateral
assets which comply with the following [Eligibility Criteria] [and][ Collateral Rules]:
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[Eligibility Criteria: [insert a short description of the eligibility
criteria]]

[Collateral Rules: [Insert a short description of the relevant
collateral rules]]

A Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder will be entitled to claim the immediate
and due payment of any sums if:

- the Issuer fails to pay or to perform its other obligations under the Leveraged and
Tracking Products [If the Leveraged and Tracking Products are Secured
Leveraged and Tracking Products: including its obligations under the pledge
securing the Leveraged and Tracking Products]

- [If the Issuer is SG Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH: the Guarantor
fails to perform its obligations under the Guarantees or in the event that the
guarantees of the Guarantor stop being valid;] [or]

- there are insolvency or bankruptcy proceeding(s) affecting the Issuer[,][;]

- [If the Leveraged and Tracking Products are Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Products: the collateral monitoring agent in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products delivers a default notice in respect of the collateral pool securing the
Leveraged and Tracking Products; or

- an event of the type described above occurs in respect of any other issue of
leveraged and tracking products which is secured by the same collateral pool in
respect of which the Leveraged and Tracking Products are secured,] the holder of
any Leveraged and Tracking Product may cause the Leveraged and Tracking
Products to be cancelled immediately and for the payment of an early termination
settlement amount to become due to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder.]

[The Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder may cancel or otherwise cause the
Leveraged and Tracking Products to expire early.]

[The Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders’ consent shall have to be obtained
to amend the contractual terms of the Leveraged and Tracking Products (except
where the amendment is (i) to cure or correct any ambiguity or defective or
inconsistent provision contained therein, or which is of a formal, minor or technical
nature or (ii) not prejudicial to the interests of the Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holders or (iii) to correct a manifest error or proven error or (iv) to comply with
mandatory provisions of the law) pursuant to the provisions of an agency
agreement, made available to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders upon
request to the Issuer.]

Waiver of Set-off rights

The Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders waive any right of set-off,
compensation and retention in relation to the Leveraged and Tracking Products,
to the extent permitted by law.

Governing law

The Leveraged and Tracking Products and any non-contractual obligations arising
out of or in connection with the Leveraged and Tracking Products will be governed
by, and shall be construed in accordance with [English law] [German law].

[- [If the Leveraged and Tracking Products are English law Leveraged and Tracking
Products: The Issuer accepts the competence of the courts of England in relation
to any dispute against the Issuer but accepts that such Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders may bring their action before any other competent court.]

[- If the Leveraged and Tracking Products are German law Leveraged and
Tracking Products: Any claim against the Issuer shall exclusively be brought
before the competent courts of Frankfurt am Main (Germany).]
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Ranking

The Leveraged and Tracking Products will be direct, unconditional,
[unsecured][secured, limited recourse] and unsubordinated obligations of the
Issuer and will rank at least pari passu without any preference among themselves
and (subject to such exceptions as from time to time exist under applicable law) at
least pari passu with all other outstanding direct, unconditional,
[unsecured][secured, limited recourse] and unsubordinated obligations of the
Issuer, present and future.

Limitations to rights attached to the securities:

[- The Issuer may adjust the financial terms in case of adjustment events affecting
the underlying instrument(s), and in the case of the occurrence of extraordinary
events affecting the underlying instrument(s), [and/or in circumstances where
Société Générale and any of its affiliates’ aggregate interest in [any component of]
the [underlying instrument(s) exceeds certain limits,] the Issuer may [substitute the
underlying instrument(s) by new underlying instrument(s),] [postpone the
expiration date of the Leveraged and Tracking Products,] [or] [deduct from any due
amount the increased cost of hedging,] and in each case without the consent of
the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders;]

[The Issuer may cancel or otherwise early expire the Leveraged and Tracking
Products on the basis of the market value of these Leveraged and Tracking
Products in case of occurrence of a collateral disruption event.],

[The Issuer may cancel or otherwise early expire the Leveraged and Tracking
Products on the basis of the market value of these Leveraged and Tracking
Products if the proportion between the outstanding Leveraged and Tracking
Products and the number of Leveraged and Tracking Products initially issued is
lower than [Specify the percentage]]

- The Issuer may [cancel or otherwise early expire the Leveraged and Tracking
Products on the basis of the market value of these Leveraged and Tracking
Products] [monetise all or part of the due amounts until the expiration date of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products] for [[tax] [or] [regulatory] reasons] [or] [in the
case of occurrence of extraordinary events affecting the underlying] [or] [in the
case of occurrence of adjustments affecting the underlying instrument(s)] ;

- the rights to payment of any amounts due under the Leveraged and Tracking
Products will be prescribed within a period of [ten] [Specify other] years from the
date on which the payment of such amounts has become due for the first time
and has remained unpaid[;][and][.]

[- In the case of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products: in the case of a
payment default under the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by
SG Issuer or the Guarantor, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders’ recourse
against [in the case of English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products: the security
trustee] [in the case of German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products: the
security agent] under the pledge agreement will be limited to the collateral assets
applicable to the Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products, constituting together
the collateral pool [, which is a multiple series collateral pool and then may be
shared by several issues of secured leveraged and tracking Products].
Nevertheless, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will continue to be able
to claim against the Guarantor in respect of any unpaid amount].

[- In the case of Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by SG Issuer and
Société Générale Effekten GmbH: in the case of a payment default by the Issuer,
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders shall not institute any proceedings,
judicial or otherwise, or otherwise assert a claim against the Issuer. Nevertheless,
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will continue to be able to claim against
the Guarantor in respect of any unpaid amount.]

Taxation

All payments in respect of Leveraged and Tracking Products or under the
Guarantees shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction
for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or
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governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or
assessed by or on behalf of any Tax Jurisdiction unless such withholding or
deduction is required by law.

[In the event that any amounts are required to be deducted or withheld for, or on
behalf of, any Tax Jurisdiction, the relevant Issuer or, as the case may be, the
Guarantor shall (except in certain circumstances), to the fullest extent permitted
by law, pay such additional amount as may be necessary, in order that each
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder, after such deduction or withholding, will
receive the full amount then due and payable.

Where:

Tax Jurisdiction means [in the case of payments by SG Issuer: Luxembourg or
any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax] [in
the case of payments by Société Générale Effekten GmbH: Germany or any
political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax] [or] [in
the case of payments by Société Générale: France or any political subdivision or
any authority thereof or therein having power to tax].

c.11 Whether the se- | [Not applicable. No application for admission to trading will be made.] [Application
curities offered | has been made for the Leveraged and Tracking Products to be admitted to trading
are or will be the | on [Specify market].]
object of an
application  for
admission to
trading, with a
view to their
distribution in a
regulated market
or other equi-
valent markets
with indication of
the markets in
question

C.15 How the value of | The value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products and the payment of a
the investment is | settlement amount to a Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder will depend on the
affected by the | performance of the Leveraged or Tracking Strategy, on the relevant valuation
value of the | date(s).
underlying ins-
trument(s) The Leveraged and Tracking Products provide exposure to the performance

(either positive or negative) of a Leveraged or Tracking Strategy. The leverage
embedded in the leveraged or tracking strategy amplifies the positive or negative
exposure to the underlying to which such Leveraged or Tracking Strategy relates.

C.16 Expiration or | [In case of Open-ended Leveraged and Tracking Products:
maturity date of
the derivative | Not applicable. The Leveraged and Tracking Products are open-ended Leveraged
securities — the | and Tracking Products. No final reference date is applicable to the Leveraged and
exercise date or | Tracking Products]
final reference
date [The expiration date of the Leveraged and Tracking Products will be [insert the

Expiration Date]. No final reference date is applicable to the Leveraged and
Tracking Products.

[The expiration date of the Leveraged and Tracking Products will be [insert the
Expiration Date], and the final reference date will be the last valuation date.]

The exercise date may be modified pursuant to the provisions of Element C.8
above and Element C.18 below.

C.17 Settlement Cash settlement

procedure of the
derivative securi-
ties
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C.18

How the return
on derivative
securities takes
place

[Subject as provided below, the][[The] Leveraged and Tracking Products will be
settled in cash (Cash Settled Leveraged and Tracking Products).] [The
leveraged and tracking products are open-ended Leveraged and Tracking
Products and do not have a fixed expiry date. The Issuer will therefore only be
liable in respect of the exercise of each Leveraged and Tracking Product, to pay
or procure payment of an early settlement amount as described below.

[The Cash Settlement Amount is an amount equal to the excess of:

In the case of call Warrants:

[the Final Settlement Price over the Exercise Price, [then divided by the Parity]]
In the case of put Warrants:

[the Exercise Price over the Final Settlement Price, [then divided by the Parity]]
where

the Final Settlement Price is [specify based on relevant elections from the Terms
and Conditions];

the Exercise Price is [specify]; and

Parity is [specify].]

In the case of Notes:

[the Final Settlement Price, [then divided by the Parity]]

[The Leveraged and Tracking Products cannot be exercised or cancelled prior to
the expiration date (other than for taxation or regulatory reasons).]

[The Leveraged and Tracking Products may be exercised early at the option of the
[Issuer] [Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders]. Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders shall be entitled in such circumstances to the Optional Early
Settlement Amount which shall be:

In the case of Warrants:

[[a fixed amount of [specify] (include if “Option 1”is specified as being applicable
in the applicable Final Terms)]

[an amount determined in the same manner as the Cash Settlement Amount would
have been determined save that the “Final Settlement Price” will be deemed to be
[specify based on relevant elections from the Terms and Conditions] (include if
“Option 2”is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms.)]

[an amount based on the market value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products
(include if “Option 3”is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms)]
(specify in the case of Cash Settled Leveraged and Tracking Products based on
the relevant election in the applicable Final Terms)]

In the case of Notes:

[[a fixed amount of [specify] (include if “Option 1”is specified as being applicable
in the applicable Final Terms)]

[an amount determined in the same manner as the Cash Settlement Amount would
have been determined save that the “Final Settlement Price” will be deemed to be
[specify based on relevant elections from the Terms and Conditions] (include if
“Option 2”is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms.)]

[an amount based on the market value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products
(include if “Option 3”is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms)]
(specify in the case of Cash Settled Leveraged and Tracking Products based on
the relevant election in the applicable Final Terms)]

Where [the Issuer][a Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder] does not elect that
[the Leveraged and Tracking Products][the Leveraged and Tracking Products they
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hold] will be subject to early expiration at the option of the [Issuer][Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders], [the Leveraged and Tracking Products][the Leveraged
and Tracking Products they hold] shall remain subject to exercise or cancellation
in accordance with [specify other exercise options that apply].

[The Leveraged and Tracking Products may be cancelled by the Issuer if the
number of outstanding Leveraged and Tracking Products falls below [specify] per
cent. of the number of Leveraged and Tracking Products outstanding on issue,
whereupon the Leveraged and Tracking Products will be settled by [payment of an
amount based on the market value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products
(specify in the case of Cash Settled Leveraged and Tracking Products)].]

[‘Early Trigger Level Settlement Amount” means [specify based on relevant
elections from the Terms and Conditions].

“Early Trigger Level Settlement Price” means [the sum of (i) the Early Trigger
Level Settlement Amount [multiplied by the Parity] and (ii) the Exercise Price
(specify in the case of Call Warrants)][(i) the Exercise Price minus (ii) the Early
Trigger Level Settlement Amount [multiplied by the Parity] (specify in the case of
Put Warrants)].]

[[Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders may determine that the Leveraged and
Tracking Products they hold will expire early][Leveraged and Tracking Products
will automatically expire early] following the occurrence of [specify event(s)],
following which the Leveraged and Tracking Products will [have a remaining value
of [specify amount(s)]] [be settled [by payment of an amount determined in the
same manner as the Cash Settlement Amount would have been determined save
that the “Final Settlement Price” will be deemed to be [specify the Event-linked
Early Settlement Price], and [specify any exercise expenses](Exercise
Expenses)[and specify any other relevant sums]. [Where a Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holder does not determine within [specify the relevant period for
determination] that the Leveraged and Tracking Products they hold will be subject
to early expiry, their Leveraged and Tracking Products will be cancelled
immediately following the end of such period and no amounts will be payable in
respect of such Leveraged and Tracking Product.]]

C.19 Exercise price or
final reference
price of the
underlying

[Final Settlement Price: [o]] (Specify if applicable in relation to the underlying)
[Exercise price : [e]](Specify if applicable in relation to the underlying)

[Not applicable, as the [level][value] of the [specify underlying] is not determined
by reference to a final settlement price or exercise price.]

[See Element C.18 above.]

C.20 Type of the
underlying and
where the infor-
mation on the
underlying can
be found

The Leveraged and Tracking Products are linked to the following underlying
[[share[s]] [.][and] [a] [depositary [receipt][receipts]] [,][and] [indeX][indices] [,][and]
[SGI index] [,J[and] [ETF[s]] [J[and] [ETP[s]] [][and] [reference rate[s]] [,][and]
[foreign exchange rate[s]] [,][and] [commodity][commodities] [,][and] [future[s]]]-

Information about the underlying is available on the following website(s) or screen
page(s): [insert the name of the underlying and the relevant website or screen

page]

Section D — Risks

D.2 Key information
on the key risks
that are specific
to the Issuer [and
the Guarantor]

An investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products involves certain risks
which should be assessed prior to any investment decision.

In particular, the Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses,
including:
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Risks related to the macroeconomic, market and regulatory
environments

The global economy and financial markets continue to display high levels of
uncertainty, which may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial position and results of operations.

The Group’s results may be adversely affected by regional market
exposures.

Brexit and its impact on financial markets and the economic environment
could have an adverse impact on the Group's activities and results of
operations.

Increased competition, by both banking and non-banking actors, is likely to
have an adverse effect on the Group’s businesses and results, both in its
domestic French market and internationally.

The Group is subject to an extensive supervisory and regulatory framework
in each of the countries in which it operates and changes in this regulatory
framework could have a significant effect on the Group’s businesses,
position, costs, as well as on the financial and economic environment in
which it operates.

The Group may generate lower revenues from brokerage and other
commission- and fee-based businesses during market downturns.

Credit Risks

The Group is exposed to counterparty and concentration risks, which may

have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations
and financial position.

The financial soundness and conduct of other financial institutions and
market participants could adversely affect the Group.

The Group’s results of operations and financial position could be adversely
affected by a late or insufficient provisioning of credit exposures.

Market and Structural Risks

The volatility of the financial markets may cause the Group to suffer
significant losses on its trading and investment activities.

Changes in interest rates may adversely affect the Group’s Banking and
Asset Management businesses.

Fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect the Group’s results.

The protracted decline of financial markets or reduced liquidity in such
markets may make it harder to sell assets or manoeuvre trade positions and
could lead to material losses for certain activities of the Group.

The Group’s hedging strategies may not prevent all risk of losses.
Operational Risks

Operational failure, termination or capacity constraints affecting institutions
the Group does business with, or failure or breach of the Group’s information
technology systems, could result in losses and damages to the reputation of
the Group.

The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events,
including terrorist attacks or natural disasters.

The Group is exposed to legal risks that could negatively affect its financial
position or results of operations.

Reputational damage could harm the Group’s competitive position.
Model Risks

The Group’s risk management system, based notably on models, may not
be effective and may expose the Group to unidentified or unanticipated risks,
which could lead to significant losses.

Funding Risks

A number of exceptional measures taken by governments, central banks
and regulators could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, results of operations and financial position.

The Group's dependence on its access to financing and its liquidity
constraints may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business,
financial position and results of operations.
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e Strategic and business risks
Risks related to the implementation of the Group’s strategic plan.

To prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS as
adopted by the European Union, the Group relies on assumptions and
estimates which, if incorrect, could have a significant adverse impact on its
financial statements.

If the Group makes an acquisition, it may be unable to manage the
integration process in a cost-effective manner or achieve the expected
benefits.

The Group’s inability to attract and retain qualified employees, as well as
significant changes in the regulatory framework related to human resources
management processes and compensation, may adversely affect its
performance.

[Insert if the Issuer is SG Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH: Since the
Issuer is part of the Group, these risk factors are applicable to the Issuer.]

D.6

Key information
on the key risks
that are specific
to the securities

[Insert if the Leveraged and Tracking Products are Leveraged and Tracking
Products without a predefined expiration date: In the case of Open-ended
Leveraged and Tracking Products, the duration of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products is dependent on an optional early expiration, elected by [the Issuer][or
][the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder][,as the case may be]. The possibility
of an optional early expiration by the Issuer, on a predetermined date or set of
dates, is likely to have a negative effect on the market value of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products. Prospective investors should consider the reinvestment risk in
light of other investments available at the time of the expiration. If there is no
secondary market, there might be no possibility for the investors to sell the
Leveraged and Tracking Products. [Furthermore, this optional early expiration at
the sole discretion of the [Issuer][or ][the Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holder][,as the case may be] could prevent the Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holders from benefitting from the performance of the underlying instrument(s) over
the whole period initially envisaged.]]

[Insert if the Leveraged and Tracking Products are subject to early expiration
at the option of the Issuer: The possibility of an optional early expiration by the
Issuer, on a predetermined date, is likely to have a negative effect on the market
value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products. Prospective investors should
consider the reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at the time of
the early expiration. [Furthermore, this optional early expiration at the only
discretion of the Issuer could prevent the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders
from benefitting from the performance of the underlying instrument(s) over the
whole period initially envisaged.]]

[Insert if the Leveraged and Tracking Products are subject to event-linked
early expiration: The Leveraged and Tracking Products may provide for an event-
linked early expiration linked to a specific event. Therefore, this may prevent the
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders from benefitting from the performance of
the underlying instrument(s) over the whole period initially envisaged.]

[The terms and conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products may include
provisions under which upon the occurrence of certain market disruptions delays
in the settlement of the Leveraged and Tracking Products may be incurred or
certain modifications be made. Moreover, in case of occurrence of events affecting
the underlying instrument(s), the terms and conditions of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products allow the Issuer to [substitute the underlying instrument(s) by
new underlying instrument(s),] [cease the exposure to the underlying asset(s) and
apply a reference rate to the proceeds so obtained until the expiration date of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products,] [postpone the expiration date of the Leveraged
and Tracking Products,] [cancel the Leveraged and Tracking Products on the basis
of the market value of these Leveraged and Tracking Products][,] [o]r deduct from
any due amount the increased cost of hedging, and in each case without the
consent of the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders].]
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[Payments (whether at expiration or otherwise) on the Leveraged and Tracking
Products are calculated by reference to certain underlying(s), the return of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products is based on changes in the value of the
underlying(s), which may fluctuate. Prospective investors should be aware that
these Leveraged and Tracking Products may be volatile and that they may receive
no return and may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment.]

[insert if the Leveraged and Tracking Products are Secured Leveraged and
Tracking Products issued by SG Issuer: In case of Secured Leveraged and
Tracking Products, there is no guarantee that following enforcement of the relevant
pledge, the collateral proceeds available for distribution will be sufficient to pay all
amounts due to investors. If there is any shortfall in amounts due to an investor
then such investor shall have no further claim against the Issuer, but keep a claim
against the Guarantor in respect of such amounts.]

[The Guarantees constitute a general and unsecured contractual obligation of the
Guarantor and no other person, any payments on the Leveraged and Tracking
Products are also dependent on the creditworthiness of the Guarantor.]

[Prospective investors in Leveraged and Tracking Products benefiting from the
Guarantees should note that in case of payment default of an Issuer the
entitlement of the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder will be limited to [(i)]
the sums obtained by making a claim under the Guarantees in accordance with
its terms and they shall have no right to institute any proceeding, judicial or
otherwise, or otherwise assert a claim against the Issuer [(ii) and, in relation to
Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products only, to the sums obtained following
enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement].]

[The Guarantees are payment guarantees only and not guarantees of the
performance by the relevant Issuer or any of its other obligations under the
Leveraged and Tracking Products benefiting from the Guarantees.]

[Société Générale will act as issuer under Programme, as the Guarantor of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by the Issuer and also as provider of
hedging instruments to the Issuer. As a result, investors will be exposed not only
to the credit risk of the Guarantor but also operational risks arising from the lack
of independence of the Guarantor, in assuming its duties and obligations as the
Guarantor and provider of the hedging instruments.]

[The potential conflicts of interests and operational risks arising from such lack of
independence are in part intended to be mitigated by the fact that different
divisions within the Guarantor will be responsible for implementing the
Guarantees and providing the hedging instruments and that each division is run
as a separate operational unit, segregated by Chinese walls (information barriers)
and run by different management teams.]

[The Issuer [and the Guarantor] and any of [their][its] subsidiaries and/or [their][its]
affiliates, in connection with [their][its] other business activities, may possess or
acquire material information about the underlying assets. Such activities and
information may cause consequences adverse to Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders.

The Issuer and the Guarantor and any of their subsidiaries and/or their affiliates
may act in other capacities with regard to the Leveraged and Tracking Products,
such as market maker, calculation agent or agent. Therefore, a potential conflict
of interests may arise.

In connection with the offering of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, the Issuer
and the Guarantor and/or [their][its] affiliates may enter into one or more hedging
transaction(s) with respect to a reference asset(s) or related derivatives, which
may affect the market price, liquidity or value of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products.

During the lifetime of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, the market value of
these Leveraged and Tracking Products may be lower than the invested capital.
Furthermore, an insolvency of the Issuer [and/or the Guarantor] may cause a total
loss of the invested capital.
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[The regulation and reform of “benchmarks” may adversely affect the value of
Leveraged and Tracking Products linked to or referencing such “benchmarks”

The attention of the investors is drawn to the fact that they could sustain an
entire or a partial loss of their investment.

Section E — Offer

E.2b Reasons for the | [The net proceeds from each issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products will be
offer and use of | applied for the general financing purposes of the Société Générale Group, which
proceeds when | include making a profit] [Insert details relating to any other particular use of
different from | proceeds]
making profit
and/or hedging
certain risks

E.3 Description of | Issue Price: [Specify the issue price]
the terms and
conditions of the | [The Leveraged and Tracking Products are not subject to a public offer in the
offer European Economic Area.]

Public Offer Jurisdiction(s): [Specify country(ies) of the offer]

Offer Period: [Specify the offer period]

Offer Price: [Specify the offer price]

Conditions to which the offer is subject: [Specify the conditions to which the offer
is subject]

E.4 Description of | [Need to include a summarised description of any interest, including conflicting
any interest that | ones, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the
is material to the | nature of the interest.] [Save for any fees payable to the dealer, so far as the Issuer
issue/offer in- | is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Leveraged and Tracking Products
cluding con- | has an interest material to the offer.]
flicting interests

E.7 Estimated ex- | [Not applicable. No expenses are charged to the investor by the Issuer or the

penses charged
to the investor by
the Issuer or the
offeror

offeror.] [The expenses charged to the investor will be equal to [Specify the amount
or the percentage, as the case may be.]
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Zusammenfassung

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Zusammenfassungen setzen sich aus Offenlegungspflichten zusammen, die als Elemente bezeichnet werden und
deren Mitteilung durch Anhang XXII der Verordnung (EG) Nr. 809/2004 der Kommission in der jeweils geltenden
Fassung vorgeschrieben wird. Diese Elemente sind in die Abschnitte A—E (A.1-E.7) gegliedert.

Diese Zusammenfassung enthalt alle Elemente, die in eine Zusammenfassung fiir diese Art von Wertpapier und
Emittentin aufzunehmen sind. Da die Angabe einiger Elemente nicht erforderlich ist, kénnen Licken in der
Nummerierungsreihenfolge der Elemente vorhanden sein.

Es kann vorkommen, dass ein Element aufgrund der Art des Wertpapiers und der Emittentin in die
Zusammenfassung aufgenommen werden muss, aber diesbeziiglich keine relevanten Informationen zur
Verfligung gestellt werden kénnen. In solchen Fallen wird eine kurze Beschreibung des Elements mit dem Hinweis
« Nicht Anwendbar » in die Zusammenfassung aufgenommen.

[Wenn mehrere Emissionen von Wertpapieren gleichzeitig in einem Satz Endgultiger Bedingungen begeben oder
angeboten werden, kdnnen die Elemente, die fur solche Emissionen von Wertpapieren abweichen, in einer Tabelle

zusammengefasst werden (die Emissionsspezifische Informationstabelle)]*

Abschnitt A — Einleitung und Warnhinweise

Al

Warnhinweis

Diese Zusammenfassung ist als Einleitung zu dem Basisprospekt zu verstehen.

Eine Entscheidung zur Anlage in die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sollte auf
die Prifung des gesamten Basisprospekts durch den Anleger gestiitzt werden.

Fir den Fall, dass vor Gericht Anspriiche aufgrund der in diesem Basisprospekt
und den anwendbaren Endgultigen Bedingungen enthaltenen Informationen
geltend gemacht werden, kdnnte der als Klager auftretende Anleger in Anwendung
der einzelstaatlichen Rechtsvorschriften der Mitgliedstaaten des Europaischen
Wirtschaftsraums (die ,Mitgliedstaaten®) vor Prozessbeginn die Kosten fir die
Ubersetzung des Basisprospekts zu tragen haben.

Zivilrechtlich haftbar sind ausschlie8lich diejenigen Personen, die diese
Zusammenfassung einschlieRlich inrer Ubersetzungen eingereicht haben, jedoch
nur fir den Fall, dass die Zusammenfassung irrefihrend, unrichtig oder
widerspruchlich ist, wenn sie zusammen mit den anderen Teilen des
Basisprospekts gelesen wird, oder sie, wenn sie zusammen mit den anderen
Teilen des Basisprospekts gelesen wird, nicht die Schlisselinformationen
vermittelt, um Anleger bei der Entscheidung Uber eine Anlage in die Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte zu unterstitzen.

A.2

Zustimmung zur
Verwendung des
Basisprospekts

[Nicht anwendbar. Die im Wege eines Emissionsprogramms fiir Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte (das Programm), gemaR dem jeweils die Société
Générale, die SG Issuer und die Société Générale Effekten GmbH von Zeit zu Zeit
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte (die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte)
begeben kdnnen, begebenen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind nicht
Gegenstand eines offentlichen Angebots in den Mitgliedstaaten.]

[Die Emittentin erteilt unter den folgenden Bedingungen ihre Zustimmung zur
Verwendung dieses Basisprospekts in Bezug auf ein Emissionsprogramm fir
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte (das Programm), gemaR dem jeweils die
Société Générale, die SG Issuer und die Société Générale Effekten GmbH von
Zeit zu Zeit Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte (der Basisprospekt) im
Zusammenhang mit einem Weiterverkauf oder einer Platzierung von im Wege des
Programms begebenen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten (die Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte) unter Umstanden, unter denen eine Verpflichtung zur
Veroffentlichung eines Prospekts gemaR der Richtlinie 2003/71/EG in der jeweils
geltenden Fassung (die Prospektrichtlinie) (Nicht Befreites Angebot) besteht,
begeben kann:

1 In einer emissionsspezifischen Zusammenfassung zu streichen.
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— die Zustimmung gilt ausschlieRlich flir den Angebotszeitraum vom [Datum
angeben] bis zum [Datum angeben] (der Angebotszeitraum);

— die Zustimmung der Emittentin zur Verwendung des Basisprospekts fir die
Durchfiihrung eines Nicht Befreiten Angebots ist [eine individuelle Zustimmung
(eine Individuelle Zustimmung) zugunsten von [Namen und Anschrift angeben]
(jeweils ein] [der][die] Anfangliche(r)/(n) Bevoliméachtigte(r)/(n) Anbieter))] und
— falls die Emittentin nach dem [Datum der anwendbaren Endgultigen
Bedingungen einfiigen] zusétzliche Finanzintermedidre bestellt und deren
Angaben auf ihrer Website (Jwww.sg-zertifikate.de] [www.sgbourse.fr]
[etp.societegenerale.co.uk] [www.societegenerale.se] [www.societegenerale.fi]
[www.sgbolsa.es] [www.prodotti.societegenerale.it]
[www.beurs.societegenerale.nl]) veréffentlicht — jedes Finanzintermediars, dessen
Angaben entsprechend verdffentlicht werden (jeweils ein Zusatzlicher
Bevollmé&chtigter Anbieter);] [und] [eine generelle Zustimmung (eine Generelle
Zustimmung) zugunsten jedes Finanzintermediars, der auf seiner Website
veroffentlicht hat, dass er das Nicht Befreite Angebot der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte auf Grundlage der von der Emittentin erteilten Generellen
Zustimmung durchfiihren wird, wobei jeder entsprechende Finanzintermediar
(jeweils ein Generell Bevollméchtigter Anbieter) durch diese Veréffentlichung
die Einhaltung der folgenden Verpflichtungen zusichern muss:

(@ er handelt in Ubereinstimmung mit allen auf das Nicht Befreite Angebot
der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte in der Rechtsordnung des Offent-
lichen Angebots anwendbaren Gesetzen, Vorschriften, Verordnungen
und Leitlinien (unter anderem von Aufsichtsbehdrden), insbesondere
dem Gesetz zur Umsetzung der Richtlinie 2014/65/EU vom 15. Mai 2014
Uber Markte fur Finanzinstrumente (in der jeweils geltenden Fassung, die
Vorschriften), und stellt sicher, dass (i) jede Anlageberatung betreffend
die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte seitens beliebiger Personen
angemessen ist und (ii) alle Angaben gegenuber potenziellen Anlegern
einschlieRlich Angaben zu Kosten (und Provisionen oder Vorteilen
jedweder Art), die von dem Generell Bevollmachtigten Anbieter im
Rahmen des Angebots der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
vereinnahmt oder gezahlt werden, in vollem Umfang und deutlich
offengelegt werden, bevor diese eine Anlage in die Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte tatigen;

(b) er halt die jeweiligen Zeichnungs-, Verkaufs- und Ubertragungs-
beschrankungen in Bezug auf die Rechtsordnung des Offentlichen
Angebots so ein, als handelte er als Platzeur in der Rechtsordnung des
Offentlichen Angebots; und er beriicksichtigt die malRgebliche
Zielmarktbestimmung des Konzepteurs und Vertriebsstrategie, die unter
dem Hinweistext ,MiFID Il Produktiberwachungspflichten“ in den
anwendbaren Endglltigen Bedingungen angegeben ist;

(c) er stellt sicher, dass die Auferlegung einer Gebihr (und etwaiger
sonstiger Provisionen oder Vorteile jedweder Art) oder von ihm in Bezug
auf das Angebot oder den Verkauf der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
erhaltene oder gezahlte Rabatte keinen Verstol3 gegen die Vorschriften
darstellen, gegeniiber Anlegern oder potenziellen Anlegern vor deren
Anlage in die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte vollstandig und Klar
offengelegt werden und dass er, soweit dies in den Vorschriften festgelegt
ist, diesbezuglich weitere Informationen zur Verfligung stellen wird;

(d) er halt die Vorschriften zur Geldwaschepravention, Korruptions-
pravention, Bestechungspravention und Feststellung der Kundenidentitat
(Know your customer) ein (und unternimmt u. a. im Einklang mit diesen
Vorschriften angemessene MaBhahmen, um die Identitat jedes potenziel-
len Anlegers vor einer ersten Anlage des jeweiligen Anlegers in den
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten festzustellen und zu dokumentieren)
und wird einen Antrag auf Zeichnung von Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkten nicht genehmigen, wenn ihm die Quelle der Gelder fur die
Zeichnung verdachtig erscheint; er bewahrt Kundenidentifizierungs-
unterlagen mindestens wéahrend der gemdall den anwendbaren
Vorschriften vorgeschriebenen Frist auf und stellt diese der mafR-
geblichen Emittentin _und/oder dem maRgeblichen Platzeur oder
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(e)

(f)

(C)

[(@)/(h)]

[(h)/()]

(/)]

unmittelbar den fur die maRgebliche Emittentin und/oder den maf3geb-
lichen Platzeur zustandigen Behorden auf entsprechende Aufforderung
zur Verfligung, um der maRgeblichen Emittentin und/oder dem maf3geb-
lichen Platzeur die Einhaltung der fiir sie bzw. ihn geltenden Vorschriften
zur Geldwaschepravention, Korruptionspravention, Bestechungspra-
vention und Feststellung der Kundenidentitat zu erméglichen;

er arbeitet bei der Bereitstellung maRgeblicher Informationen (u. a. nach
vorstehendem Absatz (d) gefiihrter Dokumente und Aufzeichnungen) und
weiterer Hilfestellungen, die von der Emittentin oder dem mafgeblichen
Platzeur verniunftigerweise jeweils schriftlich angefordert werden, mit der
Emittentin bzw. dem maRgeblichen Platzeur zusammen, sobald dies
verniinftigerweise durchfiihrbar ist, in jedem Fall jedoch innerhalb eines
von dieser Aufsichtsbehdrde oder diesem Aufsichtsverfahren festge-
legten Zeitraums. Zu diesem Zweck sind maf3gebliche Informationen, die
dem malRgeblichen Finanzintermediar zuganglich sind oder von ihm
eingeholt werden kénnen, Folgende:

0] Informationen in Verbindung mit einer Aufforderung oder
Untersuchung seitens einer Aufsichtsbehdrde beziglich der
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte, der Emittentin oder des
mafRgeblichen Platzeurs; und/oder

(ii) Informationen in Verbindung mit etwaigen Beschwerden, die der
Emittentin und/oder dem mafgeblichen Platzeur in Bezug auf
die Emittentin und/oder den mafRgeblichen Platzeur oder einen
sonstigen Bevollméachtigten Anbieter zugegangen sind, u. a.
Beschwerden gemaR den von einer zusténdigen Aufsichts-
behdrde jeweils verdffentlichten Vorschriften; und/oder

(iii) Informationen, die die Emittentin oder der maf3gebliche Platzeur
verninftigerweise in Bezug auf die Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukte von Zeit zu Zeit anfordern kann, und/oder die
zur vollstédndigen Einhaltung der eigenen rechtlichen, steuer-
lichen oder aufsichtsrechtlichen Anforderungen durch die Emit-
tentin oder den maf3geblichen Platzeur erforderlich sind;

er verursacht weder unmittelbar noch mittelbar einen Verstol3 der
mafigeblichen Emittentin oder der maf3geblichen Platzeure gegen die
Vorschriften oder Anforderungen zur Einholung von Zulassungen oder
Genehmigungen oder zur Vornahme von Anmeldungen in beliebigen
Rechtsordnungen;

er erfullt [sonstige unter ,Sonstige Bedingungen fir die Zustimmung® in
den anwendbaren Endgultigen Bedingungen aufgefuihrte Bedingungen
fur die Zustimmung einfugen];]

er verpflichtet sich, die maRgebliche Emittentin, die Garantin (falls
anwendbar) und den maRgeblichen Platzeur, die Société Générale und
alle ihre jeweiligen verbundenen Unternehmen von allen Schéden,
Verlusten, Aufwendungen, Anspriichen, Forderungen und Gebihren
(einschlieBlich angemessener Honorare von Anwaltskanzleien) freizu-
stellen, die einem dieser Unternehmen aufgrund oder im Zusammenhang
mit der Nichteinhaltung einer der vorstehend aufgefihrten Ver-
pflichtungen durch den Generell Bevollmé&chtigten Anbieter (oder eine
seiner Untervertriebsstellen) entstehen;

er ist mit etwaigen anwendbaren Vorschriften und Verordnungen zur
Verhinderung von Geldwasche und Korruption, einschlie3lich etwaiger
Anderungen hiervon, vertraut und verfiigt iber Richtlinien und Verfahren
zu deren Einhaltung;

(&) er und von ihm kontrollierte Personen (einschlielich eines Organ-
mitglieds, leitenden Angestellten oder Mitarbeiters, jeweils eine
kontrollierte Person) haben weder direkt noch indirekt korrupte
Handlungen vorgenommen und werden auch in Zukunft keine solchen
Handlungen vornehmen; und (b) nach seinem besten Wissen hat keine
seiner Untervertriebsstellen direkt oder indirekt korrupte Handlungen
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vorgenommen, jeweils fur oder zugunsten einer Person oder eines
Amtstragers (einschlie3lich eines Beamten, Mitarbeiters oder Vertreters
oder einer sonstigen Person in einer offiziellen Funktion, die fir eine
Regierung einer Jurisdiktion, eine dffentliche internationale Organisation,
eine politische Partei oder eine quasi-staatliche Einrichtung oder in deren
Auftrag handelt);

[()/(K)] er verfugt Uber angemessene Richtlinien, Systeme, Verfahren und
Kontrollen, die korrupte Handlungen durch ihn selbst, seine Unter-
vertriebsstellen und etwaige kontrollierte Personen verhindern und
sicherstellen sollen, dass nachweisliche oder mutmaRliche Korruptions-
handlungen vollumfanglich untersucht und der Société Générale oder der
mafgeblichen Emittentin berichtet werden und dass entsprechend
hierauf reagiert wird;

[(K)/()] weder er noch eine seiner beauftragten Stellen, Untervertriebsstellen
oder kontrollierten Personen gilt aufgrund einer tatsédchlichen oder
mutmallichen korrupten Handlung als nicht berechtigt oder wird von
einer staatlichen oder internationalen Behdrde als nicht berechtigt
behandelt, um an einer Ausschreibung fur einen Vertrag oder eine
Transaktion mit dieser Behoérde teilzunehmen oder den Zuschlag fiir
einen Vertrag oder eine Transaktion von dieser Behdrde zu erhalten;

[(H/(m)] er hat angemessene Aufzeichnungen Uber seine Tatigkeiten gefihrt,
einschlieBlich einer Finanzbuchhaltung, die in ihrer Form und Art fir ein
Unternehmen seiner GréRe und Kapazitaten angemessen ist;

[(m)/(n)] er sichert zu und gewahrleistet, dass er keine Finanzinstrumente an
sanktionierte Personen vertreibt und mit diesen keine Vertrage Uber
Finanzinstrumente abschlief3t;

[(n)/(0)] er sichert zu, unverziglich die Société Générale oder die maRgebliche
Emittentin von folgenden Ereignissen in Kenntnis zu setzen: (a) einer
zugegangenen Beschwerde in Bezug auf seine Tatigkeiten oder die
Finanzinstrumente oder (b) einem Ereignis, das ihn betrifft, u. a. (i) einer
aufsichtsrechtlichen Untersuchung oder Prifung von ihm oder seinen
verbundenen Unternehmen, Partnern oder beauftragten Stellen, (ii)
einem von einer zustandigen Aufsichtsbehérde gegen ihn oder seine
verbundenen Unternehmen, Partner oder beauftragten Stellen einge-
leiteten Gerichtsverfahrens, (iii) eines ergangenen Urteils oder einer
verhangten Geldstrafe gegen ihn oder seine verbundenen Unternehmen,
Partner oder beauftragten Stellen, was jeweils ein Reputationsrisiko flr
die Société Générale oder die maf3gebliche Emittentin zur Folge haben
kénnte; und

[(0)/(p)] er bestatigt, dass seine Zusage zur Einhaltung der vorstehenden
Verpflichtungen [deutschem Recht] [englischem Recht] unterliegt, und
stimmt [den deutschen Gerichten] [den englischen Gerichten] als
Gerichtsstand fiir alle damit verbundenen Rechtsstreitigkeiten zu;]

[Ein Generell Bevollmachtigter Anbieter, der beabsichtigt, den Basis-
prospekt fir ein Nicht Befreites Angebot von Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukten auf Grundlage dieser Generellen Zustimmung und der
damit verbundenen Bedingungen zu verwenden, ist verpflichtet, wahrend
der Dauer des maRgeblichen Angebotszeitraums auf seiner Website den
Hinweis zu vertffentlichen, dass er den Basisprospekt fur das betreffende
Nicht Befreite Angebot auf Grundlage dieser Generellen Zustimmung und
der damit verbundenen Bedingungen verwendet.]

- die Zustimmung erstreckt sich ausschliel3lich auf eine Verwendung dieses
Basisprospekts fiir die Durchfuhrung von Nicht Befreiten Angeboten der Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukte in [Déanemark] [Deutschland] [Finnland] [Frankreich]
[Italien] [Luxemburg] [den Niederlanden] [Schweden] [Spanien] [dem Vereinigten
Kdnigreich].

[Die Angaben zu den Bedingungen des Nicht Befreiten Angebots werden den
Anlegern von [allen Anféanglichen Bevollméachtigten Anbietern] [und] [allen
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Zusatzlichen Bevollméachtigten Anbietern] [und] [allen Generell Bevoll-
machtigten Anbietern] zum Zeitpunkt der Durchfilhrung des Angebots zur
Verfligung gestellt.]]

Abschnitt B — Emittent[en] [und Garantiegeber]

B.1 Gesetzliche und | [Société Générale (oder die Emittentin)]
kommerzielle
Bezeichnung des | [SG Issuer (oder die Emittentin)]
Emittenten o . . .
[Société Générale Effekten GmbH (oder die Emittentin)]
B.2 Sitz, Rechtsform, | [Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale ist:
geltendes Recht
und Land der | Sitz: 29, boulevard Haussmann, 75009 Paris, Frankreich
Griindung Rechtsform: Aktiengesellschaft (société anonyme)
Anwendbares Recht: franzdsisches Recht
Grundungsland: Frankreich]
[Falls die Emittentin die SG Issuer ist:
Sitz: 16, boulevard Royal, L- 2449 Luxemburg
Rechtsform: Aktiengesellschaft (société anonyme)
Anwendbares Recht: luxemburgisches Recht
Grundungsland: Luxemburg]
[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist:
Sitz: Neue Mainzer StrafRe 46-50, 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Deutschland
Rechtsform: Gesellschaft mit beschrankter Haftung (GmbH)
Anwendbares Recht: deutsches Recht
Grundungsland: Deutschland]
B.4b Bereits bekannte

Trends, die sich
auf den Emitten-
ten und die

Branchen, in
denen er tatig ist,
auswirken

[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale ist:

Société Générale unterliegt weiterhin den gewdhnlichen Risiken und den mitihrer
Geschéftstatigkeit inharent verbundenen Risiken.

Die Gruppe konnte insbesondere von Folgendem beeintrachtigt werden:

- Die Risiken fir das globale Wachstum haben aufgrund der hohen politischen
Unsicherheit zugenommen. Die Markte werden sich weiterhin auf die
Verhandlungen zwischen den USA und China konzentrieren. Das Risiko
neuer Hindernisse, die aus den Spannungen im Welthandel, einem Brexit
ohne Vertrag und der Politik der Eurozone, vor allem den Wahlen zum
Europaischen Parlament Ende Mai, resultieren, ist weiterhin hoch. Und dies
gilt ferner vor dem Hintergrund hoher Schuldenstande und instabiler
Finanzmarkte.

- Das Geschaft scheint sich zu Beginn des Jahres 2019 auf den Wachs-
tumsmarkten zu verlangsamen und wird durch die nachlassende weltweite
Nachfrage und der Verscharfung der finanziellen Bedingungen verstarkt. Die
asiatischen Schwellenlander sind weiterhin die starksten Wachstums-
regionen. Mittel- und Osteuropa zeigen angesichts der Verlangsamung des
Wachstums in der Eurozone Widerstandsfahigkeit.

- In Russland sollte die Wirtschaft den Auswirkungen der Sanktionen kurzfristig
Stand halten wobei die zugrundeliegende finanzielle Lage noch immer solide
ist. In Brasilien wird die neue Regierung Rentenreformen in Angriff nehmen
miussen, die flr eine Korrektur der staatlichen Finanzen wesentlich sind.

- In Bezug auf eine Anderung der Zentralbankpolitik:

o Die US-Notenbank ist entschlossen, ihre Bilanzsumme zu reduzieren und
wird 2019 wahrscheinlich die Zinsséatze anheben. Der jiingste Anstieg der
Volatilitdt auf den Finanzmérkten und die weltweite Neubewertung der
Risikopramien kdnnten jedoch die US-Notenbank dazu bewegen, die
Verschéarfung ihrer Geldpolitik auszusetzen.
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o Die EZB hat bestatigt, dass sie ihrem Erwerb von Nettovermégen Ende
Januar 2019 beenden wird. Vor Ende des Sommers 2019 wird sie
voraussichtlich keine Erhdhung der Zinssatze vornehmen. Die Situation
ist unklar angesichts des Abschwungs in der Eurozone, der Ende 2018
begann.

- 2019 wird angesichts der Fortdauer einer Reihe von Ereignissen der
vergangenen zwei Jahre auch von geopolitischen Ungewissheiten gepragt
sein.

- Fir das Jahr 2019 wird der regulatorische Zeitplan im Europaischen
Gesetzgebungsprozess wahrscheinlich eine wichtige Rolle im Hinblick auf die
Dokumente zur nachhaltigen Finanzierung (Taxonomie, Offenlegungen und
Benchmarks), in Fortfuhrung des dritten Ziels fir die Paris-Vertrage
(Neuorientierung der Finanzflisse hin zu kohlenstofffreien Geschéften) und
die Uberarbeitung der fiir die Investmentgesellschaften geltenden aufsichts-
rechtlichen Vorschriften (Investment Firms Review — IFR) einnehmen.

Vor diesem Hintergrund und zur Erzeugung von verantwortungsvollem und
gewinnbringendem Wachstum, zielen die Schwerpunkte der Gruppe im Jahr
2019 ab auf:

- Wachstum durch Umsetzung der wesentlichen Umsatzinitiativen;

- Beschleunigung der Transformation aller Geschéfte und Funktionen,
insbesondere fir das franzdsische Model der Privatkundenbeziehungen und
Anpassung der globalen Marktstrategie;

- Einhalten der Kosten (insbesondere eine zusétzliche Kostenreduktion von
EUR 500.000.000 im Bereich Global Banking and Investor Solutions) und
weiterhin strenge Kontrolle der Risiken und der selektiven Kapitalzuweisung;

- Fortfihrung der Neuorientierung der Gruppe Uber den Verkauf oder die
SchlieBung von Unternehmen, die nicht Uber eine kritische Grof3e verfugen
und die keine ausreichenden Synergien anbieten, mit einer Erhdhung der
Zielvorgabe von 50-60 Basispunkten auf 80-90 Basispunkten der Aus-
wirkungen auf die harte Kernkapitalquote zum Ende des Jahres 2020;

- Forderung der Verantwortung durch den weiteren Einsatz des Culture &
Conduct-Programms und weitere Integration der CSR- (Corporate Social
Responsitbility)Strategie.]

[Falls die Emittentin die SG Issuer oder die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist:

Die Emittentin erwartet fiir das Jahr 2019 eine Fortsetzung ihrer Geschéaftstatigkeit

im Einklang mit inrem Unternehmensgegenstand.]

B.5

Beschreibung
der Gruppe des
Emittenten und
der Stellung des
Emittenten inner-
halb dieser
Gruppe

Die Société Générale-Gruppe (die Gruppe) bietet eine groRe Bandbreite an
Beratungsdienstleistungen und mafRgeschneiderten Finanzdienstleistungen fiir
Privatkunden, GroRunternehmen und institutionelle Anleger an. Die Gruppe baut
auf drei sich ergdnzenden Kerngeschéftsbereichen auf:

e French Retail Banking;
e International Retail Banking, Financial Services and Insurance und

e Corporate and Investment Banking, Private Banking, Asset and Wealth
Management und Securities Services.

[Falls die Emittentin die Société Geénérale ist: Die Emittentin ist die
Muttergesellschaft der Gruppe.]

[Falls die Emittentin die SG Issuer ist: Die Emittentin ist eine Tochtergesellschaft
der Gruppe und hat selbst keine Tochtergesellschaften.]

[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist:

Die Emittentin ist eine Tochtergesellschaft der Gruppe und hat selbst wiederum
zwei Tochtergesellschaften.

Mit Vollzug des Kaufvertrags vom 1. Januar 2017 hat die Emittentin die Anteile der
Société Générale Securities Services GmbH (SGSS), Unterfohring, einschlieRlich
ihrer Tochtergesellschaften, sowie der ALD Lease Finanz GmbH (ALD LF),
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Hamburg, erworben (die drei Gesellschaften zusammen im Folgenden der SGE-

Konzern).]
B.9 Wert der Gewinn- | Nicht anwendbar. Die Emittentin legt keine Gewinnprognosen oder -schatzungen
prognosen oder - | vor.
schéatzungen des
Emittenten
B.10 Art etwaiger Be- | Nicht anwendbar. Es liegen keine Beschrankungen im Bestatigungsvermerk vor.
schrankungen im
Bestatigungsver-
merk zu den his-
torischen Finanz-
informationen
B.12 Ausgewéhlte [Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale ist:

wesentliche his-
torische Finanz-
informationen
Uber den
Emittenten

Erstes Geschéfts- Erstes Geschéfts-
Quartal 2019 | jahr zum |[Quartal 2018 | jahr zum
(ungepriift) | 31.12.2018® | (ungeprift) | 31.12.2017
(gepruft) (gepriift)
Ergebnis (in Mio. EUR)
Banknettoeinkommen 6.191 25.205 6.294 23.954
Betriebsergebnis 1.138 6.269 1.357 4.767
Zugrundeliegendes
Nettoeinkommen der Gruppe 1.010 4.468 1.204 4.491
1)
Ausgewiesenes
Nettoeinkommen der Gruppe 631 3.864 850 2.806
French Retail Banking 234 1.237 270 1.059
In_terna_tlonal R_etall Banking & 464 2.065 429 1.939
Financial Services
Globi_al Banking and Investor 140 1197 166 1593
Solutions
Corporate Centre (207) (635) (15) (1.785)
Nettorisikokosten (264) (1.005) (208) (1.349)
Zugrundeliegende ROTE**® 8,4% 9,7% 10,9% 9,6%
Tier 1 Ratio ** 14,3%@ 13,4%@ 13,6% 13,8%
Laufende
Geschéftstatigkeit (in Mrd.
EUR)
Bilanzsumme 1.363,6 1.309,4 1.271,9 1.274,2*
Kundenkredite zu
fortgefuhrten 436,8 447,2 423,3 417,4*
Anschaffungskosten
Kundeneinlagen 409,9 416,8 409,4 410,6*
Eigenkapital (in Mrd. EUR)
Eigenkapital, Konzernanteil 61,8 61,0 58,9 59,9*
Minderheitenanteile 49 4,8 4,6 4,5*
Kapitalflussrechnungen (in
Mrd. EUR)
Mittelzufluss
(-abfluss) von ) )
Zahlungsmitteln und (17.617) 18.023
Zahlungsmittelaquivalenten

* zum 31. Januar 2018 (geprift). Die Konzernbilanz betrug EUR 1.309 Mrd. zum
31. Dezember 2018 (EUR 1.274 Mrd. zum 1. Januar 2018, EUR 1.275 Mrd. zum
31. Dezember 2017). Bilanzen zum 1. Januar 2018 nach erstmaliger Anwendung von
IFRS 9 aufBer fur Tochtergesellschaften aus dem Versicherungssektor.
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*k

(€0

@)
(©)

(©)

Diese Finanzkennzahlen sind weder geprift noch vorbehaltlich einer begrenzten

Durchsicht.

Angepasst fir nicht wirtschaftliche und auBergewdhnliche Bilanzpositionen sowie fur

IFRIC 21.

Angepasst flr nicht wirtschaftliche (in 2017) und auRergewohnliche Bilanzpositionen.

Die Darstellung der konsolidierten Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung der Gruppe ist ab

2018 infolge des Ubergangs zu IFRS 9 modifiziert:

® FErtrage und Aufwendungen aus Versicherungstétigkeiten werden in einem
spezifischen Bilanzposten innerhalb des .Banknettoeinkommens*
zusammengefasst;

® Der Bilanzposten
zugeordnet.

Unter Bericksichtigung der Option einer Dividendenzahlung in Aktien, vorbehaltlich

einer Genehmigung durch die Ordentliche Hauptversammlung am 21. Mai 2019, mit der

Annahme einer 50% Zeichnungsquote, insbesondere mit einer Auswirkung von +24bp

auf die CET1 Quote.]

"Risikokosten" ist nun ausschlieBlich dem Kreditrisiko

[Falls die Emittentin die SG Issuer ist:

(Angaben Qeschéfts- Qeschéfts-
in T€) jahr 2_(_)18 jahr 2_(_)17
(geprift) (gepruft)
Gesamtertrage 68.302 92.353
Ergebnis vor Steuern 251 105
Perioden-/Jahresiiberschuss 187 78
Gesamtaktiva 49.362.650 48.026.909

[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist:

AKTIVA Geschéftsjahr 2018* | Geschéaftsjahr 2017**
(in TEUR) (gepruft) (gepruft)
Erfolg_swwksam zum Fair Value angesetzte 3.930.004 5.194.717
finanzielle Vermégenswerte

Zu“r VerauBerung verflgbare finanzielle Ver- ) 74.321
mogenswerte

Kredite und Forderungen an Kreditinstitute 189.534 157.587
Kredite und Forderungen an Kunden 3.968.578 3.629.045
Forderungen aus Finanzierungsleasing 452.370 428.203
Steueranspriiche 2.857 25.537
Sonstige Vermdgenswerte 122.928 119.456
Sachanlagen und immaterielle Vermégenswerte 560.374 456.817
Geschafts- oder Firmenwert 2.808 3.569
Summe 9.229.453 10.089.252
PASSIVA Geschéftsjahr 2018* | Geschéaftsjahr 2017**
(in TEUR) (gepruft) (gepruft)
Erfolg_swwksam‘ zum Ealr Value angesetzte 3.856.117 5192135
finanzielle Verbindlichkeiten

Verbindlichkeiten gegeniber Kreditinstituten 4.108.093 3.880.971
Verbindlichkeiten gegentiber Kunden 1.317 1.997
Verbriefte Verbindlichkeiten 1.086.040 797.652
Steuerschulden 11 3.848
Sonstige Verbindlichkeiten 182.508 225.289
Rickstellungen 17.015 17.160
Summe Verbindlichkeiten 9.252.814 10.119.051
EIGENKAPITAL

Gezeichnetes Kapital 26 26
Gewinnvortrag 1.138 1.138
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Konzernrucklagen/Sonstige Ricklagen (89.506) (88.765)
Ergebnis fies_ Geschaftsjahres/Nettoergebnis 67.193 57.799
des Geschéftsjahres
Zwischensumme (21.149) (29.803)
Sonstiges Ergebnis / Sonstiges Perioden-
ergebnis OCI 672) (129)
Zwischensumme Eigenkapital Anteil der (21.821) (29.932)
Gruppe)
Anteile ohne beherrschenden Einfluss (1.539) 133
Summe Eigenkapital (23.360) (29.799)
Summe 9.229.453 10.089.252
* Bei den Zahlen zum 31.12.2018 handelt es sich um Zahlen, die der Konzernbilanz des
Konzernabschlusses der Société Générale Effekten GmbH fur das Geschéftsjahr 2018
entnommen worden sind. Die Informationen wurden gemaf IFRS 9 erstellt.
*x Bei den Zahlen zum 31.12.2017 handelt es sich um Zahlen, die der Konzernbilanz des
Konzernabschlusses der Société Générale Effekten GmbH fur das Geschéftsjahr 2017
entnommen worden sind. Die Informationen wurden geméan IFRS 9 erstellt.

Erklarung, dass
sich die Aus-
sichten des Emit-
tenten seit dem
Datum des
letzten veroffent-
lichten gepriften
Abschlusses
nicht wesentlich
verschlechtert
haben

[Falls die Emittentin Société Générale, SG Issuer oder Société Générale Effekten
GmbH ist:

Die Aussichten der Emittentin unterlagen seit dem 31. Dezember 2018 keinen
wesentlichen nachteiligen Veranderungen.]

Wesentliche Ver-
anderungen bei
Finanzlage oder
Handelsposition
des Emittenten,
die nach dem von
den historischen
Finanzinforma-
tionen abgedeck-
ten Zeitraum ein-
getreten sind

[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale ist:

Nicht Anwendbar. Die Finanzlage und die Handelsposition der Emittentin
unterlagen seit dem 31. Méarz 2019 keinen wesentlichen Veranderungen.]

[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale Effekten GmbH oder die SG Issuer ist:

Nicht Anwendbar. Die Finanzlage und die Handelsposition der Emittentin
unterlagen seit dem 31. Dezember 2018 keinen wesentlichen Veranderungen.

B.13

Ereignisse aus
der jungsten Zeit
der Geschafts-
tatigkeit des
Emittenten, die
fur die Bewer-
tung seiner
Zahlungsfahig-
keit in hohem
Mafle relevant
sind

Nicht anwendbar. Es sind in jungster Zeit in der Geschéftstatigkeit der Emittentin
keine Ereignisse eingetreten, die in erheblichem MaRe fur die Bewertung der
Solvenz der Emittentin relevant sind.
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B.14 Erklarung Das obige Element B.5 enthélt eine Darstellung der Position der Emittentin
dariiber, ob der innerhalb der Gruppe.
Emittent von
anderen Unter- [Die Société Générale ist die oberste Holdinggesellschaft der Gruppe. Sie Ubt
nehmen der jedoch eine eigene Geschéftstatigkeit aus und handelt nicht lediglich als
Gruppe Holdinggesellschaft fur ihre Tochtergesellschaften.]
abhangig ist
[Die SG Issuer ist innerhalb der Gruppe von der Société Générale Bank & Trust
abhéangig.]
[Die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist innerhalb der Gruppe von der Société
Générale abhéangig.]
B.15 Beschreibung [Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale ist: siehe obiges Element B.5]
der Haupttatig-
keiten des Emit- [Die Haupttéatigkeit der SG Issuer ist die Beschaffung von Finanzmitteln durch die
tenten Begebung von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten sowie Schuldtiteln zur
Platzierung bei institutionellen Kunden oder Privatkunden tiber die mit der Société
Générale verbundenen Vertriebsstellen. Der aus der Emission der Schuldtitel
vereinnahmte Nettoerlés wird anschlieend an die Société Générale und andere
Mitgliedern der Gruppe als Darlehen ausgereicht.]
[Geschaftszweck der Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist die Begebung und der
Verkauf von Wertpapieren und damit verbundene Tatigkeiten, mit Ausnahme
lizenzpflichtiger Tatigkeiten. Sie befasst sich mit der Begebung und der
Platzierung von Wertpapieren, hauptséchlich von Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkten, sowie den damit in Zusammenhang stehenden Aktivitdten. Das
Bankgeschéft im Sinne des Kreditwesengesetzes (KWG) ist nicht Teil des
Unternehmensgegenstandes. Die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist ein
Finanzunternehmen im Sinne von § 1 Abs. 3 Satz 1 Nr. 5 KWG.]
B.16 Soweit dem Emit- | [Nicht anwendbar. Nach ihrer Kenntnis wird die Société Générale weder

tenten bekannt,
Angabe, ob er im
unmittelbaren
oder mittelbaren
Eigentum Dritter
steht oder unmit-
telbar oder
mittelbar
beherrscht wird,
wer diese Beteili-
gungen halt bzw.
diese Beherr-
schung ausubt,
und Beschrei-
bung der Art der
Beherrschung

unmittelbar noch mittelbar von einem anderen Rechtstrager beherrscht (nach
deutschem Recht).]

[Die SG Issuer ist eine hundertprozentige Tochtergesellschaft der Société
Générale Bank & Trust S.A., die ihrerseits eine hundertprozentige Tochter-
gesellschaft der Société Générale ist, und ist eine vollkonsolidierte Gesellschaft.]

[Die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist eine hundertprozentige
Tochtergesellschaft der Société Générale, Paris und ist eine vollkonsolidierte
Gesellschaft.]

[Elemente B.18 und B.19
Partizipationsprodukte ist]

streichen, falls die Société Générale die Emittentin der Faktor- und

[B.18

Art und Umfang
der Garantie

Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte werden unbedingt und unwiderruflich durch
die Société Générale (die Garantin) gemaf den zum 17. Juli 2019 abgegebenen
Garantien garantiert.

Fur Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte, welche gemaR den , Terms and Conditions
of the English Law Leveregaed Products begeben werden, gelangt die Deed of
Guarantee vom 17. Juli 2019, zur Anwendung (die Deed of Guarantee).

Fur Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte, welche gemaR den Emissions-
bedingungen der deutschrechtlichen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte begeben
werden, gelangt die Form of Guarantee/Muster der Garantie vom 17. Juli 2019 zur
Anwendung (die/das Form of Guarantee/Muster der Garantie und zusammen
mit der Deed of Guarantee, die Garantien).

Die Garantien begrinden eine unmittelbare, unbedingte, unbesicherte und
allgemeine Verpflichtung der Garantin und ist gegeniber allen anderen
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bestehenden und kunftigen unmittelbaren, unbedingten, unbesicherten und
allgemeinen Verpflichtungen der Garantin, einschlieRlich Verpflichtungen in Bezug
auf Einlagen, mindestens gleichrangig bzw. wird mindestens gleichrangig sein.

Bezugnahmen auf durch die Emittentin zu zahlende Summen oder Betrage, die
von der Garantin im Rahmen der Garantien garantiert werden, gelten als
Bezugnahmen auf die direkt reduzierten Summen und/oder Betrége, und/oder im
Fall der Umwandlung in Eigenkapital um den Betrag dieser Umwandlung
verringert, und/oder jeweils anderweitig infolge der Anwendung einer Bail-in-
Befugnis durch eine maRgebliche Behérde gemaR Richtlinie 2014/59/EU des
Europaischen Parlaments und des Rates der Europaischen Union geéndert.

B.19

Angaben zum
Garantiegeber,
als wére er der
Emittent der
gleichen Art von
Wertpapieren,
die Gegenstand
der Garantie ist

Die Angaben zu der Société Générale, als ware sie die Emittentin der gleichen Art
von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten, die Gegenstand der Garantie ist, sind
jeweils in Ubereinstimmung mit den Elementen B.19/B.1, B.19/B.2, B.19/B.4b,
B.19/B.5, B.19/B.9, B.19/B.10, B.19/B.12, B.19/B.13, B.19/B.14, B.19/B.15[,] [und]
B.19/B.16 aufgefihrt:

[Falls die Société Générale als Garantin handelt, hier die obigen Elemente B.1 bis
B.18 mit Angaben zu der Garantin einfiigen.]]

Abschnitt C — Wertpapiere

Cl1 Art und Gattung | [Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind an [eine] [Aktie[n]][,] [und] [einen]
der angebotenen | [Index][Indizes][,] [und] [einen] [Depositary [Receipt][Receipts]][,] [und] [einen]
und/oder zum | [Exchange Traded Fund] (ETF)][,] [und] [ein] [bdrsengehandeltes Produkt]
Handel [boérsengehandelte Produkte] (ETP)[,] [und] [einen] [Referenzsatz] [Referenz-
zuzulassenden satze][,] [und] [einen] [Wechselkurs][Wechselkurse][,] [und] [einen] [Rohstoff]
Wertpapiere, [Rohstoffe][,] [und] [ein] [Future][Futures] (die Faktor- und Partizipations-
einschlieBlich produkte) gebunden.
jeder
Wertpapierkennu | [Die englischrechtlichen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte werden als [Schuld-
ng verschreibungen][Optionsscheine] begeben.]

[Die deutschrechtlichen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte werden als [Zertifikate]
[Optionsscheine] begeben.]
[ISIN der Faktor- und [e]]
Partizipationsprodukte:
[Common Code der Faktor- und [e]]
Partizipationsprodukte:
[Vorlaufiger ISIN der Faktor- und [e]]
Partizipationsprodukte:
[Vorlaufiger Common Code der [e]]
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte:
[[Andere Wertpapierkennnummern [e]]
einfigen]] der Faktor-  und
Partizipationsprodukte:
Cc.2 Wahrung der | [Anwendbare Abwicklungswéhrung einfiigen]
Wertpapier-
emission
C5 Beschreibung Nicht anwendbar. Es besteht — mit Ausnahme der Verkaufs- und Ubertragungs-

aller etwaigen
Beschréankungen
fur die freie Uber-
tragbarkeit  der
Wertpapiere

beschrankungen, die mdglicherweise in bestimmten Jurisdiktionen gelten, ein-
schlieBlich fur das Angebot und den Verkauf an oder fiir Rechnung oder zugunsten
von Zugelassene(n) Ubertragungsempféanger(n) geltender Beschréankungen —
keine Beschrankung der freien Ubertragbarkeit der Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte.

Ein Zugelassener Ubertragungsempfinger bezeichnet eine Person, bei der es
sich (i) nicht um eine US-Person, wie sie gemal der [Regulation S] [und des
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Internal Revenue Code von 1986] definiert wird, (ii) nicht um eine Person im Sinne
einer Begriffsbestimmung einer US-Person fur die Zwecke des US-
amerikanischen Commodity Exchange Act (CEA) oder einer von der US-
amerikanischen Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) im Rahmen des
CEA vorgeschlagenen oder erlassenen Vorschrift, Leitlinie oder Anordnung
handelt und (iii) nicht um eine "US-Person" fiir die Zwecke der endgultigen
Regelungen, die die Kreditrisiko-Einbehaltpflichten gemal Absatz 15G des US
Securities Exchange Act von 1934, in der jeweils glltigen Fassung, (die US-
Risikoeinbehalt-Regelungen) umsetzen, handelt (eine Risikoeinbehalt-US-
Person).

C.8

Mit den Wert-
papieren verbun-
dene Rechte ein-
schlielBlich des
Rangs und der
Beschrankungen
dieser Rechte
und Verfahren
zur Ausibung
dieser Rechte

Mit den Wertpapieren verbundene Rechte:

Sofern die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte nicht zuvor eingezogen wurden
oder anderweitig vorzeitig verfallen, berechtigen sie jeden Inhaber der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte (ein Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber) zum
Erhalt [einer potenziellen Rickzahlung auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
in Form eines Abwicklungsbetrags, der [niedriger als][,] [hdher als] der
urspriinglich angelegte Betrag sein kann [oder] [diesem entsprechen kann] (siehe
Element C.18).

[Falls die Emittentin die SG Issuer ist und es sich bei den Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukten um Besicherte Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
handelt:

Zusétzlich zu der Garantie der Garantin werden die im Rahmen der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte falligen Zahlungen durch ein Pfandrecht an Sicherheiten,
die die folgenden [Eignungskriterien] [und] [Sicherheitenvorschriften] erfullen,
besichert:

[Eignungskriterien: [kurze Beschreibung der

Eignungskriterien einfligen]]

[Sicherheitenvorschriften: [kurze Beschreibung der mafRgeblichen

Sicherheitenvorschriften einflgen]]

Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber sind in den folgenden Féllen berechtigt,
die unverzigliche und ordnungsgemafe Zahlung aller Betrdge zu verlangen:

— die Emittentin versdumt es, Zahlungen auf die Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte zu leisten oder ihre sonstigen Verpflichtungen daraus [Falls es sich bei
den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten um Besicherte Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukte handelt: einschlieflich ihrer Verpflichtungen aus dem Pfandrecht
zur Besicherung der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte] zu erfiillen;

— [Falls die Emittentin die SG Issuer oder die Société Générale Effekten GmbH
ist: die Garantin versdumt es, ihre Verpflichtungen aus der Garantie zu erfillen,
oder die Burgschaft der Garantin verliert ihre Gultigkeit;] [oder]

— Insolvenz- oder Konkursverfahren in Bezug auf die Emittentin[,][;]

— [Falls es sich bei den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten um Besicherte Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukte handelt: die Sicherheitenkontrollstelle gibt in Bezug
auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte eine Mitteilung Uber einen Ausfall
bezuglich des Sicherheitenpools, mit dem die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
besichert sind, ab; oder

— ein Ereignis der vorstehend beschriebenen Art in Bezug auf eine andere
Emission von durch denselben Sicherheitenpool, mit dem auch die Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte besichert sind, besicherten Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte eintritt,] ist ein Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber berechtigt, die
sofortige Einziehung der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte und die Falligstellung
der Zahlung eines Abwicklungsbetrags bei vorzeitiger Kiindigung im Hinblick auf
den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber zu veranlassen.]
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[Der Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber ist berechtigt, die Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte zu kindigen oder anderweitig vorzeitig fallig stellen zu
lassen.]

[Im Falle einer Anderung der vertraglichen Bedingungen der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte (ausgenommen der Anderungen, die (i) der Beseitigung
oder Berichtigung von darin enthaltenen Mehrdeutigkeiten oder fehlerhaften oder
widersprichlichen Bestimmungen dienen oder formeller, geringfligiger oder
technischer Art sind, (ii) die Interessen der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukt-
inhaber nicht beeintrachtigen oder (iii) der Berichtigung eines offenkundigen oder
nachweislichen Fehlers dienen oder (iv) der Einhaltung zwingender gesetzlicher
Vorschriften dienen) ist die Zustimmung der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukt-
inhaber nach Mal3gabe der Bestimmungen eines Verwaltungsstellenvertrags, der
den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhabern auf Verlangen gegentber der
Emittentin zur Verflgung zu stellen ist, einzuholen.]

Verzicht auf Aufrechnungsrechte

Die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber verzichten im gesetzlich zulassigen
Umfang auf ihr Recht auf Aufrechnung, Entschadigung oder Einbehalt in Bezug
auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte.

Anwendbares Recht

Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte und alle nicht vertraglichen Verpflichtungen
aus oder im Zusammenhang mit den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten
unterliegen [englischem Recht] [deutschem Recht] und werden nach diesem
ausgelegt.

[~ [Falls es sich bei den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten um Englischrechtliche
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte handelt: Die Emittentin stimmt den englischen
Gerichten als Gerichtsstand fiir alle Klagen gegen die Emittentin zu, stimmt jedoch
auch der Anstrengung von Klagen vor beliebigen anderen zustandigen Gerichten
durch die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber zu.]

[~ Falls es sich bei den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten um Deutschrechtliche
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte handelt: Anspriiche gegen die Emittentin
dirfen ausschlielich vor den zusténdigen Gerichten in Frankfurt am Main
(Deutschland) erhoben werden.]

Rang

Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte begrinden unmittelbare, unbedingte,
[unbesicherte] [besicherte, rickgriffsbeschrankte] und nicht nachrangige
Verbindlichkeiten der Emittentin, die untereinander mindestens gleichrangig sind
und (vorbehaltlich jeweils bestehender Ausnahmen nach geltendem Recht) mit
allen anderen gegenwartig und kunftig im Umlauf befindlichen unmittelbaren,
unbedingten, [unbesicherten] [besicherten, ruckgriffsbeschrankten] und nicht
nachrangigen Verpflichtungen der Emittentin mindestens gleichrangig sind.

Beschrankungen der mit den Wertpapieren verbundenen Rechte:

[~ Die Emittentin ist berechtigt, im Fall von Anpassungsereignissen, die das/die
Basisinstrument(e) betreffen, die finanziellen Bestimmungen anzupassen, und im
Fall des Eintritts auf3erordentlicher Ereignisse, die das/die Basisinstrument(e)
betreffen, [und/oder unter Umsténden, unter denen die Société Générale und
eines ihrer verbundenen Unternehmen auf [einen Bestandteil] des/der [Basis-
instruments/Basisinstrumente Zinsen aggregiert, die bestimmte Grenzwerte
Uberschreiten], [das/die Basisinstrument(e) durch (ein) neue(s) Basisinstrument(e)
zu ersetzen,] [den Verfalltag der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte zu ver-
schieben] [oder] [von etwaigen félligen Betrdgen die erhdhten Absicherungskosten
abzuziehen] — jeweils ohne die Zustimmung der Faktor- und Partizipations-
produktinhaber.]

[Die Emittentin ist berechtigt, die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte auf Grundlage
des Marktwerts dieser Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte im Fall des Eintritts einer
Sicherheitenstérung einzuziehen oder anderweitig vorzeitig verfallen zu lassen.]

-37-




Zusammenfassung

[Die Emittentin ist berechtigt, die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte fir den Fall,
dass das Verhéltnis zwischen den ausstehenden Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkten und der Anzahl der anfanglich begebenen Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte niedriger als [Prozentsatz angeben] ist, auf Grundlage des Marktwerts
dieser Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte einzuziehen oder anderweitig vorzeitig
verfallen zu lassen.]

— Die Emittentin ist berechtigt, aus [[steuerlichen] [oder] [aufsichtsrechtlichen]
Griinden] [oder] [bei Eintritt auerordentlicher Ereignisse, die den/die Basis-
wert(e) betreffen] [oder] [bei Eintritt von Anpassungen, die das/die Basis-
instrument(e) betreffen, [die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte auf Grundlage
des Marktwerts dieser Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte] einzuziehen oder
anderweitig vorzeitig verfallen zu lassen] [alle oder einen Teil der félligen Betrage
bis zum Verfalltag der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte zu monetisieren.]

— die Anspriiche auf die Zahlung von aus den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten
falligen Betragen verjahren nach Ablauf einer Frist von [zehn] [andere Zahl
angeben] Jahren ab dem Tag, an dem die Zahlung der betreffenden Betrage
erstmals fallig und nicht geleistet wurde[;][und][.]

[- Im Fall Besicherter Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte: im Fall eines
Zahlungsverzugs im Rahmen der von der SG Issuer oder der Garantin begebenen
Besicherten Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte ist der Ruckgriff der Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduktinhaber auf [im Fall von Englischrechtlichen Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukten:  den  Sicherheitentreuhander] [im  Fall  von
Deutschrechtlichen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten: die Sicherheiten-
verwaltungsstelle] im Rahmen des Verpfandungsvertrags auf die der Emission von
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten zuzurechnenden Sicherheiten, die
zusammen den Sicherheitenpool bilden[, bei dem es sich um einen
Sicherheitenpool fir mehrere Serien handelt und der mdoglicherweise von
mehreren Emissionen besicherter Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte gemeinsam
genutzt wird,] beschrankt. Dessen ungeachtet sind Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduktinhaber weiterhin in der Lage, Anspriiche im Hinblick auf
ungezahlte Betrage gegen die Garantin geltend zu machen].

[~ Im Fall von Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhabern, die von der SG Issuer
und der Société Générale Effekten GmbH begeben werden: im Fall eines
Zahlungsverzugs der Emittentin sind Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber
nicht berechtigt, gerichtliche oder sonstige Verfahren gegen die Emittentin
einzuleiten oder anderweitig Anspriiche gegen sie geltend zu machen. Dessen
ungeachtet sind Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber weiterhin in der Lage,
Anspriiche im Hinblick auf ungezahlte Betrdge gegen die Garantin geltend zu
machen].

Besteuerung

Alle Zahlungen in Bezug auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte oder im
Rahmen der Garantie erfolgen frei von und ohne Einbehalt oder Abzug fur oder
wegen gegenwartige(r) oder zukunftige(r) Steuern, Abgaben, Veranlagungen oder
behordliche(r) Gebihren gleich welcher Art, die von oder im Auftrag einer
Steuerrechtsordnung auferlegt, erhoben, eingezogen, einbehalten oder veranlagt
werden, es sei denn, ein solcher Einbehalt oder Abzug ist gesetzlich vorge-
schrieben.

[Im Fall eines erforderlichen Abzugs oder Einbehalts von Betrégen fir oder im
Auftrag einer Steuerrechtsordnung hat die mafgebliche Emittentin bzw. die
Garantin (aufBer unter bestimmten Umstanden) im weitestmdglichen gesetzlich
zuldssigen Umfang samtliche zusatzlichen Betrdge zu zahlen, die erforderlich
sind, damit jeder Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber nach einem solchen
Abzug oder Einbehalt den jeweils falligen und zahlbaren Betrag in voller Héhe
erhalt.

Dabei gilt:

Steuerjurisdiktion bezeichnet [im Fall von Zahlungen durch die SG Issuer:
Luxemburg und alle zur Erhebung von Steuern ermachtigten Gebiets-
kérperschaften oder Behérden von Luxemburg] [im Fall von Zahlungen durch die
Société Geénérale Effekten GmbH: Deutschland und alle zur Erhebung von
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Steuern erméachtigten Gebietskorperschaften oder Behdrden von Deutschland]
[oder] [im Fall von Zahlungen durch die Société Générale: Frankreich und alle
zur Erhebung von Steuern erméchtigten Gebietskérperschaften oder Behodrden
von Frankreich].

c.l1l Angabe, ob fir | [Nicht Anwendbar. Es wird kein Antrag auf Zulassung zum Handel gestellt.] [Die
die angebotenen | Zulassung der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte zum Handel am [Markt
Wertpapiere ein | angeben] wurde beantragt.]
Antrag auf Zulas-
sung zum Handel
gestellt  wurde
oder werden soll,
um sie an einem
geregelten Markt
oder anderen
gleichwertigen
Markten zu
platzieren, wobei
die betreffenden
Markte zu nen-
nen sind
C.15 Beschreibung, Der Wert der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte und die Zahlung eines
wie der Wert der | Abwicklungsbetrags an einen Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber sind von
Anlage durch | der Wertentwicklung der Faktor- oder Partizipationsstrategie an dem/den
den Wert des | maligeblichen Bewertungstag(en) abhangig.]
Basis-
instruments/der Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind von der Wertentwicklung (entweder
Basisinstru- positiv oder negativ)
mente beein-
flusst wird einer Faktor- oder Partizipationsstrategie abh&ngig. Der in der Faktor- oder
Partizipationsstrategie eingebettete Hebel verstérkt die positive oder negative
Abhé&ngigkeit von den Basiswerte, auf die sich die Faktor- oder Partizipations-
strategie bezieht, ausgesetzt sind.
C.16 Verfalltag oder | [Im Fall von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten mit unbegrenzter Laufzeit:
Falligkeitstermin
der derivativen | Nicht anwendbar. Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind Faktor- und
Wertpapiere — | Partizipationsprodukte mit unbegrenzter Laufzeit. Auf die Faktor- und Partizi-
Ausiibungs- pationsprodukte ist kein endgultiger Referenztag anwendbar.]
termin oder
letzter Referenz- | [Der Verfalltag der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte ist [Verfalltag einfigen]. Auf
termin die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte ist kein endgiltiger Referenztag anwend-
bar.
[Der Verfalltag der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte ist [Verfalltag einfligen] und
der endgultige Referenztag ist der letzte Bewertungstag.]
Der Ausiibungstag kann gemaR den Bestimmungen von Element C.8 oben und
Element C.18 unten gedndert werden.
C.17 Abrechnungs- Barausgleich
verfahren fur die
derivativen Wert-
papiere
C.18 Ertragsmodali- [Vorbehaltlich wie nachstehend beschrieben, werden die][[Die] Faktor- und
taten bei deri- | Partizipationsprodukte [werden] in bar ausgeglichen (Faktor- und Partizipations-
vativen Wert- | produkte mit Barausgleich).] [Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind
papieren Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte mit unbegrenzter Laufzeit. Sie haben keinen

festgelegten Verfalltag. Daher wird die Emittentin in Bezug auf die Ausiibung jedes
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukts ausschlief3lich fur die Zahlung eines vorzeitigen
Abwicklungsbetrags, wie nachstehend beschrieben, bzw. deren Veranlassung
haften.

[Der Barausgleichsbetrag ist ein Betrag, der folgendem Uberschiissigen Betrag
entspricht:
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Im Fall von Call-Optionsscheinen:

[dem Betrag, um den der Endgultige Abwicklungspreis den Auslibungspreis
Ubersteigt, [sodann geteilt durch die Paritat]].

Im Fall von Put-Optionsscheinen:

[dem Betrag, um den der Ausibungspreis den Endglltigen Abwicklungspreis
Ubersteigt, [sodann geteilt durch die Paritat]].

Dabei gilt:

Der Endgiltige Abwicklungspreis ist [auf Grundlage der anwendbaren
Spezifizierungen in den Emissionsbedingungen angeben];

der Auslibungspreis ist [angeben]; und

die Paritat ist [angeben].]

Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen:

[der Endgiltige Abwicklungspreis [dann geteilt durch die Paritat]]

[Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte kénnen vor dem Verfalltag (auBer aus
steuerlichen oder aufsichtsrechtlichen Griinden) nicht ausgeiibt oder eingezogen
werden.]

[Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte kénnen nach Wahl der [Emittentin]
[Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber] vorzeitig ausgelibt werden. Unter
solchen Umsténden haben die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber Anspruch
auf den Optionalen Vorzeitigen Abwicklungsbetrag, der

Im Fall von Optionsscheinen:

[[ein Festbetrag von [angeben] ist (einfligen, falls in den anwendbaren Endgultigen
Bedingungen ,Option 1“als anwendbar bezeichnet ist).]

[ein Betrag, der auf dieselbe Weise, wie der Barausgleichsbetrag ermittelt worden
ware, ermittelt wird, mit der Ausnahme, dass der ,Endgiiltige Abwicklungspreis®
als [auf Grundlage der maRgeblichen Spezifizierungen in den Emissions-
bedingungen angeben] (einfugen, falls in den anwendbaren Endgultigen
Bedingungen ,Option 2“ als anwendbar bezeichnet ist.)]

[ein auf dem Marktwert der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte beruhender Betrag
ist (einfugen, falls in den anwendbaren Endgultigen Bedingungen ,Option 3“ als
anwendbar bezeichnet ist)] (im Fall von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten mit
Barausgleich auf Grundlage der maRgeblichen Spezifizierung in den anwend-
baren Endgltigen Bedingungen angeben)].

Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen:

[[ein Festbetrag von [angeben] ist (einfligen, falls in den anwendbaren Endgultigen
Bedingungen ,Option 1“als anwendbar bezeichnet ist).]

[ein Betrag ist, der auf dieselbe Weise, wie der Barausgleichsbetrag ermittelt
worden ware, ermittelt wird, mit der Ausnahme, dass der ,Endgultige
Abwicklungspreis® als [auf Grundlage der maf3geblichen Spezifizierungen in den
Emissionsbedingungen angeben] (einfigen, falls in den anwendbaren
Endgultigen Bedingungen ,,Option 2“als anwendbar bezeichnet ist.)]

[ein auf dem Marktwert der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte beruhender Betrag
ist (einfiigen, falls in den anwendbaren Endglltigen Bedingungen ,Option 3“ als
anwendbar bezeichnet ist)] (im Fall von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten mit
Barausgleich auf Grundlage der maf3geblichen Spezifizierung in den anwend-
baren Endglltigen Bedingungen angeben)]

Fur den Fall, dass [die Emittentin][ein Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber]
nicht spezifiziert, dass [die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte][die Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte, die [sie] [er] h&lt] dem vorzeitigen Verfall nach Wahl der
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[Emittentin][Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber] unterliegen werden, unter-
liegen [die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte][die Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte, die [sie] [er] halt] weiterhin der Auslibung oder Einziehung nach
MaRgabe von [andere Anwendung findende Ausibungsoptionen angeben].

[Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte kénnen von der Emittentin eingezogen
werden, wenn die Anzahl der ausstehenden Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
unterhalb von [angeben] Prozent der Anzahl der bei der Emission ausstehenden
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte fallen, woraufhin die Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte durch die [Zahlung eines Betrags auf Grundlage des Marktwerts der
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte (im Fall von Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkten mit Barausgleich angeben)] ausgeglichen werden.]

[.Vorzeitiger Ausldseschwelle-Abwicklungsbetrag® bezeichnet [auf Grundlage
der anwendbaren Spezifizierungen in den Emissionsbedingungen angeben].

Lvorzeitiger Ausldseschwelle-Abwicklungspreis® ist [die Summe des (i)
Vorzeitigen Ausléseschwelle-Abwicklungsbetrags [multipliziert mit der Paritat] und
(i) des Ausibungspreises (im Fall von Call-Optionsscheinen angeben)][(i) des
Ausiibungspreises minus (i) dem Vorzeitigen Ausléseschwelle-Abwicklungs-
betrag [multipliziert mit der Paritét] (im Fall von Put-Optionsscheinen angeben)].]

[[Die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber sind berechtigt zu bestimmen, dass
die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte, die sie halten, nach dem Eintritt des/der
[Ereignisse(s) angeben] vorzeitig verfallen][Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
verfallen automatisch vorzeitig nach dem Eintritt des/der [Ereignis(se) angeben],
woraufhin die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte [einen verbleibenden Wert von
[Betrag/Betrage angeben] haben werden], [der [durch Zahlung eines Betrags, der
auf dieselbe Weise wie der Barausgleichsbetrag ermittelt worden ware, ermittelt
wird, mit der Ausnahme, dass der ,Endgiiltige Abwicklungspreis“ als [den
Ereignisbezogenen Vorzeitigen Abwicklungspreis angeben] und [etwaige Aus-
Uibungskosten angeben] (Ausubungskosten) [und etwaige andere maRgebliche
Betrdage angeben] gilt. [Fir den Fall, dass ein Faktor- und Partizipations-
produktinhaber nicht innerhalb von [mafRgeblichen Feststellungszeitraum
angeben] festlegt, dass die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte, die er halt, einem
vorzeitigen Verfall unterliegen werden, werden seine Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte nach Ablauf eines solchen Zeitraums unmittelbar eingezogen, und es
werden keine Betrage in Bezug auf ein solches Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukt
zahlbar sein.]]

C.19 Ausiibungspreis | [Endglltiger Abwicklungspreis: [e]] (angeben, falls in Bezug auf den Basiswert
oder endgultiger | anwendbar)]
Referenzpreis
des Basiswerts [Auslbungspreis: [®]] (angeben, falls in Bezug auf den Basiswert anwendbar)]
[Nicht anwendbar, da der [Stand][Wert] des/der [Basiswert angeben] nicht unter
Bezugnahme auf einen endgiltigen Abwicklungspreis oder Ausubungspreis
ermittelt wird.]
[siehe Element C.18 oben]
C.20 Art des Basis- | Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind an die folgenden Basiswerte

werts und An-
gabe des Ortes,
an dem Informa-
tionen Uber den
Basiswert er-
haltlich sind

gebunden: [[eine] [Aktie[n]][,] [und] [einen] [Depositary [Receipt][Receipts]][,] [und]
[einen] [Index][Indizes][,] [und] [einen] [SGI-Index] [und] [einen] [ETF[s]][,] [und]
[einen] [ETP[s][,] [und] [einen] [Referenzsatz][Referenzsatze][,] [und] [einen]
[Wechselkurs][Wechselkurse][,] [und] [einen] [Rohstoff][Rohstoffe] [,] [und] [einen]
[Future][Futures]]].

Informationen Uber den Basiswert sind auf der (den) folgenden Website(s) oder
Bildschirmseite(n) erhaltlich: [Bezeichnung des Basiswerts und die betreffende
Website oder Bildschirmseite einfuigen]
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Abschnitt D — Risiken

D.2

Zentrale Anga-
ben Zu den
zentralen Risi-
ken, die dem
Emittenten [und
dem Garantie-
geber] eigen sind

Eine Investition in Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte beinhaltet gewisse Risiken,
die vor einer Anlageentscheidung abzuwagen sind.

Insbesondere ist die Gruppe den mit ihren Kerngeschéftsbereichen verbundenen
Risiken ausgesetzt. Dazu zahlen:

e Risiken in Bezug auf das
regulatorische Umfeld

Die Globalwirtschaft und Finanzmarkte weisen weiterhin ein hohes Maf3 an
Unsicherheit auf, welches sich wesentlich und negativ auf das Geschéft der
Gruppe, die finanzielle Lage und das Betriebsergebnis auswirken kann.

Die Ergebnisse der Gruppe kénnen durch das Engagement in den
regionalen Markten nachteilig beeintrachtigt werden.

Der Brexit und seine Auswirkungen auf die Finanzmarkte und das
wirtschaftliche Umfeld kénnten sich negativ auf die Aktivitdten und die
Ertragslage der Gruppe auswirken.

Ein verscharfter Wettbewerb, sowohl durch Banken als auch durch
bankenfremde Akteure, kdnnte sich nachteilig auf die Geschéfte und
Ergebnisse der Gruppe auswirken, sowohl auf dem franzdsischen
Inlandsmarkt als auch international.

Die Gruppe ist in jedem der L&nder, in denen sie tatig ist, einem
umfangreichen aufsichtsrechtlichen und regulatorischen Rahmenwerk
unterworfen. Anderungen dieses regulatorischen Rahmens koénnten
erhebliche Auswirkungen auf die Geschaftstatigkeit der Gruppe, die
Position, Kosten sowie das finanzielle und wirtschaftliche Umfeld haben, in
dem die Gruppe tatig ist.

Die Gruppe kann in Zeiten von Marktriickgéangen niedrigere Ertrage aus dem
Brokerage- und sonstigen Provisions- und gebuihrenpflichtigen Geschéften
erzielen.

e Kreditrisiken

Die Gruppe ist dem Risiko ausgesetzt, dass eine Vertragspartei oder eine
ganze Gruppe an Kreditnehmer ausfallt, die wesentliche negative
Auswirkungen auf die Geschéftstatigkeit sowie die Ertrags- und Finanzlage
der Gruppe haben kénnen.

Die finanzielle Stabilitdit und das Verhalten anderer Finanzinstitute und
Marktteilnehmer kdnnten nachteilige Auswirkungen auf die Gruppe haben.

Die Ertragslage und die Finanzlage der Gruppe kdnnten durch verspéatete
oder unzureichende Rickstellungen der Kreditengagements beeintrachtigt
werden.

makrodkonomische, markt- und

e Markt- und Strukturrisiken

Bei den Handels- und Anlagetétigkeiten der Gruppe besteht das Risiko,
dass aufgrund der Volatilitat der Finanzmarkte empfindliche Verluste zu
verzeichnen sein werden.

Anderungen der Zinssatze kdnnen sich negativ auf das Bank- und Asset-
Management-Geschéaft der Gruppe auswirken.

Schwankende Wechselkurse kodnnten die Ergebnisse der Gruppe
schmalern.

Der langanhaltende Abwartstrend an den Finanzmérkten oder die
zurtickgegangene Liquiditat in solchen Méarkten kdnnte die VerauRerung von
Vermogenswerten erschweren oder zur Bewegung von Handelspositionen
fihren und erhebliche Verluste fiir bestimmte Aktivitdten der Gruppe zur
Folge haben.

Die Absicherungsstrategien der Gruppe kénnen nicht alle Verlustrisiken
ausschlief3en.

e Operative Risiken:

Eine operative Stdrung oder Beendigung des Betriebs oder ein
Kapazitatsengpass, der Institute betrifft, mit denen die Gruppe Geschéfte
tatigt, oder ein Ausfall der IT-Systeme der Gruppe oder eine hierauf
gerichtete Sicherheitsverletzung kénnte Verluste nach sich ziehen.
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Die Gruppe kann resultierend aus unvorhergesehenen Ereignissen und
Katastrophen, welche auch terroristische Anschlage oder Naturkatas-
trophen einschliel3en, Verluste erleiden.

Die Gruppe ist rechtlichen Risiken ausgesetzt, die sich nachteilig auf ihre
Finanz- und Ertragslage auswirken kénnten.

Ein Reputationsschaden konnte die Wettbewerbsposition der Gruppe
schwéchen.

e Modellrisiken

Das Risikomanagementsystem der Gruppe, das insbesondere auf Rechen-
modellen basiert, ist moglicherweise nicht effektiv und kdnnte fur die Gruppe
unerkannte oder unerwartete Risiken bergen, die zu deutlichen Verlusten
fuhren konnten.

e Finanzierungsrisiken

Von Seiten der Regierungen, Zentralbanken und Aufsichtsbehdrden
ergriffene auBerordentliche MalRnahmen koénnten einen wesentlichen
negativen Einfluss auf die Geschaftstatigkeit sowie die Ertrags- und Finanz-
lage der Gruppe haben.

Die Abhangigkeit der Gruppe von ihrem Zugang zu Finanzmitteln und ihren
Liquiditdtsengpéssen kénnte einen wesentlichen negativen Einfluss auf die
Geschéfts-, Finanz- und Ertragslage der Gruppe haben.

e Strategie- und Geschaftsrisiken
Risiken in Bezug auf die Umsetzung des Strategieplans der Gruppe.

Zur Erstellung des Konzernabschlusses in Ubereinstimmung mit den IFRS-
Rechnungslegungsstandards, wie durch die Européische Union verab-
schiedet, stutzt sich die Gruppe auf Annahmen und Schéatzungen. Sollten
diese Fehler enthalten, konnten sich dies erheblich auf ihre Finanzausweise
auswirken.

Tatigt die Gruppe eine Ubernahme, ist sie danach maéglicherweise nicht in
der Lage, das erworbene Unternehmen kostengunstig zu integrieren oder
die erwarteten Gewinne zu erzielen.

Die Unfahigkeit der Gruppe, qualifizierte Mitarbeiter zu gewinnen und zu
halten sowie die maRgeblichen Anderungen des regulatorischen Rahmens
bzgl. Personalmanagementprozessen und Vergitung, kénnte wesentliche
nachteilige Auswirkungen auf inre Geschéaftsentwicklung haben.
[Einfugen, falls es sich bei der Emittentin um die SG Issuer oder die Société
Générale Effekten GmbH handelt:
Da die Emittentin Teil der Gruppe ist, sind diese Risikofaktoren auf die Emittentin
anwendbar.]

D.6

Zentrale Anga-
ben zu den zen-
tralen Risiken,
die den Wert-
papieren eigen
sind

[Einfugen, falls es sich bei den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten um
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte ohne einen vorab festgelegten Verfalltag
handelt: Im Fall von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten mit unbegrenzter
Laufzeit ist die Laufzeit der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte von einem
optionalen vorzeitigen Verfall nach Wahl [der Emittentin] [bzw. ][der Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduktinhaber] abh&ngig. Die Mdoglichkeit eines optionalen
vorzeitigen Verfalls durch die Emittentin zu einem vorher festgelegten Zeitpunkt
oder zu vorher festgelegten Zeitpunkten wirkt sich wahrscheinlich negativ auf den
Marktwert der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte aus. Zukiinftige Anleger sollten
das Wiederanlagerisiko vor dem Hintergrund anderer zum Zeitpunkt des Verfalls
bestehender Anlagemdglichkeiten beurteilen. Wenn kein Sekundarmarkt existiert,
konnte fir die Anleger keine Mdglichkeit bestehen, die Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte zu verkaufen. [Ferner kénnten die Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduktinhaber durch diesen optionalen vorzeitigen Verfall nach
alleinipem Ermessen der [Emittentin][bzw.][der Faktor- und Partizipations-
produktinhaber] daran gehindert werden, von der Wertentwicklung des Basis-
instruments/der Basisinstrumente (iber den gesamten anfanglich vorgesehenen
Zeitraum hinweg zu profitieren.]]

[Einfiigen, wenn die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte einem vorzeitigen
Verfall nach Wahl der Emittentin unterliegen: Die Mdglichkeit eines optionalen
vorzeitigen Verfalls durch die Emittentin zu einem im Voraus festgelegten
Zeitpunkt wirkt sich wahrscheinlich negativ auf den Marktwert der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte aus. Zukiinftige Anleger sollten das Wiederanlagerisiko vor

-43 -




Zusammenfassung

dem Hintergrund anderer zum Zeitpunkt des vorzeitigen Verfalls bestehender
Anlagemdglichkeiten beurteilen. [Ferner kénnten die Faktor- und Partizipations-
produktinhaber durch diesen optionalen vorzeitigen Verfall nach alleinigem
Ermessen der Emittentin daran gehindert werden, von der Wertentwicklung des
Basisinstruments/der Basisinstrumente ber den gesamten anfanglich vorge-
sehenen Zeitraum hinweg zu profitieren.]]

[EinfUgen, falls die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte einem ereignis-
bezogenen vorzeitigen Verfall unterliegen: Die Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte kdénnen einen an ein bestimmtes Ereignis gebundenen ereignis-
bezogenen vorzeitigen Verfall vorsehen. Dadurch kénnen die Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduktinhaber daran gehindert werden, von der Wertentwicklung
des Basisinstruments/der Basisinstrumente Uber den gesamten anfanglich
vorgesehenen Zeitraum hinweg zu profitieren.]

[Die Emissionsbedingungen der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte kénnen
Bestimmungen enthalten, nach deren MalRgabe es nach dem Eintritt bestimmter
Marktstorungen zu Verzoégerungen bei der Abwicklung der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte kommen kann oder bestimmte Anderungen vorgenommen
werden kdénnen. Ferner berechtigen die Emissionsbedingungen der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte die Emittentin bei Eintritt bestimmter Ereignisse mit
Auswirkungen auf das oder die Basisinstrument(e) dazu, [das/die Basis-
instrument(e) durch ein neues/neue Basisinstrument(e) zu ersetzen,] [das
Engagement in dem/den Basisinstrument(en) zu beenden und bis zum Verfalltag
der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte einen Referenzsatz auf die dabei erzielten
Erlése anzuwenden,] [den Verfalltag der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte zu
verschieben,] [die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte auf Grundlage ihres
Marktwerts einzuziehen] [oder] die erhohten Absicherungskosten von falligen
Betrdgen abzuziehen, dies jeweils ohne die Zustimmung der Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduktinhaber].]

[Zahlungen auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte (gleich ob bei Verfall oder
zu einem anderen Zeitpunkt) werden unter Bezugnahme auf (einen) bestimmte(n)
Basiswert(e) berechnet und die Rendite der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
basiert auf dem Wert des Basiswerts/der Basiswerte, der schwanken kann.
Potenziellen Anlegern sollte bewusst sein, dass diese Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte volatil sein kdnnen, dass sie moglicherweise keine Rendite erzielen und
dass sie ihre gesamte Anlage oder einen erheblichen Teil davon verlieren kénnen.]

[Nur einfugen, falls es sich bei den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten um
von der SG Issuer begebene Besicherte Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
handelt: Im Fall von Besicherten Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten kann nicht
garantiert werden, dass nach einer Verwertung des maf3geblichen Pfandrechts der
fur eine Ausschittung verfligbare Erlés aus den Sicherheiten ausreichen wird, um
alle den Anlegern geschuldeten Betrédge zu zahlen. Verbleibt bei Anlegern
geschuldeten Betragen ein Fehlbetrag, stehen dem betreffenden Anleger keine
weiteren Anspriiche gegen die Emittentin mehr zu; er hat jedoch in Bezug auf die
betreffenden Betrage weiterhin einen Anspruch gegen die Garantin.]

[Die Garantie stellt eine allgemeine und unbesicherte vertraglich begrindete
Verpflichtung der Garantin und keiner anderen Person dar. Zahlungen auf die
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind auch von der Bonitat der Garantin
abhéangig.]

[ZukUnftige Anleger in von durch die Garantie besicherten Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukten sollten beachten, dass der Anspruch der Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduktinhaber im Fall eines Zahlungsausfalls einer Emittentin auf
die Betrage beschrankt ist, die [(i)] durch die Geltendmachung eines Anspruchs
im Rahmen der Garantie geméaR deren Bedingungen [und (ii) — ausschlief3lich bei
Besicherten Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten — aus einer Vollstreckung des
mafgeblichen Verpfandungsvertrags] erlangt werden, und dass sie nicht
berechtigt sind, gerichtliche oder sonstige Verfahren gegen die Emittentin
anzustrengen oder anderweitig Anspriiche gegen sie geltend zu machen.]

[Die Garantie ist eine reine Zahlungsgarantie und keine Garantie fir die Erflllung
durch die maRgebliche Emittentin oder der sonstigen Verpflichtungen der
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mafgeblichen Emittentin im Rahmen der durch die Garantie besicherten Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukte.]

[Die Société Générale handelt als Emittent im Rahmen des Programms, als
Garantin der von der Emittentin begebenen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
und auch als Anbieter von Sicherungsinstrumenten fiir die Emittentin. Infolge-
dessen sind Anleger nicht nur dem Kreditrisiko in Bezug auf die Garantin
ausgesetzt, sondern auch den operativen Risiken aus der fehlenden Unab-
hangigkeit der Garantin bei der Erfiillung ihrer Pflichten und Verpflichtungen als
Garantin und Anbieter von Sicherungsinstrumenten.]

[Es ist beabsichtigt, die potenziellen Interessenkonflikte und operativen Risiken
aus dieser fehlenden Unabhangigkeit zum Teil dadurch auszugleichen, dass
unterschiedliche Geschaftsbereiche innerhalb der Garantin fiir die Umsetzung der
Garantie und die Bereitstellung der Sicherungsinstrumente verantwortlich sind
und dass die einzelnen Geschéftsbereiche als eigenstandige operative Einheiten
betrieben werden, die durch Chinese Walls (Informationsbarrieren) isoliert sind
und von verschiedenen Fihrungsteams geleitet werden.]

[Die Emittentin [und die Garantin] und ihre Tochtergesellschaften und/oder ihre
verbundenen Unternehmen kénnen im Zusammenhang mit ihren jeweiligen
sonstigen geschéftlichen Aktivitaten wesentliche Informationen uber die Basis-
werte besitzen oder erhalten. Entsprechende Aktivitdten und Informationen
kénnen flr die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber nachteilige Folgen
haben.

Die Emittentin und die Garantin und ihre Tochtergesellschaften und/oder
verbundenen Unternehmen kdnnen jeweils in anderen Eigenschaften in Bezug
auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte handeln, wie etwa als Market Maker,
Berechnungsstelle oder beauftragte Stelle. Es kann daher ein potenzieller
Interessenkonflikt entstehen.

Die Emittentin und die Garantin und/oder ihre verbundenen Unternehmen kénnen
im Zusammenhang mit dem Angebot der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte ein
oder mehrere Absicherungsgeschéfte in Bezug auf (einen) Referenzvermdgens-
wert(e) oder dazugehérige Derivate abschlieRen, die sich auf den Marktpreis, die
Liquiditat oder den Wert der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte auswirken kénnen.

Waéhrend der Laufzeit der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte kann ihr Marktwert
niedriger als das angelegte Kapital sein. Ferner kann eine Insolvenz der Emittentin
[und/oder der Garantin] einen Totalverlust des angelegten Kapitals zur Folge
haben.

[Die Benchmark-Verordnung und die Reform der Benchmarks kénnen sich
nachteilig auf den Wert von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten auswirken, die
an solche Benchmarks gebunden sind oder diese als Bezugsgrundlage
verwenden.]

Anleger werden darauf hingewiesen, dass sie einen vollstandigen oder
teilweisen Verlust ihrer Anlage erleiden kdnnten.

Abschnitt E — Angebot

E.2b

Grinde fir das
Angebot und
Zweckbestim-
mung der Erl6se,
sofern diese
nicht in der
Gewinnerzielung
und/oder der
Absicherung
bestimmter
Risiken liegt

[Der Emissionserlds aus den einzelnen Emissionen von Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukten wird fiir allgemeine Finanzierungszwecke der Société Générale-
Gruppe verwendet, zu denen auch die Gewinnerzielung z&hlt.] [Angaben zu einer
anderen besonderen Verwendung des Emissionserldses einfligen]
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E.3 Beschreibung Emissionspreis: [Emissionspreis angeben]
der  Angebots-
konditionen [Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind nicht Gegenstand eines 6ffentlichen

Angebots im Européischen Wirtschaftsraum.]

Jurisdiktion(en) des Offentlichen Angebots: [Land/Lander des Angebots angeben]
Angebotszeitraum: [Angebotszeitraum angeben]

Angebotspreis: [Angebotspreis angeben]

Bedingungen fir das Angebot: [Bedingungen fiir das Angebot angeben]

E.4 Beschreibung [Eine zusammengefasste Beschreibung jeglicher Interessen, einschlieBlich
aller  fur  die | Interessenkonflikten, die fur die Emission/das Angebot von wesentlicher
Emission/das Bedeutung sind, wobei die betreffenden Personen zu nennen sind und die Art der
Angebot wesent- | Interessen darzulegen ist.] [Soweit der Emittentin bekannt ist, verfugt mit
lichen, auch | Ausnahme von Gebihren, die an den Platzeur zu zahlen sind, keine Person, die
kollidierenden an der Begebung der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte beteiligt ist, Gber
Beteiligungen wesentliche Interessen an dem Angebot.]

E.7 Schatzung  der | [Nicht Anwendbar. Dem Anleger werden keine Ausgaben von der Emittentin oder

Ausgaben, die
dem Anleger
vom Emittenten
oder Anbieter in
Rechnung ge-
stellt werden

dem Anbieter in Rechnung gestellt.] [Die dem Anleger in Rechnung gestellten
Ausgaben entsprechen [Betrag bzw. Prozentsatz angeben.].]
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RISK FACTORS

Prospective purchasers of Leveraged and Tracking Products should carefully consider the following
information in conjunction with other information contained in this Base Prospectus, any Supplement
thereto, the 2018 Registration Document of Société Générale and its related updates (see the section
“Documents Incorporated by Reference”), other information concerning the Issuers incorporated by
reference into this Base Prospectus) and any Final Terms before purchasing Leveraged and Tracking
Products.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the following factors may affect the relevant Issuer’s ability to fulfil its
obligations under Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme and/or the Guarantor’s ability to
fulfil its obligations under the respective Guarantee in relation to such Leveraged and Tracking Products,
respectively. Most of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and none of the Issuers or the
Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which each Issuer and the Guarantor believe are material for the purpose of assessing the
market risks associated with Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme are also described
below.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in
investing in Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme, but the failure of the relevant Issuer
or the Guarantor to pay amounts or deliver assets corresponding to the Cash Settlement Amount or other amounts
(each a Relevant Amount) in connection with any Leveraged and Tracking Products may occur or arise for other
reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the Issuers or the Guarantor based on information
currently available to them or which they may not currently be able to anticipate.

The order of presentation of the above described risk factors is not an indication of the likelihood of their occurrence.

1. GENERAL

11 Independent review and advice

Each prospective investor in the Leveraged and Tracking Products must determine, based on its own
independent review and such professional advice as it deems appropriate under the circumstances, that
its acquisition of the Leveraged and Tracking Products is fully consistent with its financial needs, objectives
and condition, complies and is fully consistent with all investment policies, guidelines and restrictions
applicable to it and is a fit, proper and suitable investment for it, notwithstanding the clear and substantial
risks inherent in investing in or holding the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each prospective investor should consult its legal advisers to
determine whether and to what extent (i) Leveraged and Tracking Products are legal investments for it,
(i) Leveraged and Tracking Products can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii)
other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Leveraged and Tracking Products. Financial
institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate
treatment of Leveraged and Tracking Products under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
Prospective investors should also conduct such independent investigation and analysis regarding the
Issuer, the Guarantor, the Leveraged and Tracking Products and all other relevant market and economic
factors as they deem appropriate to evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in Leveraged and
Tracking Products.

A prospective investor may not rely on the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealer(s) or any
other member of the Group in connection with its determination as to the legality of its acquisition of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products or as to the other matters referred to above.

1.2 Assessment of investment suitability

Each prospective investor in the Leveraged and Tracking Products must determine the suitability of that
investment in light of its own financial circumstances and investment objectives, and only after careful
consideration with its financial, legal, tax and other advisers. In particular, each prospective investor
should:

0] have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Leveraged
and Tracking Products, the merits and risks of investing in the Leveraged and Tracking Products
and the information contained in or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any
applicable supplement;
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14.1

1.4.2

(i) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products and the
impact the Leveraged and Tracking Products will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(i) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Leveraged and Tracking Products;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Leveraged and Tracking Products and be familiar with
the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and

v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks.

The Leveraged and Tracking Products are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional
investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They
purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood,
measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A prospective investor should not
invest in Leveraged and Tracking Products which are complex financial instruments unless it has the
expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Leveraged and Tracking Products
will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products and the impact this investment will have on the prospective investor's overall investment
portfolio. Some Leveraged and Tracking Products which are complex financial instruments may be
redeemable at an amount below par in which case investors may lose the value of part or their entire
investment.

Legal, tax and regulatory changes

Legal, tax and regulatory changes could occur during the term of the Leveraged and Tracking Products
that may adversely affect the Leveraged and Tracking Products, the underlying, related derivatives or the
collateral assets in the case of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products. The regulatory environment is
evolving, and changes in the regulation of any entities may adversely affect their value. Regulators and
self-regulatory organisations and exchanges are authorised to take extraordinary actions in the event of
market emergencies. The regulation of securities and derivatives transactions is an evolving area of law
and is subject to modification by government and judicial action. The effect of any future regulatory change
on the underlying, related derivatives or on the collateral assets could be material, including clearing and
margin requirements for derivatives and consequently may adversely affect the value of the Leveraged
and Tracking Products.

The Terms and Conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products (including any non-contractual
obligations arising therefrom or connected therewith) are based on relevant laws in effect as at the date
of this Base Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or
change to such laws, or the official application or interpretation of such laws or administrative practices
after the date of this Base Prospectus.

No legal and tax advice

Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor are giving legal or tax advices to the investors. Each prospective
investor should consult its own advisers as to legal, tax and related aspects relating to an investment in
the Leveraged and Tracking Products. A Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder’s effective yield on the
Leveraged and Tracking Products may be diminished by the tax on that Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holder of its investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Legality of purchase

None of the Issuer, the Agents or any of their respective affiliates has or assumes responsibility for the
lawfulness of the acquisition of the Leveraged and Tracking Products by a prospective purchaser of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products, whether under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or the
jurisdiction in which it operates (if different), or for compliance by that prospective purchaser with any law,
regulation or regulatory policy applicable to it.

Taxation

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Leveraged and Tracking Products should be aware that they may
be required to pay taxes or documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of
the jurisdiction where the Leveraged and Tracking Products are transferred or other jurisdictions. In some
jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court decisions may be available in relation to
the tax treatment of financial instruments such as the Leveraged and Tracking Products. Prospective
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investors are advised not to rely upon the tax summary contained in this Base Prospectus but to ask for
their own tax adviser’s advice on their individual taxation with respect to the acquisition, holding, disposal
and redemption of the Leveraged and Tracking Products. Only such adviser is in a position to duly
consider the specific situation of the prospective investor. This risk factor has to be read in connection
with “Taxation” herein.

RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUERS, THE GROUP AND THE GUARANTOR

2.1

The Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses

An investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products involves certain risks which should be assessed
prior to any investment decision.

In particular, the Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses, including:

Risks related to the macroeconomic, market and regulatory environments

The global economy and financial markets continue to display high levels of uncertainty, which may
materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial position and results of operations.

The Group’s results may be adversely affected by regional market exposures.

Brexit and its impact on financial markets and the economic environment could have an adverse
impact on the Group's activities and results of operations

Increased competition, by both banking and non-banking actors, is likely to have an adverse effect
on the Group’s businesses and results, both in its domestic French market and internationally.

The Group is subject to an extensive supervisory and regulatory framework in each of the countries
in which it operates and changes in this regulatory framework could have a significant effect on the
Group’s businesses, position, costs, as well as on the financial and economic environment in which
it operates.

The Group may generate lower revenues from brokerage and other commission- and fee-based
businesses during market downturns.

Credit Risks

The Group is exposed to counterparty and concentration risks, which may have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial position.

The financial soundness and conduct of other financial institutions and market participants could
adversely affect the Group.

The Group’s results of operations and financial position could be adversely affected by a late or
insufficient provisioning of credit exposures.

Market and Structural Risks

The volatility of the financial markets may cause the Group to suffer significant losses on its trading
and investment activities.

Changes in interest rates may adversely affect the Group’s Banking and Asset Management
businesses.

Fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect the Group’s results.

The protracted decline of financial markets or reduced liquidity in such markets may make it harder
to sell assets or manoeuvre trade positions and could lead to material losses for certain activities of
the Group.

The Group’s hedging strategies may not prevent all risk of losses.
Operational Risks

Operational failure, termination or capacity constraints affecting institutions the Group does business
with, or failure or breach of the Group’s information technology systems, could result in losses and
damages to the reputation of the Group.

The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including terrorist
attacks or natural disasters.

The Group is exposed to legal risks that could negatively affect its financial position or results of
operations.

Reputational damage could harm the Group’s competitive position.
Model Risks

The Group’s risk management system, based notably on models, may not be effective and may
expose the Group to unidentified or unanticipated risks, which could lead to significant losses.
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. Funding Risks

A number of exceptional measures taken by governments, central banks and regulators could have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial position.

The Group's dependence on its access to financing and its liquidity constraints may have a material
adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.

. Strategic and business risks
Risks related to the implementation of the Group’s strategic plan.

To prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union, the Group relies on assumptions and estimates which, if incorrect, could have a
significant adverse impact on its financial statements.

If the Group makes an acquisition, it may be unable to manage the integration process in a cost-
effective manner or achieve the expected benefits.

The Group’s inability to attract and retain qualified employees, as well as significant changes in the
regulatory framework related to human resources management processes and compensation, may
adversely affect its performance.

Factors that may affect each Issuer’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the Leveraged and
Tracking Products and the Guarantor’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the respective
Guarantee

Creditworthiness and credit ratings of each Issuer and, as the case may be, the Guarantor

With the exception of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by SG Issuer, the Leveraged and
Tracking Products constitute constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated or (with
respect to Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by Société Générale) senior preferred (within the
meaning of Article L. 613-30-3 | 3 of the French Code monétaire et financier) contractual obligations of
each Issuer and of no other person and the relevant Guarantee constitutes direct, unconditional,
unsecured and unsubordinated contractual obligations of the Guarantor, ranking as senior preferred
obligations, as provided for in Article L. 613-30-3 | 3 of the French Code monétaire et financier, and of no
other person, which will rank equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated contractual obligations
of the relevant Issuer and the Guarantor, respectively, and behind preferred liabilities, including those
mandatorily preferred by law. The Issuers issue a large number of financial instruments, including the
Leveraged and Tracking Products, on a global basis and, at any given time, the financial instruments
outstanding may be substantial. Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders rely upon the creditworthiness
of the relevant Issuer and, as the case may be, the Guarantor and no other person, Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders have no rights against the company that has issued the underlying, as the case
maybe.

The market value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products will be affected by, amongst other things, the
creditworthiness of the relevant Issuer and/or that of the Guarantor. The credit ratings of the relevant
Issuer and the Guarantor are an assessment of their ability to pay their obligations, including those on the
offered Leveraged and Tracking Products. Consequently, actual or anticipated declines in the credit
ratings of either the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor may affect the market value of the relevant
Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Risks related to Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by SG Issuer or Société Générale
Effekten GmbH with limited recourse against the relevant Issuer but which are unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed by Société Générale

Each holder of a Leveraged and Tracking Product or Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by SG
Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH is deemed to have acknowledged and undertaken, on its
acquisition of such Leveraged and Tracking Product(s), that, in the event of a payment default by SG
Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH, as the case may be, of any amounts due under any such
Leveraged and Tracking Product(s) whenever such payment falls due (such payment defaults, Defaulted
Payments), such holder shall not institute any proceeding, judicial or otherwise or otherwise assert a
claim against SG Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH, as the case may be, to enforce such
Defaulted Payments and waives all rights to institute such proceedings or make such claims in respect of
such Defaulted Payments against the relevant Issuer.

As a consequence prospective investors in Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by SG Issuer or
Société Générale Effekten GmbH should note that in the case of Defaulted Payments the entitlement of
the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will be limited to the sums obtained by making a claim under
the respective Guarantee, and the relevant provisions of the Guarantees, and in relation to Secured
Leveraged and Tracking Products only, from the sums obtained following enforcement of the relevant
Pledge Agreement (See “Risk Factors — Additional Risks Associated with Secured Leveraged and
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Tracking Products — Shortfall on Realisation of Collateral Assets and Limited Recourse of Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders” below).

Nevertheless, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will continue to be able to claim against the
Guarantor in respect of any unpaid amount.

Holders of Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by SG Issuer which are not Secured Leveraged and
Tracking Products should also note that the Collateral Assets contained in a Collateral Pool will not be
available to satisfy amounts due to them in respect of their Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Risks associated with the lack of independence of each Issuer and, as the case may be, the
Guarantor — Conflict of interest

Société Générale will act as issuer under the Programme, as the Guarantor of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products issued by SG Issuer and Société Générale Effekten GmbH and also as provider of hedging
instruments to each Issuer. As a result, investors will be exposed not only to the credit risk of Société
Générale but also to operational risks arising from the lack of independence of Société Générale, in
assuming its duties and obligations as the Guarantor and provider of the hedging instruments. The
potential conflicts of interests and operational risks arising from such lack of independence are in part
intended to be mitigated by the fact that different divisions within the Guarantor will be responsible for
implementing the Guarantees and providing the hedging instruments and that each division is run as a
separate operational unit, segregated by Chinese walls (information barriers) and run by different
management teams. Whilst compliance procedures require effective segregation of duties and
responsibilities between the relevant divisions within the Guarantor, the possibility of conflicts of interest
arising cannot be wholly eliminated. See also “Additional Risks Associated with Secured Leveraged and
Tracking Products - Potential conflicts of interest between Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and
the Collateral Agent, the Securities Valuation Agent and the Calculation Agent” and “Additional Risks
Associated with Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products - Potential conflicts of interest between
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and a Counterparty” below.

The Group provides a full array of capital market products and advisory services worldwide including the
issuance of “structured leveraged and tracking products” where payment is linked to the performance of
underlying assets.

The Issuers and the Guarantor and other member of the Group, in connection with their other business
activities, may possess or acquire material and/or confidential information about the underlying assets
and/or the reference entities which is not public knowledge and which are or could be important to the
Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Such business activities and such material and/or confidential information may cause consequences
adverse to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders.

Such actions and conflicts may include, without limitation, the exercise of voting power, the purchase and
sale of securities, financial advisory relationships and exercise of creditor rights. The Issuers, the
Guarantor and any other member of the Group have no obligation to disclose such information about such
underlying assets or the obligors to which they relate or the reference entities. The Issuers, the Guarantor
and any other member of the Group and their officers and directors may engage in any such activities
without regard to the Leveraged and Tracking Products or the effect that such activities may directly or
indirectly have on any Leveraged and Tracking Product.

In particular, the following potential conflicts of interest could exist in connection with any issue of
Leveraged and Tracking Products in the context of this Programme:

- SG Issuer and Société Générale Effekten GmbH are subsidiaries and are within the scope of
application of the corporate governance of the Group. It is not excluded that potential conflicts of
interest between SG Issuer and Société Générale Effekten GmbH and the Guarantor could affect
the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders;

- the Calculation Agent, the Arranger, the Dealers, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer
Agent and the Fiscal Agent may be all part of the Group. A deterioration of Société Générale’s
credit risk would have a negative impact on the obligations of each of the entities listed above in
relation to the Leveraged and Tracking Products. If one of these entities does not respect its
obligations towards the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor, this could have a negative impact
on the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders;

- in the normal course of their activity, Société Générale and any member of the Group may accept
deposits from, make loans or otherwise extend credit to, and generally engage in any kind of
commercial or investment banking, advisory or other business transactions or relationships with
companies whose securities are underlying assets and/or Leveraged and Tracking Products and
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could be deemed to be contrary to the interests of the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders;
and

- the Issuers and the Guarantor, or one or more of their affiliates, may engage in trading and other
business activities relating to the underlying fund(s) or their underlying assets that are not for the
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders’ accounts or on behalf of the Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders.

Hedging and trading activity by each Issuer, the Guarantor and other members of the Group could
potentially affect the value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products

In the ordinary course of their business, whether or not they will engage in any secondary market making
activities, the Issuers, the Guarantor and/or any other members of the Group may effect transactions for
their own account or for the account of their customers and hold long or short positions in any underlying
or reference asset(s), reference entities or obligors or related derivatives. In addition, in connection with
the offering of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, the Issuers, the Guarantor and/or any member of
the Group may enter into one or more hedging transactions with respect to such asset(s).

The above situations may result in consequences which may be adverse to Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders, including in the case of an event affecting Hedge Positions (as more fully described in
the relevant Additional Terms and Conditions) an early expiration of the Leveraged and Tracking Products,
with the resulting consequential adverse effect on the Leveraged and Tracking Products. The Issuer and
the Guarantor assume no responsibility whatsoever for such consequences and their impact on
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders.

Risk relating to the Paying Agent(s)

Any payments made to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will be made by the Paying Agent on
behalf of the Issuer. Pursuant to the Agency Agreement, the Issuer is to transfer to the Paying Agent such
amount as may be due under the Leveraged and Tracking Products on or before each date on which such
payment in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products becomes due.

If the Paying Agent, while holding funds for payment to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in
respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, is declared insolvent, the Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders may not receive all (or any part) of amounts due to them in respect of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products from the Paying Agent. While the Issuer will remain liable to Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders in respect of such unpaid amounts, the Issuer may have insufficient assets to make such
payments (or any part thereof) and Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders may not receive all, or any
part, of any amounts due to them.

Consequently Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders are relying not only on the creditworthiness of the
Issuer, but also on the creditworthiness of the Paying Agent in respect of the performance of its obligations
under the Agency Agreement to make payments to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders.

Risks relating to the Calculation Agent’s activity

The Calculation Agent may, but is not required to, make adjustments to elements of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products as described in the relevant Additional Terms and Conditions following certain events
that may affect the underlying of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Those events or other actions by the issuer of the underlying or a third party or events affecting any
Reference Entity(ies) or Bond may adversely affect the market price of the underlying and, therefore,
adversely affect the value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Should the Calculation Agent decide to make adjustments, such adjustments may include the selection
of a replacement underlying, Reference Entity or Bond as provided under the relevant Additional Terms
and Conditions and in accordance with the applicable Final Terms.

The adjustments determined by the Calculation Agent may adversely affect the amount due to the
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders under the Leveraged and Tracking Products and their value and
liquidity.

MARKET RISKS AND OTHER RISKS

3.1

Risks related to Leveraged and Tracking Products generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Leveraged and Tracking Products
generally:
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Modification and risk relating to resolutions of Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders

The Terms and Conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products contain provisions for calling meetings
of Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These
provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders including
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority and certain rights
of such Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders against the Issuer under the Terms and Conditions of
the Leveraged and Tracking Products may be amended or reduced or even cancelled.

French Insolvency Law

Under French insolvency law, holders of debt securities are automatically grouped into a single assembly
of holders (the Assembly) in order to defend their common interests if a safeguard procedure (procédure
de sauvegarde), accelerated safeguard procedure (procédure de sauvegarde accélérée), accelerated
financial safeguard procedure (procédure de sauvegarde financiére accélérée), or a judicial reorgani-
sation procedure (procédure de redressement judiciaire) is opened in France with respect to any one of
the Issuers.

The Assembly comprises holders of all debt securities issued by the Issuers (including the Warrants),
whether or not under an issuance programme and regardless of their governing law.

The Assembly deliberates on the proposed safeguard plan (projet de plan de sauvegarde), proposed
accelerated safeguard plan (projet de plan de sauvegarde accélérée), proposed accelerated financial
safeguard plan (projet de plan de sauvegarde financiére accélérée) or draft judicial reorganisation plan
(projet de plan de redressement) applicable to the Issuers and may further agree to:

- increase the liabilities (charges) of holders of debt securities (including the Warrantholders) by
rescheduling due payments and/or partially or totally writing off receivables in the form of debt
securities;

- establish an unequal treatment between holders of debt securities (including the Warrantholders) as
appropriate under the circumstances; and/or

- decide to convert debt securities (including the Warrants) into securities that give or may give right
to share capital.

Decisions of the Assembly will be taken by a two-thirds majority (calculated as a proportion of the debt
securities held by the holders expressing a vote). No quorum is required to convoke the Assembly.

For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions relating to the Representation of the Warranholders described
in this Base Prospectus as completed by the applicable Final Terms will not be applicable to the extent
they are not in compliance with compulsory insolvency law provisions that apply in these circumstances.

Waiver of set-off

In the English Law Condition 18 and the German Law Condition 17, the Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holders waive any right of or claims of set-off, netting, compensation, retention and counterclaim (and, for
the avoidance of doubt, including all such rights, claims and liabilities arising under or in relation to any
and all agreements or other instruments of any sort or any non-contractual obligations, in each case
whether or not relating to the Leveraged and Tracking Products) in relation to the Leveraged and Tracking
Products, to the extent permitted by applicable law.

No gross-up risk

If a withholding or deduction is required by the Tax Jurisdiction and if the applicable Final Terms specify
that the Gross-up provision is not applicable, the Issuer will not be required to pay such additional
amounts. In such case, investors should note that they will take the risk of any applicable withholding tax
and each Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder shall be responsible for supplying or filing (as
applicable) in a timely manner any documentary evidence or forms as the investor may be entitled to and
as may be required in order to obtain relief or reduction of taxes imposed by way of withholding or
deduction on payments under the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

In this case, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent nor any other person will be required to pay additional
amounts to cover the amounts so withheld or deducted. Consequently, investors will receive such
payments net of such withholding tax.

In addition, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent nor any other person will be required to pay additional
amounts to cover any amounts withheld or deducted on account of any United States withholding taxes,
including taxes under FATCA and Section 871(m) as discussed below. Consequently, investors will
receive payments net of any applicable United States withholding taxes.
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3.15

3.1.6

Financial Transactions Tax (FTT)

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the Commission’s Proposal) for
a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria,
Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia) (the participating Member States). Estonia has since stated that it will
not participate. If the Commission’s Proposal was adopted, the FTT would be a tax primarily on “financial
institutions” (which would include the Issuer) in relation to “financial transactions” (which would include
the conclusion or modification of derivative contracts and the purchase and sale of financial instruments).

Under the Commission’s Proposal, the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within
and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in Leveraged
and Tracking Products where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is
established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be,
“established” in a participating member state in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by
transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument
which is subject to the financial transaction is issued in a participating Member State.

The FTT may give rise to tax liabilities for the Issuer with respect to certain transactions if it is adopted
based on the Commission’s Proposal. Examples of such transactions are the conclusion of a derivative
contract in the context of the Issuer's hedging arrangements or the purchase or sale of securities (such
as charged assets). The Issuer is, in certain circumstances, able to pass on any such tax liabilities to
holders of the Leveraged and Tracking Products and therefore this may result in investors receiving less
than expected in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products. It should also be noted that the FTT
could be payable in relation to relevant transactions by investors in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products (including secondary market transactions) if conditions for a charge to arise are satisfied and
the FTT is adopted based on the Commission’s Proposal. Primary market transactions referred to in Article
5(c) of Regulation EC No 1287/2006 are expected to be exempt. There is however some uncertainty in
relation to the intended scope of this exemption for certain money market instruments and structured
issues.

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States. It
may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains uncertain. Additional
EU Member States may also decide to participate and/or participating Member States may decide to
withdraw.

Prospective holders of the Leveraged and Tracking Products are advised to seek their own professional
advice in relation to the FTT.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act Withholding

Whilst the Leveraged and Tracking Products are in global form and held within Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg or Iberclear (together, the ICSDs) or cleared and settled through CREST, Euroclear France,
Monte Titoli, Euroclear Sweden, Euroclear Finland or Verdipapirsentralen (together, the Applicable
Clearing Systems), in all but the most remote circumstances, it is not expected that the new reporting
regime and potential withholding tax imposed by sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 (FATCA) will affect the amount of any payment received by the ICSDs or Applicable
Clearing Systems (see “Taxation — United States — Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act”). However,
FATCA may affect payments made to custodians or intermediaries in the subsequent payment chain
leading to the ultimate investor if any such custodian or intermediary generally is unable to receive
payments free of FATCA withholding. It may also affect payment to any ultimate investor that is a financial
institution that is not entitled to receive payments free of withholding under FATCA, or an ultimate investor
that fails to provide its broker (or other custodian or intermediary from which it receives payment) with any
information, forms, other documentation or consents that may be necessary for the payments to be made
free of FATCA withholding. Investors should choose the custodians or intermediaries with care (to ensure
each is compliant with FATCA or other laws or agreements related to FATCA) and provide each custodian
or intermediary with any information, forms, other documentation or consents that may be necessary for
such custodian or intermediary to make a payment free of FATCA withholding. Investors should consult
their own tax adviser to obtain a more detailed explanation of FATCA and how FATCA may affect them.
The Issuer’s obligations under the Leveraged and Tracking Products are discharged once it has made
payment to, or to the order of, the common depositary or common safekeeper for the ICSDs (as bearer
or registered holder of the Leveraged and Tracking Products) or the Applicable Clearing System and the
Issuer has therefore no responsibility for any amount thereafter transmitted through the ICSDs and
Applicable Clearing Systems and custodians or intermediaries. Further, foreign financial institutions in a
jurisdiction which has entered into an intergovernmental agreement with the United States (an IGA) are
generally not expected to be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA (or any law implementing an
IGA) from payments they make.
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3.1.8

U.S. withholding tax under Section 871(m)

U.S. Treasury regulations issued under Section 871(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the
Section 871(m) Regulations) generally impose a 30% withholding tax on dividend equivalents paid or
deemed paid (within the meaning of the relevant Section 871(m) Regulations) to a non-United States
holder (a Non-U.S. Holder) with respect to certain financial instruments linked to U.S. equities or indices
that include U.S. equities (U.S. Underlying Equities). Specifically, and subject to special rules applicable
from 2017 through 2020 set out in Notice 2018-72 (the Notice), the Section 871(m) Regulations will
generally apply to Leveraged and Tracking Products issued on or after 1 January 2017 that substantially
replicate the economic performance of one or more U.S. Underlying Equity(ies) as determined by the
Issuer on the date for such Leveraged and Tracking Products as of which the expected delta of the product
is determined by the Issuer based on tests in accordance with the applicable Section 871(m) Regulations
(for the purposes of the Notice, such Leveraged and Tracking Products are deemed “delta-one”
instruments) (the Specified Leveraged and Tracking Products). A Leveraged and Tracking Product
linked to U.S. Underlying Equities which the Issuer has determined not to be a Specified Leveraged and
Tracking Product will not be subject to withholding tax under the Section 871(m) Regulations. In
withholding this tax, the Issuer will regularly apply the general tax rate of 30% to the payments subject to
U.S. provisions (or amounts deemed payments) without regard to any applicable treaty rate. Therefore,
in such cases, an investor’s individual tax situation will not be taken into account.

The 30% withholding tax on dividend equivalents paid or deemed paid to Non-U.S. Holders may be
reduced by an applicable tax treaty, eligible for credit against other U.S. tax liabilities or refunded, provided
that the beneficial owner claims a credit or refund from the United States Internal Revenue Service (the
IRS) in a timely manner, but the Issuer makes no assessment as to whether any such tax credits will be
available to Non-U.S. Holders.

Investors are advised that the Issuer’'s determination is binding on all Non-U.S. Holders of the Leveraged
and Tracking Products, but it is not binding on the IRS and the IRS may therefore disagree with the
Issuer’s determination.

The rules of the Section 871(m) Regulations require complex calculations in respect of the instruments
that include U.S. Underlying Equities and application of these rules to a specific issue of Leveraged and
Tracking Products may be uncertain. Consequently the IRS may determine they are to be applied
even if the Issuer initially assumed the rules would not apply. There is a risk in such case that
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders are subject to withholding tax ex post.

There is also the risk that withholding pursuant to the Section 871(m) Regulations will be applied to
Leveraged and Tracking Products that were not initially subject to such withholding tax. This case could
arise in particular if the Leveraged and Tracking Products’ economic parameters change due to a
modification of existing Leveraged and Tracking Products after 1 January 2017 which substantially
replicates the economic performance of one or more U.S. Underlying Equities causing the Leveraged and
Tracking Products to become Specified Leveraged and Tracking Products. As neither the Issuer nor the
withholding agent will be required to gross up any amounts withheld in connection with a Specified
Leveraged and Tracking Product, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will receive smaller payments
in such case than they would have received without withholding tax being imposed.

Investors should consult their tax adviser regarding the potential application of Section 871(m)
Regulations to their investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act

In the United States, passage of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-
Frank Act) in 2010 has led to significant structural reforms affecting the financial services industry,
including non-U.S. banks. Among other things, the Dodd-Frank Act addresses systemic risk oversight,
bank capital standards, the orderly liquidation of failing systemically significant financial institutions, over-
the-counter derivatives and increases oversight of credit rating agencies. Section 619 of the Dodd-Frank
Act added a new Section 13 (commonly called the Volcker Rule) to the Bank Holding Company Act of
1956, which contains prohibitions that regulate the ability of banking entities to engage as principal in
proprietary trading activities and sponsoring or investing in hedge, private equity or similar funds.

In particular, Title VII (Title VII) of the Dodd-Frank Act establishes a comprehensive U.S. regulatory regime
for a broad range of derivatives contracts including swaps, security-based swaps and mixed swaps
(collectively referred to in this risk factor as Covered Swaps). Among other things, Title VII provides the
CFTC and the SEC with jurisdiction and regulatory authority over Covered Swaps, requires the
establishment of a comprehensive registration and regulatory framework applicable to swap dealers and
security-based swap dealers and other major market participants, requires the reporting of data on
Covered Swaps, requires many types of covered swaps to be exchange-traded or executed on a swap
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execution facility or security-based swap execution facility, as applicable, and centrally cleared, will
impose capital requirements and margin requirements for uncleared transactions in Covered Swaps.

Most of the key regulations implementing Title VIl have become effective or are in final form. However, in
some instances, the interpretation and potential impact of these regulations, such as those applicable to
security-based swaps, are not yet entirely clear and certain other key regulations are yet to be finalised.
Once implemented, these new regulations could adversely affect the value, availability and performance
of certain derivatives instruments and may result in additional costs and restrictions with respect to the
use of those instruments. The use of derivative instruments by the Issuers may be subject to the clearing,
capital, margin, business conduct, reporting and/or recordkeeping requirements of Title VIl or other related
regulatory reforms, that will result in additional regulatory burdens and related costs and expenses.

In particular, any swaps entered into by any Issuer may include agreements that are regulated as covered
swaps under Title VII, each of which may be subject to new clearing, execution, capital, margin posting,
reporting and recordkeeping requirements under the Dodd-Frank Act that could result in additional
regulatory burdens, costs and expenses (including extraordinary, non-recurring expenses of such Issuer).
Such requirements may disrupt such Issuer’s ability to hedge their exposure to various transactions, and
may materially and adversely impact a transaction’s value or the value of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products. While the Dodd-Frank Act provides for the grandfathering of certain swaps, such grandfathering
may not apply to the transactions entered into by such Issuer or may only apply to certain transactions.
Additionally, no Issuer can be certain as to how these regulatory developments will impact the treatment
of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Additionally, on 21 and 22 October 2014, the SEC, the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the
U.S. Federal Reserve and certain other U.S. prudential banking regulators approved a final rule that
mandates risk retention for securitisations. The final rule requires that the sponsor maintain, unhedged, a
minimum of 5% of the credit risk of the securitised assets unless the underlying exposures meet certain
underwriting standards to be determined by regulation. The final rule became effective with respect to
mortgage-backed securitisations on 24 December 2015 and with respect to other securitisations on 24
December 2016. The failure of the Group to effectively manage regulatory risks could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Although some of the required rules and regulations are still in proposed form, are yet to be proposed or
are subject to extended transition periods, the majority of rules and regulations have been finalised and
have resulted in, or will result in, additional costs and the imposition of certain limitations on the business
activities of the Issuers. Furthermore, there is uncertainty regarding the nature, scope and timing of
additional regulations that are required under the Dodd- Frank Act but which have yet to be promulgated,
and in 2018 the U.S. passed legislation which scaled back the scope of the Dodd-Frank Act. The recent
change in administration in the United States adds to the uncertainty about the complete scope of the
Dodd-Frank Act and other U.S. regulation, any changes to which could impact the business activities of
the Issuers and/or the value or liquidity of a Leveraged and Tracking Product.

In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act, amending the CEA, expanded the definition of a “commodity pool” to
include any form of enterprise operated for the purpose of trading in commodity interests, including swaps.
Each Issuer has imposed certain restrictions on sales in order to fall outside the scope of the CEA.
However, if any Issuer were deemed to be a “commodity pool”, then both the “commodity pool operator”
and the “commodity trading advisor” of such Issuer would be required to register as such with the CFTC
and the National Futures Association. While there remain certain limited exemptions from registration, it
is unclear whether and to what extent any of these exemptions would be available to avoid registration
with respect to such Issuer. In addition, if any Issuer were deemed to be a “commodity pool”, it would have
to comply with a number of reporting requirements that are designed to apply to traded commodity pools.
It is presently unclear how such Issuer could comply with certain of these reporting requirements on an
ongoing basis. Such registration and other requirements would involve material ongoing costs to such
Issuer, thereby materially and adversely impacting a Leveraged and Tracking Product’s value. As a result,
the full effect on Issuers, the Group, or their affiliates will not be known until all of the implementing
regulations have been adopted.

In addition, other regulatory bodies have proposed or may propose in the future regulations (such as
MIFID II as regards to which see below) similar to those required by the Dodd-Frank Act or other
regulations containing other restrictions that could adversely impact the liquidity of and increase costs of
entering into derivatives transaction.

If these regulations are adopted and/or implemented or other regulations are adopted in the future, they
could have an adverse impact on the return on and value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.
Furthermore, potential inconsistency between regulations issued by different regimes could lead to market
fragmentation.
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The European Market Infrastructure Regulation, Markets in Financial Instruments Regulation and
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive Il

European Regulation 648/2012, known as the European Market Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR) entered
into force on 16 August 2012 and took direct effect in the Member States of the European Union. Under
EMIR certain over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives that are traded in the European Union by financial
counterparties (FCs), such as investment firms, credit institutions and insurance companies, and certain
non-financial counterparties (NFCs) have to be cleared (the clearing obligation) via an authorised central
clearing counterparty (a CCP). In addition, EMIR requires the reporting of OTC derivative contracts to a
trade repository (the reporting obligation) and introduces certain risk mitigation requirements in relation
to OTC derivative contracts that are not cleared by a CCP.

Under EMIR, a CCP will be used to meet the clearing obligation by interposing itself between the
counterparties to the eligible derivative contracts. CCPs will connect with derivative counterparties through
their clearing members. Each derivative counterparty which is required to clear OTC derivative contracts
will be required to post both initial and variation margin to the clearing member, which will in turn be
required to post margin to the CCP. EMIR requires CCPs to only accept highly liquid collateral with minimal
credit and market risk. Where an NFC which enters into an OTC derivative contract which is not “eligible”
for clearing, it will have to ensure that appropriate procedures and arrangements are in place to monitor
and minimise operational and credit risk.

The Issuer may have to apply certain risk mitigation techniques in relation to timely confirmation, portfolio
reconciliation and compression, and dispute resolution that are applicable to OTC derivatives contracts
that are not cleared by a CCP. Further, the Issuer is required to deliver certain information about any OTC
derivative contract EMIR also imposes a record-keeping requirement pursuant to which counterparties
must keep records of any derivative contract they have concluded and any modification for at least five
years following the termination of the contract.

Following the entry into force of the Commission Delegated Regulation 2016/2251 supplementing EMIR
with regard to regulatory technical standards for risk-mitigation techniques for OTC derivative contracts
not cleared by a central counterparty (the Margin RTS), FCs and certain NFCs have an obligation to
protect themselves against credit exposures to derivatives counterparties by exchanging margins where
those contracts are not cleared by a CCP. This Margin RTS lays out the standards for the timely, accurate
and appropriately segregated exchange of collateral. These requirements to post and / or collect variation
margin have become applicable to FCs and certain NFCs on 4 February 2017 or 1 March 2017 (depending
on the aggregated gross notional amount of outstanding derivative contracts of the group to which the
counterparties belong) and the requirements to post and / or collect initial margin enter into force at a date
determined in accordance with the Margin RTS from 4 February 2017 to 1 September 2020 (depending
on the aggregated gross notional amount of outstanding derivative contracts of the group to which the
counterparties belong).

The EU regulatory framework relating to derivatives is set not only by EMIR but also by MiFID Il and by
the Regulation (EU) N°600/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial
instruments published in the Official Journal on 12 June 2014 (MiFID Il). Member States were required to
implement national legislation giving effect to MiFID Il within 24 months after the entry into force of MiFID
I (i.e. June 2016) which national legislation should have applied within 30 months after the entry into force
of MiFID Il (January 2017). The European Commission has however extended by one year the application
date for MiFID Il with an entry into force which eventually took place on 3 January 2018 in all Member
States. In particular, MiFIR requires that a significant part of the derivative contracts be executed on a
trading venue. In this respect, this obligation having just entered into force, it remains difficult to predict
the full impact of these regulatory requirements on the Issuer.

Investors should be aware that the regulatory changes arising from EMIR, MIFIR and MiFID Il may in due
course significantly raise the costs of entering into derivative contracts and may adversely affect the
Issuer’s ability to engage in transactions in derivatives contracts. As a result of such increased costs or
increased regulatory requirements, investors may receive lower returns. Investors should be aware that
such risks are material and that the Issuer could be materially and adversely affected thereby. The full
impact of EMIR, MIFIR and of MiFID Il remains to be clarified and the scope of their possible implications
of for investors in the Leveraged and Tracking Products cannot currently be predicted. As such, investors
should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks
posed by EMIR, MIFIR and MiFID Il and technical implementation in making any investment decision in
respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

It should also be noted that further changes may be made to EMIR in the context of the EMIR review
process, including in respect of counterparty classification, the scope of the clearing obligation, reporting
to trade repositories and the treatment of FX forward financial instruments. In this regard, the European
Commission has published legislative proposals providing for certain amendments to EMIR. It is not clear
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when, and in what form, the legislative proposals (and any corresponding technical standards) will be
adopted and will become applicable and how they might affect the Issuer.

French law and European legislation regarding the resolution of financial institutions may require
the write-down or conversion to equity of the Leveraged and Tracking Products or other resolution
measures if the Issuer is deemed to meet the conditions for resolution

Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union dated 15 May
2014 establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms
(the BRRD) entered into force on 2 July 2014. As a directive, the BRRD is not directly applicable in France
and had to be transposed into national legislation. The French ordonnance no. 2015-1024 of 20 August
2015 transposed the BRRD into French law and amended the French Code monétaire et financier for this
purpose. The French ordonnance has been ratified by law no. 2016-1691 dated 9 December 2016 (Loi
n°2016-1691 du 9 décembre 2016 relative a la transparence, a la lutte contre la corruption et a la
modernisation de la vie économique) which also incorporates provisions which clarify the implementation
of the BRRD. In Luxembourg, the BRRD was implemented by the Luxembourg act dated 18 December
2015 (the BRR Act 2015). Under the BRR Act 2015, the competent authority is the CSSF and the
resolution authority is the CSSF acting as Resolution Council (le Conseil de résolution).

The stated aim of the BRRD and Regulation (EU) no. 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of the European Union of 15 July 2014 (the SRM Regulation) is to provide for the establishment
of an EU-wide framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms. The
regime provided for by the BRRD is, among other things, stated to be needed to provide the authority
designated by each EU Member State (the Resolution Authority) with a credible set of tools to intervene
sufficiently early and quickly in an unsound or failing institution so as to ensure the continuity of the
instituion’s critical financial and economic functions while minimizing the impact of an instition’s failure on
the economy and financial system (including taxpayers’ exposure to losses).

Under the SRM Regulation, a centralized power of resolution is established and entrusted to the Single
Resolution Board (the SRB) and to the national resolution authorities.

The powers provided to the Resolution Authority in the BRRD and the SRM Regulation include
writedown/conversion powers to ensure that capital instruments (including subordinated debt instruments
such as the Subordinated Leveraged and Tracking Products) and eligible liabilities (including senior debt
instruments, such as the Senior Leveraged and Tracking Products, if junior instruments prove insufficient
to absorb all losses) absorb losses of the issuing institution that is subject to resolution in accordance with
a set order of priority (the Bail-in Power). The conditions for resolution under the French Code monétaire
et financier implementing the BRRD are deemed to be met when: (i) the Resolution Authority or the
relevant supervisory authority determines that the institution is failing or is likely to fail, (ii) there is no
reasonable prospect that any measure other than a resolution measure would prevent the failure within a
reasonable timeframe, and (iii) a resolution measure is necessary for the achievement of the resolution
objectives (in particular, ensuring the continuity of critical functions, avoiding a significant adverse effect
on the financial system, protecting public funds by minimizing reliance on extraordinary public financial
support, and protecting client funds and assets) and winding up of the institution under normal insolvency
proceedings would not meet those resolution objectives to the same extent.

The Resolution Authority could also, independently of a resolution measure or in combination with a
resolution measure, fully or partially write-down or convert capital instruments (including subordinated
debt instruments such as the Subordinated Leveraged and Tracking Products) into equity when it
determines that the institution or its group will no longer be viable unless such write down or conversion
power is exercised or when the institution requires extraordinary public financial support (except when
extraordinary public financial support is provided in the form defined in Article L. 613-48 lIl, 3° of the
French Code monétaire et financier). The terms and conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products
contain provisions giving effect to the Bail-in Power in the context of resolution and write-down or
conversion of capital instruments at the point of non-viability.

The Bail-in Power could result in the full (i.e., to zero) or partial write-down or conversion into ordinary
shares or other instruments of ownership of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, or the variation of the
terms of the Leveraged and Tracking Products (for example, the maturity and/or interest payable may be
altered and/or a temporary suspension of payments may be ordered). Extraordinary public financial
support should only be used as a last resort after having assessed and applied, to the maximum extent
practicable, the resolution measures. No support will be available until a minimum amount of contribution
to loss absorption and recapitalization of 8% of total liabilities including own funds has been made by
shareholders, holders of capital instruments and other eligible liabilities through write down, conversion
or otherwise.

In addition to the Bail-in Power, the BRRD provides the Resolution Authority with broader powers to
implement other resolution measures with respect to instituions that meet the conditions for resolution,
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which may include (without limitation) the sale of the instituion’s business, the creation of a bridge
institution, the separation of assets, the replacement or substitution of the institution as obligor in respect
of debt instruments, modifications to the terms of debt instruments (including altering the maturity and/or
the amount of interest payable and/or imposing a temporary suspension on payments), removing
management, appointing an interim administrator, and discontinuing the listing and admission to trading
of financial instruments.

Before taking a resolution measure, including implementing the Bail-in Power, or exercising the power to
write down or convert relevant capital instruments, the Resolution Authority must ensure that a fair,
prudent and realistic valuation of the assets and liabilities of the institution is carried out by a person
independent from any public authority.

Since January 1, 2016, French credit institutions (such as the Issuer) have to meet, at all times, a minimum
requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) pursuant to Article L. 613-44 of the French Code
monétaire et financier. The MREL, which is expressed as a percentage of the total liabilities and own
funds of the institution, aims at preventing institutions from structuring their liabilities in a manner that
impedes the effectiveness of the Bail-in Power in order to facilitate resolution.

In addition, on November 9, 2015, the Financial Stability Board (the FSB) published a standard on total
loss absorbing capacity (TLAC) which is set forth in a term sheet (the FSB TLAC Term Sheet). That
standard — which has been adopted after the BRRD —shares similar objectives to MREL but covers a
different scope. Moreover, the Council of the European Union published on February 14, 2019 a final
compromise text for the modification of CRR and BRRD intending to give effect to the FSB TLAC Term
Sheet and to modify the requirements for MREL eligibility.

The TLAC requirements are expected to be complied with since January 1, 2019 in accordance with the
FSB principles. The TLAC requirements impose a level of “Minimum TLAC” that will be determined
individually for each global systemically important bank (G-SIB), such as the Issuer, in an amount at least
equal to (i) 16%, plus applicable buffers, of risk weight assets through January 1, 2022 and 18%, plus
applicable buffers, thereafter and (ii) 6% of the Basel Il leverage ratio denominator through January 1,
2022 and 6.75% thereafter (each of which could be extended by additional firm-specific requirements).
However, according to the final compromise text for the modification of CRR published by the Council of
the European Union in February 2019, European Union G-SIBs will have to comply with TLAC
requirements, on top of the MREL requirements, as from the entry into force of the amending regulation.
As such, G-SIBs will have to comply at the same time with TLAC and MREL described above.

In accordance with the provisions of the SRM Regulation, when applicable, the SRB, has replaced the
national resolution authorities designated under the BRRD with respect to all aspects relating to the
decision-making process and the national resolution authorities designated under the BRRD continue to
carry out activities relating to the implementation of resolution schemes adopted by the SRB. The
provisions relating to the cooperation between the SRB and the national resolution authorities for the
preparation of the banks’ resolution plans have applied since January 1, 2015 and the SRM has been
fully operational since January 1, 2016.

The application of any measure under the French BRRD implementing provisions or any suggestion of
such application with respect to the Issuer or the Group could materially adversely affect the rights of
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders, the price or value of an investment in the Leveraged and
Tracking Products and/or the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under any Leveraged and
Tracking Products, and as a result investors may lose their entire investment.

Moreover, if the Issuer’s financial condition deteriorates, the existence of the Bail-in Power, the exercise
of write-down/conversion powers or any other resolution tools by the Resolution Authority independently
of a resolution measure or in combination with a resolution measure when it determines that the institution
or its group will no longer be viable could cause the market price or value of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products to decline more rapidly than would be the case in the absence of such powers.

Following the publication on 7 June 2019 in the Official Journal of the EU 14 May 2019 by the Council of
the Directive (EU) 2019/879 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 May 2019 amending the
BRRD as regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalisation capacity of credit institutions and investment
firms and Directive 98/26/EC and of the Regulation (EU) 2019/877 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 20 May 2019 amending the Single Resolution Mechanism Regulation (Regulation 806/2014)
as regards the loss-absorbing and recapitalisation capacity of credit institutions and investment firms, a
comprehensive legislative package reducing risks in the banking sector and further reinforcing banks'
ability to withstand potential shocks will strengthen the banking union and reduce risks in the financial
system from 28 December 2020.
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3.1.11

3.1.12

3.1.13

The United Kingdom’s impending departure from the European Union could adversely affect the
Group

On 29 March 2017, the United Kingdom (UK) invoked Atrticle 50 of the Lisbon Treaty and officially notified

the European Union (EU) of its decision to withdraw from the EU. This commenced the formal two-year
process of negotiations regarding the terms of the withdrawal and the framework of the future relationship
between the UK and the EU (the article 50 withdrawal agreement). As part of those negotiations, a
transitional period has been agreed in principle which would extend the application of EU law, and provide
for continuing access to the EU single market, until the end of 2020.

It remains uncertain whether the article 50 withdrawal agreement will be finalised and ratified by the UK
and the EU ahead of the 29 March 2019 deadline. If it is not ratified, the Treaty on the European Union
and the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union will cease to apply to the UK from that date.
Whilst continuing to negotiate the article 50 withdrawal agreement, the UK Government has therefore
commenced preparations for a ‘hard’ Brexit or ‘no-deal’ Brexit to minimise the risks for firms and
businesses associated with an exit with no transitional agreement. This has included publishing draft
secondary legislation under powers provided in the EU (Withdrawal) Act 2018 to ensure that there is a
functioning statute book on 30 March 2019. The European authorities have not provided UK firms and
businesses with similar assurances in preparation for a ‘hard’ Brexit.

Due to the on-going political uncertainty as regards the terms of the UK’s withdrawal from the EU and the
structure of the future relationship, the precise impact on the business of the Issuer is difficult to determine.
As such, no assurance can be given that such matters would not adversely affect the ability of the Issuer
to satisfy its obligations under the Leveraged and Tracking Products and/or the market value and/or the
liquidity of the Leveraged and Tracking Products in the secondary market.

Transfer restrictions

The Leveraged and Tracking Products may not at any time be offered, sold, pledged, or otherwise
transferred except in an “offshore transaction” (as defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or
benefit of a Permitted Transferee as described under “Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions”. Any
transfer of Leveraged and Tracking Products to a person that is not a Permitted Transferee will be void
ab initio and of no legal effect whatsoever. Accordingly, any purported transferee of any legal or beneficial
ownership interest in Leveraged and Tracking Products in such a transaction will not be entitled to any
right as a legal or beneficial owner of such interest in such Leveraged and Tracking Products.

In addition, the relevant Issuer may redeem the Leveraged and Tracking Products held by such purchaser
or other transferee or compel any such purchaser or other transferee to transfer such Leveraged and
Tracking Products. Any such redemption or forced transfer may result in a significant loss of a Leveraged
and Tracking Product Holder’s investment.

The foregoing restriction on the offer, sale, pledge or other transfer of Leveraged and Tracking Products
may limit the liquidity of such Leveraged and Tracking Products. Consequently, a purchaser must be
prepared to hold such Leveraged and Tracking Products for an indefinite period of time and potentially
until their maturity.

Investment Company Act

Neither SG Issuer, nor Société Générale Effekten GmbH has registered with the United States Securities
and Exchange Commission (the SEC) as an investment company pursuant to the Investment Company
Act. Investors in the Leveraged and Tracking Products will not have the protections of the Investment
Company Act.

If the SEC or a court of competent jurisdiction were to find that the relevant Issuer is required, but in
violation of the Investment Company Act, has failed, to register as an investment company, possible
consequences include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) the SEC could apply to a district court to
enjoin the violation; (ii) investors in the relevant Issuer could sue such Issuer and recover any damages
caused by the violation; and (iii) any contract to which the relevant Issuer is party that is made in, or whose
performance involves, a violation of the Investment Company Act would be unenforceable by any party to
the contract unless a court were to find that under the circumstances enforcement would produce a more
equitable result than non-enforcement and would not be inconsistent with the purposes of the Investment
Company Act. Should the relevant Issuer be subjected to any or all of the foregoing, such Issuer would
be materially and adversely affected.
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3.1.14

3.1.15

3.1.16

3.1.17

A Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder’s actual return on the Leveraged and Tracking Products
may be reduced from the stated return by transaction costs

When Leveraged and Tracking Products are purchased or sold, several types of incidental costs (including
transaction fees and commissions) are incurred in addition to the current price of the security. These
incidental costs may significantly reduce or even exclude the profit potential of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products. For instance, credit institutions as a rule charge their clients for own commissions
which are either fixed minimum commissions or pro-rata commissions depending on the order value. To
the extent that additional — domestic or foreign — parties are involved in the execution of an order, including
but not limited to domestic dealers or brokers in foreign markets, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders
must take into account that they may also be charged for the brokerage fees, commissions and other fees
and expenses of such parties (third party costs).

In addition to such costs directly related to the purchase of securities (direct costs), Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders must also take into account any follow-up costs (such as custody fees).
Prospective investors should inform themselves about any additional costs incurred in connection with
the purchase, custody or sale of the Leveraged and Tracking Products before investing in the Leveraged
and Tracking Products.

There is a risk that trading in the Leveraged and Tracking Products and/or Underlyings will be
suspended, interrupted or terminated

If the Leveraged and Tracking Products are listed on one (or more) markets (which may be regulated or
unregulated), the listing of such Leveraged and Tracking Products may — depending on the rules
applicable to such stock exchange — be suspended or interrupted by the respective stock exchange or a
competent regulatory authority upon the occurrence of a number of reasons, including violation of price
limits, breach of statutory provisions, occurrence of operational problems of the stock exchange or
generally if deemed required in order to secure a functioning market or to safeguard the interests of
investors. Furthermore, trading in the Leveraged and Tracking Products may be terminated, either upon
decision of the stock exchange, a regulatory authority or upon application by the Issuer. Where trading in
an Underlying of the Leveraged and Tracking Products is suspended, interrupted or terminated, trading
in the respective Leveraged and Tracking Products will usually also be suspended, interrupted or
terminated and existing orders for the sale or purchase of such Leveraged and Tracking Products will
usually be cancelled. Investors should note that the Issuer has no influence on trading suspension or
interruptions (other than where trading in the Leveraged and Tracking Products is terminated upon the
Issuer’'s decision) and that investors in any event must bear the risks connected therewith. In particular,
investors may not be able to sell their Leveraged and Tracking Products where trading is suspended,
interrupted or terminated, and the stock exchange quotations of such Leveraged and Tracking Products
may not adequately reflect the price of such Leveraged and Tracking Products. Furthermore, a trading
suspension, interruption or termination of Underlyings of the Leveraged and Tracking Products may cause
a suspension, interruption or termination of trading in the Leveraged and Tracking Products and may as
well result in an artificial or wrong valuation of the Leveraged and Tracking Products. Finally, even if
trading in Leveraged and Tracking Products or Underlyings is suspended, interrupted or terminated,
investors should note that such measures may neither be sufficient nor adequate nor in time to prevent
price disruptions or to safeguard the investors’ interests; for example, where trading in Leveraged and
Tracking Products is suspended after price-sensitive information relating to such Leveraged and Tracking
Products has been published, the price of such Leveraged and Tracking Products may already have been
adversely affected. All these risks would, if they materialise, have a material adverse effect on the
investors.

Risk of difficulties regarding assertion of rights against an Issuer and/or the Guarantor established
and operating in another jurisdiction than the investor’s home jurisdiction

In the event of a dispute with the Issuer and/or the Guarantor, investors who are not resident in, or does
not have their habitual residence in, the state of the Issuer or the Guarantor, may face difficulties in
enforcing their rights resulting from the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Risk relating to the financing of the purchase of Leveraged and Tracking Products by loan or credit
significantly increases risks

If a prospective investor in the Leveraged and Tracking Products decides to finance the purchase of
Leveraged and Tracking Products through funds borrowed from a third party, it should make sure in
advance that it can still continue to service the interest and principal payments on the loan in the event of
a loss. It should not rely on gains or profits from the investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products
which would enable it to repay interest and principal of the loans when due and payable.
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3.1.18

3.1.19

3.1.20

3.1.21

3.1.22

3.1.23

Leveraged and Tracking Products are unsecured Obligations

The Leveraged and Tracking Products represent general contractual obligations of the relevant Issuer
and are not secured by any property of such Issuer. The Leveraged and Tracking Products rank equally
among themselves and, save for such exceptions as may be provided by any applicable present or future
law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or directive of any governmental, administrative or judicial authority
or power (Applicable Law), pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the
relevant Issuer but excluding any debts for the time being preferred by Applicable Law and any
subordinated obligation.

[reserved]
Time lag

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, in the case of any exercise of Leveraged and
Tracking Products, there will be a time lag between the time a Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder
gives instructions to exercise and the time the applicable Settlement Amount or other relating to such
exercise is determined. Any such delay between the time of exercise and the determination of the
Settlement Amount or other amount will be specified in the Terms and Conditions, as completed by the
applicable Final Terms. In addition to such delay, further delay for Leveraged and Tracking Products may
result from a delay in exercise arising from any daily maximum exercise limitation, or for any Leveraged
and Tracking Product from the occurrence of a market disruption event (if applicable) or following the
imposition of any exchange controls or other similar regulations affecting the ability to obtain or exchange
any relevant currency (or basket of currencies) in the case of currency leveraged and tracking products.
The applicable Settlement Amount or other amount may change significantly during any such period, and
such movement or movements could decrease the Settlement Amount or other amount of the relevant
Leveraged and Tracking Products and may result in such Settlement Amount or other amount being zero.

Limitations on Exercise of Leveraged and Tracking Products

If so indicated in the Terms and Conditions as amended in accordance with the applicable Final Terms,
the number of Leveraged and Tracking Products exercisable by any Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holder on any date (other than the final exercise date) will be limited to the maximum number specified in
the applicable Final Terms. In the event that the total number of Leveraged and Tracking Products being
exercised on any date (other than the final exercise date) exceeds such maximum number, a Leveraged
and Tracking Product Holder will not be able to exercise on such date all Leveraged and Tracking Products
that such Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder desires to exercise. In any such case, the number of
Leveraged and Tracking Products to be exercised on such date will be reduced until the total number of
Leveraged and Tracking Products exercised on such date no longer exceeds such maximum, such
Leveraged and Tracking Products (if so stated in the applicable Final Terms) being selected at the
discretion of the relevant Issuer or in any other manner specified in the applicable Final Terms. Unless
otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Leveraged and Tracking Products tendered for
exercise but not exercised on such date will be automatically exercised on the next date on which
Leveraged and Tracking Products may be exercised, subject to the same daily maximum limitation and
delayed exercise provisions.

Minimum Exercise Amount

If so indicated in the applicable Final Terms, a Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder must tender a
specified number of Leveraged and Tracking Products at any one time in order to exercise. Therefore,
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders with fewer than the specified minimum number of Leveraged
and Tracking Products will either have to sell their Leveraged and Tracking Products or purchase
additional Leveraged and Tracking Products, incurring transaction costs in each case, in order to realise
their investment. Furthermore, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders of such Leveraged and Tracking
Products incur the risk that there may be differences between the trading price of such Leveraged and
Tracking Products and the Cash Settlement Amount or other amount due on exercise of such Leveraged
and Tracking Products.

Early expiration at the option of the Issuer

In respect of certain issues where so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Leveraged and Tracking
Products will be subject to early expiration and settlement prior to the Settlement Date at the option of the
Issuer. In such circumstances, the relevant Issuer shall have the right at its sole and absolute discretion
to elect that all or some of the remaining outstanding Leveraged and Tracking Products will be subject to
early expiration and settlement. The relevant Issuer may also have the option to terminate the Leveraged
and Tracking Products early upon the occurrence of certain events relating to the underlying(s) of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products or to the hedging arrangements with respect to the Leveraged and
Tracking Products. This could lead to investors receiving an amount on cancellation earlier than had been
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3.1.24

3.1.25

3.2

3.21

3.2.2

anticipated in circumstances over which the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders have no control
and may affect the value of their investment.

Consolidation of Leveraged and Tracking Products

In respect of certain issues where so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Leveraged and Tracking
Products will be subject to consolidation at the option of the Issuer and any fraction of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products which is not capable of being converted will be cancelled and settled prior to the
Settlement Date. In such circumstances, the relevant Issuer shall have the right to elect that the remaining
outstanding Leveraged and Tracking Products will be subject to consolidation. This could lead to investors
receiving an amount on cancelled Leveraged and Tracking Products earlier than had been anticipated in
circumstances over which the Leveraged and Tracking Productsholders have no control and may affect
the value of their investment.

Classification and treatment of an investment in Leveraged and Tracking Products

Investors should be aware that specific German accounting rules mean that, as a matter of policy, Société
Générale may class automatically exercised, cash settled Leveraged and Tracking Products with a low or
no exercise price as a debt instrument for the purposes of internal classification. Such classification is
internal to Société Générale and should not determine any external classification or treatment (whether
legal, accounting, fiscal or otherwise) of any Leveraged and Tracking Product. Neither Société Générale
nor any other member of the Société Générale group of companies is offering advice on such classification
in any country including, but not limited to, Germany, nor does it assume any responsibility for such
classification. This risk factor should not be interpreted as a definitive statement in relation to the matters
it describes and investors should seek independent advice in relation to, inter alia, the legal, tax and
accounting treatment of the Leveraged and Tracking Products before entering into any investment.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk,
interest rate risk and credit risk.

The secondary market generally

Leveraged and Tracking Products may have no established trading market when issued, and one may
never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able
to sell their Leveraged and Tracking Products easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield
comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case
for Leveraged and Tracking Products that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market
risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the
investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Leveraged and Tracking
Products generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than
conventional debt securities. llliquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of
Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Moreover, although the relevant Issuer can purchase Leveraged and Tracking Products at any moment,
this is not an obligation for the relevant Issuer. Purchases made by the relevant Issuer could affect the
liquidity of the secondary market of the relevant Leveraged and Tracking Products and thus the price and
the conditions under which investors can negotiate these Leveraged and Tracking Products on the
secondary market.

If application is made for an Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme to
be listed and admitted to trading on a regulated market, there is no assurance that such application will
be accepted, that any particular Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products will be so admitted or that an
active trading market will develop.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The relevant Issuer will pay amounts due under the Leveraged and Tracking Products in the Settlement
Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities
are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the Investor’s Currency) other than the
Settlement Currency.

These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation
of the Settlement Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with
jurisdiction over the Investor’'s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the
value of the Investor’'s Currency relative to the Settlement Currency would decrease (1) the Investor’s
Currency-equivalent return on the Leveraged and Tracking Products, (2) the Investor's Currency-
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3.23

equivalent value of the Settlement Amount in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products and (3) the
Investor’s Currency-equivalent market value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, payments in respect of the Leveraged
and Tracking Products could be reduced, possibly to zero.

Market value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products

The market value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products may be affected by the creditworthiness and/or
the credit rating of the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor and a number of additional factors, including
the market interest and yield rates and the time remaining to the expiration date.

In addition, the market value of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products will also depend on various
other factors relating to the Type of Collateralisation provided for such Leveraged and Tracking Products,
in relation to which please refer to section 6 — “Additional Risks Associated with Secured Leveraged and
Tracking Products ” below.

The value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products depends on a number of interrelated factors, including
economic, financial and political events in Germany and elsewhere, including factors affecting capital
markets generally and the stock exchanges on which the Leveraged and Tracking Products are traded.
The price at which a Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder may sell the Leveraged and Tracking
Products prior to maturity may be at a discount, which could be substantial, from the issue price or the
purchase price paid by such purchaser.

RISKS RELATED TO A PARTICULAR FEATURE OF LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

A wide range of Leveraged and Tracking Products may be issued under the Programme. A number of
these Leveraged and Tracking Products may have features which present particular risks for prospective
investors.

Set out below is a description of the most common such features, which may increase the risk of investing
in such Leveraged and Tracking Products:

Open-ended Leveraged and Tracking Products

Open-ended Leveraged and Tracking Products do not have a determined expiration date. Therefore, the
duration of the Leveraged and Tracking Products is dependent on the Issuer’s or the Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holder’s optional election to settle the Leveraged and Tracking Products early, the
occurrence of certain events or by a certain trigger being breached, in each case to the extent applicable
in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products. If there is no secondary market, there might be no
possibility for the investors to sell the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Risks linked to the protection of capital

For certain Leveraged and Tracking Products, there is no risk of capital loss upon settlement at maturity.
However, the expenses for such protection may have impaired other conditions of the Product and may
have caused amounts payable on the Leveraged and Tracking Products to be lower as would have been
granted otherwise.

Regardless of the level of the capital protection of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, investors in the
Leveraged and Tracking Products may lose part or all of the initially invested amount before the settlement
date if the product is sold by the investor or settled early.

Leveraged and Tracking Products subject to optional early expiration by the relevant Issuer

An optional early expiration feature of Leveraged and Tracking Products is likely to limit their market value.
Before or during any period when the relevant Issuer may elect to settle the Leveraged and Tracking
Products early, the market value of those Leveraged and Tracking Products generally will not rise
substantially above the price at which they can be exercised.

Reinvestment risks

The Leveraged and Tracking Products may expire early or be subject to cancellation at a time when an
investor generally would not be able to reinvest the proceeds at an expected yield as high as the return
on the Leveraged and Tracking Products being exercised or cancelled, as the case may be, and may only
be able to do so at a significantly lower yield. Prospective investors should consider reinvestment risk in
light of other investments available at that time.
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4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

Trigger cancellation at the option of the Issuer

In respect of certain issues where so specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Leveraged and Tracking
Products may be exercised early in the event that the number of Leveraged and Tracking Products
outstanding held at such time by Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders falls below 10% of the initial
number of such Leveraged and Tracking Products or such other level specified in the applicable Final
Terms. In such event the relevant Issuer will have the option to exercise any outstanding Leveraged and
Tracking Products early upon the giving of notice. This could lead to investors receiving an amount on
cancellation which may be lower than their initial investment and earlier than had been anticipated in
circumstances over which the investors have no control and which may affect the value of their investment.

Leveraged and Tracking Products containing limited events of default

The Leveraged and Tracking Products will only become immediately due and repayable following the
occurrence of a limited number of events of default (in compliance with Condition 8 of the General Terms
and Conditions). Such events of default do not include a cross-default of the relevant Issuer’s other debt
obligation or of the Guarantor.

Reliance on Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Iberclear procedures

Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme may be represented on issue by one or
more Global Securities that may be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream,
Luxembourg or a depositary for Iberclear (see “Book Entry Clearance Systems”). Except in the
circumstances described in each Global Security, investors will not be entitled to receive Leveraged and
Tracking Products in definitive form. Each of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Iberclear and their
respective direct and indirect participants will maintain records of the beneficial interests in each Global
Security held through it. While the Leveraged and Tracking Products are represented by a Global Security,
investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through the relevant clearing systems and their
respective participants.

While the Leveraged and Tracking Products are represented by Global Securities, the Issuer will
discharge its payment obligation under the Leveraged and Tracking Products by making payments
through the relevant clearing systems. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Security must rely on
the procedures of the relevant clearing system and its participants to receive payments under the
Leveraged and Tracking Products. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to,
or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in any Global Security.

Holders of beneficial interests in a Global Security will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products so represented. Instead, such Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders
will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by the relevant clearing system and its
participants to appoint appropriate proxies.

Risk of Leveraged Exposure

Leverage involves the use of a number of financial techniques to increase the exposure of a Leveraged
and Tracking Product to the applicable underlying and can therefore magnify both returns and losses.
While the use of leverage allows for potential multiples of a return (assuming a return is achieved) when
the applicable underlying moves in the anticipated direction, it will conversely magnify losses when such
underlying moves against expectations of investors. When a Leveraged and Tracking Product
incorporates a leverage mechanism, prospective investors should note that these Leveraged and Tracking
Products will involve a higher level of risk, and that whenever there are losses such losses may be higher
than those of a similar security which is not leveraged. Investors should therefore only invest in Leveraged
and Tracking Products if they fully understand the effects of the leverage that may be embedded in the
Leveraged and Tracking Products

Loss of Time Value

The amounts due on exercise of the Leveraged and Tracking Products is typically expected to be
negatively impacted by the “time value” of the Leveraged and Tracking Products. The “time value” of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products will depend partly upon the length of the period remaining to expiration
and expectations concerning the value of the underlying of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.
Leveraged and Tracking Products offer hedging and investment diversification opportunities but also pose
some additional risks with regard to erosion in value.
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411.1

4.11.2

Formula-Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Amounts payable or deliverable in respect of Formula-Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products (as
defined in Condition 1 of the General Terms and Conditions) are determined by reference to one or several
formula(e) which are based on the underlying(s) of such Formula-Linked Leveraged and Tracking
Products In addition, the amounts payable or deliverable in respect of Formula-Linked Leveraged and
Tracking Products may also depend on external factors such as interest rates, time to expiry, volatility,
liquidity and any other factor used as input in such formula(e). As such, holders of Formula-Linked
Leveraged and Tracking Products are exposed to risks which are inherent to the determination of such
formula(e) and to the movements in such underlying(s) and other reference assets, rates or levels which
may result in Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders losing all or a substantial portion of their
investment.

Risks relating to Leveraged and Tracking Products linked to an Index

General considerations related to Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products and SGI Index
Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Leveraged and Tracking Products based on an index are subject to risks broadly similar to those attending
any investment in a broadly-based portfolio of assets including, without limitation, the risk that the general
level of prices for such assets may decline. The following is a list of some of the significant risks associated
with an index:

- historical performance of the index does not indicate the future performance of this index. It is
impossible to predict whether the value of the index will fall or rise during the term of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products; and

- the level of the index or indices may be affected by the economic, financial and political events
in one or more jurisdictions, including the stock exchange(s) or quotation system(s) on which any
securities comprising the index or indices may be traded. The index may reference equities,
bonds or other securities or it may be a property index referencing certain property price data
which will be subject to market price fluctuations. A property index may include valuations only
and not actual transactions and the property data sources used to compile the index may be
subject to change, which may adversely affect the return on the Leveraged and Tracking
Products.

The policies of the sponsor of an index (including a sponsor that is affiliated with Société Générale) as
regards additions, deletions and substitutions of the assets underlying the index and the manner in which
the index sponsor takes account of certain changes affecting such underlying assets may affect the value
of the index. The policies of an index sponsor with respect to the calculation of an index could also affect
the value of the index. An index sponsor may discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of
information relating to its index. Any such actions could affect the value of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products. See “Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products” for
more details.

In addition, indices may be subject to management fees and other fees as well as charges that are payable
to the index sponsor(s) and which can reduce the Redemption Amount payable to Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders. Such fees may be paid to index sponsors that are affiliates of Société Générale.

Depending upon the calculation methodology of an index and on the provisions of the applicable Final
Terms, where the performance of an index is taken into account in order to calculate payments due under
the Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products or SGI Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking
Products, the payment of income (such as dividends for an index that has stocks as underlyings) may not
be reflected as the index may be calculated by reference to the prices of the underlyings comprising the
index without taking into consideration the value of any income paid on those index underlyings.
Therefore, the yield to settlement of both Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products and SGI Index
Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may not be the same as the yield that would be produced if
such index underlyings were purchased and held for a similar period.

Conflicts of interest in connection with proprietary indices

Société Générale has developed an expertise in creating, structuring and maintaining indices (including
SGI Indices), portfolios or strategies for which it acts as index sponsor (the “proprietary indices”). These
indices are calculated by an external calculation agent in accordance with rules which describe the
methodology for determining the composition and the calculation of these proprietary indices (the
‘Rules”).
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0] In respect of the proprietary indices discretionarily composed by Société Générale or an affiliate
of Société Générale to which Leveraged and Tracking Products are linked, Société Générale
may face a conflict of interest between its obligations as the issuer of such Leveraged and
Tracking Products and as the composer of such indices, as the determination of the composition
of such indices may have an impact on the value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

(i) In respect of the proprietary indices composed by a third party to which Leveraged and Tracking
Products are linked, Société Générale may face a conflict of interest between its obligations as
the issuer of such Leveraged and Tracking Products and as sponsor of such indices as it may,
subject to the Rules, amend or supplement the relevant Rules which may have an impact on the
value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

(i) In respect of the proprietary indices which are composed by applying a mathematical formula
without any discretion from Société Générale or any third party, Société Générale may face a
conflict of interest between its obligations as the issuer of such Leveraged and Tracking Products
and as sponsor of such indices as it may, subject to the Rules, modify certain parameters (such
as the funding spread) or provide the valuation of certain components which may have an impact
on the value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

The roles of the different teams involved within Société Générale in the design, maintenance and
replication of the indices have been strictly defined. The replication of any index is made in the same
manner by a single team within Société Générale, be it for the purpose of hedging the product held by
external investors or for the purpose of the positions held by Société Générale acting as co-investor with
external investors.

The Group may have banking or other commercial relationships with third parties in relation to a
proprietary index, and may engage in trading in such index (including such trading as any member of the
Group deem appropriate to hedge their market risk on any such other transactions that may relate to
proprietary indices), which may adversely affect the level of such index.

If the hedging activities of any member of the Group in connection with a particular index are disrupted,
the relevant member of the Group may decide to terminate calculations in relation to such index sooner
than another index sponsor would in comparable circumstances. Such a termination may trigger the early
termination of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

The above situations may result in consequences which may be adverse to Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders. The Issuers and the Guarantor assume no responsibility whatsoever for such
consequences and their impact on Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders.

Conflicts of interest in connection with indices

The composition of certain indices to which the Leveraged and Tracking Products are linked, and the
methodologies used in relation to these indices, may be determined and selected by Société Générale or
any of its affiliates. When selecting these methodologies, one can expect Société Générale or its
concerned affiliate to take into account their own objectives and interests and/or those of the Group, and
no guarantee can be given that the selected methodologies will not be less favourable to the interests of
the investors than the methodologies used by other index sponsors in similar circumstances.

If the hedging activities of Société Générale or one of its affiliates are impaired in relation to a specific
index, Société Générale or its concerned affiliate may decide to terminate the calculation of such index,
sooner than another index sponsor would in similar circumstances. Such termination could be considered
as an event triggering an early termination of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO STRUCTURED LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS
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General risks relating to Structured Leveraged and Tracking Products
General considerations relating to Structured Leveraged and Tracking Products

There are certain factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the risks associated with an
investment in Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the programme. Such factors will vary
depending on the type of Leveraged and Tracking Products issued, in particular, in relation to the
Leveraged and Tracking Products, the redemption amount of which is linked to the value of one or more
underlying such as index, share, inflation index, unit, interest or share in a fund, or the combination of any
of the foregoing or basis of reference.
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Prospective investors should be aware that, depending on the specific terms and conditions of the relevant
Leveraged and Tracking Products, (i) payment of any amounts could occur at a time other than that
stipulated or (ii) they could lose all or a substantial part of their investment.

Investors should be aware that in the event of the occurrence of certain circumstances during the term of
the Leveraged and Tracking Products (which may include, amongst other things, material or substantial
modifications of any of the conditions of any of the underlying or any event or any change affecting any of
the underlying assets as specified in the applicable Final Terms) and which is likely to have a significant
effect on the value of the affected underlying assets, then, the Calculation Agent may substitute the
affected underlying assets or may trigger the termination of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

The Leveraged and Tracking Products may be exercised by the relevant Issuer at their par value and/or
by the physical delivery of the underlying assets and/or by payment of an amount determined by reference
to the value of the underlying assets. Accordingly, an investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products
may bear similar market risks to a direct investment in the relevant underlying assets and investors should
take advice accordingly. The value of the underlying assets may vary over time and may affect adversely
the market value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products and/or any payments due under the Leveraged
and Tracking Products.

The relevant Issuer may issue Leveraged and Tracking Products with a Settlement Amount determined
by reference to an index or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to interest rates,
to credit risk, to movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a Relevant Factor). In
addition, the relevant Issuer may issue Leveraged and Tracking Products where the Settlement Amount
is determined in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Leveraged
and Tracking Products are denominated. Prospective investors should be aware that:

- the market price of such Leveraged and Tracking Products may be volatile;
- the Settlement Amount may be zero;
- they may lose all or a substantial portion of their investment;

- a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in
interest rates, currencies or other indices;

- if a Relevant Factor is applied to Leveraged and Tracking Products in conjunction with a multiplier
greater than one or contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor
on the Settlement Amount will likely be magnified;

- the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average
level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor,
the greater the effect on yield; and

- the market price of such Leveraged and Tracking Products may be volatile and may depend on the
time remaining to the relevant settlement date (including any early settlement date where Leveraged
and Tracking Products are subject to early expiration) and the volatility of the level of the underlyings.

The historical performance of an underlying asset should not be viewed as an indication of the future
performance of such underlying asset during the term of any Leveraged and Tracking Products.
Accordingly, each prospective investor should consult its own financial and legal advisers about the risk
entailed by an investment in any Leveraged and Tracking Products and the suitability of such Leveraged
and Tracking Products in light of its particular circumstances.

Intrinsic Risks of Leveraged and Tracking Products / Reverse Split
Risks related to leverage

The value of Leveraged and Tracking Products is significantly influenced by the price of the underlying.
Therefore holders of the Leveraged and Tracking Products have to consider the fact that with Leveraged
and Tracking Products they obtain a leveraged long or short exposure to the underlying which may be
leveraged and hence they bear the price risk of the underlying (upwards in the case of short Leveraged
and Tracking Products_and/or when the Leveraged and Tracking Products refer to an Underlying which
embed a short exposure, downwards in the case of long Leveraged and Tracking Products_and/or when
the Leveraged and Tracking Products refer to an Underlying which embed a long exposure). As a result,
prospective holders of Leveraged and Tracking Products should evaluate the past, present and expected
performance of the underlying while taking into account the expected future performance of the capital
markets prior to the purchase of the Leveraged and Tracking Products over their intended investment
horizon.
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The factor (if any) which may be leveraging the asset underlying the Leveraged and Tracking Products
operates both in positive and in negative price changes of the underlying: in the case of short Leveraged
and Tracking Products and/or Leveraged and Tracking Products that refer to an Underlying which embed
a short exposure, holders are exposed to any increase in the price of the asset underlying the Leveraged
and Tracking Products while, in the case of long Leveraged and Tracking Products and/or Leveraged and
Tracking Products that refer to an Underlying which embed a long exposure, holders are exposed to any
decrease in the price of the asset underlying the Leveraged and Tracking Products. This, in both cases,
may result for Leveraged and Tracking Products in an amplified adverse performance of the Leveraged
and Tracking Products.

Risks related to regular and intraday restrike mechanisms (when applicable)

Leveraged and Tracking Products may also include (at the level of the product formula and/or at the level
of the Underlying) a regular restrike mechanism which may have adverse impacts on the performance of
the Leveraged and Tracking Products. Over time, this effect, known as “beta slippage” may result in a
decline in the value of a Leveraged and Tracking Product while the underlying would have moved
favourably i.e. it is possible that, when observed over several days, the value of a long Leveraged and
Tracking Product decreases over time despite the price or level of the underlying increasing over the same
period of time (conversely it is possible that, when observed over several days, the value of a short
Leveraged and Tracking Product decreases over time despite the price or level of the underlying
decreasing over the same period of time).

In addition to the regular restrike mechanism described above, Leveraged and Tracking Products may
include (at the level of the product formula and/or at the level of the Underlying) an intraday restrike
mechanism. Although this mechanism aims to reduce the risk of the value of a Leveraged and Tracking
Product being equal to zero, there is no guarantee that this will be the case. In addition, certain intraday
restrike mechanisms, especially the Min/Max restrike mechanism may result in a holder of a Leveraged
and Tracking Products incurring additional losses (including the total loss of their investment) and in
preventing their Leveraged and Tracking Products from recovering their value in case of subsequent
market recovery (for long Leveraged and Tracking Products) or decrease (for short Leveraged and
Tracking Products).

Costs related to leveraged and short strategies (when applicable)

Holders of Leveraged and Tracking Products must be aware that the leverage mechanism (if any)
embedded in Leveraged and Tracking Products (at the level of the product formula and/or at the level of
the Underlying) includes a certain number of fee and cost factors (for example and without limitation:
financing of the leverage, borrowing cost for short Leveraged and Tracking Products, costs to replicated
and hedge the risk of the strategy underlying a Leveraged and Tracking Product becoming negative) that
are deducted on a regular basis from the value of the Leveraged and Tracking Product. Therefore holders
of Leveraged and Tracking Products may face a loss despite the relevant underlying having posted a
positive performance (for long Leveraged and Tracking Products) or a negative performance (for short
Leveraged and Tracking Products).

Reverse splits

Holders of the Leveraged and Tracking Products should also be aware that the Issuer may, at its
discretion, perform reverse splits. In such case the number of Leveraged and Tracking Products will be
aggregated and these Leveraged and Tracking Products will be converted into a smaller number of
Leveraged and Tracking Products calculated by dividing the number of pre-conversion Leveraged and
Tracking Products in by a predefined conversion factor. Although reverse splits are intended to provide
additional liquidity to holders and to prevent the forced liquidation (and therefore complete exit) of a
Leveraged and Tracking Product, holders of Leveraged and Tracking Products should be aware that (i) if
such conversion entitles the holder to a fraction of a Leveraged and Tracking Products such fraction will
be settled in cash and that (ii) if a Leveraged and Tracking Product benefits from an Absolute Floor, such
Absolute Floor per Leveraged and Tracking Product shall remain unaffected by the reverse split. As a
result, any protection offered by an Absolute Floor will be greatly reduced by a reverse split.

No beneficial interest in the underlying assets

A holder of the Leveraged and Tracking Products will not be a beneficial owner of the underlying assets
and therefore will not be entitled to receive any proceeds or similar amounts paid on the underlying assets,
nor will a Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder be entitled to purchase the underlying assets by virtue
of its ownership of the Leveraged and Tracking Products. Moreover, holders of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products will not be entitled to any rights or other control rights that holders of the underlying
assets may have with respect to the issuer of such underlying. The return on the Leveraged and Tracking
Products may not reflect the return on the underlying assets. Therefore, the yield to maturity based on the
methodology for calculating the the Settlement Amount and other Relevant Amounts might not be the

-69 -



Risk Factors

514

515

same yield as would be produced if the underlying assets were purchased directly and held for a similar
period.

Adjustment or substitution — cancellation of the Leveraged and Tracking Products

The Calculation Agent may, in certain circumstances, proceed to adjustments or substitutions or even
cause the Leveraged and Tracking Products to be cancelled, in particular upon the occurrence of events
affecting the underlying instrument(s). In the absence of manifest or proven error, these adjustments,
substitutions or cancellation decisions will be binding upon the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent
and the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders. The relevant Issuer may also have a right to cancel the
Leveraged and Tracking Products early. In all such cases the cancellation of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products may result in the total or partial loss of the amount invested.

The regulation and reform of “benchmarks” may adversely affect the value of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products linked to or referencing such “benchmarks”

Underlyings which are deemed to be “benchmarks”, are the subject of recent national and international
regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others
are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the
past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such
consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Leveraged and Tracking Products linked to or
referencing such a “benchmark”.

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the Benchmarks Regulation) was published in the Official Journal of the EU
on 29 June 2016 and mostly applies, subject to certain transitional provisions, from 1 January 2018. The
Benchmarks Regulation applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a
benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU. Among other things, it (i) requires benchmark
administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime
or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevent certain uses by EU supervised entities (such as
Société Générale) of benchmarks of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU
based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

The Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on any Leveraged and Tracking Products linked
to or referencing a “benchmark” in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the “benchmark” are
changed in order to comply with the requirements of the Benchmark Regulation. Such changes could,
among other things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the
published rate or level of the relevant benchmark.

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of
benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting
of a benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

Specifically, the sustainability of LIBOR has been questioned as a result of the absence of relevant active
underlying markets and possible disincentives (including possibly as a result of benchmark reforms) for
market participants to continue contributing to such benchmarks. On 27 July 2017, and in a subsequent
speech by its Chief Executive on 12 July 2018, the UK Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) confirmed that
it will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of the LIBOR benchmark
after 2021 (the FCA Announcements). The FCA Announcements indicated that the continuation of LIBOR
on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021.

It is not possible to predict with certainty whether, and to what extent, LIBOR and EURIBOR will continue
to be supported going forwards. This may cause LIBOR and EURIBOR to perform differently than they
have done in the past, and may have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Such factors may
have (without limitation) the following effects on certain benchmarks: (i) discouraging market participants
from continuing to administer or contribute to a benchmark; (ii) triggering changes in the rules or
methodologies used in the benchmark and/or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the benchmark. Any of
the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or
other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any
Leveraged and Tracking Products linked to, referencing, or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part)
upon, a benchmark.

In addition, the occurrence of an Administrator/Benchmark Event may cause early termination or
adjustment of the Leveraged and Tracking Products which may include selecting one or more successor
benchmarks and making related adjustments to the Leveraged and Tracking Products, including if
applicable to reflect increased costs. An Administrator/Benchmark Event may arise if any of the following
circumstances occurs or may occur: (1) a benchmark is materially changed or cancelled or (2)(i) the
relevant authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision or approval in respect
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of the benchmark or the administrator or sponsor of the benchmark is not obtained, (ii) an application for
authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence decision, approval or inclusion in any
official register is rejected or (iii) any authorisation, registration, recognition, endorsement, equivalence
decision or approval is suspended or inclusion in any official register is withdrawn.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the
potential risks imposed by the Benchmark Regulation or any of the international or national reforms in
making any investment decision with respect to any Leveraged and Tracking Products linked to or
referencing a benchmark.

Risks relating to short index linked Leveraged and Tracking Products and leveraged index
Leveraged and Tracking Products

If the Leveraged and Tracking Products track a short index Holders of Leveraged and Tracking Products
should consider that short index performs inversely to (in the opposite direction of) its underlying
reference. This means that the market price of such short index increases at the moment the market
prices of its underlying components declines.

If the Leveraged and Tracking Products track a leveraged index, Holders of Leveraged and Tracking
Products should consider that, corresponding to the leverage factor, the daily market price of such
leveraged index declines or increases disproportionally than the market price of the reference underlying
of such index. In unfavorable markets Holders of Leveraged and Tracking Products bear the increased
risk of the disproportionate loss of the invested capital.

In addition Holders of Leveraged and Tracking Products must be aware that in consequence of
extraordinary market price developments during a trading day the decline of the market price of the
leverage index has exceeded certain levels, the leverage index can be adjusted on a intraday basis in
accordance to the respective index concept. Such adjustment can lead to a lower participation of the
leverage index in a possible subsequent increase of the market price of the reference index.

The higher the leverage factor, the higher the risk of the loss of the invested capital for potential investors.

Risks relating to Share Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products and Depositary Receipts Linked
Leveraged and Tracking Products

Risks arising from conduct of issuers of shares

The issuers of underlying shares or depositary receipts are not involved in the offer of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products in any way and have no obligation to consider the interests of the Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders in taking any corporate actions that might affect the value of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products. The issuers of underlying shares or depositary receipts may take actions that will
adversely affect the value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Risks relating to Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Factors affecting the performance of the relevant Foreign Exchange Rate may adversely affect the
value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products

The performance of Foreign Exchange Rates, currency units or units of account are dependent upon the
supply and demand for currencies in the international foreign exchange markets, which are subject to
economic factors, including inflation rates in the countries concerned, interest rate differences between
the respective countries, economic forecasts, international political factors, fiscal and monetary policy,
government debt, currency convertibility and safety of making financial investments in the currency
concerned, speculation and intervening measures taken by governments and central banks. Such
measures include, without limitation, imposition of regulatory controls or taxes, issuance of a new currency
to replace an existing currency, alteration of the exchange rate or exchange characteristics by devaluation
or revaluation of a currency or imposition of exchange controls with respect to the exchange or transfer of
a specified currency that would affect exchange rates as well as the availability of a specified currency.
Any such measures could have a negative impact on the value of a Foreign Exchange Rate and
consequently the value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Currency exchange risks

Currency exchange risks can be expected to heighten in periods of financial turmoil. In periods of financial
turmoil, capital can move quickly out of regions that are perceived to be more vulnerable to the effects of
a crisis with sudden and severely adverse consequences to the currencies of those regions as a result.
In addition, governments around the world have recently made, and may be expected to continue to make,
very significant interventions in their economies, and sometimes directly in their currencies. It is not
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possible to predict the effect of any future legal or regulatory action relating to a currency. Further
interventions, other government actions or suspensions of actions, as well as other changes in
government economic policy or other financial or economic events affecting the currency markets -
including the replacement of entire currencies with new currencies - may cause Foreign Exchange Rates
to fluctuate sharply in the future, which could have a negative impact on the value of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products.

Risks relating to Leveraged and Tracking Products linked to ETF and ETP

Prospective investors in ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products or ETP Linked Leveraged and
Tracking Products should be aware that an investment in ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products
or ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will entail significant risks not associated with a
conventional debt or equity security. Prospective investors in ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking
Products or ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products should conduct their own investigations and,
in deciding whether or not to purchase these Leveraged and Tracking Products, prospective investors
should form their own views of the merits of an investment related to the ETFs or ETPs based upon such
investigations and not in reliance on any information given in this document.

Exchange traded products and Exchange traded funds are subject to market trading risks

An ETP or an ETF faces numerous market trading risks, including but not limited to the potential lack of
an active market, losses from trading in secondary markets, periods of high volatility, limited liquidity and
disruption in the creation or redemption process of such ETP or such ETF. If any of these risks
materialises, this may lead to the ETP or ETF shares trading at a premium or discount to its fair market
value.

Action or non-performance by the ETP issuer, the sponsor of the ETP or the Calculation Agent or
by the management company, fund administrator or sponsor of an ETF that may adversely affect
the Leveraged and Tracking Products

In case of an ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products, the ETP issuer and/or the sponsor of the
ETP and in case of an ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products, the management company, fund
administrator or sponsor of an ETF will have no involvement in the offer and sale of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products and will have no obligation to any purchaser of such Leveraged and Tracking Products.
In respect of such ETP, the ETP issuer and/or the sponsor of the ETP or in respect of such ETF, the
management company, fund administrator or sponsor of an ETF may take any actions without regard to
the interests of the purchasers of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, and any of these actions could
adversely affect the market value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products. In its day-to-day operations
and its investment strategy, an ETP will rely on the ETP issuer, the sponsor of the ETP and the Calculation
Agent and an ETF will rely on the fund issuer, the investment issuer, the management company and/or
on third parties providing services such as safekeeping of assets or acting as counterparty to derivatives
or other instruments used by such ETF to employ its investment strategy. The insolvency or non-
performance of services of any such persons or institutions may expose an ETP or an ETF to lose value.
Failure of procedures or systems, as well as human error or external events associated with, in case of
an ETP, an ETP’s issuer, sponsor or Calculation Agent and in case of an ETF, an ETF’s management
and/or administration, may reduce the value of the ETP or the ETF and affect the market value of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Credit risk of the issuer of the ETP or the ETF

ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products or ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products are linked
to the performance of the relevant ETPs or ETFs. Investors bear the risk of an investment in the issuer of
the ETPs or the ETFs. The value of the ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products or the ETF Linked
Leveraged and Tracking Products is dependent on the value of the ETPs or the ETFs, which will depend
in part on the creditworthiness of the issuer of the ETPs or of the ETFs, which may vary over the term of
the relevant Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Risks relating to ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Exposure to the ETP Underlying

ETPs usually aim to track the performance of an underlying financial instrument or basket thereof which
may include, without limitation, listed equities, commaodities, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, debt
instruments, derivatives or any index thereof (the ETP Underlying). In addition, when compared to
exchange traded funds, exposure to ETPs may involve a higher level of leverage and/or short exposures
and/or more concentrated exposures.
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Prospective investors should also consider the risk factors in respect of the risks involved in investing in
ETPs including, without limitation, risks relating to the ETP Underlying and to the underlying economics
of the ETPs. Consequently, prospective investors should review the ETP Conditions and consult with their
own professional advisers if they consider it necessary.

Risk that the ETP does not accurately track its underlyings performance

Where the Leveraged and Tracking Products are linked to an ETP, Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holders are exposed to the performance of such ETP and not necessarily the performance of the ETP
Underlying. In particular for some reasons, including, but not limited to, the liquidity of ETP units and/or
market conditions and/or terms and conditions of the ETP and/or the creditworthiness of the issuer of the
ETP, the market value of an ETP unit may deviate from the constitutive and governing documents, and
other documents of the ETP. Accordingly, investors who purchase Leveraged and Tracking Products that
are linked to an ETP may receive a different return than if such investors had directly invested into the
ETP units or the ETP Underlyings.

Risks relating to ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Where the underlying Asset is an exchange traded fund, there is arisk that such Exchange Traded
Fund will not accurately track its underlying share or index

Where the Leveraged and Tracking Products are linked to an exchange traded fund (an “ETF”) and the
investment objective of such ETF is to track the performance of a share or an index, the investors of such
Leveraged and Tracking Products are exposed to the performance of such ETF rather than the underlying
share or index such ETF tracks. For certain reasons, including to comply with certain tax and regulatory
constraints, an ETF may not be able to track or replicate the constituent securities of the underlying share
or index, which could give rise to a difference between the performance of the underlying share or index
and such ETF. Accordingly, investors who purchase Leveraged and Tracking Products that are linked to
an ETF may receive a lower return than if such investors had invested in the share or the index underlying
such ETF directly.

Exchange traded funds not actively managed

When the investment objective of an ETF is to track the performance of an index or other asset, such ETF
may be affected by general movements in market segments related to the index or other asset it is
tracking. Such an ETF invests in instruments included in, or that are representative of, the index or other
asset it is tracking regardless of their investment merits.

Exchange traded funds may engage in securities lending

Securities lending involves the risk that the ETF may lose money because the borrower of the ETF’s
loaned securities fails to return the securities in a timely manner or at all or that insufficient collateral has
been posted in respect of such securities lending transaction.

Substitution or early redemption of the Leveraged and Tracking Products in relation to
Fundamental Review of the Trading Book Regulation

According to the Fundamental Review of the Trading Book regulation as implemented into French law,
from 1 January 2023, if the related ETF Service Provider or ETP Issuer of the underlying ETP or ETF
does not make publicly available information or does not provide information (either spontaneously or as
required pursuant to laws and regulations or contractual arrangements) enabling Société Générale or its
affiliates to calculate its market risks as holder of ETP or ETF to hedge the obligations of the Issuer under
the Leveraged and Tracking Products, as if it were holding directly the assets of the underlying ETP or
ETF, Société Générale or its affiliates may be subject to significantly higher capital requirements.
Consequently, from that date, the Calculation Agent may (i) substitute the Affected ETP or the Affected
ETF by (a) a similar ETP or ETF or (b) a similar Index and make corresponding adjustment to the
conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products which could have a material adverse effect on the
value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, or (ii) redeem the Leveraged and Tracking Products which
may result in the partial or total loss of the invested amount.
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Risks relating to Reference Rate Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

An investment in a Reference Rate will entail significant risks not associated with an investment in a
conventional security. On settlement or exercise, as the case may be, of Leveraged and Tracking Products
linked to a Reference Rate, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will receive an amount (if any)
determined by reference to the value of the underlying Reference Rate(s). In addition, the income received
(if any) is highly dependent upon the value of the Reference Rate over the life of the investment. Total
return may be less than anticipated if future interest rate or Reference Rate expectations are not met.

Risks relating to Future Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

An investment in Future linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may bear similar market risks as a direct
investment in the relevant future contract(s) and Prospective purchasers of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products should take advice accordingly. The value of the future contract(s) underlying the Leveraged
and Tracking Products may vary over time and may increase or decrease by reference to a variety of
factors which include the factors affecting the Future Underlier as defined in the Additional Terms and
Conditions for Future Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Futures contracts have a predetermined Expiry Date as defined in the Additional Terms and Conditions
for Future Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products. If the applicable Final Terms specify that Roll
Adjustment applies, the Leveraged and Tracking Products are valued by reference to futures contracts
that have an Expiry Date that does not correspond to the term of the Leveraged and Tracking Products,
consequently the Calculation Agent will roll the Future Contracts (the Roll Adjustment) which means that
the future contract that is the closest to expiration (the Active Future Contract) will be replaced before it
expires by a future contract that has an Expiry Date later in the future (the Next Active Future Contract).

On each Roll Date, the price of the Active Future Contract may be lower than (respectively higher than)
the price of the Next Active Future Contract if the future curve is in contango (respectively in
backwardation). The Roll Adjustment may as a consequence have either a positive or negative impact on
the value of the Leveraged and Tracking Product. This may result in a partial or total loss of the investment
in the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

In addition to the effects of contango and backwardation, each “roll” may generate costs that will be taken
by the Calculation Agent. These costs correspond to the expenses incurred in replacing the futures
contract (transaction costs) and may have an adverse effect on the return of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products.

Prospective purchasers of Leveraged and Tracking Products should be aware that in respect of
Leveraged and Tracking Products on futures contract that are rolled, the potential negative impact on the
value of the Leveraged and Tracking Product induced by the roll may lead to a performance of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products lower than the performance that would have been generated by
Leveraged and Tracking Products on the Future Underlier itself. Hence, Leveraged and Tracking Products
on future contracts that are rolled may not be suitable for investors who intend to invest long term.

ADDITIONAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH SECURED LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS

6.1

6.2

Scope of security

The security granted by SG Issuer under a Pledge Agreement is a security interest over the Collateral
Assets held in the Collateral Accounts and does not extend to any interest or distributions paid on such
Collateral Assets (to the extent such amounts are not held in the relevant Collateral Account).

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, no security interest will be granted by SG Issuer
over any of its rights under any agreement (including, without limitation, any Hedging Agreement) under
which it acquires any Collateral Assets or its rights against the Collateral Custodian or any other Collateral
Arrangement Party. This means that neither the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Leveraged
and Tracking Products) nor the Security Agent (in the case of German Law Leveraged and Tracking
Products) will have any ability to compel SG Issuer to enforce its rights (or to enforce such rights on behalf
of SG Issuer) under any agreement against a counterparty to such agreement.

Change of law — Implementation of the Collateral Directive under Luxembourg Law

Each Pledge Agreement will be governed by the Luxembourg act dated 5 August 2005 on financial
collateral arrangements, as amended (the Collateral Act 2005) implementing Directive 2002/47/EC on
financial collateral arrangements (the Collateral Directive) in Luxembourg. No assurance can be given
as to the impact on Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders of any possible judicial decision or change
to the Collateral Act 2005, or the official application or interpretation of the Collateral Act 2005 or
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administrative practices after the date of this Base Prospectus. In particular, significant changes to the
Collateral Act 2005 may have an adverse impact on the rights of the Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holders. Neither SG Issuer, the Guarantor nor any other party makes any representation as to the
interpretation of, or any amendments to, any of the provisions of the Collateral Directive or its
implementation in Luxembourg.

Type of Collateralisation

The security provided for an Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products is limited to the Collateral
Assets constituting the Collateral Pool applicable to such Issues (and to all Issues of Secured Leveraged
and Tracking Products secured by the same Collateral Pool in the case of a Multiple Series Collateral
Pool). The amount of Collateral Assets constituting such Collateral Pool will depend, amongst other things,
on the Type of Collateralisation, the Collateralisation Percentage, on whether or not Collateral Valuation
at Nominal Value is applicable or on whether or not a Haircut is applicable and on the collateralisation
method (either MV Collateralisation, NV Collateralisation, Max (MV, NV) Collateralisation or Min (MV, MV)
Collateralisation) as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

There is no guarantee that the applicable Type of Collateralisation will be sufficient to ensure that,
following enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the amounts available for distribution or the value of the
Collateral Assets available to be delivered by the Security Trustee or the Security Agent, as the case may
be, will be sufficient to pay all amounts due to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in respect of the
relevant Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products and as a result, investors may lose a
substantial portion of their investment. In addition, depending on the Type of Collateralisation, the claim
of holders of Non-Waived Leveraged and Tracking Products may differ from the Collateral Value (See
Condition 3 of the “Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Products”).

Multiple Series Collateral Pools

Where the applicable Final Terms in respect of an Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products
specify that “Multiple Series Collateral Pool” will be applicable, security over the Collateral Pool may be
shared by a great number of Issues of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products and Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders will, by acquiring and holding such Leveraged and Tracking Products, be
deemed to acknowledge, accept and agree to the rights of existing and future Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders of different Issues of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products to share equally in such
security.

Tolerance threshold between the Collateral Value and the Required Collateral Value

On each Collateral Test Date, the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall verify that the Collateral Test is
satisfied. Nevertheless, it is tolerated that the Collateral Value can be 3 per cent lower than the Required
Collateral Value in order to avoid numerous transfers of Collateral Assets to and from the Collateral Pool
for small values and/or quantities and consequently avoid the costs that would be associated with such
transfers. However this tolerance threshold amplifies most of the risks associated with Secured Leveraged
and Tracking Products described herein and in particular, but not limited to, the risk that following
enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the amounts available for distribution or the value of the Collateral
Assets available to be delivered by the Security Trustee or the Security Agent, as the case may be, will
not be sufficient to pay all amounts due to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in respect of the
relevant Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products (see “Shortfall on Realisation of Collateral
Assets and Limited Recourse of Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders”).

Potential lack of diversification of the Collateral Assets

Investors should note that, depending on the relevant Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, the Collateral
Assets in a Collateral Pool collateralising one or more an Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Products are secured may be limited to one or a few assets or types of assets.

Low diversification of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool may increase the risk that the proceeds of
realisation of the Collateral Assets may be less than the sums due to the relevant Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders under the relevant Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products collateralised by such
Collateral Pool.If the Collateral Assets are comprised of a limited number of different types of assets, any
depreciation in the value of such assets in the period between the most recent Collateral Test Date and
the realisation of the Collateral Assets will have a proportionally larger impact on any shortfall as the
amount recovered in respect of the Collateral Assets on their sale will be dependent on the then current
market value of a smaller range of Collateral Assets.
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None of SG Issuer, the Guarantor, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent, the Collateral Agent, the
Collateral Monitoring Agent or the Collateral Custodian is under any obligation to ensure that the relevant
Eligibility Criteria or Collateral Rules provide for the diversification of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool.

Frequency of Collateral Test Dates

In order to ensure that an Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products is collateralised in
accordance with its terms, the Collateral Value and the Required Collateral Value will be determined on
the Issue Date of such Issue, on each periodic Collateral Test Date thereafter as specified in the applicable
Final Terms and on any additional date which is deemed to be a Collateral Test Date pursuant to the
terms of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products. The
lower the frequency of the periodic Collateral Test Dates specified in the applicable Final Terms and hence
the greater the period of time in between each such periodic Collateral Test Date the more likely it is that
upon enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement, the proceeds of enforcement that a Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holder will receive, will be less than the amounts due to Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holders in respect of the relevant Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products.

In respect of certain Issues of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products, the applicable Final Terms may
specify that there will be no periodic Collateral Test Dates, in which case there will be no periodic
adjustments to the Collateral Assets in the Collateral Pool during the life of the relevant Secured
Leveraged and Tracking Products other than on any date which is deemed to be a Collateral Test Date
pursuant to the terms of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Products. In this case, if the security created under the relevant Pledge Agreement is enforced, the
proceeds of enforcement that a Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder will receive, may be less than
the amounts due to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in respect of the relevant Issues of Secured
Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Adjustments to Collateral Pool

Following a Collateral Test Date, SG Issuer (or the Collateral Agent on its behalf) may be required to
deliver, or procure the delivery of, additional or replacement Collateral Assets to or from the Collateral
Account such that after such adjustment of Collateral Assets the Collateral Test will be satisfied. Investors,
nevertheless, will be exposed to the difference between the Required Collateral Value and the Collateral
Value prior to any such adjustment. Prior to such adjustment there is also a risk that the Collateral Assets
may not meet the Eligibility Criteria and/or that the Collateral Rules will not be satisfied.

The acquisition of Collateral Assets necessary to make the required adjustments to the Collateral Assets
contained in a Collateral Pool may be effected pursuant to the terms of any Hedging Agreement or
otherwise. For a description of the risks associated with the operation of a Hedging Agreement, see “Risk
of non-performance of obligations by a Counterparty” below.

“Haircut” applied to Collateral Assets

When determining the Collateral Value, the Collateral Agent will apply the Haircut (being the percentage
amount by which the value of each type or class of Collateral Assets in a Collateral Pool is reduced) if so
specified in the applicable Final Terms. Although the level(s) of Haircut specified in the applicable Final
Terms is intended to reflect the risk of a depreciation in the value of Collateral Assets in the period between
the most recent Collateral Test Date and the date on which such Collateral Assets may be realised,
investors should note that the value of a Collateral Asset may change over time and the Haircut applied
to the Collateral Assets may become outdated and may not provide suitable protection against a potential
depreciation in value of the relevant Collateral Asset. No duty of care towards investors is implied or
accepted by SG Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Agent or the Collateral Monitoring Agent in relation
to the level(s) of Haircut to be applied to the Collateral Assets in a particular Collateral Pool.

Substitution of Collateral Assets

If “Collateral Substitution” is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, SG Issuer (or the
Collateral Agent on its behalf) may withdraw and/or replace Collateral Assets from any Collateral Account
provided that following such adjustment the Collateral Test continues to be satisfied. SG Issuer (or the
Collateral Agent on SG Issuer’s behalf) may give instructions for the substitution of Collateral Assets any
number of times over the term of the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products and is not required to
obtain the consent of the Collateral Monitoring Agent or any other party prior to effecting the proposed
substitution of Collateral Assets. Until any further adjustments to the Collateral Assets have occurred, the
value of Collateral Assets held in a Collateral Account may be less than it would have been were it not for
the substitution of Collateral Assets.
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llliquid Collateral Assets

Depending on the Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, certain of the Collateral Assets may not be
admitted to trading on any public market and may be illiquid and not easily realisable in certain market
circumstances. Where there is limited liquidity in the secondary market relating to Collateral Assets, the
Security Trustee or the Security Agent, as the case may be, or in either case, the Disposal Agent on their
behalf, may not be able to readily sell such Collateral Assets to a third party or may only be able to sell
such Collateral Assets at a discounted value. Where the Security Trustee or the Security Agent, as the
case may be, or in either case, the Disposal Agent on their behalf, is unable to sell such Collateral Assets,
the Security Trustee (in the case of English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products) or the Security Agent
(in the case of German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products) may instead be required to deliver such
Collateral Assets.

Correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets and the Creditworthiness of SG Issuer and
the Guarantor

Depending on the Eligibility Criteria and the Collateral Rules, the Collateral Assets could be composed of
assets whose value may be positively or negatively correlated with the creditworthiness of SG Issuer and
the Guarantor. In the event that there is a positive correlation between the value of the Collateral Assets
and the creditworthiness of SG Issuer and the Guarantor, the value of the Collateral Assets will vary in
the same way as the creditworthiness of SG Issuer and the Guarantor.

Where the value of the Collateral Assets is positively correlated with the creditworthiness of SG Issuer
and the Guarantor, for example where the Collateral Assets consist of securities (such as debt or equities)
issued by other financial institutions, a default by SG Issuer and the Guarantor in relation to their
obligations under the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products may be associated with a fall in the value
of Collateral Assets securing such Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Difference between the calculation of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Product Market Value and
Market Value following an Event of Default

The Secured Leveraged and Tracking Product Market Value is the market value of the relevant Secured
Leveraged and Tracking Product determined by the Securities Valuation Agent on the basis of such
valuation method as the Securities Valuation Agent may, acting in good faith and in a commercially
reasonable manner determine and will take into account SG Issuer's and Guarantor’s creditworthiness.
Unlike the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Product Market Value, following an Event of Default, the
Market Value determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 5.9 of the General Terms
and Conditions (which determines the claim that a holder of Non-Waived Leveraged and Tracking
Products has on SG Issuer and/or the Guarantor), will not take into account SG Issuer’s or the Guarantor’s
creditworthiness. As a result, there may be a difference between the Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Product Market Value determined before an Event of Default and the Market Value determined after an
Event of Default.

Specific risk due to the difference between the calculation of Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Product Market Value and Market Value following an Event of Default for the Market Value Type of
Collateralisation

Investors should note that when “MV Collateralisation”, “Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation” or “Max (MV, NV)
Collateralisation” is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms of an Issue of Secured Leveraged
and Tracking Products, the level of collateral required to secure such Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Products (i.e. the Required Collateral Value) and therefore the amount of Collateral Assets actually in the
Collateral Pool (i.e. the Collateral Value) will be based on the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Product
Market Value which as indicated above will take into account SG Issuer's and the Guarantor’s
creditworthiness. Consequently, everything else being equal, the Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Product Market Value may decrease when SG Issuer’s and the Guarantor’s creditworthiness deteriorates
and so may the Required Collateral Value and the Collateral Value whereas, following an Event of Default,
the Market Value determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with Condition 5.9 of the General
Terms and Conditions, will not decrease. As a result, the holders of Non-Waived Leveraged and Tracking
Products where “MV Collateralisation”, “Min (MV, NV) Collateralisation” or “Max (MV, NV)
Collateralisation” is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms of an Issue of Secured Leveraged
and Tracking Products may end up in a situation where the amount of Collateral Assets securing the
obligation of SG Issuer under such Leveraged and Tracking Products is significantly lower than their claim
on SG Issuer and/or the Guarantor.
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Specific risk due to the difference between the aggregate notional amount of the Non-Waived
Leveraged and Tracking Products and Market Value following an Event of Default for the Nominal
Value Type of Collateralisation

Investors should note that when “NV Collateralisation”, is specified as applicable in the applicable Final
Terms of an Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products, the level of collateral required to secure
such Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products (i.e. the Required Collateral Value) and therefore the
amount of Collateral Assets actually in the Collateral Pool (i.e. the Collateral Value) will be based on the
aggregate Notional Amount of the Non-Waived Leveraged and Tracking Products. In the case of an Event
of Default, the holders of Non Waived Leveraged and Tracking Products where “NV Collateralisation” is
specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms of an Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Products may end up in a situation where the amount of Collateral Assets securing the obligation of SG
Issuer under such Leveraged and Tracking Products is significantly lower than their claim on SG Issuer
and/or the Guarantor.

Waived Leveraged and Tracking Products

If “Waiver of Rights” is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, certain Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders intending to hold Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products (including, but not
limited to, in their capacity as a market maker) may waive their rights to receive the proceeds of realisation
of the Collateral Assets securing such Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products following the
enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement. As a consequence, when calculating the Required
Collateral Value, the Collateral Agent and the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall only take into account the
value of the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products that have not been subject to such waiver.

Upon any transfer of Waived Leveraged and Tracking Products the holders thereof shall notify the
Collateral Agent. The Collateral Business Day following such notification will be deemed to be a Collateral
Test Date and on such date the Collateral Agent shall determine the revised Required Collateral Value
and any required adjustments to the Collateral Assets necessary to ensure that the Collateral Test will be
satisfied. Until any such adjustments to the Collateral Assets have occurred, the value of Collateral Assets
held in the Collateral Account may be less than the required Collateral Value.

If the number of Waived Leveraged and Tracking Products actually held on a Collateral Test Date is less
than the number of Waived Leveraged and Tracking Products notified to the Collateral Agent (such event
being a Waived Leveraged and Tracking Product Notification Error), then the Required Collateral
Value calculated on such Collateral Test Date will be lower than would otherwise be the case if there was
no such Waived Leveraged and Tracking Product Notification Error. If the relevant Pledge Agreement
were to be enforced prior to the correction of a Waived Leveraged and Tracking Product Notification Error,
the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets available to be distributed to Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders will be less than would have been the case in the absence of such Waived Leveraged
and Tracking Product Notification Error.

Neither SG Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Agent nor the Collateral Monitoring Agent shall be
responsible for any incorrect, inaccurate or incomplete information relating to the number of Waived
Leveraged and Tracking Products held in relation to any Issue of Secured Leveraged and Tracking
Products that may have been provided to the Collateral Agent by or on behalf of any holder of Waived
Leveraged and Tracking Products and none of SG Issuer, the Guarantor, the Collateral Agent nor the
Collateral Monitoring Agent shall be under any duty to verify or otherwise confirm the number of Waived
Leveraged and Tracking Products so held.

Early expiration at the option of SG Issuer upon a Collateral Disruption Event

Upon the occurrence of a Collateral Disruption Event (as defined in the Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products), SG Issuer may consider such event as triggering
an early settlement of all of the relevant Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products at the Early
Termination Settlement Amount, in the case of Cash Settled Leveraged and Tracking Products. Following
the early settlement of the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products, a Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holder may not be able to reinvest the settlement proceeds so as to receive a return which is as high as
any return on the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products being settled early and may only be able to
do so at a significantly lower return or in worse investment conditions. Prospective investors in Leveraged
and Tracking Products should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that
time.
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Secured Leveraged and Tracking Product Acceleration Event and Enforcement of the Security

If a Secured Leveraged and Tracking Product Acceleration Event occurs, all Secured Leveraged and
Tracking Products which are secured by the same Collateral Pool will also become immediately due and
payable and all Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will first be entitled to claim for any outstanding
amounts due to them under the terms of the respective Guarantee.

A Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder is only entitled to send a Collateral Enforcement Notice to the
Security Trustee or the Security Agent, as the case may be, if neither SG Issuer nor the Guarantor
(pursuant to the terms of the respective Guarantee) has paid all amounts due to such Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holder within a period of 3 Collateral Business Days following the occurrence of the
relevant Secured Leveraged and Tracking Product Acceleration Event.

The existence of the 3 Collateral Business Days period means that there will be a delay between the
occurrence of a Secured Leveraged and Tracking Product Acceleration Event and the enforcement of the
corresponding Pledge Agreement during which period there may be a depreciation in the value of the
relevant Collateral Assets, thus reducing the amount available to satisfy the claims of Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders upon realisation of the Collateral Assets.

The Security Trustee and the Security Agent are only obliged to enforce a Pledge Agreement after having
received a Collateral Enforcement Notice from a Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder.

Subordination of Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders to payment of expenses and other
payments

Following the enforcement of a Pledge Agreement, the rights of holders of Non Waived Leveraged and
Tracking Products to be paid amounts from the proceeds of such enforcement and the realisation of the
related Collateral Assets will be subordinated to and therefore rank behind claims relating to any amounts
payable to Secured Parties ranking prior to the holders of Non Waived Leveraged and Tracking Products
in accordance with the Order of Priority specified in the applicable Final Terms and any rights of preference
existing by operation of law.

Shortfall on Realisation of Collateral Assets and Limited Recourse of Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders

Upon enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement, the value of the Collateral Assets may be less than
the amount due to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in respect of the relevant Issue of Leveraged
and Tracking Products.

Investors should also note that the Collateral Assets may suffer a fall in value between the time at which
the relevant Pledge Agreement becomes enforceable and the time at which the Collateral Assets are
realised in full. In extraordinary circumstances, the Collateral Assets forming part of the Collateral Pool
available at the time at which a Pledge Agreement becomes enforceable could lose all or a substantial
proportion of their value by the time of realisation and distribution or delivery, as applicable.

If there is any shortfall in amounts due to a Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder then such Leveraged
and Tracking Product Holder shall have no further claim against SG Issuer, the Security Trustee or the
Security Agent, as the case may be, in respect of such amounts which remain unpaid following
enforcement of the relevant Pledge Agreement. In addition, no Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder
shall be entitled to take any steps or proceedings to procure the winding-up, administration or liquidation
(or any other analogous proceeding) of SG Issuer.

In such a scenario, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will continue to be able to claim under the
terms of the respective Guarantee against the Guarantor for any unpaid amounts and any such shortfall
will therefore constitute an unsecured claim by such Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder against the
Guarantor and the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will be exposed to the creditworthiness of
the Guarantor for the remaining amount due to them.

Risk of a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets in the event of the insolvency of the
Issuer, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent and/or the Collateral Custodian

Article 20 of the Collateral Act 2005 provides that pledge agreements are valid and effective against all
third parties, including any receiver or liquidator, notwithstanding any reorganisation procedure, liquidation
procedure or any other situation leading to a competition amongst creditors, whether Luxembourg or
foreign. From a Luxembourg law perspective, each Pledge Agreement should not be materially impacted
by insolvency proceedings initiated against SG Issuer in Luxembourg.
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Despite the provisions of the Collateral Act 2005 described above, in the event of the insolvency of SG
Issuer, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent or the Collateral Custodian, the realisation of the Collateral
Assets may be delayed either by the appointment of an insolvency administrator or other insolvency official
in relation to SG Issuer, the Security Trustee, the Security Agent or the Collateral Custodian or by
measures ordered by a competent court. Such delay could adversely affect the position of the Leveraged
and Tracking Product Holders in the event of a depreciation in the value of the Collateral Assets during
such period.

In addition, in the case of an insolvency of SG Issuer, as the Collateral Agent (being Société Générale or
its successor thereto) is part of the Group, it is possible that the Collateral Agent may also be insolvent.
Such circumstances may lead to a delay in the administrative processes involved in the realisation of the
Collateral Assets.

However, as the entities responsible for the enforcement of the Pledge Agreement and the realisation of
the Collateral Assets, namely the Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent,
the Security Trustee and the Security Agent, as the case may be, are not part of the Group, the impact of
any insolvency of SG Issuer on such enforcement and realisation should be less material than it would
have been if the Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security
Trustee and/or the Security Agent were part of the Group.

The Collateral Custodian, the Disposal Agent, the Substitute Paying Agent, the Security Trustee and the
Security Agent are (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) part of the same group and
in the event of the insolvency of one entity it is possible that another entity may also be insolvent. Such
circumstances may lead to a delay in the realisation of the Collateral Assets. However, the agreements
in which such entities are nominated will contain provisions permitting their replacement as further
provided in such agreements and the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured Leveraged and
Tracking Products.

Potential Conflicts of Interest between Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and the Collateral
Agent, the Securities Valuation Agent and the Calculation Agent

As the Collateral Agent, the Securities Valuation Agent and the Calculation Agent are affiliates of SG
Issuer or their relevant successor, potential conflicts of interest may arise between the Collateral Agent,
the Securities Valuation Agent, the Calculation Agent and the holders of the Secured Leveraged and
Tracking Products, including with respect to the making of certain determinations and the exercise of
certain rights (including as to the calculation of the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Product Market Value
of the Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products, the Collateral Value and the Required Collateral Value).
In addition, whilst the Collateral Agent, the Securities Valuation Agent and the Calculation Agent are
obliged to carry out their duties and functions in good faith and using their reasonable judgment, neither
the Collateral Agent nor the Securities Valuation Agent acts or will act as a fiduciary or as an advisor to
the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in respect of their duties as Collateral Agent and Securities
Valuation Agent, respectively.

The risk to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders of any conflict of interest between Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders and the Collateral Agent is mitigated by the fact that any Collateral Test Notice
is either reviewed, and the contents thereof verified by or otherwise agreed with, a Collateral Monitoring
Agent not belonging to the Group or else is subject to a predetermined Collateral Test Dispute Resolution
Procedure.

Security Trustee, Security Agent and Disposal Agent

The Security Trustee or the Security Agent, as the case may be, will enforce the security under the
relevant Pledge Agreement upon the delivery of a Collateral Enforcement Notice.

A failure by the Security Trustee or the Security Agent to perform their obligations with respect to the
Collateral Assets or to perform their obligations in an efficient manner may adversely affect the realisation
of the Collateral Assets and the amount distributable or deliverable to Leveraged and Tracking Product
Holders.

The risk to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders of a failure by the Security Trustee to perform its
obligations under a Pledge Agreement with respect to the Collateral Assets is mitigated by the fact that
the Security Trustee will covenant in the relevant Security Trust Deed to exercise its rights under the
relevant Pledge Agreement on behalf of and as trustee for the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders
and will declare a trust in favour of the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and the other relevant
Secured Parties over the rights granted to it under the relevant Pledge Agreement. As a result, should the
Security Trustee, having become bound to do so, fail to perform its enforcement obligations with respect
to the Collateral Assets, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders will be entitled to directly enforce the
terms of the relevant Pledge Agreement. In addition, where the Security Trustee has failed to perform its
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enforcement obligations with respect to the Collateral Assets, Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders
will be entitled to appoint a replacement Security Trustee to enforce the terms of the relevant Pledge
Agreement. The Collateral Custodian, by virtue of being party to the relevant Pledge Agreement, shall be
deemed to have acknowledged the ability of Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders to appoint a
replacement Security Trustee in such circumstances.

The risk to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders of a failure by the Security Agent to perform its
obligations under a Pledge Agreement with respect to the Collateral Assets is mitigated by the fact that
the Security Agent will be appointed as security agent pursuant to the Terms and Conditions of the
German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products.

The Security Trustee or the Security Agent may appoint an agent (the Disposal Agent) which, following
receipt of instructions from the Security Trustee or the Security Agent, as the case may be, will liquidate
or realise the Collateral Assets in each Collateral Pool. The initial Disposal Agent is The Bank of New
York Mellon, London Branch. A failure by the Disposal Agent to perform its obligations with respect to the
Collateral Assets will adversely affect the realisation of the Collateral Assets and the amount distributable
to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders.

Risks over sub-custodians

The Collateral Custodian may, to the extent permitted in the Collateral Custodian Agreement, pursuant to
its standard terms of business and in accordance with local regulations and market practice for custodian
or sub-custodian entities or as required pursuant to any contractual arrangements between the Collateral
Custodian and its sub-custodians, hold certain cash and/or securities sub-accounts with other custodial
entities. Collateral Assets which, pursuant to the terms of the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to
Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products and the Collateral Custodian Agreement, are to be held with
the Collateral Custodian in a Collateral Account may therefore in practice be held by the Collateral
Custodian in sub-accounts with other custodial entities. In such circumstances, although primary
responsibility for the Collateral Assets remains with the Collateral Custodian, Leveraged and Tracking
Product Holders will be exposed to the risk of any potential operational disruption or any other adverse
impact related to custodial entities (including disruption caused by any insolvency proceedings which may
be commenced in respect of such custodial entities) with whom the Collateral Custodian holds sub-
accounts containing Collateral Assets.

No Fiduciary duties

In performing their duties in relation to the Leveraged and Tracking Products of an Issue, neither the
Collateral Agent, the Collateral Monitoring Agent, the Securities Valuation Agent, the Collateral Custodian,
the Disposal Agent or Substitute Paying Agent will act as a fiduciary or as an advisor to the Leveraged
and Tracking Product Holders in respect of their respective duties and do not act as a trustee for the
Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders.

Potential Conflicts of Interest between Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and a Counter-
party

Various potential and actual conflicts of interest may arise between the interests of the Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders and a Counterparty, which may be an affiliate of SG Issuer. Subject to
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, neither a Counterparty nor its affiliates are required to
resolve such conflicts of interest in favour of the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and may pursue
actions and take such steps that it deems necessary or appropriate to protect its interests.

Risk of non-performance of obligations by a Counterparty

It is expected that Société Générale will be the Counterparty for most Issue of Secured Leveraged and
Tracking Products. A failure by a Counterparty to perform its duties and obligations with respect to a
Hedging Agreement may adversely affect the availability of the Collateral Assets, and consequently
adversely affect the realisation of the Collateral Assets and the amount distributable to Leveraged and
Tracking Product Holders.
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Risks arising on an insolvency of a Counterparty

In the event that a liquidator or administrator were to be appointed in respect of the business and property
of a Counterparty, SG Issuer believes that pursuant to the terms of the relevant Hedging Agreement the
Collateral Assets will not form part of the property of the relevant Counterparty available to a liquidator or
administrator of such Counterparty for distribution to the general creditors of the Counterparty. There can
be no assurance, however, that a court would reach the same conclusion.

It is possible that a liquidator or administrator appointed in relation to the business and property of a
Counterparty may commence proceedings to challenge the validity and effectiveness of a Hedging
Agreement with a view to including the Collateral Assets in the property and estate of the relevant
Counterparty. If insolvency proceedings were commenced in respect of a Counterparty, and in particular
against the Issuer in relation to a Hedging Agreement, delays in realising the Collateral Assets, possible
reductions in the realisation amount of the Collateral Assets and limitations on the exercise of remedies
in relation to the enforcement of a Pledge Agreement could occur.
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On-Going Public Offers

ON-GOING PUBLIC OFFERS

The series of Leveraged and Tracking Products listed below are each either (i) the subject of an on-going public
offer as at the date of this Base Prospectus or (ii) the subject of a public offer which has closed as at the date of
this Base Prospectus, but which will be listed on a regulated market after the date of this Base Prospectus.

The Base Prospectus dated 17 July 2019 is applicable for the purposes of the Ongoing Public Offers listed below
and the information relating to the Issuer and the Guarantor contained or incorporated by reference in such base
prospectus will continue to be updated by Supplement(s) until the last End Date (being 17 July 2020).

The following warning is deemed to appear on the first page of each final terms of the Series of Notes listed below:

The Base Prospectus dated 17 July 2019 expires on 17 July 2020. The updated base prospectus and the
subsequent base prospectuses will be available on http://prospectus.socgen.com.

In relation to the Ongoing Public Offers the relevant Final Terms are available on the
http://prospectus.socgen.com.

ISIN ISIN ISIN ISIN ISIN

LU1784847375 LU1784847458 LU1784847532 LU1784847615 LU1784847706
LU1784847888 LU1784847961 LU1784848001 LU1927908597 LU1927908670
LU1927908753 LU1927908837 LU1927908910 LU1927909058 LU1927909132
LU1927909215 LU1927909306 LU1927909488 LU1927909561 LU1927909645
LU1927909728 LU1927909991 LU1927910064 LU1927910148 LU1927910221
LU1927910494 LU1927910577 LU1927910650 LU1927910734 LU1927910817
LU1927910908 LU1927911039 LU1927911112 LU1927911203 LU1927911385
LU1927911468 LU1927911542 LU1927911625 LU1927911898 LU1927911971
LU1927912193 LU1927912276 LU1927912359 LU1927912433 LU1927905817
LU1927905908 LU1927906039 LU1927906112 LU1927906203 LU1927906385
LU1927906468 LU1927906542 LU1927906625 LU1927906898 LU1927906971
LU1927907193 LU1927907276 LU1927907359 LU1927907433 LU1927907516
LU1927907607 LU1927907789 LU1927907862 LU1927907946 LU1927908084
LU1927908167 LU1927908241 LU1927908324 LU1927912516 LU1927912607
LU1927912789 LU1927912862 LU1927912946 LU1927913084 DEOOOSFK3310
DEOOOSFK3294 DEOOOSFK3278 DEOOOSFK4169 DEOOOSFK4144 DEOOOSFK4151
DEOOOSFK4136 DEOOOSFK4185 DEOOOSFK4177 DEOOOSFK4409 DEOOOSFK4375
DEOOOSFK4417 DEOOOSFK4391 DEOOOSFK4383 DEOOOSFK4557 DEOOOSFK4573
DEOOOSFK4565 DEOOOSFK4607 DEOOOSFK4599 DEOOOSFK4581 DEOOOSFK5414
DEOOOSFK5422 DEOOOSFK5430 DEOOOSFK5455 DEOOOSFK5463 DEOOOSFK5448
DEOOOSFK4268 DEOOOSFK4250 DEOOOSFK4292 DEOOOSFK4276 DEOOOSFK4284
DEOOOSFK4813 DEOOOSFK4839 DEOOOSFK4847 DEOOOSFK4805 DEOOOSFK4797
DEOOOSFK5752 DEOOOSFK5745 DEOOOSFK5760 DEOOOSFK5737 DEOOOSFK3682
DEOOOSFK6297 DEOOOSFK6289 DEOOOSFK6305 DEOOOSFK6313 DEOOOSFK5554
DEOOOSFK5562 DEOOOSFK5539 DEOOOSFK5547 DEOOOSFK3583 DEOOOSFK3591
DEOOOSFK3559 DEOOOSFK3575 DEOOOSFK3567 DEOOOSFK3609 DEOOOSFKO08L5
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On-Going Public Offers

DEOOOSFKO6L9

DEOOOSFKO02L8

DEOOOSFK3336

DEOOOSFK3815

DEOOOSFK3674

DEOOOSFK6644

DEOOOSFK6172

DEOOOSFK3898

DEOOOSFK3914

DEOOOSFK7386

DEOOOSFK7055

DEOOOSFK6057

DEOOOSFKG6479

DEOOOSFK4698

DEOOOSFK5836

DEOOOSFK4912

DEOOOSFK7212

DEOOOSFK5067

DEOOOSFK4037

DEOOOSFK4060

DEOOOSFK5943

DEOOOSFK5257

DEOOOSFK5125

DEOOOSFK3484

DEOOOSFK6966

DEOOOSFK5356

DEOOOSFKOC36

DEOOOSFKO0A38

DEOOOSFKOB11

DEOOOSFKO0BO03

DEOOOSFKOC28

DEOOOSFK1124

DEOOOSFK1082

DEOOOSFK1033

DEOOOSFK1215

DEOOOSFK1173

DEOOOSFK1363

DEOOOSFK1314

DEOOOSFK12L7

DEOOOSFKO5L1

DEOOOSFK3351

DEOOOSFK3781

DEOOOSFK6669

DEOOOSFK6164

DEOOOSFK6198

DEOOOSFK3922

DEOOOSFK7428

DEOOOSFK7402

DEOOOSFK7097

DEOOOSFK6040

DEOOOSFK6503

DEOOOSFK4680

DEOOOSFK5828

DEOOOSFK6859

DEOOOSFK7204

DEOOOSFK6586

DEOOOSFK4045

DEOOOSFK6420

DEOOOSFK5935

DEOOOSFK5224

DEOOOSFK5158

DEOOOSFK3443

DEOOOSFK6974

DEOOOSFK5349

DEOOOSFKO0A04

DEOOOSFKOA53

DEOOOSFKO0B45

DEOOOSFK0B86

DEOOOSFK0B94

DEOOOSFK1116

DEOOOSFK1074

DEOOOSFK1025

DEOOOSFK1207

DEOOOSFK1165

DEOOOSFK1355

DEOOOSFK1306

DEOOOSFK15L0

DEOOOSFK3344

DEOOOSFK3807

DEOOOSFK3708

DEOOOSFK6677

DEOOOSFK6156

DEOOOSFK5000

DEOOOSFK3906

DEOOOSFK7410

DEOOOSFK7444

DEOOOSFK7113

DEOOOSFKG6032

DEOOOSFK4490

DEOOOSFK4672

DEOOOSFK5810

DEOOOSFK6875

DEOOOSFK7196

DEOOOSFKG6552

DEOOOSFK4011

DEOOOSFK5950

DEOOOSFK5968

DEOOOSFK5232

DEOOOSFK5133

DEOOOSFK3450

DEOOOSFK6958

DEOOOSFK6750

DEOOOSFKO0A12

DEOOOSFKOA61

DEOOOSFKOA95

DEOOOSFKO0B52

DEOOOSFKOB60

DEOOOSFK1108

DEOOOSFK1066

DEOOOSFK1249

DEOOOSFK1199

DEOOOSFK1157

DEOOOSFK1348

DEOOOSFK12G7
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DEOOOSFKO04L4

DEOOOSFK3369

DEOOOSFK3773

DEOOOSFK3690

DEOOOSFK6685

DEOOOSFK6206

DEOOOSFK4995

DEOOOSFK3948

DEOOOSFK7394

DEOOOSFK7030

DEOOOSFK7121

DEOOOSFK6495

DEOOOSFK4714

DEOOOSFK4706

DEOOOSFK5661

DEOOOSFK6834

DEOOOSFK5059

DEOOOSFKG6560

DEOOOSFK4029

DEOOOSFK5927

DEOOOSFK5216

DEOOOSFK5117

DEOOOSFK3435

DEOOOSFK3468

DEOOOSFKG6933

DEOOOSFKG6768

DEOOOSFKO0A20

DEOOOSFKOB37

DEOOOSFKO0B29

DEOOOSFKOB78

DEOOOSFKOC10

DEOOOSFK10G1

DEOOOSFK1058

DEOOOSFK1231

DEOOOSFK1181

DEOOOSFK1140

DEOOOSFK1330

DEOOOSFK7E94

DEOOOSFK10L1

DEOOOSFK3377

DEOOOSFK3799

DEOOOSFK3716

DEOOOSFK6651

DEOOOSFK6180

DEOOOSFK5018

DEOOOSFK3930

DEOOOSFK7436

DEOOOSFK7048

DEOOOSFK6065

DEOOOSFK6487

DEOOOSFK4722

DEOOOSFK5844

DEOOOSFK4920

DEOOOSFK6842

DEOOOSFK5075

DEOOOSFK6578

DEOOOSFK4052

DEOOOSFK5919

DEOOOSFK5265

DEOOOSFK5141

DEOOOSFK3476

DEOOOSFK6941

DEOOOSFK5331

DEOOOSFK6776

DEOOOSFKO0A46

DEOOOSFKOA87

DEOOOSFKOA79

DEOOOSFKO0C02

DEOOOSFK1132

DEOOOSFK1090

DEOOOSFK1041

DEOOOSFK1223

DEOOOSFK10wW8

DEOOOSFK1371

DEOOOSFK1322

DEOOOSFK7E86



On-Going Public Offers

DEOOOSFK1298

DEOOOSFK1488

DEOOOSFK1439

DEOOOSFK7F51

DEOOOSFK7F02

DEOOOSFK1579

DEOOOSFK1520

DEOOOSFK1660

DEOOOSFK1611

DEOOOSFK1751

DEOOOSFK1827

DEOOOSFKOL68

DEOOOSFK1017

DEOOOSFK0662

DEOOOSFK0613

DEOOOSFKO0787

DEOOOSFKO0738

DEOOOSFK0894

DEOOOSFK0852

DEOOOSFKO0803

DEOOOSFK0969

DEOOOSFK0902

DEOOOSFK0027

DEOOOSFKO0142

DEOOOSFK0092

DEOOOSFK0274

DEOOOSFK0225

DEOOOSFKO0175

DEOOOSFKO0357

DEOOOSFK0308

DEOOOSFKO3W3

DEOOOSFKO0431

DEOOOSFK0597

DEOOOSFKO0555

DEOOOSFK0506

DEOOOSFK4B41

DEOOOSFK4C65

DEOOOSFK4E22

DEOOOSFK1280

DEOOOSFK1470

DEOOOSFK1421

DEOOOSFK7F44

DEOOOSFK1397

DEOOOSFK1561

DEOOOSFK1512

DEOOOSFK1652

DEOOOSFK1603

DEOOOSFK1744

DEOOOSFK1819

DEOOOSFKOL50

DEOOOSFK1009

DEOOOSFKO0654

DEOOOSFKO0605

DEOOOSFKO0779

DEOOOSFKO0720

DEOOOSFKO0886

DEOOOSFKO0845

DEOOOSFKO7G7

DEOOOSFK0944

DEOOOSFKO08G5

DEOOOSFK0019

DEOOOSFKO0134

DEOOOSFK0084

DEOOOSFK0266

DEOOOSFK0217

DEOOOSFK0399

DEOOOSFKO0340

DEOOOSFK02G8

DEOOOSFK0472

DEOOOSFK0423

DEOOOSFK04W1

DEOOOSFK0548

DEO00SG91L41

DEOOOSFK4B33

DEOOOSFKA4C57

DEOOOSFK4E14

DEOOOSFK1272

DEOOOSFK1462

DEOOOSFK1413

DEOOOSFK7F36

DEOOOSFK12W4

DEOOOSFK1553

DEOOOSFK1504

DEOOOSFK1645

DEOOOSFK1793

DEOOOSFK1736

DEOOOSFK1801

DEOOOSFKOL43

DEOOOSFK0696

DEOOOSFKO0647

DEOOOSFK05G1

DEOOOSFKO0761

DEOOOSFKO0712

DEOOOSFKO7W4

DEOOOSFKO0837

DEOOOSFK0993

DEOOOSFK0936

DEO000SG91S02

DEOOOSFK0001

DEOOOSFKO0126

DEOOOSFK0068

DEOOOSFKO0258

DEOOOSFKO0209

DEOOOSFKO0381

DEOOOSFKO0332

DEOOOSFK0290

DEOOOSFKO0464

DEOOOSFKO0415

DEOOOSFKO0589

DEOOOSFKO0530

DEOOOSFK04G4

DEOOOSFK4B25

DEOOOSFK4C40

DEOOOSFK4E06
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DEOOOSFK1264

DEOOOSFK1454

DEOOOSFK1405

DEOOOSFK7F28

DEOOOSFK1389

DEOOOSFK1546

DEOOOSFK1694

DEOOOSFK1637

DEOOOSFK1777

DEOOOSFK1710

DEOOOSFKOL84

DEOOOSFKOL35

DEOOOSFKO5W8

DEOOOSFKO0639

DEOOOSFKO0795

DEOOOSFKO0753

DEOOOSFKO0704

DEOOOSFKO0878

DEOOOSFKO0829

DEOOOSFK0985

DEOOOSFK0928

DEOOOSFK0043

DEOOOSFKO0167

DEOOOSFKO0118

DEOOOSFKO0050

DEOOOSFKO0241

DEOOOSFKO0191

DEOOOSFK02W5

DEOOOSFKO0324

DEOOOSFK0498

DEOOOSFKO0456

DEOOOSFK0407

DEOOOSFKO0571

DEOOOSFK0522

DE000SG91L09

DEOOOSFK4B17

DEOOOSFK4C24

DEOOOSFK4D56

DEOOOSFK1496

DEOOOSFK1447

DEOOOSFK7F69

DEOOOSFK7F10

DEOOOSFK1587

DEOOOSFK1538

DEOOOSFK1678

DEOOOSFK1629

DEOOOSFK1769

DEOOOSFK1702

DEOOOSFKOL76

DEOOOSFKOL27

DEOOOSFKO0688

DEOOOSFKO0621

DEOOOSFKO6W6

DEOOOSFKO0746

DEOOOSFK06G9

DEOOOSFK0860

DEOOOSFKO0811

DEOOOSFKO08W2

DEOOOSFK0910

DEOOOSFKO0035

DEOOOSFKO0159

DEOOOSFK0100

DEOOOSFK0282

DEOOOSFKO0233

DEOOOSFK0183

DEOOOSFKO0365

DEOOOSFKO0316

DEOOOSFK0480

DEOOOSFK0449

DEOOOSFK03G6

DEOOOSFKO0563

DEOOOSFK0514

DEOOOSFK1L00

DEOOOSFK4B09

DEOOOSFK4C16

DEOOOSFK4D49
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DEOOOSFK4D31

DEOOOSFK4ES55

DEOOOSFK4A91

DEOOOSFK3A27

DEOOOSFK3B91

DEOOOSFK3B42

DEOOOSFK3D24

DEOOOSFK3C74

DEOOOSFK3E31

DEOOOSFK3ES80

DEOOOSFK3G70

DEOOOSFK3F89

DEOOOSFK7D46

DEOOOSFK7G92

DEOOOSFK7A31

DEOOOSFK6A81

DEOOOSFK6B72

DEOOOSFK6C06

DEOOOSFK6D54

DEOOOSFKGEG61

DEOOOSFKG6F86

DEOOOSFK6G93

DEOOOSFK6G36

DEOOOSFK5E88

DEOOOSFK5F61

DEOOOSFK5G94

DEOOOSFK5G45

DEOOOSFKO0G57

DEOOOSFK9B46

DEOOOSFK9C52

DEOOOSFK9CO03

DEOOOSFK9D36

DEOOOSFK9E43

DEOOOSFK9F42

DEOOOSFKOC77

DEOOOSFKOD68

DEOOOSFKOD19

DEOOOSFKOF41

DEOOOSFK4F47

DEOOOSFK4E48

DEOOOSFK4A59

DEOOOSFK3A19

DEOOOSFK3B83

DEOOOSFK3B34

DEOOOSFK3D16

DEOOOSFK3C66

DEOOOSFK3E23

DEOOOSFK3E72

DEOOOSFK3G62

DEOOOSFK7C96

DEOOOSFK7D38

DEOOOSFK7G76

DEOOOSFK7A23

DEOOOSFK6A73

DEOOOSFK6B64

DEOOOSFK6D96

DEOOOSFK6D47

DEOOOSFKG6E38

DEOOOSFK6F78

DEOOOSFK6G85

DEOOOSFK6G28

DEOOOSFK5G37

DEOOOSFK5F53

DEOOOSFK5G86

DEOOOSFK9A96

DEOOOSFKO0G32

DEOOOSFK9B38

DEOOOSFK9C45

DEOOOSFK9D77

DEOOOSFK9D28

DEOOOSFK9F83

DEOOOSFK9F34

DEOOOSFKOC69

DEOOOSFKOD50

DEOOOSFKODO1

DEOOOSFKOF33

DEOOOSFK4F39

DEOOOSFK4E30

DEOOOSFK4A42

DEOOOSFK3A01

DEOOOSFK3B75

DEOOOSFK3B26

DEOOOSFK3D08

DEOOOSFK3C33

DEOOOSFK3F30

DEOOOSFK3E64

DEOOOSFK3G21

DEOOOSFK7D79

DEOOOSFK7D20

DEOOOSFK7A64

DEOOOSFK7A15

DEOOOSFK6A65

DEOOOSFK6B23

DEOOOSFK6D88

DEOOOSFK6D39

DEOOOSFKG6E04

DEOOOSFK6F37

DEOOOSFK6G69

DEOOOSFK6G10

DEOOOSFK5F95

DEOOOSFK5F46

DEOOOSFK5G78

DEOOOSFK9A88

DEOOOSFK0G24

DEOOOSFK9B20

DEOOOSFK9C37

DEOOOSFK9D69

DEOOOSFK9E76

DEOOOSFK9F75

DEOOOSFK9F26

DEOOOSFKOC51

DEOOOSFKO0D43

DEOOOSFKOES83

DEOOOSFKOF17
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DEOOOSFK4F21

DEOOOSFK4G04

DEOOOSFK4A34

DEOOOSFK3C17

DEOOOSFK3B67

DEOOOSFK3B18

DEOOOSFK3C90

DEOOOSFK3C25

DEOOOSFK3F22

DEOOOSFK3G96

DEOOOSFK3G13

DEOOOSFK7D61

DEOOOSFK7D12

DEOOOSFK7A56

DEOOOSFK7A07

DEOOOSFKG6A32

DEOOOSFK6B07

DEOOOSFK6D70

DEOOOSFK6D21

DEOOOSFK6G02

DEOOOSFK6F11

DEOOOSFK6G51

DEOOOSFK5F12

DEOOOSFK5F87

DEOOOSFK5F38

DEOOOSFK5G60

DEOOOSFK9A70

DEOOOSFK9B79

DEOOOSFK9B12

DEOOOSFK9C29

DEOOOSFK9D51

DEOOOSFK9EG8

DEOOOSFK9F67

DEOOOSFKOC93

DEOOOSFKO0D92

DEOOOSFKOD35

DEOOOSFKOF66

DEOOOSFKOF09

DEOOOSFK4F13

DEOOOSFK4F96

DEOOOSFK4A26

DEOOOSFK3C09

DEOOOSFK3B59

DEOOOSFK3B00

DEOOOSFK3C82

DEOOOSFK3E49

DEOOOSFK3F14

DEOOOSFK3G88

DEOOOSFK3F97

DEOOOSFK7D53

DEOOOSFK7D04

DEOOOSFK7A49

DEOOOSFK6A99

DEOOOSFK6A24

DEOOOSFK6C14

DEOOOSFK6D62

DEOOOSFKGE95

DEOOOSFKG6F94

DEOOOSFK6F03

DEOOOSFK6G44

DEOOOSFK5E96

DEOOOSFK5F79

DEOOOSFK5F20

DEOOOSFK5G52

DEOOOSFK9AG62

DEOOOSFK9B61

DEOOOSFK9B04

DEOOOSFK9C11

DEOOOSFK9D44

DEOOOSFK9ES50

DEOOOSFK9F59

DEOOOSFKOC85

DEOOOSFKOD76

DEOOOSFKOD27

DEOOOSFKOF58

DEOOOSFK8F27
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DEOOOSFK8F19

DEOOOSFK8A63

DEOOOSFK8A14

DEOOOSFK8C87

DEOOOSFK8D60

DEOOOSFK8D11

DEOOOSFK8EG9

DEOOOSFKS8E10

DEOOOSFK2E32

DEOOOSFK2D74

DEOOOSFK2F15

DEOOOSFK2G55

DEOOOSFK2B19

DEOOOSFK2C34

DEOOOSFK2D66

DEOOOSFK2C59

DEOOOSFK22X1

DEOOOSFK?24L2

DEOOOSFK25S4

DEOOOSFK27G5

DEOOOSFK1B28

DEOOOSFK1A45

DEOOOSFK1C35

DEOOOSFK1D42

DEOOOSFK1E25

DEOOOSFK1F40

DEOOOSFK1G64

DEOOOSFK1G15

DEOOOSFK4821

DEOOOSFK5F04

DEOOOSFK22S1

DEOOOSFK3328

DEOOOSFK4219

DEOOOSFK4433

DEOOOSFK4649

DEOOOSFK5471

DEOOOSFK4334

DEOOOSFK4854

DEOOOSFK8FO01

DEOOOSFK8AS55

DEOOOSFK8A06

DEOOOSFK8C79

DEOOOSFK8D52

DEOOOSFK8D03

DEOOOSFK8ES51

DEOOOSFK8EO02

DEOOOSFK2E24

DEOOOSFK2F98

DEOOOSFK2F07

DEOOOSFK2G48

DEOOOSFK2B01

DEOOOSFK2C26

DEOOOSFK2D58

DEOOOSFK1S60

DEOOOSFK22W3

DEOOOSFK1S86

DEOOOSFK25L9

DEOOOSFK21L8

DEOOOSFK1B10

DEOOOSFK1C76

DEOOOSFK1C27

DEOOOSFK1D26

DEOOOSFK1E17

DEOOOSFK1F32

DEOOOSFK1G56

DEOOOSFK1GO07

DEOOOSFK7G84

DEOOOSFK25X4

DEOOOSFK1L26

DEOOOSFK3302

DEOOOSFK4227

DEOOOSFK4466

DEOOOSFK4656

DEOOOSFK5513

DEOOOSFK4318

DEOOOSFK4870

DEOOOSFK8A97

DEOOOSFK8A48

DEOOOSFK8B13

DEOOOSFK8D94

DEOOOSFK8D45

DEOOOSFK8E93

DEOOOSFK8E44

DEOOOSFK2ES81

DEOOOSFK2E16

DEOOOSFK2F80

DEOOOSFK2E99

DEOOOSFK2G30

DEOOOSFK2A93

DEOOOSFK2CO00

DEOOOSFK2D33

DEOOOSFK1S52

DEOOOSFK22U7

DEOOOSFK1S78

DEOOOSFK27U6

DEOOOSFK21G8

DEOOOSFK1B02

DEOOOSFK1C68

DEOOOSFK1B93

DEOOOSFK1D18

DEOOOSFK1F99

DEOOOSFK1F24

DEOOOSFK1G49

DEOOOSFK1A37

DEOOOSFK7105

DEOOOSFK1D34

DEOOOSFK1A94

DEOOOSFK3286

DEOOOSFK4235

DEOOOSFK4623

DEOOOSFK4664

DEOOOSFK5505

DEOOOSFK4359

DEOOOSFK4862
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DEOOOSFK8A89

DEOOOSFK8A30

DEOOOSFK8B05

DEOOOSFK8D86

DEOOOSFK8D37

DEOOOSFK8ES85

DEOOOSFK8E36

DEOOOSFK2ES57

DEOOOSFK2E08

DEOOOSFK2F72

DEOOOSFK2G97

DEOOOSFK2G22

DEOOOSFK2A44

DEOOOSFK2B92

DEOOOSFK2D25

DEOOOSFK1S45

DEOOOSFK24U3

DEOOOSFK25W6

DEOOOSFK27S0

DEOOOSFK?20X5

DEOOOSFK1A60

DEOOOSFK1C50

DEOOOSFK1B85

DEOOOSFK1E74

DEOOOSFK1F81

DEOOOSFK1G80

DEOOOSFK1G31

DEOOOSFK1A29

DEOOOSFKG6867

DEOOOSFK5240

DEOOOSFK6G77

DEOOOSFK4193

DEOOOSFK4425

DEOOOSFK4615

DEOOOSFK5497

DEOOOSFK5521

DEOOOSFK4367

DEOOOSFK4904

DEOOOSFK8AT71

DEOOOSFK8A22

DEOOOSFK8C95

DEOOOSFK8D78

DEOOOSFK8D29

DEOOOSFK8ET77

DEOOOSFK8E28

DEOOOSFK2E40

DEOOOSFK2D90

DEOOOSFK2F23

DEOOOSFK2G89

DEOOOSFK2B27

DEOOOSFK2C42

DEOOOSFK2B84

DEOOOSFK2D17

DEOOOSFK23G4

DEOOOSFK24S7

DEOOOSFK25U0

DEOOOSFK27L5

DEOOOSFK21S3

DEOOOSFK1A52

DEOOOSFK1C43

DEOOOSFK1D59

DEOOOSFK1E33

DEOOOSFK1F73

DEOOOSFK1G72

DEOOOSFK1G23

DEOOOSFK1A11

DEOOOSFK3E56

DEOOOSFK4C32

DEOOOSFK1E41

DEOOOSFK4201

DEOOOSFK4441

DEOOOSFK4631

DEOOOSFK5489

DEOOOSFK4326

DEOOOSFK4342

DEOOOSFK4896
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DEOOOSFK4888

DEOOOSFK3732

DEOOOSFK6354

DEOOOSFK5596

DEOOOSFK3625

DEOOOSFKO08S0

DEOOOSFK3427

DEOOOSFK3724

DEOOOSFK3864

DEOOOSFK6743

DEOOOSFK6214
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Base Prospectus comprises a separate base prospectus in respect of each of Société Générale, SG Issuer
and Société Générale Effekten GmbH for the purpose of Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC as amended or
superseded (the Prospectus Directive) and for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuers, the
Guarantor and the Leveraged and Tracking Products which is necessary to enable investors to make an informed
assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Issuers and the
Guarantor.

Certain information contained in this Base Prospectus and/or documents incorporated herein by reference have
been extracted from sources specified in the sections where such information appears. The Issuers confirm that
such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as they are aware, and are able to ascertain from
information published by the relevant third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced
information inaccurate or misleading. Final Terms will (if applicable) specify the nature of the responsibility (if any)
taken by the Issuer for any information relating to any underlying to which the Leveraged and Tracking Products
may be linked.

This Base Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with any supplement thereto and all documents which are
deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference”). This Base
Prospectus shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated by reference and form
part of this Base Prospectus.

None of the Arranger or any Dealer has independently verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no
representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility is accepted by the
Arranger or any Dealer as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus or any other information provided by either of the Issuers or the Guarantor in
connection with the Programme or the Leveraged and Tracking Products. None of the Arranger or any Dealer
accepts any liability in relation to the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus
or any other information provided by either of the Issuers or the Guarantor in connection with the Programme or
the Leveraged and Tracking Products.

No person is or has been authorised by any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers to
give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or
any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Leveraged and Tracking Products and, if
given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by any of
the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any
Leveraged and Tracking Products (a) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (b) should
be considered as a recommendation or a statement of opinion (or a report on either of those things) by any of the
Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other
information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Leveraged and Tracking Products should purchase
any Leveraged and Tracking Products. Each investor contemplating purchasing any Leveraged and Tracking
Products should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal
of the creditworthiness, of the relevant Issuer and (if applicable) the Guarantor. Neither this Base Prospectus nor
any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Leveraged and Tracking
Products constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of any of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or any
of the Dealers to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Leveraged and Tracking
Products shall in any circumstances imply that the information contained herein concerning any of the Issuers or
the Guarantor is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in
connection with the Programme or the Leveraged and Tracking Products is correct as of any time subsequent to
the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Arranger or any of the Dealers expressly do not
undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of any of the Issuers or the Guarantor during the life of the
Programme or to advise any investor in the Leveraged and Tracking Products of any information coming to their
attention. Investors should review, inter alia, the most recently published documents incorporated by reference into
this Base Prospectus when deciding whether or not to purchase any Leveraged and Tracking Products.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND OFFER OF
LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS GENERALLY

This Base Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Leveraged and
Tracking Products in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such
jurisdiction. The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Leveraged and Tracking Products may
be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. None of the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers
represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that any Leveraged and Tracking Products may
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be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or
pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or
offering. In particular, unless specifically indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been
taken by the Issuers, the Guarantor, the Arranger or the Dealers which is intended to permit a public offering of
any Leveraged and Tracking Products outside the European Economic Area (EEA) or distribution of this Base
Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Leveraged and Tracking
Products may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus nor any advertisement or
other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will
result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Base
Prospectus or any Leveraged and Tracking Product comes must inform themselves about, and observe, any such
restrictions on the distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offering and sale of Leveraged and Tracking
Products (see “Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions”).

Each prospective investor in the Leveraged and Tracking Products must determine the suitability of that investment
in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each prospective investor may wish to consider, either on its own or
with the help of its financial and other professional advisers whether it:

0] has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Leveraged and Tracking
Products, the merits and risks of investing in the Leveraged and Tracking Products and the information
contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement and
in the applicable Final Terms;

(i) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular
financial situation, an investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products and the impact the Leveraged
and Tracking Products will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii) has sulfficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Leveraged
and Tracking Products, including Leveraged and Tracking Products in respect of which amounts are
payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for payments is different from the prospective
investor’s currency;

(iv) understands thoroughly the terms of the Leveraged and Tracking Products and is familiar with the
behaviour of any relevant underlying and financial markets; and

(v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its
investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors are
subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each prospective
investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Leveraged and Tracking
Products are legal investments for it, (2) Leveraged and Tracking Products can be used as collateral for various
types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Leveraged and Tracking
Products. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the
appropriate treatment of Leveraged and Tracking Products under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

The Leveraged and Tracking Products and any guarantee thereof have not been and will not be registered under
the Securities Act or under the securities law of any state or political sub-division of the United States, and trading
in the Leveraged and Tracking Products has not been approved by the CFTC under the CEA. No person has
registered and no person will register as a “commodity pool operator” of any Issuer under the CEA and the CFTC
Rules, and no Issuer has been and no Issuer will be registered as an investment company under the Investment
Company Act. The Leveraged and Tracking Products are being offered and sold in reliance on an exemption from
the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S.

Accordingly, the Leveraged and Tracking Products may only be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred in
an “offshore transaction” (as defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit of a person who (a) is not
a U.S. Person, as defined in the General Terms and Conditions; and (b) is not a person who comes within any
definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the CEA or any CFTC Rule, guidance or order proposed or issued
under the CEA (for the avoidance of doubt, any person who is not a “Non-United States person” defined under
CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv), but excluding, for purposes of subsection (D) thereof, the exception for qualified eligible
persons who are not “Non-United States persons”, shall be considered a U.S. person) and (c) is not a "U.S. person”
for purposes of the final rules implementing the credit risk retention requirements of Section 15G of the U.S.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the U.S. Risk Retention Rules) (a Risk Retention U.S. Person)
(such a person or account, as described herein, a Permitted Transferee). The Leveraged and Tracking Products
are available only to Permitted Transferees.

THE LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS OFFERED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE
REGISTERED WITH, OR APPROVED BY, ANY UNITED STATES FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES OR
COMMODITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING
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AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THIS OFFERING OR THE
ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS BASE PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY
IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

This Base Prospectus is not a prospectus for the purposes of Section 12(a)(2) or any other provision of or rule
under the Securities Act.

Leveraged and Tracking Products in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered,
sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to United States persons, except in certain
transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to
them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) and the U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated
thereunder.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent subparagraph (ii) below may apply,
any offer of Leveraged and Tracking Products in any Member State of the EEA (including, without limitation,
Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, the Netherlands, Italy, Luxembourg, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom)
which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a Relevant Member State) will be made pursuant to an
exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement
to publish a prospectus for offers of Leveraged and Tracking Products. Accordingly any person making or intending
to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of Leveraged and Tracking Products which are the subject of an
offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus as completed by final terms in relation to the offer of those Leveraged
and Tracking Products may only do so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer
to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer, or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer
has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in
another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State and (in
either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, provided that any such prospectus has
subsequently been completed by final terms which specify that offers may be made other than pursuant to Article
3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State, such offer is made in the period beginning and
ending on the dates specified for such purpose in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable and the Issuer has
consented in writing to its use for the purpose of such offer. Except to the extent subparagraph (ii) above may
apply, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor does it authorise, the making of any offer of Leveraged
and Tracking Products in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or
supplement a prospectus for such offer.

SWITZERLAND IMPORTANT NOTICE

The Leveraged and Tracking Products described in this Base Prospectus and related offering documents do not
constitute a participation in a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on
Collective Investment Schemes (CISA). Therefore, the Leveraged and Tracking Products are not subject to
authorization and supervision by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA (FINMA) and investors
in the Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under this Programme will not benefit from protection under the
CISA or supervision by FINMA. Investors in the Leveraged and Tracking Products will bear a credit risk on the
Issuer of the Leveraged and Tracking Products or, in the case of guaranteed Leveraged and Tracking Products,
on the Guarantor.

SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

The Issuers are corporations organised under the laws of Luxembourg, France and Germany, respectively (each
a Relevant Jurisdiction). All of the officers and directors named herein reside outside the United States and all or
a substantial portion of the assets of the relevant Issuer and of such officers and directors are located outside the
United States. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process in connection with a
cause of action under the laws of a jurisdiction other than England and Wales outside the Relevant Jurisdiction
upon the relevant Issuer or such persons, or to enforce judgments against them obtained in courts outside the
Relevant Jurisdiction predicated upon civil liabilities of the relevant Issuer or such directors and officers under laws
other than those of the Relevant Jurisdiction, including any judgment predicated upon United States federal
securities laws.

IMPORTANT - EEA RETAIL INVESTORS

If the Final Terms in respect of any Leveraged and Tracking Products state “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail
Investors” as applicable, the Leveraged and Tracking Products, from January 1, 2018, are not intended to be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to and, with effect from such date, should not be offered, sold or otherwise
made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one
(or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (MiFID II); (ii) a customer
within the meaning of Directive 2016/97/EU (as amended or superseded, the Insurance Distribution Directive),
where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
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(i) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive. Consequently no key information document
required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling those Leveraged and
Tracking Products or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and
therefore offering or selling those Leveraged and Tracking Products or otherwise making them available to any
retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

Each Issuer maintains its financial books and records and prepares its financial statements in accordance with
financial reporting standards which differ in certain important respects from generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (U.S. GAAP).

INTERPRETATION

1. Capitalised terms which are used but not defined in any particular section of this Base Prospectus shall have
the meaning attributed thereto in the relevant Terms and Conditions or any other section of this Base
Prospectus.

2. All references in this Base Prospectus and any applicable Final Terms to:

@) “U.S. dollars” or “U.S.$" refer to the lawful currency of the United States of America, those to “Sterling”
or “£” refer to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, those to “Australian dollars” or “A$” refer to
the lawful currency of Australia, those to “Swiss Francs” refer to the lawful currency of Switzerland,
those to “Japanese Yen” or “¥” refer to the lawful currency of Japan, those to “euro”, “Euro” or “€” refer
to the lawful currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary
union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended and those to
“CNY”, “Yuan” or “RMB” or “Renminbi” refer to the lawful currency of the People’s Republic of China
(the PRC), which for the purpose of this document, excludes Taiwan and the Special Administrative
Regions of the PRC: Hong Kong and Macau;

(b) Any three letter alphabetic currency codes, including but not limited to the three letter alphabetic

currency codes set out below, shall have the meaning given to them pursuant to 1ISO 4217 (the
international standard currency code established by the International Organization for
Standardization):

Alphabetic code Country Currency

AED UNITED ARAB EMIRATES United Arab Emirates Dirham
ARS ARGENTINA Argentine Peso

AUD AUSTRALIA Australian Dollar

BGN BULGARIA Bulgarian Lev

BHD BAHRAIN Bahraini Dinar

BWP BOTSWANA Botswana Pula

BRL BRAZIL Brazilian Real

CAD CANADA Canadian Dollar

CHF SWITZERLAND Swiss Franc

CLP CHILE Chilean Peso

CNY? CHINA Chinese Yuan Renminbi
CzK CZECH REPUBLIC Czech Koruna

DKK DENMARK Danish Krone

EUR EUROPEAN MEMBER STATES? Euro

GBP UNITED KINGDOM Pound Sterling

GHS GHANA New Ghanaian cedi

1 RMB and CNH are also codes used to refer to the offshore yuan renminbi.
2 European Member States that have adopted the Euro pursuant to the third stage of European economic and

monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.
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@

(b)

HKD HONG KONG Hong Kong Dollar
HUF HUNGARY Forint

ILS ISRAEL New Israeli Sheqgel
IDR INDONESIA Indonesian Rupiah
ISK ICELAND Icelandic Krona
JOD JORDAN Jordanian Dinar
JPY JAPAN Yen

KES KENYA Kenyan Shilling
KWD KUWAIT Kuwaiti Dinar

KZT KAZAKHSTAN Kazakhstan Tenge
LBP LEBANON Lebanese Pound
LTL LITHUANIA Lithuanian Litas
LVL LATVIA Latvian Lats

MAD MOROCCO Moroccan Dirham
MUR MAURITIUS Mauritian Rupee
MXN MEXICO Mexican Peso
MYR MALAYSIA Malaysian Ringgit
NAD NAMIBIA Namibian Dollar
NGN NIGERIA Nigerian Naira
NOK NORWAY Norwegian Krone
OMR OMAN Omani Rial

NzZD NEW ZEALAND New Zealand Dollar
PEN PERU Peruvian Nuevo Sol
PHP PHILIPPINES Philippine Peso
PLN POLAND Zloty

QAR QATAR Qatari Riyal

RON ROMANIA Leu

RUB RUSSIA Russian Ruble
SAR SAUDI ARABIA Saudi Arabian Riyal
SEK SWEDEN Swedish Krona
SGD SINGAPORE Singapore Dollar
THB THAILAND Thai Baht

TND TUNISIA Tunisian Dinar
TRY TURKEY Turkish Lira

usb UNITED STATES US Dollar

ZAR SOUTH AFRICA Rand

“Leveraged and Tracking Products” shall be to English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products and/or
German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products, as appropriate. For the avoidance of doubt, in “Terms
and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products ”, references to “Leveraged and
Tracking Products” shall be to English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products and in “Terms and
Conditions of the German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products”, references to “Leveraged and

Tracking Products” shall be to German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products;

the “General Terms and Conditions” or the “Conditions” shall be to the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products and/or the Terms and Conditions of the German Law

Leveraged and Tracking Products, as appropriate;
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(c) an “English Law Condition” shall be to the relevant condition in the Terms and Conditions of the English
Law Leveraged and Tracking Products;

(d) the “Final Terms” shall be to the final terms document prepared on the basis of the “Form of Final
Terms”; and
(e) a “German Law Condition” shall be to the relevant condition in the Terms and Conditions of the German

Law Leveraged and Tracking Products.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor (the Responsible Persons) accept responsibility for the information
contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus and for the information contained in the
applicable Final Terms for each Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme. To the
best of the knowledge and belief of each Issuer and the Guarantor (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure
that such is the case) the information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this Base Prospectus is in
accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following description does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the
Summary and the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the Terms and Conditions of any patrticular
Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products, the applicable Final Terms.

The following description constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3) of
Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 as amended implementing the Prospectus Directive

Words and expressions defined in the sections headed “Form of the Leveraged and Tracking Products”, “Terms
and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products” or, as the case may be, “Terms and
Conditions of the German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products” shall have the same meanings in this general
description.

Hyperlinks of websites referred to in the Base Prospectus are exclusively for information purpose and must not be
regarded as part of the Base Prospectus itself.

1. PARTIES TO THE PROGRAMME

Issuers
- Société Générale

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEl): O2RNE8IBXP4R0OTD8PU41
- SG Issuer

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): 549300QNMDBVTHX8H127
- Société Générale Effekten GmbH

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): 529900W18LQJJIN6SJ336
Guarantor
Société Générale.
Arranger
Société Générale.
Dealers

Société Générale, Société Générale Bank & Trust, SG Option Europe, Société Générale Sucursal en Espafia and
any other Dealers appointed in accordance with the Programme Agreement.

Fiscal Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Listing Agent

Société Générale Bank & Trust.
Paying Agents

Société Générale Bank & Trust (for Leveraged and Tracking Products cleared with of Euroclear, Clearstream,
Luxembourg), Computershare Investor Services PLC (for EUI Securities issued as Warrants cleared with of
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited), Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited (for EUI Securities issued as
Notes cleared with of Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited), Sucursal en Espafia (for Leveraged and Tracking Products
cleared with Iberclear), Société Générale (for German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products), Société Générale
Securities Services S.p.A. (for Uncertificated Italian Securities) and/or any such additional or successor paying
agent appointed in accordance with English Law Condition 10 or German Law Condition 10, as the case may be.

2. DESCRIPTION

Leveraged and Tracking Products Issuance Programme.

Leveraged and Tracking Products issued under the Programme are intended to constitute “non-equity securities”,
as defined in the Prospectus Directive and the Luxembourg Act.

-99 -



General Description of the Programme

3. METHOD OF DISTRIBUTION

Leveraged and Tracking Products may be distributed by way of private or public placement, to qualified investors
and/or non-qualified investors, and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

Leveraged and Tracking Products may be offered at a price as specified in the applicable Final Terms which:

(a) will be the Issue Price or the Issue Price up to a maximum specified in the applicable Final Terms,
represented by a distribution fee payable upfront by the Issuer to the Distributors; or

(b) will be the market price which will be determined by the Dealer on a daily basis (and, as the case may be,
in accordance with market conditions then prevailing including the current market price of the
Underlying(s)); and/or will evolve between the Issue Date and the last day of the Offer Period on a linear
basis in such way specified in the applicable Final Terms on the last day of the Offer Period and will be
provided by the Dealer to any Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder upon request; or

(c) will be fully subscribed by the Dealer and thereafter offered to the public in the secondary market in France,
at the Issue Price, during the Offer Period; or

(d) will evolve, between dates specified in the applicable Final Terms in order to reach a specific maximum
level on a specific date, in accordance with the following formula:

Offer Price(t) = OfferPriceBase x (1 + ConvergencePercentage x Nb(t) / 360)

Where:

OfferPriceBase means a number specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
ConvergencePercentage means a percentage specified in the applicable Final Terms;

Nb(t) means the number of calendar days between the Issue Date (included) and the date “t” (included)
on which the value of the Leveraged and Tracking Products is calculated; or

(e) will be determined by the Dealer on a continuous basis in accordance with the market conditions then
prevailing and depending on market conditions, the offer price shall be equal to, higher or lower than the
Issue Price; or

) will be provided by the Dealer by way of quotes made available in the market specified in the applicable
Final Terms,

(and which, in all cases, may be increased by such fees, if any, as disclosed in the applicable Final Terms.

4. EXERCISE OF LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS

Leveraged and Tracking Products may be European, may be subject to Automatic Exercise, as specified in the
applicable Final Terms. Subject as provided below, the Leveraged and Tracking Products will have such exercise
periods and expiry dates as may be agreed between an Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject to such limits as
may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or
regulations applicable to such Issuer or the relevant Settlement Currency. Leveraged and Tracking Products may
be open-ended and in such circumstances will not have a fixed expiry date. Open-ended Leveraged and Tracking
Products only expire on the occurrence of designated events which will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

5. CURRENCIES

The payment obligations in respect of any Leveraged and Tracking Product may be in any currency or currencies
agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and
regulations.

Payments in respect of Leveraged and Tracking Products may, subject to compliance as aforesaid, be made in

and/or linked to, any currency or currencies other than the currency in which the Settlement Amount of such
Leveraged and Tracking Products is calculated.

6. ISSUE PRICE

Leveraged and Tracking Products will be issued at an issue price expressed as an amount per Leveraged and
Tracking Product (as specified in the applicable Final Terms).
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7. SETTLEMENT / CANCELLATION / EARLY EXPIRATION

Leveraged and Tracking Products may be cash settled.

Leveraged and Tracking Products may be cancelled for tax reasons, at the option of the Issuer or the Leveraged
and Tracking Product Holder or automatically upon the occurrence of one or more trigger events, in each case as
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

If specified in the applicable Final Terms, Leveraged and Tracking Products may also expire early on the
occurrence of certain events, which will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

8. REDENOMINATION AND/OR CONSOLIDATION

The applicable Final Terms may provide that certain Leveraged and Tracking Products may be redenominated in
euro. The relevant provisions applicable to any such redenomination are contained in English Law Condition 1 and
German Law Condition 1.

Leveraged and Tracking Products denominated in a currency that may be converted into euro may be subject to
consolidation with other Leveraged and Tracking Products denominated in euro.

9. SECURED LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS

Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products will be issued by SG Issuer only.

The provisions relating to Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products are more fully described in the section
“Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products”.

10. CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS

Each issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products denominated in a currency in respect of which particular laws,
guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which
comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements in full force (see “Subscription,
Sale and Transfer Restrictions”) including the following restrictions applicable at the date of this Base Prospectus.

11. TYPE OF LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS

Formula-Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Amounts payable in respect of exercise of Formula-Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products are determined by
reference to one or several formula(e) which are based on the underlying(s) of such Formula-Linked Leveraged
and Tracking Products. The terms and conditions of Formula-Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be
subject to adjustment if certain events affecting the relevant underlying asset occur, all as more fully described in
the Additional Terms and Conditions. Formula-Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be issued by applying
the Additional Terms and Conditions relating to Formulae and the Additional Terms and Conditions in respect of
the relevant underlying asset.

Structured Leveraged and Tracking Products

Structured Leveraged and Tracking Products will provide investors with an exposure to one or more Underlyings.
Payments of any amounts in respect of Structured Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by reference
to such Underlying. Item “Type of Structured Leveraged and Tracking Product” of the applicable Final Terms will
specify the relevant type of Underlying of the Structured Leveraged and Tracking Products. Any Structured
Leveraged and Tracking Product may be exposed to more than one Underlying, in which case more than one type
of Structured Leveraged and Tracking Product will be specified. For each such Underlying and type of Leveraged
and Tracking Product, the relevant Additional Terms and Conditions will apply. The application of such Additional
Terms and Conditions will also be specified in item “Type of Structured Leveraged and Tracking Products” of the
applicable Final Terms.

The applicable Final Terms will specify the relevant Underlying and state where information on the relevant
Underlying, in particular on its past and future performance and on its volatility, can be found and whether or not
the Issuer intends to provide further information on the Underlying.

Each type of Underlying for Structured Leveraged and Tracking Products is further described below.
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Share Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments in respect of Share Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by reference to one or
more shares as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final Terms.
The terms and conditions of Share Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to early termination
or adjustment if certain corporate events, de-listing, merger or de-merger, nationalisation or insolvency occur, all
as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products
and Depositary Receipts Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Depositary Receipts Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments in respect of Depositary Receipts Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by
reference to one or more depositary receipts as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified
in the applicable Final Terms. Depositary Receipts Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to
early termination or adjustment if certain corporate events, de-listing, merger or de-merger, nationalisation or
insolvency occur, all as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Share Linked Leveraged
and Tracking Products and Depositary Receipts Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments in respect of Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by reference to the
performance of one or more Indices as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated
in the applicable Final Terms.

Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to early termination or adjustment as more fully
described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products are linked to the performance of an index that is not composed by
the Issuer. In accordance with Commission Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended, the applicable Final Terms
contains the name of the Index and an indication of where to obtain information about the index.

SGI Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments of principal and/or of interest at maturity or otherwise in respect of SGI Index Linked Leveraged and
Tracking Products will be calculated by reference to one or more Société Générale Indices as the relevant Issuer
and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

SGI Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to early termination or adjustment as more
fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for SGI Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.

SGI Index Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products are linked to the performance of an index that is composed by
the Issuer or any other legal entity belonging to the Société Générale group (an SGI Index).

In respect of the description of the SGI Index, this Base Prospectus contains, in accordance with Commission
Regulation (EC) 809/2004 as amended, an index description including the essential characteristics to enable an
investor to fully understand the index and ist dynamics and make an informed assessment.

It should be noted that additional SGI Indices may be used as underlyings following the publication of a supplement
in accordance with the provisions of article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, containing an index description of such
additional Indices.

Reference Rate Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments in respect of Reference Rate Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by reference
to one or more reference rate as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the
applicable Final Terms. Reference Rate Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to early
termination or adjustment, as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Reference Rate
Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments in respect of Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by
reference to one or more foreign exchange rates as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Foreign Exchange Rate Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to to early termination or

adjustment, as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Foreign Exchange Rate Linked
Leveraged and Tracking Products.
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Commodity Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments in respect of Commodity Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by reference to one
or more commodities and/or commodity indices as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and
specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Commodity Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to early termination or adjustment, as more
fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Commaodity Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.

ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments in respect of ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by reference to one or
more exchange traded funds as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the
applicable Final Terms. ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to early termination or
adjustment, as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking
Products and ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.

ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments in respect of ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by reference to the
performance of one or more exchange trade products as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree
and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms. ETP Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to
early termination or adjustment as more fully described in the Additional Terms and Condition for ETP Linked
Leveraged and Tracking Products and ETF Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Future Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products

Payments in respect of Future Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products will be calculated by reference to one or
more future contracts as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Final
Terms. Future Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products may be subject to early termination or adjustments, as
more fully described in the Additional Terms and Conditions for Future Linked Leveraged and Tracking Products.
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO NON-EXEMPT OFFERS OF LEVERAGED AND TRACKING
PRODUCTS

Certain Issues of Leveraged and Tracking Products may be offered in circumstances where there is no
exemption from the obligation under the Prospectus Directive to publish a prospectus. Any such offer
is referred to below as a Non-exempt Offer.

If, in the context of a Non-exempt Offer, you are offered Leveraged and Tracking Products by any entity,
you should check that such entity has been given consent to use this Base Prospectus for the purposes
of making its offer before agreeing to purchase any Leveraged and Tracking Products. The following
entities have consent to use this Base Prospectus in connection with a Non-exempt Offer:

* any entity named as a Dealer in the applicable Final Terms;
« if the clause “Type of Consent” is stated as being “Individual Consent” in the applicable Final Terms:

- any financial intermediary specified in the applicable Final Terms as having been granted
specific consent to use the Base Prospectus; or

- anyfinancial intermediary named on the relevant website of the Issuer as an Authorised Offeror
in respect of the Non-exempt Offer (if that financial intermediary has been appointed after the
date of the applicable Final Terms); and

« if the clause “Type of Consent” is stated as being “General Consent” in the applicable Final Terms,
any financial intermediary authorised to make such offers under the Markets in Financial Instruments
Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC) as amended who has published the Acceptance Statement (as defined
below) on its website.

The entities listed above have been given consent to use the Base Prospectus only during the Offer
Period specified in the applicable Final Terms and only in the Public Offer Jurisdictions.

For the Public Offers which will close after the validity of this Base Prospectus, investors should refer
to the succeeding base prospectus which will be available on the relevant website(s) of the Issuers.

Other than as set out above, the Issuer has not authorised the making of any Non-exempt Offer by any
person and the Issuer has not consented to the use of this Base Prospectus by any other person in
connection with any Non-exempt Offer of Leveraged and Tracking Products.

CONSENT GIVEN IN ACCORANCE WITH ARTICLE 3.2 OF THE PROSPECTUS DIRECTIVE

In the context of any offer of Leveraged and Tracking Products that is not within an exemption from the
requirement to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive (a Non-exempt Offer), each of the
Issuer and the Guarantor accepts responsibility, in each Member State for which it has given its consent
(each a Public Offer Jurisdiction) as specified below, for the content of the Base Prospectus under
Article 6 of the Prospectus Directive in relation to any person (an Investor) to whom any offer of Leveraged
and Tracking Products is made by any financial intermediary to whom it has given its consent to use the
Base Prospectus (an Authorised Offeror), where the offer is made during the period for which that
consent is given in a Public Offer Jurisdiction for which that consent was given and is in compliance with
all other conditions attached to the giving of the consent. The consent and conditions attached to it are
set out under “Type of Consent” and “Conditions to Consent” below.

None of the Issuers, the Guarantor or any relevant Dealer makes any representation as to the compliance
by an Authorised Offeror with any applicable conduct of business rules or other applicable regulatory or
securities law requirements in relation to any Non-exempt Offer and none of the Issuers, the Guarantor
or any relevant Dealer has any responsibility or liability for the actions of that Authorised Offeror.

However, neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer has any responsibility for
any of the actions of any Authorised Offeror, including the non-compliance by an Authorised Offeror with
applicable conduct of business rules or other local regulatory requirements or other securities law
requirements in relation to such offer.

Neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer authorises the use of the Base
Prospectus in the case of a Non-exempt Offer of Leveraged and Tracking Products in a Member State
other than a Public Offer Jurisdiction or in a Public Offer Jurisdiction but made by a financial intermediary
to which the relevant Issuer has not given its consent. Such unauthorised Non-exempt Offers are not
made by or on behalf the relevant Issuer the Guarantor or the relevant Dealer and neither the relevant
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Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer accepts any responsibility for the actions of any person
making such offers and the related consequences.

Save as provided above, neither the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor nor the relevant Dealer authorises
that any Non-exempt Offers of Leveraged and Tracking Products may be made in circumstances which
make a relevant Issuer to publish a prospectus or a supplement to the Base Prospectus.

If, in the context of a Non-exempt Offer, an Investor is offered Leveraged and Tracking Products by a
person which is not an Authorised Offeror, the Investor should check with that person whether anyone is
responsible for this Base Prospectus for the purposes of the relevant Non-exempt Offer and, if so, who
that person is. If the Investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on this Base Prospectus and/or who
is responsible for its contents it should take legal advice.

TYPE OF CONSENT

2.1

2.2

Subject to the conditions set out below under “Conditions to consent” and if it is specified in the applicable
Final Terms relating to any Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products, the Issuer consents to the use of
the Base Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of such Leveraged and Tracking Products during
the offer period specified in the applicable Final Terms (the Offer Period).

The consent given by the Issuer may be an individual consent (an Individual Consent) and/or a general
consent (a General Consent), each as further described below and as specified in the applicable Final
Terms.

Individual Consent

If the clause “Type of Consent” is stated as being “Individual Consent” in the applicable Final Terms, it
means that the Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of
such Leveraged and Tracking Products by the relevant Dealer and by:

0] any financial intermediary (other than a Dealer) acting in association with the Issuer named Initial
Authorised Offeror, whose name and address are specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(ii) any financial intermediary acting in association with the Issuer, appointed after the date of the
applicable Final Terms, and named Additional Authorised Offeror, whose name and address
will be published on the relevant website of the Issuer.

General Consent

If the clause “Type of Consent” is stated as being “General Consent” in the applicable Final Terms, it
means that the Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in relation to an Non-exempt Offer of
Leveraged and Tracking Products to any financial intermediary acting independently from the Issuer
named General Authorised Offeror which:

0] holds all necessary licences, consents, approvals and permissions required by any laws, rules,
regulations and guidance (including from any regulatory body), applicable to the Non-exempt
Offer of the Leveraged and Tracking Products to be authorised to do such offer under the
applicable laws of the Public Offer Jurisdiction, in particular the law implementing the Markets in
Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC) as amended; and

(ii) publishes on its website a statement that it makes such Non-exempt Offer of Leveraged and
Tracking Products based on the General Consent given by the Issuer for the use of the Base
Prospectus (the Acceptance Statement).

“We, [insert legal name of financial intermediary], refer to the offer of [insert title of relevant Leveraged
and Tracking Products] (the Leveraged and Tracking Products) described in the Final Terms dated
[insert date] (the Final Terms) published by [Société Générale/Société Générale Effekten GmbH/SG
Issuer] (the Issuer) [and Société Générale (the Guarantor)]. We hereby accept the offer by the Issuer
[and the Guarantor] of its consent to our use of the Base Prospectus (as defined in the Final Terms) in
connection with the offer of the Leveraged and Tracking Products in accordance with the terms and
subject to the conditions to such consent, each as specified in the Base Prospectus, and confirm that we
are using the Base Prospectus accordingly.”

Through this publication on its website, the General Authorised Offeror commits itself to respect the
following conditions:

(a) itactsin accordance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidance (including from any
regulatory body applicable to the Non-exempt Offer of the Leveraged and Tracking Products in
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(b)

(©

(d)

(€)

®

@

(h)

@)

0

the Public Offer Jurisdiction, in particular the law implementing the Markets in Financial
Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC) as amended (hereinafter the Rules) and makes
sure that (i) any investment advice in the Leveraged and Tracking Products by any person is
appropriate, (ii) the information to prospective investors including the information relating to any
expenses (and any commissions or benefits of any kind) received or paid by this General
Authorised Offeror under the offer of the Leveraged and Tracking Products is fully and clearly
disclosed prior to their investment in the Leveraged and Tracking Products;

it complies with the restrictions set out under “Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restrictions” in
the Base Prospectus related to the Public Offer Jurisdiction as if it acted as a Dealer in the Public
Offer Jurisdiction and considers the relevant manufacturer's target market assessment and
distribution channels identified under the “MiFID Il product governance” legend set out in the
applicable Final Terms;

ensure that the existence of any fee (and any other commissions or benefits of any kind) or
rebate received or paid by the relevant financial intermediary in relation to the offer or sale of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products does not violate the Rules is fully and clearly disclosed to
investors or prospective investors prior to their investment in the Leveraged and Tracking
Products and to the extent required by the Rules, provides further information in respect thereof;

it complies with the Rules relating to anti-money laundering, anti-corruption, anti-bribery and
“know your customer” rules (including, without limitation, taking appropriate steps, in compliance
with such rules, to establish and document the identity of each prospective investor prior to initial
investment in any Leveraged and Tracking Products by the Investor), and will not permit any
application for Leveraged and Tracking Products in circumstances where the financial
intermediary has any suspicions as to the source of the application monies; it retains investor
identification records for at least the minimum period required under applicable Rules, and shall,
if so requested, make such records available to the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer or
directly to the competent authorities with jurisdiction over the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant
Dealer in order to enable the relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer to comply with anti-
money laundering, anti-corruption, anti-bribery and “know your customer” rules applying to the
relevant Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer, as the case may be;

co-operate with the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in providing relevant information (including,
without limitation, documents and records maintained pursuant to paragraph (d) above) and such
further assistance as reasonably requested upon written request from the Issuer or the relevant
Dealer in each case, as soon as is reasonably practicable and, in any event, within any time
frame set by any such regulator or regulatory process. For this purpose, relevant information that
is available to or can be acquired by the relevant financial intermediary:

0] in connection with any request or investigation by any regulator in relation to the
Leveraged and Tracking Products, the Issuer or the relevant Dealer; and/or

(i) in connection with any complaints received by the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer
relating to the Issuer and/or the relevant Dealer or another Authorised Offeror including,
without limitation, complaints as defined in rules published by any regulator of
competent jurisdiction from time to time; and/or

(i) which the Issuer or the relevant Dealer may reasonably require from time to time in
relation to the Leveraged and Tracking Products and/or as to allow the Issuer or the
relevant Dealer fully to comply with its own legal, tax and regulatory requirements;

it does not, directly or indirectly, cause the Issuer or the relevant Dealers to breach any Rule or
any requirement to obtain or make any filing, authorisation or consent in any jurisdiction;

it meets any other condition specified under the clause “Other conditions to consent” in the
applicable Final Terms;

it commits itself to indemnify the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) and the relevant
Dealer, Société Générale and each of its affiliates for any damage, loss, expense, claim, request
or loss and fees (including reasonable fees from law firms) incurred by one of these entities
because of, or in relation with, any failure by this General Authorised Offeror (or any of its sub-
distributors) to respect any of these obligations above;

it is familiar with, and has policies and procedures in place to comply with, any applicable rules
and regulations relating to anti-bribery and corruption, including any changes thereto;

(a) it and any person within its control (including any director, officer or employee, each a
controlled person) has not committed and will not commit any corrupt act directly or indirectly
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and (b) to the best of its knowledge, none of its sub-distributors has committed any corrupt act
directly or indirectly, in each case to or for the use or benefit of, any person or any government
official (which shall include any official, employee or representative of, or any other person acting
in an official capacity for or on behalf of any government of any jurisdiction, any public
international organisation, any political party, or any quasi-governmental body);

(k) it has in place adequate policies, systems, procedures and controls designed to prevent itself,

o

(m

its sub-distributors and any controlled person from committing any corrupt act and to ensure that
any evidence or suspicion of corrupt acts is fully investigated, reported to Société Générale or
the relevant Issuer and acted upon accordingly;

neither it nor any of its agents, sub-distributors or controlled persons is ineligible or treated by
any governmental or international authority as ineligible to tender for any contract or business
with, or to be awarded any contract or business by, such authority on the basis of any actual or
alleged corrupt act;

=

it has kept adequate records of its activities, including financial records in a form and manner
appropriate for a business of its size and resources;

(n) it represents and warrants that it shall not distribute financial instruments to, or enter into any

arrangement with respect to financial instruments with, sanctioned persons;

(o) it undertakes to promptly inform Société Générale or the relevant Issuer of (a) any complaint

received in relation to its activities or the financial instruments; or (b) any event affecting it,
including but not limited to any of: (i) a regulatory investigation or audit of it or its affiliates,
partners or agents; (ii) legal proceedings initiated by a competent regulatory authority against it
or its affiliates, partners or agents; or (iii) a judgment rendered or penalty levied against it or its
affiliates, partners or agents, which in each case might reasonably involve a reputational risk for
Société Générale or the relevant Issuer; and

(p) it acknowledges that its commitment to respect the obligations above is governed by English law

if the applicable Leveraged and Tracking Products are English Law Leveraged and Tracking
Products, or German law if the applicable Leveraged and Tracking Products are German Law
Leveraged and Tracking Products and agrees that any related dispute is brought before the the
courts of England if the applicable Leveraged and Tracking Products are English Law Leveraged
and Tracking Products or the courts of Germany, if the applicable Leveraged and Tracking
Products are German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Any General Authorised Offeror who wishes to use the Base Prospectus for a Non-exempt
Offer of Leveraged and Tracking Products in accordance with this General Consent and the
related conditions is required, during the time of the relevant Offer Period, to publish on its
website the Acceptance Statement.

CONDITIONS TO CONSENT

The consent by the Issuer to the use of the Base Prospectus in the context of the relevant Non-exempt
Offer are (in addition to the conditions described in paragraph “Type of Consent” above if the clause “Type
of Consent” is stated as being “General Consent” in the applicable Final Terms) that such consent:

@
(b)

is only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Non-exempt Offers of the relevant Tranche
of Leveraged and Tracking Products in Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg,
Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and United Kingdom, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

The only Member States for which each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has given a consent for the
making of Non-exempt Offers and which may be so specified in the applicable Final Terms as indicated
in the paragraph 3(b) as Public Offer Jurisdictions will be Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, ltaly,
Luxembourg, Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and United Kingdom.
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ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN INVESTORS AND AUTHORISED OFFERORS

An Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Leveraged and Tracking Products from an Authorised
Offeror will do so, and offers and sales of the Leveraged and Tracking Products to an Investor by an
Authorised Offeror will be made, in accordance with any terms and other arrangements in place between
such Authorised Offeror and such Investor including as to price, allocation and settlement arrangements
(the Terms and Conditions of the Non-exempt Offer). The relevant Issuer and the Guarantor will not
be a party to any such arrangements with Investors (other than the Dealer) in connection with the offer or
sale of the relevant Leveraged and Tracking Products and, accordingly, the Base Prospectus and the
applicable Final Terms will not contain such information.

The information relating to the Terms and Conditions of the Non-exempt Offer shall be provided to the
Investors by the Authorised Offeror at the time such Non-exempt Offer is made. None of the relevant
Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer (except where such Dealer is the relevant Authorised Offeror) has
any responsibility or liability to an Investor in respect of such information.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

LIST OF THE DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

11

The following documents, which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this
Base Prospectus and have been filed with the CSSF, shall be incorporated by reference into, and form
part of, this Base Prospectus.

The documents incorporated by reference in paragraph 1.1 below are direct and accurate translations into
English of the original version of such documents issued in French. Société Générale as Issuer accepts
responsibility for such translations.

Copies of the documents incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus can be obtained from the
office of Société Générale and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents, in each case at the
address given at the end of this Base Prospectus.

This Base Prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference hereinto are available on the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange website (www.bourse.lu).

Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale
incorporates itself documents by reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by
reference herein. Any reference to documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale
shall be deemed to exclude the parts referred to in (i), (ii) and (iii) in the paragraphs 1.1.1 to 1.1.3 below.

1.1.1 2018 Registration Document

The expression “2018 Registration Document” means the English translation of the Document de
référence 2018 of Société Générale, the French version of which was filed with the the Autorité des
marchés financiers (the AMF) on 8 March 2018 under No D.18-0112, except for (i) the inside cover page
containing the AMF visa and the related textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for the
registration document and the annual financial report made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive
Officer of Société Générale, page 556 and (iii) the cross reference table, pages 560-562.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2018 Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.1
below.

1.1.2 2019 Registration Document

The expression "2019 Registration Document” means the English translation of the document de
référence of Société Générale, the French version of which was filed with the AMF on 11 March 2019
under No D.19-0133, except for (i) the inside cover page containing the AMF visa and the related textbox,
(ii) the statement of the person responsible for the registration document and the annual financial report
made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale,, page 556 and (iii) the cross
reference table, pages 557-560.

The cross-reference table in relation to the 2019 Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.2
below.

1.13 First Update to the 2019 Registration Document

The expression "First Update to the 2019 Registration Document" means the English version of the
Premiéere actualisation du document de référence of Société Générale, the French version of which was
filed with the AMF on 6 May 2019 under No D. 19-0133-A01, except for (i) the inside cover page containing
the AMF visa and the related textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for the update to the
registration document made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, page 36
and (iii) the cross reference table, pages 38-39.

The cross reference table in relation to the First Update to the 2019 Registration Document appears in
the paragraph 2.1.3 below.
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1.2

13

1.4

Documents incorporated by reference relating to SG Issuer

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to SG Issuer incorporates
itself documents by reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein.

1.2.1 2017 Annual Financial Statements

The expression “2017 Annual Financial Statements SG Issuer® means the English version of the
audited annual financial statements of SG Issuer for the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2017 prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related appendix
and notes and the statutory auditor’s report for the year.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2017 Annual Financial Statements SG Issuer appears in
paragraph 2.2.1 below.

1.2.2 2019 Registration Document SG Issuer

The expression “2019 Registration Document SG Issuer” means the English language version of the
registration document dated 21 May 2019 of SG Issuer pursuant to section 12 (1) WpPG in connection
with Art. 7 and Annex IV of the Regulation approved by Bundesanstalt fiir Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht
(BaFin) on 21 May 2019.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2019 Registration Document SG Issuer appears in
paragraph 2.2.2 below.

Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale Effekten GmbH

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale Effekten
GmbH incorporates itself documents by reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by
reference herein.

1.3.1 2018 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH

The expression “2018 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH” means the English
language version of the registration document dated 21 June 2018 of Société Générale Effekten GmbH
pursuant to section 12 (1) WpPG in connection with Art. 7 and Annex IV of the Regulation approved by
the Bundesanstalt fur Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin) on 16 June 2018.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2018 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH
appears in the paragraph 2.3.1 below.

1.3.2 2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH

The expression “2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH” means the English
language version of the registration document dated 24 June 2019 of Société Générale Effekten GmbH
pursuant to section 12 (1) WpPG in connection with Art. 7 and Annex IV of the Regulation approved by
the Bundesanstalt fir Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin) on 26 June 2019.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2018 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH
appears in the paragraph 2.3.2 below.

Documents incorporated by reference relating to Previous Base Prospectuses

The expression "Previous Base Prospectuses" means collectively the Oktober 2017 Base Prospectus
and the Oktober 2018 Base Prospectus.

To the extent that each of the Previous Base Prospectuses incorporates itself documents by reference,
such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein.

The cross reference table in relation to the Previous Base Prospectuses appears in paragraph 2.4 below.

Where the Form of Final Terms that appears in a Previous Base Prospectus is incorporated by reference
in this Base Prospectus, the introduction paragraph of such previous Form of Final Terms is no longer
valid and the introduction paragraph of the Form of Final Terms as set out in this Base Prospectus must
be used.

The expression "October 2017 Base Prospectus" means collectively:

- the leveraged products issuance programme prospectus dated 27 October 2017;
- the supplement dated 18 January 2018;

- the supplement dated 6 March 2018; and

- the supplement dated 28 September 2018.
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For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 30 Novermber 2017, 8 February 2018 and 23 April
2018 are not incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus.

The expression "October 2018 Base Prospectus” means collectively:

- the leveraged and tracking product issuance programme prospectus dated 26 October 2018, and
- the supplement dated 11 December 2018;

- the supplement dated 14 January 2019; and

- the supplement dated 8 March 2019.

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 17 April 2019 and 1 July 2019 are not incorporated
by reference into this Base Prospectus.

CROSS REFERENCE TABLES OF THE DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

2.1

The information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross reference list (except for the
non-incorporated parts and the non-incorporated documents), is considered as additional information and
is not required by the relevant schedules of Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004. The non-
incorporated parts and the non-incorporated documents referred to above are not incorporated by
reference as they are not relevant for an investor or are covered elsewhere in the Base Prospectus
pursuant to article 28.4 of Commission Regulation (EC) N° 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 (as amended).

References to pages appearing in each of the cross-reference tables are to those of each document
incorporated by reference.

Cross reference tables relating to Société Générale

2.1.1 2018 Registration Document

2018 Registration

Regulation EC 809/2004 of 29 April 2004
Document

Historical financial information 123 ;125 ; 147 ; 151-

154 ; 166-167 ; 176 ;

179-183;191-194 ;

198-202 ; 204-206 ;

217-218 ; 220-222 ;

301-447 ; 454-523 ;
561

Financial statements 123 ;125; 147 ; 151-
154 ; 166-167 ; 176 ;
179-183;191-194 ;
198-202 ; 204-206 ;
217-218 ; 220-222 ;
301-447 ; 454-523

Consolidated balance Sheet 302-303
Consolidated income statement 304
Cashflow statement 308
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 309-447

Auditing of the historical annual financial information

448-453 ; 524-529

Age of latest financial information

302 ; 454
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Documents incorporated by reference

2.1.2 2019 Registration Document

Annex Xl of Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 of 29 April 2004

2019 Registration

Document
RISK FACTORS 148-245
INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER
History and development of the Issuer 5; 540
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Principal activities 6-8; 46-52
Principal markets 6'13;215(;?2;156'27;
ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
Brief description of the group and of the issuer’s position within it 6-8; 26-27
TREND INFORMATION 14
ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT, AND SUPERVISORY BODIES
Members of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies 66-97; 140
Administrative, Management, and Supervisory bodies conflicts of interests 140
MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
State and description of the control 535-536; 539

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES

Historical Financial Information

131, 149; 163-166;
178; 187; 189-194,
202-205; 209-213;
215-218; 228-233,;
300-463; 469-525;

559
Balance sheet 300-301
Income statement 302
Cash flow statement 306
Explanatory notes 308-463

Financial statements

131, 149; 163-166;
178, 187; 189-194,
202-205; 209-213;
215-218; 228-233;
300-463; 469-525

Auditing of historical annual financial information

464-468; 526-530

Age of latest financial information

300; 469

Interim and other financial information

Legal and arbitration proceedings

242; 460-463; 523-

525
Significant change in the issuer’s financial position 59-61
MATERIAL CONTRACTS 60
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Documents incorporated by reference

2.2

2.13 First Update to the 2019 Registration Document

First Update to

the 2019
Registration
Document
RISK FACTORS 28-34
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Principal activities 7-26
ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Board of Directors and senior management 27
FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES,
FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER
Interim financial information 3-24
Legal and arbitration proceedings 33

The information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list, is considered as
additional information and is not required by relevant schedules to the Regulation (EC) 809/2004.

Cross reference tables relating to SG Issuer

22.1 2017 Annual Financial Statements SG Issuer

Statement of comprehensive income 18
Statement of financial position 17
Statement of changes in equity 20
Statement of cash-flows 19
Notes to the financial statements (including accounting principles) 21-54
Report of the Réviseur d’Entreprises agréé 12-16

2.2.2 2019 Registration Document SG Issuer

RISK FACTORS

administrative, management or supervisory bodies, and an indication of the

Prominent disclosure of risk factors that may affect the issuer’s ability to fulfil 3-5
its obligations under the securities to investors.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

History and development of the issuer 9
the legal and commercial name of the issuer, 9
the place of registration of the issuer and its registration number; 9
the date of incorporation of the Issuer; 9
the domicile and legal form of the issuer, the legislation under which the issuer 9
operates, its country of incorporation, and the address and telephone number

of its registered office (or principal place of business if different from its

registered office).

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Business Overview 9-10
ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

If the issuer is part of a group, a brief description of the group and of the 10
issuer’s position within it.

Whether the issuer is dependent on other entities within the group 11
TREND INFORMATION

Information on any known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or 11
events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Issuer’s

prospects for at least the current financial year.

ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES

Names, business addresses and functions in the Issuer of the members of the 11
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Documents incorporated by reference

2.3

principal activities performed by them outside the Issuer where these are
significant with respect to the Issuer.

Administrative, Management, and Supervisory bodies conflicts of interests. 11-13
Additional Notes 14
MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

To the extent known to the issuer, state whether the issuer is directly or 9

indirectly owned or controlled and by whom, and describe the nature of such
control, and describe the measures in place to ensure that such control is not
abused.

FINANCIAL, INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION

AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER

Historical financial information for the financial year 2018

Report of the Reviseur d'entreprises agree (Auditor's Report) F-68-F-72
Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income F-73
Statement of Financial Position F-74
Statement of Changes in Equity F-75
Statement of Cash Flows F-76

F-77 - F126

Notes to the financial statements

Cross reference tables relating to Société Générale Effekten GmbH

2.3.1 2018 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH

FINANCIAL, INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL

POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER

Historical financial information for the financial year 2017
Financial statements F-90-
Income statement F-90
Comprehensive Income Statement F-91
Balance sheet F-92-F-93
Changes in equity F-94-F-95
Cash flow statements F-96-F-97

Notes to the financial statements F-98-F-176

Auditing of the historical annual financial information F-178 — F-186

232 2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH

RISK FACTORS

Prominent disclosure of risk factors that may affect the issuer’s ability to fulfil 1-6

its obligations under the securities to investors.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER

History and development of the issuer 12

the legal and commercial name of the issuer; 12

the place of registration of the issuer and its registration number; 12

the date of incorporation of the Issuer; 12

the domicile and legal form of the issuer, the legislation under which the issuer 12

operates, its country of incorporation, and the address and telephone number

of its registered office (or principal place of business if different from its

registered office).

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Business Overview 12-14

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

If the issuer is part of a group, a brief description of the group and of the 14

issuer’s position within it.
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2.4

Whether the issuer is dependent on other entities within the group

14

TREND INFORMATION

Information on any known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or
events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Issuer’s
prospects for at least the current financial year.

15

ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES

Names, business addresses and functions in the Issuer of the members of the
administrative, management or supervisory bodies, and an indication of the
principal activities performed by them outside the Issuer where these are
significant with respect to the Issuer.

15

Administrative, Management, and Supervisory bodies conflicts of interests.

15

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

To the extent known to the issuer, state whether the issuer is directly or
indirectly owned or controlled and by whom, and describe the nature of such
control, and describe the measures in place to ensure that such control is not
abused.

12

FINANCIAL, INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIA
POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER

BILITIES, FINANCIAL

Historical financial information for the financial year 2018

Financial statements F-151-F-157
Income statement F-151
Comprehensive Income Statement F-152
Balance sheet F-153-F-154
Changes in equity F-155
Cash flow statements F-156-F-157
Notes F-158-F-237
Auditor’s Report F-239-F-247
Cross reference tables relating to the Previous Base Prospectus
October 2017 Base Prospectus
Base Prospectus Terms and Conditions of the 216 - 288
German Law Leveraged Products
Additional terms and conditions 289 - 483
Supplement dated 18 January 2018 Terms and Conditions 6-8
Additional Terms and Conditions 8-11
relating to Formulae
Supplement dated 6 March 2018 Additional Terms and Conditions 6
for Structured Leveraged Products
Supplement dated 28 September 2018 | Additional Terms and Conditions 21-22
for Secured Leveraged Products
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Documents incorporated by reference

October 2018 Base Prospectus

Base Prospectus

Terms and Conditions of the
German Law Leveraged and
Tracking Products

Additional terms and conditions

251-331

332 - 554

Supplement dated 11 December 2018

Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Structured Leveraged
and Tracking Products

Additional Terms and Conditions
for Share Linked Leveraged and
Tracking Products and Depositary
Receipts Linked Leveraged and
Tracking Products

Additional Terms and Conditions
for Commodity Linked Leveraged
and Tracking Products

6-7

8-10

Supplement dated 14 January 2019

Additional Terms and Conditions
relating to Formulae

3-16

Supplement dated 8 March 2019

Additional Terms and Conditions
for Commodity Linked Leveraged
and Tracking Products

For the avoidance of doubt, the supplements dated 17 April 2019 and 1 July 2019 are not incorporated by

reference into this Base Prospectus.
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Final Terms

FINAL TERMS

In this section the expression “necessary information” means, in relation to any Issue of Leveraged and Tracking
Products, the information necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and
liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuers and the Guarantor and of the rights
attaching to the Leveraged and Tracking Products. In relation to the different types of Leveraged and Tracking
Products which may be issued under the Programme, the Issuers and the Guarantor have endeavoured to include
in this Base Prospectus all of the necessary information except for information relating to the Leveraged and
Tracking Products which is not known at the date of this Base Prospectus and which can only be determined at
the time of an individual issue of an Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Any information relating to the Leveraged and Tracking Products which is not included in this Base Prospectus and
which is required in order to complete the necessary information in relation to an Issue of Leveraged and Tracking
Products will therefore be contained in the applicable Final Terms.

For an Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products which is the subject of Final Terms, those Final Terms will, for
the purposes of that Issue only, complete the Terms and Conditions and must be read in conjunction with this Base
Prospectus. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products which
is the subject of Final Terms are the Terms and Conditions as completed to the extent described in the applicable
Final Terms.

An Issuer and, if applicable, the Guarantor, may agree with any Dealer that Leveraged and Tracking Products may
be issued, offered to the public, and/or admitted to trading on a regulated market in a form not contemplated by the
Terms and Conditions described in this Base Prospectus.
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Supplement to Base Prospectus

SUPPLEMENT TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

If at any time the Issuers shall be required to prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 16
of the Prospectus Directive, the Issuers will prepare and make available an appropriate supplement to this Base
Prospectus or a further Base Prospectus which, in respect of any subsequent issue of Leveraged and Tracking
Products to be listed and admitted to trading on a Regulated Market shall constitute a supplement to the Base
Prospectus as required by Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive and shall supply each Dealer with such number
of copies of such supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.

The Issuers have given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the duration of the Programme
there is a significant new factor, material mistake, inaccuracy or omission relating to information contained in this
Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Leveraged and Tracking Products and whose
inclusion in or removal from this Base Prospectus is necessary, for the purpose of allowing an investor to make an
informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuers,
the Group and the rights attaching to the Leveraged and Tracking Products, the Issuers shall prepare a supplement
to this Base Prospectus or publish a replacement Base Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent
offering of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, and shall supply each Dealer with such number of copies of such
supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.

Following the publication of this Base Prospectus, the Issuers and the Guarantor will, in the event of any significant
new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable
of affecting the assessment of any Leveraged and Tracking Products, prepare a supplement to this Base
Prospectus (a Supplement) in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive or publish a new prospectus
for use in connection with any subsequent Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products. Such Supplement as
prepared will have to be approved by the CSSF. Statements contained in any such Supplement (or contained in
any document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication
or otherwise), be deemed to modify or supersede statements contained in this Base Prospectus or in a document
which is incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not,
except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus.

In the case of Leveraged and Tracking Products subject to a Non-exempt Offer to the public, in accordance with
Article 16.2 of the Prospectus Directive, investors who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for Leveraged
and Tracking Products before any Supplement is published have the right, exercisable within two working days
after the publication of this Supplement, to withdraw their acceptances.
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FORM OF THE LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS

DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall have the following meanings when used in this section:

Clearing System Global Security means a global English Law Leveraged and Tracking Product in
bearer form which represents Leveraged and Tracking Products in a clearing system.

Clearstream, Luxembourg means Clearstream Banking, S.A.

Definitive Registered Security means any definitive English Law Leveraged and Tracking Product in
registered form whether or not such Definitive Registered Security is issued in exchange for a Registered
Global Security or Clearing System Global Security.

English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products means Clearing System Global Securities, Registered
Securities, Definitive Registered Securities, Registered Global Securities and Uncertificated Securities
which are governed by English law and the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and
Tracking Products except, in the case of Uncertificated Nordic Securities and Uncertificated Italian
Securities, in respect of their form, title, transfer and payments which shall be governed by the laws
applicable to the relevant central securities depositary and clearing institution on which they are admitted.

EUI or CREST means Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited (formerly known as CRESTCo Limited).

EUI Securities means English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products issued in uncertificated form,
cleared and settled through a central securities depositary and clearing institution, being either EUI or
CREST.

Euroclear means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.
Euroclear Finland means Euroclear Finland Ltd.
Euroclear France means Euroclear France as a subsidiary of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.

Euroclear France Account Holder(s) means any authorised financial intermediary institution entitled to
hold accounts, directly or indirectly, on behalf of its customers with Euroclear France, including Euroclear
and the depositary bank for Clearstream.

Euroclear Sweden means Euroclear Sweden AB.

German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products means Materialised Leveraged and Tracking Products
which are governed by German law and the Terms and Conditions for German Law Leveraged and
Tracking Products.

Global Security means English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products in the form of either a Clearing
System Global Security or a Registered Global Security.

Iberclear means Sociedad de Gestion de los Sistemos de Registro, Compensacién y Liquidacion de
Valores S.A., Unipersonal.

Materialised Leveraged and Tracking Products means German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products
in materialised form.

Monte Titoli means Monte Titoli S.p.A.

Registered Global Security means a global English Law Leveraged and Tracking Product in registered
form representing an issue of Registered Securities.

Registered Securities means English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products in certificated registered
form.

Uncertificated Nordic Securities means Uncertificated Swedish Securities, Uncertificated Finnish
Securities and Uncertificated Norwegian Securities.

Uncertificated Securities means Leveraged and Tracking Products issued in uncertificated book entry
form, without issue by the Issuer or its agent of any physical document of title which are cleared and
settled through a central securities depositary and clearing institution, being either (i) Verdipapirsentralen
(the Uncertificated Norwegian Securities) (ii) Euroclear Finland (the Uncertificated Finnish
Securities), (iii) Euroclear Sweden (the Uncertificated Swedish Securities), (iv) Monte Titoli (the
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Uncertificated Italian Securities) or, with respect to Leveraged and Tracking Products which are
admitted to trading on the Italian Stock Exchange, any other central securities depository in accordance
with the rules of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. applicable from time to time or (v) EUl or CREST (the EUI
Securities) or, in each case, through any other central securities depositary and clearing institution as
specified in the applicable Final Terms (the Relevant CSD).

Verdipapirsentralen means Verdipapirsentralen ASA (VPS) as central security depositary for Norway.

Leveraged and Tracking Products means, collectively, Clearing System Global Securities, Registered
Securities, Definitive Registered Securities, Registered Global Securities, Uncertificated Securities or
Materialised Leveraged and Tracking Products or any of the foregoing, as the context requires.

ENGLISH LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS (OTHER THAN UNCERTIFICATED
SECURITIES)

2.1

2.2

English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products (other than Uncertificated Securities) will be Clearing
System Global Securities, Registered Global Securities or Definitive Registered Securities.

Clearing System Global Securities

For so long as any of the Leveraged and Tracking Products is represented by a Clearing System Global
Security held by a common depository on behalf of Euroclear Bank and/or Clearstream Luxembourg
and/or Iberclear, each person (other than Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or Iberclear, as the case
may be) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg
and/or Iberclear as the holder of a Leveraged and Tracking Product (in which regard any certificate or
other document issued by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Iberclear as to the number of such
Leveraged and Tracking Products standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding
for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor and any
Paying Agent as the holder of such number of the Leveraged and Tracking Products for all purposes other
than with respect to payments in respect of such Leveraged and Tracking Products, for which purpose
the bearer of the relevant Clearing System Global Security shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor
and any Paying Agent as the holder of such number of Leveraged and Tracking Products in accordance
with and subject to the terms of the Clearing System Global Security (and the expressions “Leveraged
and Tracking Product Holder” and “holder of Leveraged and Tracking Products” and related expressions
shall be construed accordingly).

Registered Global Securities and Definitive Registered Securities

Payments in respect of the Registered Global Securities will, in the absence of provision to the contrary,
be made to the person shown on the Register (as defined in Condition 4.3 of the Terms and Conditions
of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products) as the registered holder of the Registered Global
Securities. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor, or any Agent will have any responsibility or liability for any
aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the
Registered Global Securities or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such
beneficial ownership interests.

Payments in respect of Definitive Registered Securities will, in the absence of provision to the contrary,
be made to the persons shown on the Register on the relevant Record Date (as defined in Condition 4.3
of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products) immediately preceding
the due date for payment in the manner provided in Condition 4.3 of the Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Interests in a Registered Global Security may, subject to compliance with all applicable restrictions, be
transferred to a person who wishes to hold such interest in another Registered Global Security. No
beneficial owner of an interest in a Registered Global Security will be able to transfer such interest, except
in accordance with the applicable procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Iberclear, in
each case to the extent applicable.
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UNCERTIFICATED SECURITIES

3.1

3.2

Uncertificated Nordic Securities

The Issuer may issue Uncertificated Nordic Securities. The holder of an Uncertificated Nordic Security will
be the person appearing in the register of the relevant securities depositary and clearing institution in
accordance with the legislation, rules and regulations applicable to, and/or issued by, the Relevant CSD.

Uncertificated Nordic Securities will be transferable, and payments thereon will be made, in accordance
with such legislation, rules and regulations as further described in the Terms and Conditions.

Uncertificated Nordic Securities are in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form. No global or
definitive Leveraged and Tracking Products will be issued in respect of Uncertificated Nordic Securities.
Title to Uncertificated Nordic Securities will pass by registration in the register that the Issuer will procure
to be kept by a central securities depositary and clearing institution on behalf of the Issuer. Where a
nominee is so evidenced it shall be treated as the holder of the relevant Uncertificated Nordic Securities.

Uncertificated Nordic Securities and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with
the Uncertificated Nordic Securities will be governed by English law except in respect of their form, title,
transfer and payments thereon which shall be governed, and shall be construed in accordance with, by
the laws applicable to the Relevant CSD.

EUI Securities

The EUI Securities are participating securities for the purposes of the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001, including any modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force (the
Regulations). Title to the EUI Securities is recorded on the relevant Operator register of corporate
securities. Computershare Investor Services PLC (in the case of EUI Securities issued as Warrants) and
Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited (in the case of EUI Securities issued as Notes),
respectively, as “EUI Agent” acting on behalf of the Issuer shall, in relation to the EUI Securities, maintain
a record of uncertificated corporate securities in accordance with the records of Euroclear UK & Ireland
Limited (EUI or CREST) (formerly known as CRESTCo Limited) (the Record) and shall procure that the
Record is regularly updated to reflect the Operator register of corporate securities in accordance with the
rules and practices from time to time of the Operator. Subject to this requirement, (i) each person who is
for the time being shown in the Record as the holder of a particular number of EUI Securities shall be
treated by the Issuer and the EUI Agent as the holder of such number of EUI Securities for all purposes
(and the expression EUI Security Holder and related expressions shall be construed accordingly), and (ii)
neither the Issuer, the Guarantor nor the EUI Agent shall be liable in respect of any act or thing done or
omitted to be done by it or on its behalf in reliance upon the assumption that the particulars entered in the
Record which the EUI Agent maintains are in accordance with particulars entered in the Operator register
of corporate securities relating to the EUI Securities. For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of any
differences in information contained in the Record and the register of EUI Securities in registered form
kept at the Issuer’s registered office, the register kept at the Issuer’s registered office shall prevail for
Luxembourg law purposes.

No provision of the Terms and Conditions of any EUI Securities shall apply or have effect to the extent
that it is in any respect inconsistent with (i) the holding of title to EUI Securities (ii) the transfer of title to
EUI Securities by means of a relevant system or (jii) the Regulations. Without prejudice to the generality
of the preceding sentence and notwithstanding anything contained in the Terms and Conditions of any
EUI Securities, so long as the EUI Securities are participating securities, (a) any EUI Securities which are
not for the time being in all respects identical to, or do not for the time being have rights attached thereto
identical in all respects to those attached to, other EUI Securities of the same Issue shall be deemed to
constitute a separate Issue of EUI Securities, (b) the Operator register of corporate securities relating to
the EUI Securities shall be maintained at all times in the United Kingdom, (c) the EUI Securities may be
issued in uncertificated form in accordance with and subject as provided in the Regulations; and (d) for
the avoidance of doubt, the Terms and Conditions of any EUl Securities shall remain applicable
notwithstanding that they are not endorsed on any certificate for such EUI Securities.

» oo« » o«

As used herein each of “Operator register of corporate securities”, “participating securities”, “record of
uncertificated corporate securities” and “relevant system” is as defined in the Regulations and the relevant
“Operator” (as such term is used in the Regulations) is EUI (formerly CRESTCo Limited) or any additional
or alternative operator from time to time approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the EUI Agent in
relation to the EUI Securities and in accordance with the Regulations. Any reference herein to the Operator
shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any such additional or
alternative Operator from time to time and notified to the EUI Security Holders.

Any indication herein that the Operator “shall” do, or similar expression or phrase indicating that they are
obliged to or will carry out any role or obligation described in the Terms and Conditions and/or the
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3.3

applicable Final Terms, as the case may be, is given without any assumption by the Issuer, the Guarantor,
the EUI Agent or the Calculation Agent, of responsibility or liability for the performance of the Operator.

EUI Securities and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Leveraged and
Tracking Products will be governed by English law.

Uncertificated Italian Securities

Uncertificated Italian Securities will be issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book-entry form and
are freely transferable by way of book entries on the accounts registered on Monte Titoli or, with respect
to Leveraged and Tracking Products which are admitted to trading on the Italian Stock Exchange, on any
other central securities depository in accordance with the rules of Borsa Italiana S.p.A. applicable from
time to time. The holder of an Uncertificated Italian Security will be the person being shown in the records
of Monte Titoli as holder of Leveraged and Tracking Products in accordance with the applicable provisions
of Italian law, including Legislative Decree 24 February 1998, No. 58 (Italian Financial Services Act),
regulations and operating procedures applicable to and/or issued by Monte Titoli from time to time or, with
respect to Leveraged and Tracking Products which are admitted to trading on the Italian Stock Exchange,
the person which is shown on any other central securities depository, which is accepted by Borsa Italiana
S.p.A. from time to time, in accordance with the relevant rules.

Uncertificated Italian Securities will not be represented by paper certificates and the transfer and
exchange of the Uncertificated Italian Securities will take place exclusively through the electronic book-
entry system managed by Monte Titoli or, with respect to Leveraged and Tracking Products which are
admitted to trading on the Italian Stock Exchange, in accordance with operating procedures of any other
applicable central securities depository, which is accepted by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. from time to time.
Accordingly, any Uncertificated Italian Securities shall be deposited by their owners with an intermediary
participant in Monte Titoli which will in turn deposit the Uncertificated Italian Security with Monte Titoli.

Uncertificated Italian Securities and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with
the Uncertificated Italian Securities will be governed by English law except in respect of their form, title,
transfer and payments thereon which shall be governed by the laws applicable to the relevant central
securities depositary and clearing institution, being initially Monte Titoli, on which they are admitted.

GERMAN LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS

4.2

German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products will be Materialised Leveraged and Tracking Products.

Materialised Leveraged and Tracking Products

Materialised Leveraged and Tracking Products will be in bearer materialised form and, if so specified in
the applicable Final Terms, represented by permanent global certificate (a Permanent Global
Certificate). If so specified in the applicable Final Terms,a temporary global certificate in bearer form (a
Temporary Global Certificate) will initially be issued in connection with Materialised Leveraged and
Tracking Products.

Upon the initial deposit of such Temporary Global Certificate with a common depositary, Euroclear or
Clearstream, Luxembourg (or, if a subscriber holds an account with a clearing system other than Euroclear
or Clearstream, Luxembourg which holds an account directly or indirectly in Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg, such other clearing system) (the Common Depositary), Euroclear or Clearstream,
Luxembourg (or such other clearing system) will credit the account of each subscriber of such Leveraged
and Tracking Products.

German Law Leveraged and Tracking Products represented by a Temporary Global Certificate will be
exchangeable in whole, but not in part, free of charge to the holder, on or after the Exchange Date (as
defined below) for materialised bearer Leveraged and Tracking Products in definitive form (any such
Leveraged and Tracking Products, Definitive Materialised Bearer Leveraged and Tracking Products):

(@ if the applicable Final Terms indicates that such Temporary Global Certificate is issued in
compliance with the TEFRA C Rules or in a transaction to which TEFRA rules are not applicable;
and

(b) otherwise, upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership in the form set out in the

German Law Agency Agreement (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the German Law
Leveraged and Tracking Products) for Definitive Materialised Bearer Leveraged and Tracking
Products.

On or after the Exchange Date, the holder of a Temporary Global Certificate may surrender such
Temporary Global Certificate to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent (as defined in the German Law Agency
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Agreement). In exchange for any Temporary Global Certificate, the Issuer will deliver, or procure the
delivery of, duly executed and authenticated Definitive Materialised Bearer Leveraged and Tracking
Products. Definitive Materialised Bearer Leveraged and Tracking Products will be security printed at the
expense of the Issuer in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements in or
substantially in the form set out in the German Law Agency Agreement.

For the purposes of this section, the Exchange Date shall be the day immediately following the later of (i)
40 days after the Temporary Global Certificate or, as the case may be, Temporary Global Certificate is
issued and (ii) 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the relevant Tranche, as certified by the
relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the relevant lead manager (in the case of a
syndicated issue).

DEEDS OF COVENANT

If any Global Security has become due and repayable in accordance with its terms and conditions or if
the Expiry Date of such Leveraged and Tracking Product has occurred and payment in full of the amount
due has not been made in accordance with the provisions of the Clearing System Global Security, from
the Global Security will become void at 8.00 p.m. (London time) on such day.

At the same time, accountholders with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Iberclear (as
the case may be) having such Leveraged and Tracking Products credited to their accounts will become
entitled to proceed directly against the relevant Issuer, on the basis of statements of account provided by
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, and/or Iberclear (as the case may be) pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the relevant Deed of Covenant.

EXCHANGE UPON THE OCCURRENCE OF AN EXCHANGE EVENT

Leveraged and Tracking Products issued in global form (as a Clearing System Global Security or
Registered Global Security) will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for Definitive
Registered Securities, upon the occurrence of any of the circumstances described in (i), (i), (iii) or (iv)
below (each, an Exchange Event) or by the Issuer in the event of the occurrence of the circumstances
described in (iii) below:

@) if applicable, an Event of Default (as defined in English Law Condition 8) has occurred and is
continuing;
(i) in the case of a Clearing System Global Security or a Registered Global Security registered in

the name of a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or
Iberclear, the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or
Iberclear have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason
of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or announce an intention permanently to cease business or
have in fact done so and no successor clearing system is available;

(i) on the occasion of the next payment in respect of any Clearing System Global Securities, the
Issuer would be required to pay additional amounts as referred to in Condition 6 of the Terms
and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products and such payment would
not be required were the Leveraged and Tracking Products in definitive form and

(iv) in the case of Registered Global Securities, the Issuer has or will become subject to adverse tax
consequences which would not be suffered were such Registered Global Securities represented
by a Definitive Registered Security.

The Issuer will promptly give notice to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in accordance with
Condition 13 of the Terms and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products if an
Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Euroclear and/or
Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Iberclear (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such
Global Security) may give notice to the Fiscal Agent or, as the case may be, the Registrar requesting
exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (iii) above, the Issuer
may also give notice to the Registrar requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than
10 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Registrar.
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CLEARING SYSTEMS

Any reference herein to “Euroclear France”, “Euroclear”, “Clearstream, Luxembourg” “Euroclear Sweden”,
“Euroclear Finland”, “Monte Titoli”, “Verdipapirsentralen” and “CREST” and/or “Iberclear” shall, whenever
the context so permits, (i) be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system
specified in the applicable Final Terms which is approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the
Fiscal Agent (if applicable), the Registrar (in the case of Registered Securities only) and, in the case of
Leveraged and Tracking Products listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, which is acceptable to the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and, in the case of Leveraged and Tracking Products listed on Borsa
Italiana S.p.A. which is acceptable to Borsa ltaliana S.p.A.

OFFER AND SALE IN THE U.S. AND U.S. LEGENDS

8.1

8.2

Leveraged and Tracking Products

Leveraged and Tracking Products will be offered and sold only in an offshore transaction (as defined
under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit of a Permitted Transferee.

U.S. Legends

The following legend will appear on all permanent and definitive Materialised Leveraged and Tracking
Products which have an original maturity of more than one year:

“ANY UNITED STATES PERSON (AS DEFINED IN THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF THE UNITED
STATES) WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE
UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS
165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE.”

The sections referred to above provide that United States persons (as defined in the Code), with certain
exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Materialised Leveraged and Tracking Products and
will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment
of in respect of such Leveraged and Tracking Products.
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FORM OF FINAL TERMS
APPLICABLE FINAL TERMS
Dated [e]

[MIiFID 1I product governance — Solely for the
purposes of the manufacturer’s product approval
process, the target market assessment in respect
of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, taking
into account the five categories referred to in item
18 of the Guidelines published by ESMA on
5 February 2018 as well as the determination of the
appropriate distribution channel, has been made
and is available on the following website:
https://regulatory.sgmarkets.com/#/mifid2/emt
(the “Target Market”). Any person subsequently
offering, selling or recommending the Leveraged
and Tracking Products (a “distributor”) should
take into consideration the Target Market assess-
ment and the suggested distribution strategy for
the product; however, a distributor subject to
MIFID Il is responsible for undertaking its own
target market assessment in respect of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products (by either
adopting or refining the Target Market assess-
ment) and determining appropriate distribution
channels.]*

[MIiFID 1l product governance — Solely for the
purposes of the manufacturer’s product approval
process, the target market assessment in respect
of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, taking
into account the five categories referred to in item
18 of the Guidelines published by ESMA on
5 February 2018, as well as the determination of the
appropriate distribution channel, has been made
by the manufacturer. Any person subsequently
offering, selling or recommending the Leveraged
and Tracking Products (a “distributor”) should
confirm with the manufacturer the manufacturer’s
target market assessment and suggested distri-
bution strategy for the Leveraged and Tracking
Products; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II
remains responsible for undertaking its own target
market assessment in respect of the Leveraged
and Tracking Products (by either adopting or
refining the manufacturer’s target market assess-
ment) and determining appropriate distribution
channels.]

[The following language applies if the Leveraged and
Tracking Products are distributed in:

The Leveraged and Tracking Products described in
these Final Terms do not constitute a participation
in a collective investment scheme within the

MUSTER DER ENDGULTIGEN BEDINGUNGEN
ANWENDBARE ENDGULTIGE BEDINGUNGEN
vom [e]

[MIiFID Il Produktiiberwachungspflichten — Die Ziel-
marktbestimmung im Hinblick auf die Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte ist ausschlieBlich fur den
Zweck des Produktgenehmigungsverfahrens des
Konzepteurs unter Berlicksichtigung der in Punkt
18 der von der ESMA am 5. Februar 2018
veroffentlichten  Richtlinien genannten flnf
Kategorien sowie der Bestimmung der ange-
messenen Vertriebskandle erfolgt und ist auf der
folgenden Website abrufbar:
https://regulatory.sgmarkets.com/#/mifid2/emt
(der ,,Zielmarkt“). Jede Person, die in der Folge die
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte anbietet,
verkauft oder empfiehlt (ein ,Vertriebsunter-
nehmen®) soll die Zielmarktbestimmung und die
empfohlene Vertriebsstrategie fur das Produkt
berlicksichtigen; ein Vertriebsunternehmen,
welches MIFID Il unterliegt, ist indes dafur verant-
wortlich, seine eigene Zielmarktbestimmung im
Hinblick auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
durchzufihren (entweder durch die Ubernahme
oder durch die Prazisierung der Zielmarktbe-
stimmung) und angemessene Vertriebskanale zu
bestimmen.]*

[MIFID Il Produktiiberwachungspflichten — Die Ziel-
marktbestimmung im Hinblick auf die Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte ist durch den Konzepteur
ausschlieBlich fir den Zweck des Produktge-
nehmigungsverfahrens des Konzepteurs unter
Berlcksichtigung der in Punkt 18 der von der
ESMA am 5. Februar 2018 veroffentlichten Richt-
linien genannten finf Kategorien sowie der Be-
stimmung der angemessenen Vertriebskanéle
erfolgt. Jede Person, die in der Folge die Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukte anbietet, verkauft oder
empfiehlt (ein ,,Vertriebsunternehmen*) sollte die
Zielmarktbestimmung des Konzepteurs und die
empfohlene Vertriebsstrategie fir das Produkt von
dem Konzepteur bestatigen lassen; ein Vertriebs-
unternehmen, welches MiFID Il unterliegt, tragt
indes weiterhin dafiir die Verantwortung, seine
eigene Zielmarktbestimmung im Hinblick auf die
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte durchzufiihren
(entweder durch die Ubernahme oder durch die
Prazisierung der Zielmarktbestimmung des
Konzepteurs) und angemessene Vertriebskanéle
zu bestimmen.]

[Die folgende Bestimmung findet Anwendung, wenn
die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte in der Schweiz
vertrieben werden:

Die in diesen Endgultigen Bedingungen beschrie-
benen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte stellen

To be included for offers which are not exempt from the Prospectus Directive and which are not distributed
directly by Société Générale (as manufacturer) to the end-clients as part of the primary distribution.

Aufzunehmen fiir Angebote, die nicht von der Prospektrichtlinie befreit sind und die nicht direkt von der Société
Générale (als Konzepteur) an die Endkunden als Teil eines Primarvertriebs vertrieben werden.
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meaning of the Swiss Federal Act on Collective
Investment Schemes (CISA). Therefore, the
Leveraged and Tracking Products are not subject
to authorisation and supervision by the Swiss
Financial Market Supervisory Authority FINMA
(FINMA), and investors in the Leveraged and
Tracking Products will not benefit from protection
under the CISA or supervision by FINMA. Investors
in the Leveraged and Tracking Products will bear a
credit risk on [the Issuer of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products] [the Guarantor].

[The following language applies unless the Leveraged
and Tracking Products may be publicly offered and
distributed in Switzerland:

The Leveraged and Tracking Products must not be
publicly offered, sold or advertised, directly or
indirectly in and in addition, may be distributed in
Switzerland exclusively to “Qualified Investors” as
defined in the CISA and related provisions of the
Collective Investment Scheme Ordinance (see also
section Subscription, Sale and Transfer Restric-
tion in the Base Prospectus, as supplemented from
time to time).]]

[Legend to be included if the Leveraged and
Tracking Products potentially constitute “pack-
aged” products and no key information document
will be prepared or the issuer wishes to prohibit
offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason,
in which case the selling restriction should be
specified to be “Applicable™

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL
INVESTORS - The Leveraged and Tracking
Products are not intended to be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to and should not be
offered, sold or otherwise made available to any
retail investor in the European Economic Area
(EEA). For these purposes, a retail investor means
a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client
as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive
2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID 1l); or (i) a

customer within the meaning of Directive
2016/97/EU (as amened or superseded, the
Insurance Distribution Directive), where that

customer would not qualify as a professional client
as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
(iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the
Prospectus Directive. Consequently no key
information document required by Regulation (EU)
No 1286/2014 (as amended, the PRIIPs Regulation)
for offering or selling the Leveraged and Tracking
Products or otherwise making them available to
retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and
therefore offering or selling the Leveraged and
Tracking Products or otherwise making them
available to any retail investor in the EEA may be
unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]

keine Beteiligung an einer kollektiven Kapital-
anlage im Sinne des Schweizerischen Bundes-
gesetzes Uber die kollektiven Kapitalanlagen
(KAG) dar. Daher unterliegen die Faktor- und

Partizipationsprodukte keiner Zulassung und
Beaufsichtigung durch die Eidgendssische
Finanzmarktaufsicht FINMA (FINMA) und
profitieren Anleger der Faktor- und

Partizipationsprodukte nicht von den im KAG
vorgesehenen SchutzmafRnahmen oder von einer
Beaufsichtigung durch die FINMA. Anleger der
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind einem
Kreditrisiko in Bezug auf [die Emittentin der
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte] [die Garantin]
ausgesetzt.

[Die folgende Bestimmung findet Anwendung, sofern
die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte nicht in der
Schweiz vertrieben werden durfen:

Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte dirfen in
der Schweiz weder direkt noch indirekt dffentlich
angeboten, verkauft oder bekannt gemacht werden
und durfen zudem in der Schweiz ausschlie3lich
an ,,Qualifizierte Anleger* im Sinne des KAG und
damit verbundener Bestimmungen der Kollektiv-
anlagenverordnung (siehe auch den Abschnitt
Zeichnungs-, Verkaufs- und Ubertragungsbe-
schrankungen des Basisprospekts in der jeweils
erganzten Fassung) vertrieben werden.]]

[Hinweistext einfligen, falls die Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukte ,verpackte® Produkte darstellen
und kein Basisinformationsblatt (key information
document — KID) erstellt wird oder die Emittentin
aus anderen Grunden keine Angebote an EWR-
Privatinvestoren anstrebt; in diesem Fall sollten
die Verkaufsbeschrankungen als ,,Anwendbar“
angegeben werden:

VERTRIEBSVERBOT AN PRIVATINVESTOREN IM
EWR - Die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sind
nicht dazu bestimmt, dass sie Privatinvestoren im
Européischen Wirtschaftsraum (,EWR") ange-
boten, verkauft oder auf anderem Wege zur
Verfugung gestellt werden und dementsprechend
Privatinvestoren im EWR nicht angeboten,
verkauft oder auf anderem Wege zur Verfligung
gestellt werden. Ein Privatinvestor im Sinne dieser
Vorschrift ist eine Person, die mindestens einer
der folgenden Kategorien zuzuordnen ist: (i) ein
Kleinanleger im Sinne von Artikel 4 Absatz 1
Nummer 11 von Richtlinie 2014/65/EU (in der
jeweils gultigen Fassung, MIiFID Il); (ii) ein Kunde
im Sinne von Richtlinie 2016/97/EU (in der jeweils
glltigen Fassung, Insurance Distribution Directive
(Versicherungsvermittlungs-richtlinie)), der nicht
als professioneller Kunde im Sinne von Artikel 4
Absatz 1 Nummer 10 MiFID Il einzustufen ist; oder
(iii) ein Anleger, der kein qualifizierter Anleger ist
im Sinne der Prospektrichtlinie. Folglich wurde
kein Informationsdokument, wie nach Verordnung
(EU) Nr.1286/2014 (in der jeweils gdltigen
Fassung, PRIIPS Verordnung) fir Angebote,
Vertrieb und die sonstige Zurverfigungstellung
der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte an
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[Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the
Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of
Singapore, as modified or amended from time to
time (the SFA) - In connection with Section 309B of
the SFA and the Securities and Futures (Capital
Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the
CMP Regulations 2018), the Issuer has determined,
and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in
Section 309(A)(1) of the SFA), that the Leveraged and
Tracking Products are prescribed capital markets
products (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018)
and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS
Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment
Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on
Recommendations on Investment Products)]?

Privatinvestoren erforderlich, erstellt und dem-
entsprechend kénnte das Angebot, der Vertrieb
oder die sonstige Zurverfugungstellung von
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten an Privat-
investoren nach der PRIIPs-Verordnung unzu-
lassig sein.

[Mitteilung gemaR Section 309B(1)(c) des Securities
and Futures Act (Kapitel 289) von Singapur, wie
von Zeit zu Zeit geadndert oder neu gefasst (der
SFA) — Im Zusammenhang mit Section 309B des SFA
und der Securities and Futures (Capital Markets
Products) Regulations 2018 von Singapur (die CMP
Verordnungen 2018), hat die Emittentin bestimmt,
und teilt hiermit allen mafgeblichen Personen
(,relevant persons®) (wie in Section 209(A)(1) des SFA
definiert) mit, dass die Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte  vorgeschriebene Kapitalmarkt-produkte
(»prescribed capital market products*) (wie in den CMP
Verordnungen 2018 definiert) und Ausgeschlossene
Anlageprodukte (,Excluded Investment Products*) sind
(wie in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Mitteilung Uber den
Verkauf von Anlageprodukten (,Notice on the Sale of
Investment Products®) und MAS Notice FAA-N16:
Mitteilung Uber Empfehlungen zu Anlageprodukten
(,Notice on Recommendations on Investment
Products*“ definiert))]®

To be included if Leveraged and Tracking Products are offered in Singapore and the classification differs from that specified

on the cover page of this Base Prospectus.

Einfligen, falls Faktor- und Partzipationsprodukte in Singapur angeboten werden und sich die Klassifizierung von derjenigen
unterscheidet, die auf dem Deckblatt des Basisprospekts angegeben ist.
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[SOCIETE GENERALE][SG ISSUER] [SOCIETE
GENERALE EFFEKTEN GMBH]3

Legal entity identifier (LEI):
[O2RNESIBXP4R0TD8PUA41/
549300QNMDBVTHX8H127/
529900W18LQJIN6SI336]

Issue of [Aggregate number of Leveraged and
Tracking Products] [Title of Leveraged and
Tracking Products]

[Unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by
Société Générale]

under the

Daily Leveraged and Tracking Products Issuance
Programme

PART A - CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as
such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions set
forth under the heading [“Terms and Conditions of the
English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products ]
[“Terms and Conditions of the German Law Leveraged
and Tracking Products”] [in the base prospectus dated
17 July 2019] [as supplemented by [inserted by
supplement dated [e]][, which are incorporated by
reference in the base prospectus dated 17 July 2019]
and to which the Leveraged and Tracking Products
shall be subject] [(which constitutes a Base
Prospectus for the purposes of article 5.4 of the
Prospectus Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended or
superseded, the Prospectus Directive) as amended].
This document constitutes the Final Terms of [the]
[each Issue of] Leveraged and Tracking Products
described herein [for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the
Prospectus Directive and Article 8.4 of the loi
luxembourgeoise relative aux prospectus pour valeurs
mobilieres dated 10 July 2005, as amended, which
implements the Prospectus Directive] and must be
read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus [and
[any][each] supplement thereto and any other
supplement published prior to the Issue Date (as
defined below) (Supplement(s))]; provided, however,
that to the extent such Supplement (i) is published after
these Final Terms have been signed or issued and (ii)
provides for any change to the Terms and Conditions
as set out under the heading [“Terms and Conditions
of the English Law Leveraged and Tracking Products
"l [Terms and Conditions of the German Law
Leveraged and Tracking Products”], such change(s)
shall have no effect with respect to the terms and
conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products to
which these Final Terms relate. Full information on
the Issuer, [the Guarantor] and the offer of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products is only available
on the basis of the combination of these Final
Terms, the Base Prospectus and any
Supplement(s). Prior to acquiring an interest in the

3

3

Delete as applicable.
Unzutreffendes bitte streichen.

[SOCIETE GENERALE][SG ISSUER] [SOCIETE
GENERALE EFFEKTEN GMBH]3

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI):
[O2RNES8IBXP4R0OTD8PU41/
549300QNMDBVTHX8H127/
529900W18LQJIJIN6SI336]

Emission von [Gesamtzahl der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte] [Bezeichnung der Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukte]

[Unbedingt und unwiderruflich garantiert durch
die Société Générale]

im Rahmen des

Daily Leveraged and Tracking Products Issuance
Programme

TEIL A - VERTRAGLICHE BEDINGUNGEN

Begriffe, die in diesen Endglltigen Bedingungen ver-
wendet werden, haben dieselbe Bedeutung wie in den
Emissionsbedingungen im Abschnitt [,Emissions-
bedingungen der Englischrechtlichen Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte®] [,Emissionsbedingungen der
Deutschrechtlichen Faktor- und Partizipationspro-
dukte“] [im Basisprospekt vom 17. Juli 2019] [in der
durch den Nachtrag/die Nachtrdge vom [e] gednderten
Fassung] [, die durch Verweis in den Basisprospekt
vom 17. Juli 2019 einbezogen sind,] und denen die
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte unterliegen] [(der
einen Basisprospekt im Sinne von Artikel 5 Absatz 4
der Prospektrichtlinie 2003/71/EG, wie geandert oder
ersetzt, die Prospektrichtlinie) in der jeweils geander-
ten Fassung darstellt]. Dieses Dokument bildet die
Endgliltigen Bedingungen [der] [jeder Emission von]
darin beschriebenen Faktor- und Partizipationspro-
dukte(n) [fur die Zwecke von Artikel 5 Absatz 4 der
Prospektrichtlinie und Artikel 8.4 der loi luxem-
bourgeoise relative aux prospectus pour valeurs
mobilieres vom 10. Juli 2005 in der jeweils geltenden
Fassung (Gesetz zur Umsetzung der Prospektricht-
linie)] und ist in Verbindung mit dem Basisprospekt
[und [einem etwaigen] [jedem] Nachtrag dazu und
etwaigen sonstigen Nachtragen, die vor dem
Emissionstag (wie nachstehend definiert) veroffentlicht
wurden (der Nachtrag/die Nachtrage),] zu lesen; falls
ein entsprechender Nachtrag jedoch (i) nach dem
Datum der Unterzeichnung oder Veréffentlichung
dieser Endglltigen Bedingungen verdffentlicht wird
und (i) Anderungen an den Emissionsbedingungen im
Abschnitt [,Emissionsbedingungen der
Englischrechtlichen Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte®] [,Emissionsbedingungen der
Deutschrechtlichen Faktor- und Partizipationspro-
dukte“] vorsieht, hat/haben die Dbetreffende(n)
Anderung(en) keine Auswirkungen auf die Bedingun-
gen der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte, auf die
sich diese Endglltigen Bedingungen beziehen.
Vollstandige Informationen Uber die Emittentin[,
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Leveraged and Tracking Products described herein,
prospective investors should read and understand the
information provided in these Final Terms, the Base
Prospectus and any Supplement(s) and be aware of
the restrictions applicable to the offer and sale of such
Leveraged and Tracking Products in the United States
or to, or for the account or benefit of, persons that are
not Permitted Transferees.

[The Leveraged and Tracking Products described
herein are Private Placement Leveraged and Tracking
Products, meaning that they are not (i) offered to the
public in the EEA for the purposes of article 3.1 of the
Prospectus Directive as amended (except as specified
under article 3.2 of the Prospectus Directive) or (ii)
admitted to trading on a Regulated Market in the EEA
for the purposes of article 3.3 of the Prospectus
Directive.]

A summary of the Leveraged and Tracking Products
(which comprises the summary in the Base Prospectus
as amended to reflect the provisions of these Final
Terms) is annexed to these Final Terms*. Copies of the
Base Prospectus, any Supplement(s) and these Final
Terms are available for inspection from the head office
of the Issuer|[, the Guarantor], the specified offices of
the Paying Agents and, [in the case of Leveraged and
Tracking Products admitted to trading on the
Regulated Market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange,]
[on the website of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange ()] [in
the case of Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted
to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange,] [on the website of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu)] [in the case of
Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to trading
on a Regulated Market in Denmark] [on the website of
the Issuers (www.societegenerale.se)] [in the case of
Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to trading
on a Regulated Market in France] [on the website of
the Issuers (www.sgbourse.fr)] [in the case of
Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to trading
on a Regulated Market in Germany] [on the website of
the Issuers (www.sg-zertifikate.de)] [in the case of
Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to trading
on a Regulated Market in the United Kingdom] [on the
website of the Issuers (etp.societegenerale.co.uk)] [in
the case of Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted
to trading on a Regulated Market in Sweden] [on the
website of the Issuers (www.societegenerale.se)] [in
the case of Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted
to trading on a Regulated Market in Finland] [on the
website of the Issuers (www.societegenerale.fi)] [in the

4

4

die Garantin] und das Angebot der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte sind nur verfiigbar, wenn
diese Endgiltigen Bedingungen, der Basis-
prospekt und etwaige Nachtrage zusammen-
genommen werden. Vor dem Erwerb einer Be-
teiligung an den in diesen Endgultigen Bedingungen
beschriebenen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten
sollten potenzielle Anleger die Angaben in diesen
Endgultigen Bedingungen, dem Basisprospekt und
etwaigen Nachtragen lesen und verstehen und sich
der Beschrankungen bewusst sein, die fir das
Angebot und den Verkauf dieser Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukte in den Vereinigten Staaten oder an
oder zugunsten von Personen, die keine Zugelas-
senen Ubertragungsempfanger sind, oder fiir deren
Rechnung gelten.

[Bei den in diesen Endgiiltigen Bedingungen beschrie-
benen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten handelt es
sich um Privat Platzierte Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte, das heif3t sie (i) werden nicht im Rahmen
eines Offentlichen Angebots im Sinne von Artikel 3
Absatz 1 der Prospektrichtlinie in der jeweils ge-
anderten Fassung im EWR angeboten (mit Ausnahme
der in Artikel 3 Absatz 2 der Prospektrichtlinie auf-
gefuhrten Angebotsformen) und (ii) sind nicht zum
Handel an einem Geregelten Markt im Sinne von
Artikel 3 Absatz 3 der Prospektrichtlinie im EWR
zugelassen.]

Eine Zusammenfassung der Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte (bestehend aus der Zusammenfassung
im Basisprospekt in der jeweils zur Beriicksichtigung
der Bestimmungen dieser Endgultigen Bedingungen
geanderten Fassung) ist diesen Endglltigen Be-
dingungen beigefligt®. Exemplare des Basisprospekts,
etwaiger Nachtrédge und dieser Endgtltigen Bedingun-
gen kénnen am Sitz der Emittentin[, der Garantin], den
angegebenen Geschéaftsstellen der Zahlstellen und [im
Fall von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten, die zum
Handel am Geregelten Markt der Frankfurter Wert-
papierbdrse zugelassen sind] [auf der Website der
Frankfurter Wertpapierbérse ()] [im Fall von Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukten, die am Geregelten Markt
der Luxemburger Wertpapierbdérse zum Handel
zugelassen sind] [auf der Website der Luxemburger
Wertpapierbdrse (www.bourse.lu)] [im Fall von Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukten, die an einem Geregelten
Markt in Danemark zum Handel zugelassen sind]
[auf der Website der Emittentinnen]
(www.societegenerale.se)] [im Fall von Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukten, die an einem Geregelten
Markt in Frankreich zum Handel zugelassen sind] [auf
der Website der Emittentinnen] (www.sgbourse.fr)] [im
Fall von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten, die an
einem Geregelten Markt in Deutschland zum Handel
zugelassen sind] [auf der Website der Emittentinnen]
(www.sg-zertifikate.de)] [im Fall von Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukten, die zum Handel an einem
Geregelten Markt im Vereinigten Konigreich zum
Handel zugelassen sind] [auf der Website der
Emittentinnen (www.sglistedproducts.co.uk)] [im Fall
von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten, die an einem

Delete in the case of Private Placement Leveraged and Tracking Products.
Streichen, falls es sich um Privat Platzierte Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte handelt.
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case of Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to
trading on a Regulated Market in Spain] [on the
website of the Issuers (www.sgbolsa.es)] [in the case
of Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to
trading on a Regulated Market in Italy] on the website
of the Issuers (www.prodotti.societegenerale.it)] [in the
case of Leveraged and Tracking Products admitted to
trading on a Regulated Market in the Netherlands]
[on the website of the Issuers
www.beurs.societegenerale.nl)].

Any reference in these Final Terms to “General Terms
and Conditions” is deemed to be a reference to “Terms
and Conditions of the English Law Leveraged and
Tracking Products” when the governing law of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products is English law or
“Terms and Conditions of the German Law Leveraged
and Tracking Products” when the governing law of the
Leveraged and Tracking Products is German law.

[In case of public offer continuing after the validity of
the Base Prospectus: The Base Prospectus expires on
17 July 2020. The updated base prospectus and the
subsequent base prospectuses will be available on the
website(s) referred to above.]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as
“Not applicable”. Distinguish, where necessary,
between Leveraged and Tracking Products of different
Issues. Note that the numbering should remain as set
out below, even if “Not applicable” is indicated for
individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote
guidance for completing the Final Terms. If “Not
applicable” is specified in respect of a paragraph, the
remaining sub-paragraph(s) shall be deleted.]

[When completing final terms, consideration should be
given as to whether such terms or information
constitute “significant new factors” and consequently
trigger the need for a Supplement to the Base
Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus
Directive.]

[Any reference in the applicable Final Terms to any
date expressed under the form ‘DD/MM/YYYY” shall
be deemed to be a reference to any date expressed
under the form “Day/Month/Year’]

[If several Issues of Leveraged and Tracking Products
are to be issued or offered simultaneously in one set of
Final Terms, the separate paragraphs of the Final
Terms will contain within them all relevant information

Geregelten Markt in Schweden zum Handel zuge-
lassen sind] [auf der Website der Emittentinnen
(www.societegenerale.se)] [im Fall von Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukten, die an einem Geregelten
Markt in Finnland zum Handel zugelassen sind]
[auf der Website der Emittentinnen
(www.societegenerale.fi)] [im Fall von Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukten, die an einem Geregelten
Markt in Spanien zum Handel zugelassen sind] [auf der
Website der Emittentinnen (www.sgbolsa.es)] [im Fall
von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten, die an einem
Geregelten Markt in Italien zum Handel zugelassen
sind] auf der Website der Emittentinnen
(www.prodotti.societegenerale.it)] [im Fall von Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukten, die an einem Geregelten
Markt in den Niederlanden zum Handel zugelassen
sind] [auf der Website der Emittentinnen
www.beurs.societegenerale.nl)] eingesehen werden.

Verweise in diesen Endgiltigen Bedingungen auf
»Allgemeine Emissionsbedingungen® gelten als Ver-
weise auf ,Emissionsbedingungen der Englischrecht-
lichen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte®, wenn die
Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte englischem Recht
unterliegen, oder auf ,Emissionsbedingungen der
Deutschrechtlichen Faktor- und Partizipationspro-
dukte®, wenn die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
deutschem Recht unterliegen.

[Im Fall eines offentlichen Angebots, das Uber die
Gultigkeit des Basisprospekts hinaus fortbesteht: Der
Basisprospekt lauft am 17 Juli 2020 aus. Der aktuali-
sierte Basisprospekt und der nachfolgende Basis-
prospekt werden auf der/den vorstehend genannten
Website(s) verfiigbar sein.]

[Alle der folgenden Bedingungen, die anwendbar sind,
aufnehmen oder anderenfalls als ,Nicht anwendbar”
kennzeichnen. Unterscheidung, sofern erforderlich,
zwischen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten ver-
schiedener Emissionen. Dabei ist zu beachten, dass
die nachstehende Nummerierung beizubehalten ist,
auch wenn einzelne Absatze oder Unterabsatze als
,Nicht anwendbar® gekennzeichnet sind. Kursiv
gesetzte Textteile sind Anweisungen zur Vervoll-
standigung der Endgultigen Bedingungen. Falls fir
einen Absatz ,Nicht anwendbar” angegeben ist, wird
der verbleibende Unterabsatz/werden die verbleiben-
den Unterabséatze gestrichen.]

[Bei der Vervollstandigung von endgliltigen Bedingun-
gen ist zu beriicksichtigen, ob es sich bei den betref-
fenden Bedingungen oder Angaben um ,wesentliche
neue Faktoren“ handelt, die folglich einen Nachtrag
zum Basisprospekt gemafl Artikel 16 der Prospekt-
richtlinie erforderlich machen.]

[Verweise in den anwendbaren Endgultigen Be-
dingungen auf ein Datum in dem Format , TT.MM.JJJJ*
gelten als Verweise auf ein Datum in dem Format
»1ag.Monat.Jahr“]

[Falls mit einem Satz Endglltiger Bedingungen
mehrere Emissionen von Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkten gleichzeitig begeben oder angeboten
werden, enthalten die einzelnen Absatze der End-
glltigen Bedingungen alle mafigeblichen Informa-
tionen, die in diesen Absétzen im Zusammenhang mit
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required by such paragraphs in relation to each
separate Issue of Leveraged and Tracking Products]

jeder einzelnen Emission von Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukten vorgeschrieben sind.]

1. Security Wertpapierkenn-
identification nummer(n):
code(s):
ISIN code: [Insert the code] [As ISIN-Code: [Code einfligen] [Wie im

specified in the “An-
nex for Multi-Series”
attached hereto]

beigefiigten ,Anhang fur
Mehrere Serien® ange-
geben]

Common code:

[Insert the code] [As
specified in the “An-
nex for Multi-Series”
attached hereto]

Common Code:

[Code einflgen] [Wie im
beigefiigten ,Anhang fur
Mehrere Serien® ange-
geben]

[WKN] [Insert the code] [As [WKN] [Code einfliigen] [Wie im
specified in the “An- beigefiigten ,Anhang flr
nex for Multi-Series” Mehrere Serien® ange-
attached hereto] geben]

2. Date on which the | [Not applicable] [Ap- | Tag, an dem die Faktor- | [Nicht anwendbar] [An-
Leveraged and | plicable as per Con- | und Partizipationspro- | wendbar nach MaRgabe

Tracking Products
become fungible:

diton 15 of the
General Terms and
Conditions. The Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products shall be
consolidated and
form a single issue
with the [insert title of
the Leveraged and
Tracking Products
related to the pre-
vious Issue] with ef-
fect from and inclu-
ding [insert date] [the
Issue Date] [issue
date plus forty days]]

dukte fungibel werden:

von Bedingung 15 der
Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen. Die Faktor-
und  Partizipations-pro-
dukte werden mit
Wirkung vom [Datum
einfugen] [Emissionstag]
[Emissionstag zuziglich
vierzig Tagen] (einsch-

lieBlich) zusammen-
gefihrt und bilden eine
einzige Emission mit

[Bezeichnung der Faktor-
und Partizipationspro-
dukte fur die vorange-
gangene Emission ein-
fugen]]

3. Issuance/Offer  of
Leveraged and
Tracking Products:

Emission/Angebot von
Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukten:

- [Number of Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products:] [Offered
Amount of Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products]

[specify number of
[offered] Leveraged
and Tracking Pro-
ducts]

[As specified in the

“Annex for  Multi-
Series” attached
hereto]

[* The actual Number

of Leveraged and
Tracking Products
depends on the

number of orders re-
ceived by Société
Générale — but is
subject to a size in-
crease or a (partial)

[Anzahl von Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduk-
ten:] [Angebotener Be-
trag von Faktor- und
Partizipationspro-
dukten]

[Anzahl von [angeboten-
en] Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukten an-
geben]

[Wie im beigefugten ,An-
hang fiir Mehrere Serien®
angegeben]

[* Die tatsachliche Anzahl
von Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukten hangt
von der Anzahl der der
Société Générale zuge-
gangenen Auftrdge ab —
allerdings  vorbehaltlich
einer Aufstockung oder
eines (partiellen) Ruck-
kaufs von Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukten
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repurchase of Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products during their
lifetime — limited to
the Number of Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products mentioned
here. On the basis of
this Number of Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products, there can-
not be drawn any con-
clusions in respect of
the liquidity of the
Leveraged and
Tracking Products on
the secondary mar-
ket.]

wahrend ihrer Laufzeit —,
begrenzt auf die hierin
genannte Anzahl von
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukten. Aus
dieser Anzahl von Faktor-
und Partizipationsproduk-
ten sind keine Schluss-
folgerungen hinsichtlich
der Liquiditat der Faktor-
und Partizipationspro-
dukte auf dem Sekundér-
markt zu ziehen.]

Issue Price:

[[[Specify  currency
and amount] per Le-
veraged and Tracking
Product]

[As specified in the

“Annex for  Multi-
Series” attached
hereto]

Emissionspreis:

[[Wéhrung und Betrag
angeben] je Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukt]

[Wie im beigefugten ,An-
hang fur Mehrere Serien®
angegeben]

[Insert the following
subparagraph only if
a Notional Amount is
applicable]:

[Den folgenden Unterab-
satz nur einfiigen, wenn
ein Nominalbetrag an-
wendbar ist.]:

Notional Amount
per Leveraged and
Tracking Product:

[Specify amount]]

Nominalbetrag je
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukt:

[Betrag angeben]]

[Insert the following
subparagraph only if
a Parity is applicable]:

[Den folgenden Unterab-
satz nur einfugen, wenn
eine Paritat anwendbar
ist.]:

[- Parity: [Specify number for | Paritéat: [Zahl fiir die Berechnung
use in calculation of des Abwicklungsbetrags
Settlement  Amount fur die Zwecke von Bedin-
for the purposes of gung 5 der Allgemeinen
Condition 5 of the Emissionsbedingungen
General Terms and angeben] [Wie im beige-
Conditions] [As speci- fugten »~Anhang far
fied in the “Annex for Mehrere Serien“ angege-
Multi-Series” at- ben]]
tached hereto]]
4. Issue [Specify date] Emissionstag: [Datum angeben]
Date:[(DD/MM/YYYY [(TT.MM.JJJJ)]
)]
5. Expiration Date: | [The Leveraged and | Verfalltag: [Die Faktor- und Partizi-
[(DDIMM/YYYY)] Tracking Products | [(TT.MM.JJJJ)] pationsprodukte sind
are Open-ended Le- Faktor- und Partizipa-

veraged and Tracking
Products. Condition
5.13 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions applies.]

tionsprodukte mit unbe-
grenzter Laufzeit. Bedin-
gung 5.13 der Allge-
meinen Emissionsbedin-
gungen findet Anwen-
dung.]
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[Specify date for the
purposes of Condition
3.2 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions]

[As specified in the

“Annex for  Multi-
Series” attached
hereto]

[Datum fir die Zwecke
von Bedingung 3.2 der
Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen angeben.]

[Wie im beigefugten ,An-
hang fiir Mehrere Serien*
angegeben]

Settlement Date:
[(DD/IMMIYYYY)]

[As set out in Condi-
tion 5 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions][Specify date for
the  purposes  of
Condition 5 of the
General Terms and
Conditions] [The Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products are Open-
ended Leveraged and
Tracking Products]

Abwicklungstag:
[(TT.MM.JJJJ)]

[Wie in Bedingung 5 der
Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen angegeben]
[Datum fir die Zwecke
von Bedingung 5 der All-
gemeinen Emissionsbe-
dingungen angeben] [Die

Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte sind
Faktor- und Partizi-

pationsprodukte mit un-
begrenzter Laufzeit.]

(i) Status of Le- | [Unsecured] [In case | (i) Rang der Faktor- | [Unbesichert] [Nur bei
veraged and | of Secured Lever- und Partizipations- | von der SG Issuer bege-
Tracking Pro- | aged and Tracking produkte: benen Besicherten
ducts: Products Issued by Faktor- und Partizipa-

SG Issuer only: Se- tionsprodukten: Be-
cured. See paragraph sichert.  Siehe nach-
22 ,Secured Lever- stehenden Absatz 22
aged and Tracking ,Bestimmungen fir Be-
Products Provisions* sicherte  Faktor- und
below.] Partizipationsprodukte®]

(if) Type of Le- | [Notes] [[Call][Put] | (ii) Art der Faktor- und | [Schuldverschreibunge
veraged and | Warrants] as set out Partizipationspro- n] [[Call-][Put-] Options-
Tracking Pro- | in condition 3.1 of the dukte: scheine] wie in Bedin-
ducts: Terms and Condi- gung 3.1 der Emissions-

tions of the English
Law Leveraged and
Tracking  Products]

[Certificates] [[Call]
[Put] Warrants] as
set out in condition
3.1 of the Terms and
Conditions of the
German Law Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products]

bedingungen der Eng-
lischrechtlichen  Faktor-
und Partizipationsproduk-
te dargelegt]

[Zertifikate] [[Call-][Put-
] Optionsscheine] wie in
Bedingung 3.1 der Emis-
sionsbedingungen  der
Deutschrechtlichen
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte dargelegt]

(iii) Type of Struc-
tured Leveraged
and Tracking
Products:

The Leveraged and
Tracking Products
are [Share Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [Depositary
Receipts Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [Index Lin-
ked Leveraged and

(iii)Art der Strukturier-
ten Faktor- und
Partizipationspro-
dukte:

Die Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukte sind
[Aktienbezogene Faktor-
und Partizipationsproduk-
te] [Depositary Receipts-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte]

[Indexbezogene Faktor-
und Partizipationsproduk-

Tracking  Products] te] [SGI-Indexbezogene
[SGI Index Linked Faktor- und Partizipa-
Leveraged and tionsprodukte] [Referenz-
Tracking  Products] satzbezogene Faktor-
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[Reference Rate Lin-
ked Leveraged and
Tracking  Products]
[Foreign  Exchange
Rate Linked Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products] [Com-
modity Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [ETF Lin-
ked Leveraged and
Tracking Products
and ETP Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [Future
Linked Leveraged
and Tracking Produc-
ts].

The provisions of the
following  Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions apply:

[Additional Terms and
Conditions for Share
Linked Leveraged
and Tracking Produc-
ts and Depositary
Receipts Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions for Index Linked
Leveraged and
Tracking  Products]
[SGI Index Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions for Reference
Rate Linked Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions for Foreign Ex-
change Rate Linked
Leveraged and
Tracking  Products]
[Additional Terms and
Conditions for Com-
modity Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions for ETF Linked
Leveraged and
Tracking Products
and ETP Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions  for  Future
Linked Leveraged
and Tracking Pro-
ducts].

und Partizipationspro-
dukte] [Wechselkursbe-
zogene Faktor- und Parti-
zipationsprodukte]

[Rohstoffbezogene

Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte] [ETF-be-
zogene Faktor- und Parti-
zipationsprodukte und
ETP-bezogene  Faktor-
und Partizipations-
produkte] [Futurebe-
zogene  Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte].

Die Bestimmungen der
folgenden  Zusatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen
sind anwendbar:

[Zusatzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fir Aktien-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte
und Depositary Receipts-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte]
[Zusatzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fiir Index-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte]
[SGI-Indexbezogene
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte] [Zusatz-
liche Emissionsbedingun-
gen fur Referenzsatzbe-
zogene Faktor- und Parti-
zipationsprodukte]  [Zu-
séatzliche  Emissionsbe-
dingungen fir Wechsel-
kursbezogene Faktor-
und Partizipationsproduk-
te] [Zusatzliche Emis-
sionsbedingungen far
Rohstoffbezogene
Faktor- und  Partizi-
pationsprodukte] [Zuséatz-
liche Emissionsbedingun-
gen fiur ETF-bezogene
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte und ETP-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte]
[Zusétzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fiir Future-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte].
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(iv) Reference of the | The Leveraged and | (iv) Produktreferenz: Die Faktor- und Partizi-
Product: Tracking Products pationsprodukte  folgen
follow the condition der Bedingung[2.1 -
[2.1 — Multiplicative Multiplikative Formel] [2.2
Formula] [2.2 - — Additive Formel] der
Additive Formula] of Zusatzlichen Emissions-
the Additional Terms bedingungen zu Formeln.
and Conditions rela-
ting to Formulae.
The Leveraged and Die Faktor- und Partizi-
Tracking Products pationsprodukte basieren
are based on the [3.1 auf der [3.1 — [Fixed Daily
—[Fixed Daily Lever- Leveraged or Tracking
aged or Tracking Strategy Bear] [oder]
Strategy Bear] [or] [Fixed Daily Leveraged or
[Fixed Daily Lever- Tracking Strategy [Bull]
aged or Tracking [Tracker]] [3.2 — Fixed
Strategy [Bull] [Tra- Daily Leveraged or Track-
cker]] [3.2 - Fixed ing Strategy auf Futures —
Daily Leveraged or [Methodik 1] [Methodik 2]
Tracking Strategy on [Methodik 3]].
Futures — [Metho-
dology 1] [Metho-
dology 2] [Metho-
dology 3]].
[With Add-on relating [Mit Add-on zu Globalen
to Global Factors ap- Faktoren gemaR Bedin-
plicable as per Condi- gung 1.1.4 der Zusatz-
tion 1.1.4 of the Addi- lichen Emissionsbedin-
tional Terms and gungen zu Formeln]
Conditions relating to
Formulae]
PROVISIONS RELATING TO AMOUNT(S) | BESTIMMUNGEN ZU DEM/DEN IM RAHMEN DER

PAYABLE UNDER THE
TRACKING PRODUCTS

LEVERAGED AND

FAKTOR- UND

PARTIZIPATIONSPRODUKTE

ZAHLBAREN BETRAG/BETRAGEN

8.

Cash
Amount:

Settlement

Unless previously
exercised or cancel-
led, each Leveraged
and Tracking Product
shall entitle the Le-
veraged and Tracking
Product Holder to
receive an amount on
the Settlement Date
equal to the Cash
Settlement Amount,
which is determined
by the Calculation
Agent as follow:

[for Call Warrants]
[Final Settlement Pri-
ce — Exercise Price]
[for Put Warrants]

[Exercise Price - Final
Settlement Price]

Barausgleichsbetrag:

Sofern ein Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukt
nicht zuvor ausgeubt oder
eingezogen wurde, be-
rechtigt jedes Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukt den
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsproduktinhaber am
Abwicklungstag zum Er-
halt eines Betrags in
Hohe des Barausgleichs-
betrags, der von der Be-
rechnungsstelle festge-
stellt wird als:

[fir Call-Optionsscheine]
[Endgultiger Abwick-
lungspreis — Ausulibungs-
preis]

[fir Put-Optionsscheine]

[Auslibungspreis — End-

gultiger Abwicklungs-
preis]
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[for Notes]

[Final Settlement
Price]

[If Absolute Floor
applies, insert the
following:]

[provided further that
the Cash Settlement
Amount shall, in any
case, be at higher
than or equal to the
Absolute Floor as
further descrybed in
Condition 5.1 of the
General Terms and
Conditions]

[far Schuldverschrei-
bungen]

[Endgultiger Abwick-
lungspreis]

[Falls Absoluter Floor gilt,
Folgendes einflgen:]

[zudem mit der Mal3gabe,
dass der Barausgleichs-
betrag in jedem Fall
héher als der Absolute
Floor — der in Bedin-
gung 5.1 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen

naher erlautert wird — ist
oder diesem entspricht.]

Final
Price:

Settlement

Unless previously
exercised or cancel-
led in accordance
with the Terms and
Conditions, the Final
Settlement Price for
each Leveraged and
Tracking Product will
be determined as
follow:

[Replicate  relevant
formula]

Endgultiger
Abwicklungspreis:

Sofern ein Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukt
nicht zuvor gemafl den
Emissionsbedingungen
ausgelibt oder einge-
zogen wurde, wird der
Endgiiltige Abwicklungs-
preis fur jedes Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukt
folgendermaRen festge-
stellt.

[Maf3gebliche Formel
wiedergeben]

Variable Data:

[As set out in Con-
dition 4.4.1. of the
Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Formulae]

[Specify Variable
Data if different from
the default values
determined in Condi-
tions 4.4.1. of the
Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Formulae]

- Variablen:

[Wie in Bedingung 4.4.1
der Zusatzlichen Emis-
sionsbedingungen zZu
Formeln dargelegt]

[Variable angeben, falls
von den in Bedingung
4.4.1 der Zusétzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen
zu Formeln festgestellten
Standardwerten ab-
weichend]

Applicable
Rate:

[As set out in Condi-
tion 4.6 of the Addi-
tional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Formulae]

[Specify  Applicable
Rate if different from
the parameters deter-
mined in Condition
4.6.2. of the Addi-
tional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Formulae]

- Anwendbarer
Referenzsatz:

[Wie in Bedingung 4.6 der
Zusétzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen zu Formeln
dargelegt]

[Anwendbaren Referenz-
satz angeben, falls von
den in Bedingung 4.6.2
der Zusatzlichen Emis-
sionsbedingungen zZu
Formeln  festgestellten
Parametern abweichend]
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[ -%CommissionRate

[Specify rate] [As
specified in the “An-
nex for Multi-Series”
attached hereto]]

[-Provisionssatz in %

[Satz angeben] [Wie im
JAnhang fir Mehrere
Serien” in diesem Pros-
pekt angegeben]]

[ %CollatCostRate

[Specify rate] [As
specified in the “An-
nex for Multi-Series”
attached hereto]]

[ Sicherungskostensatz
in %

[Satz angeben] [Wie im
beigefiigten ,Anhang fur
Mehrere Serien® ange-
geben]]

[ %QuantoRate

[Specify rate] [As
specified in the “An-
nex for Multi-Series”
attached hereto]]

[ QuantoSatz in %

[Satz angeben] [Wie im
beigefiigten ,Anhang fur
Mehrere Serien® ange-
geben]]

[
%Gap&ReplicationRa
te

[Specify rate] [As
specified in the “An-
nex for Multi-Series”
attached hereto]]

[ Gap&Replikationssatz
in %

[Satz angeben] [Wie im
beigefiigten ,Anhang fur
Mehrere Serien® ange-
geben]]

[if an Add-on is used in the determination of the
Final Settlement Price, add the necessary line(s)
in order to set out this Add-on]

[Falls ein Add-on bei der Feststellung des Endgiiltigen
Abwicklungspreises verwendet wird, die erforder-
liche(n) Zeile(n) einfigen, um das Add-on darlegen zu

konnen]

10. | Exercise Price: [Specify currency and | Auslbungspreis: [Wé&hrung und Betrag an-
amount] [apply only geben] [nur auf Options-
for Warrants] scheine anwenden]

11. | Leverage [If Bear, Leverage < 0 | Hebel [Bei Bear wird ein Hebel
is expected; If [Bull] von < 0 erwartet; bei [Bull]
[Tracker], Leverage [Tracker] wird ein Hebel
>0 is expected] von >0 erwartet]
[Specify  Leverage] [Hebel angeben] [Wie im
[As specified in the beigefiigten ,Anhang fir
“‘“Annex for  Multi- Mehrere Serien® ange-
Series” attached geben]
hereto]

12. | Leveraged or Faktor- oder Partizipa-

Tracking Strategy:

tionsstrategie:

- Variable Data: | [As set out in Con- - Variablen: [Wie in Bedingung 4.4.2
dition 4.4.2. of the der Zusatzlichen Emis-
Additional Terms and sionsbedingungen zZu
Conditions relating to Formeln dargelegt]
Formulae]
[Specify Variable [Variable angeben, falls
Data if different from von den in Bedingung
the default values 4.4.2 der Zusétzlichen
determined in Condi- Emissionsbedingungen
tions 4.4.2. of the zu Formeln festgestellten
Additional Terms and Standardwerten ab-
Conditions relating to weichend]
Formulae]

- Applicable [As set out in Con- - Anwendbarer [Wie in Bedingung 4.6 der

Rate: dition 4.6 of the Addi- Referenzsatz: Zusétzlichen Emis-

tional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Formulae]

[Specify  Applicable
Rate if different from
the default values

sionsbedingungen zZu
Formeln dargelegt]

[Anwendbaren Referenz-
satz angeben, falls von
den in Bedingung 4.6 der
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determined in Condi-
tion 4.6 of the Addi-

tional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Formulae]

Zusatzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen zu Formeln
festgestellten Standard-
werten abweichend]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO UNDERLYING

BESTIMMUNGEN FUR DEN BASISWERT

13. (i) Underlying: The following [Share
and Depositary Re-
ceipts / Index / SGI
Index [/ Reference
Rate / Foreign Ex-
change Rate / Com-
modity / ETF and ETP
/ Future] as defined

below:

(i) Basiswert: Der/Die folgende [Aktie
und Depositary Receipts /
Index / SGI Index / Re-
ferenzsatz / Wechselkurs
/ Rohstoff / ETF und ETP
/ Future], wie nach-

stehend definiert:

[Where the underlying is a security need to
include the name of the issuer of the security
and the International Securities Identification
Number (ISIN) or equivalent identification
number.

Where the underlying is an index, include the
name of the index and the address of the
website on which a complete set of rules
relating to such index can be found. If the index
is not composed by the Issuer, need to include
details of where the information about the
index can be obtained. In case of SGI Linked
Leveraged and Tracking Products, if Advised
SGI Index is applicable, need to specify.

Where the underlying is an interest rate,
include a description of the interest rate.

Where the underlying does not fall within the
categories specified above, the applicable
Final Terms shall contain equivalent infor-
mation.

Where the underlying is a Future, need to
disclose the Future, the Future underlying, the
Active Future Contract, the Next Active Future
Contract, the Exchange.

4

[As specified in the “Annex for Multi-Series’
attached hereto]

[Falls der Basiswert ein Wertpapier ist, Namen des
Emittenten des Wertpapiers und International Securi-
ties Identification Number (ISIN) oder vergleichbare
Kennnummer einfuigen.

Falls der Basiswert ein Index ist, Bezeichnung des
Index und Adresse der Website, auf der die voll-
standigen Bestimmungen fiir diesen Index einzusehen
sind, einfigen. Falls der Index nicht von der Emittentin
zusammengestellt wird, sind Angaben daruber zu
machen, wo Informationen tber den Index erhaltlich
sind. Im Fall von SGI-bezogenen Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukten, falls Beratener SGI Index anwend-
bar ist, spezifizieren.

Falls der Basiswert ein Zinssatz ist, Beschreibung des
Zinssatzes einfligen.

Falls der Basiswert nicht in eine der vorstehenden
Kategorien fallt, sind in den anwendbaren Endgltigen
Bedingungen vergleichbare Angaben zu machen.

Sofern der Basiswert ein Future ist, sind der Future,
der Future-Basiswert, der Aktive Future-Kontrakt, der
Nachste Aktive Future-Kontrakt, die Borse anzugeben.

[Wie im beigefugten ,Anhang fiir Mehrere Serien®
angegeben]

(if) Information re- | [Not applicable]
lating to the past | [Need to include
and future per- | details of the relevant
formances of the | website or screen

Underlying(s)
and volatility:

page where infor-
mation on past and
future  performance
and volatility can be
obtained, as specified
in paragraph Under-

(i) Angaben zur his- | [Nicht anwendbar] [Es
torischen und | sind Angaben zur mafR-
kinftigen Wertent- | geblichen Website oder
wicklung und | Bildschirmseite zZu

Volatilitdt des/der
Basiswert(e)(s):

machen, auf der Informa-
tionen Uber die histori-
sche und zukinftige
Wertentwicklung und
Volatilitdt erhéltlich sind,
wie im vorstehenden Ab-

lying above.] satz ,Basiswert” angege-
ben.]
(iii) Provisions  re- | [Not applicable] (iii) Bestimmungen [Nicht anwendbar]
lating, amongst u.a. zu dem/den
others, to the | The provisions of the Marktstérungser- Die Bestimmungen der
Market Disrup- | following  Additional eignis(sen) und/ | folgenden  Zusatzlichen
tion Event(s)
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and/or
tion
and/or

Disrup-
Event(s)
Extraor-
dinary Event(s)
and/or Moneti-
sation until the
Expiration Date
and/or any addi-
tional disruption
event as descri-
bed in the rele-
vant Additional
Terms and Con-
ditions:

Terms and Condi-
tions apply:

Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Formulae [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions for Share Linked
Leveraged and
Tracking Products
and Depositary Re-
ceipts Linked Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions for Index Linked
Leveraged and
Tracking  Products]
[Additional Terms and
Conditions for SGI
Index Linked Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions for Reference
Rate Linked Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions for Foreign Ex-
change Rate Linked
Leveraged and
Tracking  Products]
[Additional Terms and
Conditions for Com-
modity Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions for ETF Linked
Leveraged and
Tracking Products
and ETP Linked Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products] [Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions  for  Future
Linked Leveraged
and Tracking Pro-
ducts]

[Specify if Hedging
Disruption is not ap-
plicable]

[Specify if Increased
Cost of Hedging is not
applicable]

[Specify if Stop-Loss
Event is not appli-
cable]

oder Stérungserei-
gnis(sen) und/oder
AuRBerordentlichen
Ereignis(sen) und/
oder zur Monetari-
sierung bis zum
Verfalltag und/
oder zu etwaigen
in den maRgeb-
lichen Zusatz-
lichen Emissions-
bedingungen be-
schriebenen  zu-
satzlichen Stdrun-
gen:

Emissionsbedingungen
sind anwendbar:

Zusatzliche Emissionsbe-
dingungen zu Formeln
[Zusétzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fir Aktien-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte

und Depositary Receipts-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte]

[Zusétzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fiir Index-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte]

[Zusétzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fir SGI-
Indexbezogene Faktor-
und Partizipationspro-
dukte] [Zuséatzliche Emis-
sionsbedingungen fur
Referenzsatzbezogene

Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukte] [Zuséatz-
liche Emissionsbedingun-
gen fir Wechselkursbe-
zogene Faktor- und Parti-
zipationsprodukte]  [Zu-
séatzliche  Emissionsbe-
dingungen fir Rohstoff-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte]

[Zusatzliche Emissions-
bedingungen fir ETF-
bezogene Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte

und ETP-bezogene
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte] [Zusatz-

liche Emissionsbedingun-
gen fur Futurebezogene

Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte]
[Angeben, falls  Ab-

sicherungsstérung nicht
anwendbar ist.]

[Angeben, falls Erhohte
Absicherungskosten nicht
anwendbar sind.]

[Angeben, falls Stop-
Loss-Ereignis nicht an-
wendbar ist.]

(iv) Other
tion
the
lying(s):

informa-
relating to
Under-

[Not applicable] [In-
formation or sum-
maries of information
included herein with

(iv) Sonstige Informa-
tionen Uber den/
die Basiswert(e):

[Nicht anwendbar] [In
diesen Endgultigen Be-
dingungen enthaltene In-
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respect to the Under-
lying(s), has been ex-
tracted from general
databases released
publicly or by any
other available infor-
mation. [Each of the
Issuer and the Gua-
rantor] [The Issuer]
confirms that such
information has been
accurately repro-
duced and that, so far
as it is aware and is
able to ascertain from
information pub-
lished, no facts have
been omitted which

formationen oder Zusam-
menfassungen von Infor-
mationen in Bezug auf
den/die Basiswert(e)
stammen aus Offentlich
freigegebenen, allge-
meinen Datenbanken
oder aus sonstigen frei
zuganglichen  Informa-
tionsquellen. [Sowohl die
Emittentin als auch die
Garantin] [Die Emittentin]
bestatigt/bestatigen, dass
diese Informationen zu-
treffend wiedergegeben
wurden, und, soweit
ihnen/ihr dies bekannt ist
und sie dies anhand der

would render the verdffentlichten Informa-
reproduced informa- tionen Uberprifen kén-
tion inaccurate or nen/kann, keine Tat-
misleading.] sachen ausgelassen
wurden, die dazu fuhren
wirden, dass die wieder-
gegebenen Informa-
tionen ungenau oder irre-
fuhrend werden.]
PROVISIONS RELATING TO DATES BESTIMMUNGEN FUR DIE TAGE
14. Definitions relating | [Not applicable] | Begriffsbestimmungen | [Nicht anwendbar]
to date(s): [Applicable] in Bezug auf einen/ | [Anwendbar]

mehrere Tag(e):

Valuation Date(s)

[As set out in Condi-
tion 4.5 of the
Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Formulae]

Bewertungstag(e)

[Wie in Bedingung 4.5 der
Zusatzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen zu Formeln
dargelegt]

[Angeben, falls von den in

[Specify if different Bedingung 4.5  festge-
from the default stellten  Standardwerten
values determined in abweichend]
Conditions 4.5]
[NB: Add as many lines as necessary] [Anm.: Weitere Zeilen nach Bedarf einfligen]
[- Insert any rele- | [Insert date(s)]] [- etwaige(n) malgeb- | [Tag(e) einfigen]]
vant date(s): liche(n) Tag(e) ein-
figen:
EXERCISE AND SETTLEMENT PROVISIONS AUSUBUNGS- UND ABWICKLUNGSBESTIM-
MUNGEN
15. Automatic Exercise: | [Applicable] [Not | Automatische [Anwendbar] [Nicht
applicable] Ausiibung: anwendbar]

[Insert the following 2
subparagraphs only
if the Leveraged and
Tracking Products
are to be listed on the
Italian Stock Exchan-

gel:

[Die folgenden 2 Unterab-
satze nur einfugen, wenn
die Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte an der
italienischen Wertpapier-
borse notiert werden
sollen]:
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- [Waiver of | [Applicable] [Not - [Verzicht auf | [Anwendbar] [Nicht
Automatic applicable] Automatische anwendbar]

Exercise at Auslibung am
Exercise Date: AuslUbungstag:

- Location of | [Specify if different - Ort des Musters | [Angeben, falls ab-
form of Waiver | from Condition [3.3.8] der weichend von Bedingung
Notice: of the Terms and Verzichtserklaru | [3.3.8] der Emissionsbe-

Conditions of the ng: dingungen der Englisch-
English Law Lever- rechtlichen Faktor- und
aged and Tracking Partizipationsprodukte]
Products] [Not appli- [Nicht anwendbar]]
cable]]

- Event-linked [Not applicable] - Ereignisbe- [Nicht anwendbar] [An-
Early Expira- | [Applicable in accor- zogener Vor- | wendbar nach MaRgabe
tion: dance with Condition zeitiger Verfall: von Bedingung 5.10 der

5.10 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions ]

Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen]]

[Insert the following
subparagraphs only
if Event-linked Early
Expiration is appli-
cable |:

[Den folgenden Unterab-
satzen nur einfiigen, falls
der Ereignisbezogene
Vorzeitige Verfall an-
wendbar ist]:

(i) Early Expiration
Event:

[Specify if applicable]

(i) Vorzeitiges
Verfallsereignis:

[Angeben, falls anwend-
bar]

(if) Event-linked
Early Settlement
Amount:

[Specify if applicable]

(if) Ereignisbezogener
Vorzeitiger
Abwicklungsbetrag:

[Angeben, falls anwend-
bar]

(iii) Event-linked
Early Settlement
Price:

[Specify if applicable]
[The Event-linked
Early Settlement
Price for each Lever-
aged and Tracking
Product will be deter-
mined as follows:]

[Replicate  relevant

formula]

(iii) Ereignisbezogener
Vorzeitiger
Abwicklungspreis:

[Angeben, falls anwend-
bar] [Der Ereignisbe-
zogene Vorzeitige Ab-
wicklungspreis fur jedes
Faktor- und  Partizi-
pationsprodukt wird fol-

gendermalen festge-
stellt:]
[Maf3gebliche Formel

wiedergeben]

(iv) Event-linked
Early Expiration
Period:

[Specify if applicable]

(iv)Ereignisbezogener
Vorzeitiger Ver-
fallszeitraum:

[Angeben, falls anwend-
bar]

(v) Event-linked
Early Expiration
Date
[(DD/IMM/YYYY)]

[Specify if applicable]

(v) Ereignisbezogener
Vorzeitiger Verfall-
tag [(TT.MM.JJJJ)]

[Angeben, falls anwend-
bar]

(vi) Event-linked
Early Settlement
Date:

[Specify if applicable]

(vi)Ereignisbezogener
Vorzeitiger Ab-
wicklungstag:

[Angeben, falls anwend-
bar]

[(DD/IMM/YYYY)] [(TT.MM.JJJ3J)]
16. Settlement [Specify Currency] Abwicklungswahrung: [Wé&hrung angeben]
Currency:
[Currency con- | [If the Settlement Cur- | [Wahrungsumstellung [Falls die Abwicklungs-
version in accor- | rency is the Currency | nach  MalRgabe von | wahrung die Wahrung

dance with Condi-
tion 1 of the General

of a European country

eines europaischen
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Terms and Condi-
tions:

and this currency is
not EUR :]

[Applicable]
Otherwise

[Not applicable] ]

Bedingung 1 der Allge-
meinen Emissions-
bedingungen:

Landes, jedoch nicht der
Euro ist:]

[Anwendbar]
Anderenfalls

[Nicht anwendbar]]

[Conversion Rate:

If the Cash Settle-
ment Currency is
different from the
currency of the Cash
Settlement Amount:

[As set out in Condi-
tion 5.1 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions] [Specify appli-
cable rate]

If the Cash Settle-
ment Currency is the
same as the currency
of the Cash Settle-
ment Amount:

[Not applicable] ]

[Wechselkurs:

Falls die Barausgleichs-
wahrung von der
Wahrung des Baraus-
gleichsbetrags abweicht:

[Wie in Bedingung 5.1 der
Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen dargelegt]
[Anwendbaren Referenz-
satz angeben]

Falls die Barausgleichs-
wahrung der Wahrung
des Barausgleichsbe-
trags entspricht:

[Nicht anwendbar]]

[Substitute Con-

version Rate:

If the Cash Settle-
ment Currency is
different from the
currency of the Cash
Settlement Amount:

[As set out in Condi-
tion 5.1 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions] [Specify appli-
cable rate]

If the Cash Settle-
ment Currency is the
same as the currency
of the Cash Settle-
ment Amount:

[Not applicable] ]

[Ersatzwechselkurs:

Falls die Barausgleichs-
wahrung von der
Wahrung des Baraus-
gleichsbetrags abweicht:

[Wie in Bedingung 5.1 der
Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen dargelegt]
[Anwendbaren Referenz-
satz angeben]

Falls die Barausgleichs-
wahrung der Wahrung
des Barausgleichsbe-
trags entspricht:

[Nicht anwendbar]]

17.

Optional Early Expi-
ration at the option
of the Issuer:

[Applicable as per
Condition 5.6 of the
General Terms and

Optionaler Vorzeitiger
Verfall nach Wahl der
Emittentin:

[Anwendbar nach MaR-
gabe von Bedingung 5.6
der Allgemeinen Emis-

Conditions] [Not sionsbedingungen] [Nicht
applicable] anwendbatr]

[ (i) Optional Early | [Not applicable] | (i) Optionaler Vorzeiti- | [Nicht anwendbar] [Fest-
Settlement [Determined in accor- ger  Abwicklungs- | gestellt nach Malgabe
Amount: dance with [Option 1] betrag: von [Option 1] [Option 2]

[Option 2] [Option 3] [Option 3] von Bedingung
of Condition 5.6 of the 5.6 der Allgemeinen
General Terms and Emissionsbedingungen][
Conditions][Specify Betrag angeben]
amount]
(ii) Optional  Early | [Not applicable] | (ii) Optionaler [Nicht anwendbar] [Fest-
Settlement [Determined in accor- Vorzeitiger gestellt nach MaRgabe
Price: dance with [Option 1] Abwicklungspreis: von Option 1] [Option 2]

[Option 2] [Option 3]

[Option 3] von Bedingung
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of Condition 5.6 of the
General Terms and

5.6 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen]

Conditions] [Specify [Preis angeben]
price]

(iii)Optional  Early | [Applicable] / [Not | (iii)Optionaler Vorzeiti- | [Anwendbar]/[Nicht an-
Expiration in | applicable] [If Not ger Teilweiser Ver- | wendbar] [Falls nicht
Part: applicable, please fall: anwendbar, die folgen-

delete the following den Unterabsatze bitte
sub-paragraphs] streichen]

- Minimum [Not applicable] - Mindestanzahl [Nicht anwendbar] [An-
Number  of | [Specify applicable von Faktor- und | wendbare Anzahl von
Leveraged number of Leveraged Partizipations- Faktor- und  Partizi-
and Tracking | and Tracking Pro- produkten, die | pationsprodukten fur die
Products ducts for the pur- dem Optionalen | Zwecke von Bedingung
subject to | poses of Condition Vorzeitigen Ver- | 5.6.2 der Allgemeinen
Optional 5.6.2 of the General fall nach Wahl | Emissionsbedingungen
Early Expi- | Terms and Condi- der  Emittentin | angeben]

ration at the
option of the

tions]

unterliegen:

Issuer:

- Maximum [Not applicable] - Maximale Anzahl | [Nicht anwendbar] [An-
Number  of | [Specify applicable von Faktor- und | wendbare Anzahl von
Leveraged number of Leveraged Partizipations- Faktor- und  Partizi-
and Tracking | and Tracking Pro- produkten, die | pationsprodukten fur die
Products ducts for the pur- dem Optionalen | Zwecke von Bedingung
subject to | poses of Condition Vorzeitigen Ver- | 5.6.2 der Allgemeinen
Optional 5.6.2 of the General fall nach Wahl | Emissionsbedingungen
Early Expi- | Terms and Condi- der  Emittentin | angeben]

ration at the
option of the

tions]

unterliegen:

Issuer:
(iv)Optional  Early | [Specify date for the | (iv) Optionaler Vor- | [Datum fir die Zwecke
Settlement purposes of Condition zeitiger Abwick- | von Bedingung 5.6 der

Valuation Date:

5.6 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions]

lungs-Bewertungs-
tag:

Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen angeben]

(v) Notice Period:

[Specify period for the
purposes of Condition
5.6.3 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions]

(v) Kindigungsfrist:

[Zeitraum flr die Zwecke
von Bedingung 5.6.3 der
Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen angeben]

(vi) Optional  Early
Expiration Date:
[(DD/IMM/YYYY)]

[Specify date for the
purposes of Condition
5.6.3 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions]

(vi)Optionaler Vorzeiti-
ger Verfalltag:
[(TT.MM.JJJJ)]

[Datum fur die Zwecke
von Bedingung 5.6.3 der
Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen
angeben]

(vii) Optional Early
Settlement Date:
[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[Specify date for the
purposes of Condition
5.6 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions]]

(vii) Optionaler Vor-
zeitiger  Abwick-
lungstag:

[(TT.MM.JJ3J)]

[Datum fur die Zwecke
von Bedingung 5.6 der
Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen angeben]]

18.

Optional Early Expi-
ration at the option
of the Leveraged
and Tracking Pro-
duct Holder:

[Applicable as per
Condition 5.7 of the
General Terms and
Conditions][Not
applicable]

Optionaler Vorzeitiger
Verfall nach Wahl des
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsproduktinhabers:

[Anwendbar nach MaR-
gabe von Bedingung 5.7
der Allgemeinen Emis-
sionsbedingungen] [Nicht
anwendbar]
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Tracking Pro-
ducts subject
to Optional
Early Expi-

and Tracking Produc-
ts for the purposes of
Condition 5.7.4 of the
General Terms and

produkten, die
dem Optionalen
Vorzeitigen Ver-
fall nach Wahl

(i) Optional Early | [Not applicable] | (i) Optionaler Vorzeiti- | [Nicht anwendbar] [Fest-
Settlement [Determined in accor- ger  Abwicklungs- | gestellt nach Maligabe
Amount: dance with [Option betrag: von [Option 1][Option 2]

1][Option 2][Option 3] [Option 3] von Bedingung
of Condition 5.7 of the 5.7 der Allgemeinen
General Terms and Emissionsbedingungen]
Conditions][Specify [Betrag angeben]
amount]
[Insert if Option 2 has [einfiigen, falls Option 2
been selected:] ausgewahlt wurde:]
[where Optional Early [wobei die Gebihr fur den
Expiration Fee is set Optionalen  Vorzeitigen
to [Specify amount] Verfall gemafl Bedingung
as per Condition 5.7.1 5.7.1 der Allgemeinen
of the General Terms Emissionsbedingungen
and Conditions]] auf [Betrag angeben]
festgelegt ist]]

(ii) Optional  Early | [Not applicable] | (ii) Optionaler Vorzeiti- | [Nicht anwendbar] [Fest-
Settlement [Determined in accor- ger  Abwicklungs- | gestellt nach Malgabe
Price: dance with [Option preis: von  Option 1][Option 2]

1][Option 2][Option 3] [Option 3] von Bedingung
of Condition 5.7 of the 5.7 der Allgemeinen
General Terms and Emissionsbedingungen]
Conditions] [Specify [Preis angeben]

price]

(iii)Optional  Early | [Applicable] / [Not | (iii)Optionaler Vorzeiti- | [Anwendbar]/[Nicht an-
Expiration in | applicable] [If Not ger Teilweiser Ver- | wendbar] [Falls nicht
Part: applicable, please fall: anwendbar, die folgen-

delete the following den Unterabsatze bitte
sub-paragraphs] streichen]
- Minimum [Not applicable] — Mindestanzahl [Nicht anwendbar] [An-
Number of | [Specify  applicable von Faktor- und | wendbare Anzahl von
Leveraged and | number of Leveraged Partizipations- Faktor- und Partizi-

pationsprodukten fir die
Zwecke von Bedingung
5.7.4 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen

ration at the | Conditions] des Faktor- und | angeben]

option of the Partizipations-

Leveraged and produktinhabers

Tracking Pro- unterliegen:

duct Holder:

- Maximum [Not applicable] - Maximale Anzahl | [Nicht anwendbar] [An-
Number of | [Specify  applicable von Faktor- und | wendbare Anzahl von
Leveraged and | number of Leveraged Partizipations- Faktor- und Partizi-

Tracking Pro-
ducts subject
to Optional
Early Expi-
ration at the
option of the
Leveraged and

and Tracking Produc-
ts for the purposes of
Condition 5.7.4 of the
General Terms and
Conditions]

produkten, die
dem Optionalen
Vorzeitigen Ver-
fall nach Wahl
des Faktor- und
Partizipations-

produktinhabers

pationsprodukten fir die
Zwecke von Bedingung
5.7.4 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen
angeben]

Tracking Pro- unterliegen:
duct Holder:

(iv)Optional  Early | [Specify date for the | (iv)Optionaler Vorzeiti- | [Datum fir die Zwecke
Settlement purposes of Condition ger  Abwicklungs- | von Bedingung 5.7 der
Valuation Date: | 5.7 of the General Bewertungstag: Allgemeinen Emissions-
[(DD/MM/YYYY)] | Terms and Condi- [(TT.MM.JJJJ)] bedingungen angeben]

tions]
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(v) Notice Period:

[Specify period for the
purposes of Condition
5.7.2 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions]

(v) Kindigungsfrist:

[Zeitraum fir die Zwecke
von Bedingung 5.7.2 der
Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen angeben]

(vi) Optional  Early
Expiration Date:
[(DD/MM/YYYY)]

[Specify date for the
purposes of Condition
5.7 of the General
Terms and
Conditions]

(vi)Optionaler Vorzeiti-
ger Verfalltag:
[(TT.MM.JJJJ)]

[Datum fir die Zwecke
von Bedingung 5.7 der
Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen angeben]

(vii) Optional Early | [Specify date for the | (vii) Optionaler Vor- | [Datum fur die Zwecke
Settlement Date: | purposes of Condition zeitiger  Abwick- | von Bedingung 5.7 der
5.7 of the General lungstag: Allgemeinen Emissions-
Terms and Condi- bedingungen angeben]]
tions]]

19. Trigger early settle- | [Applicable as per | Ausléser der vorzeiti- | [Anwendbar nach MaR-
ment at the option | Condition 5.8 of the | gen Abwicklung nach | gabe von Bedingung 5.8
of the Issuer General Terms and | Wahl der Emittentin: der Allgemeinen Emis-

Conditions] [Not sionsbedingungen] [Nicht
applicable] anwendbar]
[Insert the following subparagraph only if the | [Folgende Unterabsétze nur einfiigen, wenn die
Outstanding Amount Trigger Level is different | Ausléseschwelle in Bezug auf den Ausstehenden
from 10% as specified in Condition 5.8 of the | Betrag von den in Bedingung 5.8 der Allgemeinen
General Terms and Conditions] Emissionsbedingungen angegebenen 10 % abweicht]
[- Outstanding | [Specify relevant | [- Ausléseschwelle in | [MaRgebliche Schwelle
Amount Trigger | level]] Bezug auf den Aus- | angeben]]
Level: stehenden Betrag:
- Early Trigger Level | [As per Condition 5.8 | - Zahlbare(r) Vorzeiti- | [Nach MafRgabe von
Settlement of the General Terms | ge(r) Ausldseschwelle- | Bedingung 5.8 der Allge-
Amount(s) payable: | and Conditions] [Not | Abwicklungsbetrag/- meinen Emissionsbe-
applicable] betrége: dingungen] [Nicht an-
wendbar]

20. Cancellation for | [Applicable as per | Einziehung aus auf- | [Anwendbar nach MaR-
regulatory reasons | [Condition 5.2] [and] | sichtsrechtlichen gabe von [Bedingung 5.2]
and/or tax reasons | [Condition 5.3] of the | und/oder steuerlichen | [und] [Bedingung 5.3] der
and/or Force Ma- | General Terms and | Grinden und/oder auf- | Allgemeinen Emissions-

jeure Event and/or
at the option of the
Calculation Agent
pursuant to the
relevant Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions:

Conditions] [and the
Additional Terms and
Conditions specified
in  paragraph 13

above (Provisions
relating, amongst
others, to the Market
Disruption  Event(s)
and/or Disruption
Event(s) and/or
Extraordinary

Event(s) and/or

Monetisation until the
Expiration Date and/
or any additional dis-

ruption event as
described in the
relevant  Additional

Terms and Condi-
tions)]]

[Cancellation will not
apply [for the pur-
poses of [Condition
5.2] [and] [Condition

grund eines Ereignis-
ses Hoherer Gewalt
und/oder nach Wahl der
Berechnungsstelle ge-
mafR den maRgeblichen
Zusétzlichen Emis-
sionsbedingungen:

bedingungen] [und der in
vorstehendem Absatz 13
(Bestimmungen im Zu-
sammenhang mit dem/
den Marktstérungs-
ereignis(sen)  und/oder
Stdrungsereignis(sen)
und/oder  AufRerordent-
lichen Ereignis(sen)
und/oder der Mone-
tarisierung bis zum Ver-
falltag und/oder einem
etwaigen zuséatzlichen
Stdrungsereignis, wie in
den malRgeblichen Zu-
satzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen  beschrie-
ben, u. a.) angegebenen
Zusatzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen]]

[Einziehung ist nicht an-
wendbar [fUr die Zwecke
von [Bedingung 5.2] [und]
[Bedingung 5.3] der
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5.3] of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions] [and for the pur-
poses of the Addi-
tional Terms and
Conditions specified
in  paragraph 13

above (Provisions
relating, amongst
others, to the Market
Disruption  Event(s)
and/or Disruption
Event(s) and/or
Extraordinary

Event(s) and/or

Monetisation until the
Expiration Date and/
or any additional dis-
ruption event as
described in the rele-
vant Additional Terms
and Conditions)]]

[If cancellation
applies for the pur-
poses of Condition
5.3 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions: Condition 6.2 of

the General Terms
and Conditions will
apply]

[If cancellation does
not apply for the
purposes of Condition
5.3 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions: Condition 6.2 of
the General Terms
and Conditions will

not apply]
[Monetisation with
Early Termination

Option of the Lever-
aged and Tracking
Product Holder
applies, except for
Force Majeure Event
or Event of Default]

Allgemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen] [und fur die
Zwecke der in vor-
stehendem Absatz 13
(Bestimmungen im Zu-
sammenhang mit dem/
den Marktstérungs-
ereignis(sen)  und/oder
Storungsereignis(sen)
und/oder  AuRerordent-
lichen Ereignis(sen)
und/oder der Monetari-
sierung bis zum Verfalltag
und/oder einem etwaigen
zusétzlichen  Stérungs-
ereignis, wie in den
mafgeblichen  Zusatz-
lichen Emissionsbe-
dingungen beschrieben,
u. a.) angegebenen Zu-
satzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen]]

[Falls Einziehung fur die
Zwecke von Bedingung
5.3 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen
anwendbar ist: Bedin-
gung 6.2 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen
ist anwendbar]

[Falls Einziehung fir die
Zwecke von Bedingung
5.3 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen
nicht anwendbar ist:
Bedingung 6.2 der All-
gemeinen Emissions-
bedingungen ist nicht
anwendbar]

[Monetarisierung mit Vor-
zeitiger Kiindigungs-
option des Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduktin-

habers ist anwendbar,
auler bei einem Ereignis
Hoherer Gewalt oder
einem Kindigungsgrund]

21. Provisions appli- Bestimmungen far
cable to payment Zahlungstag(e):
date(s):
- Payment [Following Payment - Zahlungs- [Folgender Zahlungsge-
Business Day: | Business Day] [Modi- geschéftstag: schaftstag] [Modifizierter
fied Following Pay- Folgender Zahlungsge-
ment Business Day] schéftstag]

[NB: Amend “Payment Business Day” defi-
nition if payment is to be made on 25 Decem-
ber as Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxem-
bourg do not settle payments on such day.]

[Anm.: Begriffsbestimmung

von ,Zahlungsgeschéfts-

tag” andern, falls eine Zahlung am 25. Dezember zu
leisten ist, da Euroclear und Clearstream, Luxemburg
an diesem Tag keine Zahlungen abwickeln.]
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[NB:

“Payment Business Day” election in
accordance with Condition [English law: 4.7]
[German law: 4.3] of the General Terms and

[Anm.: Spezifizierung ,Zah

lungsgeschaftstag” geman

Bedingung [englisches Recht; 4.7] [deutsches Recht:
4.3] der Allgemeinen Emissionsbedingungen]

Conditions]
- Financial [Insert the financial — Finanzplatz [Finanzplatz (Finanz-
Centre(s): centre(s)] (Finanzplatze): platze) einfligen]
PROVISIONS RELATING TO SECURED | BESTIMMUNGEN IN BEZUG AUF BESICHERTE

LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS

FAKTOR- UND PARTIZIPATIONSPRODUKTE

22.

Secured Leveraged
and Tracking Pro-
duct Provisions:

[Not applicable]
[Applicable, subject to
the provisions of the
Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Secured Leveraged
and Tracking Produc-
ts]

Bestimmungen fir Be-
sicherte Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte:

[Nicht anwendbar] [An-
wendbar, vorbehaltlich
der Bestimmungen der
Zusatzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen fir Be-
sicherte  Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte]

[Falls nicht anwendbar,

[Max (MV, NV) Colla-
teralisation] [Min (MV,
NV) Collateralisation]

[If Not applicable, die weiteren Unterab-
delete the remaining sétze streichen)
subparagraphs]
[(i)) Collateral [Specify for the pur- | [(i)) Sicherheitenpool: [Fir die Zwecke von Be-
Pool: poses of Conditions 1 dingung 1 und 2.4.1 der
and 2.4.1 of the Addi- Zusétzlichen Emissions-
tional Terms and bedingungen fur Be-
Conditions relating to sicherte  Faktor- und
Secured Leveraged Partizipationsprodukte
and Tracking Produc- angeben]
ts]
(i) Type of Colla- | [Single Series Colla- | (ii) Art des Sicher- | [Sicherheitenpool fur Ein-
teral Pool: teral Pool] [Multiple heitenpools: zelne Serien] [Sicher-
Series Collateral Po- heitenpool fur Mehrere
ol] Serien]
(iii) Type of Colla- | [MV Collateralisation] | (iii) Besicherungsart: [MW-Besicherung] [NW-
teralisation: [NV Collateralisation] Besicherung] [Max (MW,

NW)-Besicherung] [Min
(MW, NW)-Besicherung]

cured Leveraged and
Tracking Products]

- Collateral Valua- | [Not applicable] | - Sicherheitenbe- [Nicht anwendbar] [An-
tion at Nominal | [Applicable] wertung zum Nenn- | wendbar]
Value: wert:
(iv) Eligibility [Specify for the pur- | (iv) Eignungskriterien: | [Fur die Zwecke von Be-
Criteria: poses of Condition 1 dingung 1 der Zuséatz-
of the Additional lichen Emissionsbe-
Terms and Condi- dingungen fur Besicherte
tions relating to Se- Faktor- und Partizipa-

tionsprodukte angeben]

(v) Collateral Rules:

[Specify for the pur-
poses of Condition 1
and 2.4.1 of the
Additional Terms and
Conditions relating to
Secured Leveraged
and Tracking Produc-
ts]

Sicherheiten-
vorschriften:

v)

[FUr die Zwecke von Be-
dingung 1 und 2.4.1 der
Zusétzlichen Emissions-
bedingungen fur Be-
sicherte  Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte
angeben]
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(vi) Collateralisation
Percentage:

[Specify the per-
centage or the
formula for calcula-

ting this percentage]
[Where Max (MV, NV)
Collateralisation  or
Min (MV, NV) Colla-
teralisation is appli-
cable, specify per-
centage level for MV
and NV Collaterali-
sation if different]

[Specify where the
Collateralisation Per-
centage may vary
after a certain date,
following the occur-
rence of a trigger
event or following a
unanimous decision
of the Leveraged and
Tracking Product Hol-
ders]

[Where the Colla-
teralisation Per-
centage may vary
following an unani-
mous decision of the
Leveraged and
Tracking Product Hol-
ders, specify a notifi-
cation period]

(vi) Besicherungs-
prozentsatz:

[Prozentsatz oder Formel
fur die Berechnung des
Prozentsatzes angeben]
[Falls Max (MW, NW)-
Besicherung oder Min
(MW, NW)-Besicherung
anwendbar ist, Hohe des
Prozentsatzes fur MW-
und NW-Besicherung an-
geben, falls abweichend]

[Angeben, falls sich der
Besicherungsprozentsatz
nach einem bestimmten
Tag oder infolge des
Eintritts eines Ausldser-
Ereignisses oder eines
einstimmigen Beschlus-
ses der Faktor- und
Partizipationsproduktinha
ber &ndern kann]

[Falls sich der Be-
sicherungsprozentsatz
infolge eines einstim-
migen Beschlusses der
Faktor- und  Partizi-
pationsproduktinhaber
andern kann, Frist an-
geben]

(vii) Haircuts:

[Not applicable]
[Applicable. [If appli-
cable, specify details
of the haircut to be
applied in relation to
each type or class of
Collateral Asset]]

[NB: Haircuts must be
the same for each
Issue of Secured Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products secured on
the same Collateral
Pool]

(vii) Preisabschléage:

[Nicht anwendbar] [An-
wendbar. [Falls anwend-
bar, Einzelheiten zu dem
auf die einzelnen Arten
oder Klassen von
Sicherungswerten anzu-
wendenden Preisab-
schlag angeben]]

[Anm.:  Preisabschlage
mussen fir jede Emission
Besicherter Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte,
die durch denselben
Sicherheitenpool be-
sichert werden, identisch
sein]

(viii) Collateral Test
Dates:

[Specify for the pur-
poses of Conditions 1
of the Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions relating to Se-
cured Leveraged and
Tracking  Products]
[No periodic Colla-
teral Test Dates]

[NB: If it is intended
that there will be no
periodic adjustments
to the amount of
Collateral Assets in

(viii) Sicherheitentest-
Termine:

[FUr die Zwecke von Be-
dingung 1 der Zusatz-
lichen Emissionsbe-
dingungen fiur Besicherte
Faktor- und  Partizi-
pationsprodukte an-
geben] [Keine regelmafii-
gen Sicherheitentest-Ter-
mine]

[Anm.: Falls keine regel-
maRigen Anpassungen
an der Hohe der
Sicherungswerte fir eine
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respect of a particular
Issue of Secured Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products, specify “No
periodic Collateral
Test Dates’]

[NB: Collateral Test
Dates must be the
same for each Issue
of Secured Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products secured on
the same Collateral
Pool]

bestimmte Emission Be-
sicherter Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte

geplant sind, ,Keine
regelmanigen Sicher-

heitentest-Termine® an-
geben]
[Anm.: Sicherheitentest-

Termine mussen flr jede

Emission Besicherter
Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukte, die

durch denselben Sicher-
heitenpool besichert wer-
den, identisch sein]

(ix) Collateral Sub- | [Not applicable] | (ix) Ersetzung von | [Nicht anwendbar]
stitution: [Applicable] Sicherheiten: [Anwendbar]

(x) Waiver of | [Not applicable] | (x) Rechtsverzicht: [Nicht anwendbar]
Rights: [Applicable] [Anwendbar]

(xi) Early  Termi- | [Market Value as per | (xi) Abwicklungsbe- [Marktwert nach MaR-
nation Settle- | Condition 5.9 [Specify trag bei Vorzeitiger | gabe von Bedingung 5.9
ment Amount | for the purposes of Kindigung nach | [Fir die Zwecke von Be-
following the | Conditions 2.8 of the Eintritt eines | dingung 2.8 der Zusétz-
occurrence of | Additional Terms and Sicherheiten- lichen Emissionsbe-
a Collateral | Conditions relating to stérungsereignis- | dingungen fir Besicherte
Disruption Secured Leveraged ses: Faktor- und Partizipa-
Event: and Tracking Produc- tionsprodukte angeben]

ts]

(xii) Order of Prio- | [The Standard Order | (xii) Rangfolge: [Die Standard-Rangfolge
rity: of Priority (as such (wie in Bedingung 4.5 der

term is defined in Zusétzlichen Emissions-
Condition 4.5 of the bedingungen fir Be-
Additional Terms and sicherte  Faktor- und
Conditions relating to Partizipationsprodukte
Secured Leveraged definiert) ist anwendbar.]
and Tracking Produc- [Etwaige alternative
ts) applies] [Insert any Rangfolge nach MaRga-
alternative Order of be der Begriffsbestim-
Priority pursuant to mung von ,Rangfolge” in
the  definition  of Bedingung 4.5 der Zu-
“Order of Priority” in séatzlichen Emissionsbe-
Condition 4.5 of the dingungen fur Besicherte
Additional Terms and Faktor- und Partizipa-
Conditions relating to tionsprodukte einfuigen]
Secured Leveraged

and Tracking Produc-

ts]

(xiii) Other appli- | [Not applicable] (xiii) Sonstige anwend- | [Nicht anwendbar]
cable options bare Optionen
as per the | [Where the Collateral nach MaRgabe der | [Falls die Wahrung der
Additional Valuation Currency is Zusatzlichen Sicherheitenbewertung
Terms and | Euro, specify where Emissionsbe- der Euro ist, angeben,
Conditions re- | the Collateral Valua- dingungen fiir Be- | falls die Bildschirmseite
lating to Se- | tion Currency Screen sicherte  Faktor- | der Wahrung der Sicher-
cured Lever- | Page and the Colla- und Partizipa- | heitenbewertung und der
aged and | teral Valuation Cur- tionsprodukte: Festgelegte Zeitpunkt flr
Tracking Pro- | rency Specified Time die Wahrung der Sicher-
ducts: differ from the Colla- heitenbewertung von der

teral Valuation Cur-
rency Screen Page
and the Collateral
Valuation  Currency

Bildschirmseite der
Wéahrung der Sicher-
heitenbewertung und
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Specified Time speci-
fied in the Additional
Terms and Condi-
tions relating to Se-
cured Leveraged and
Tracking Products]

[Where the Collateral
Valuation Currency is
other than Euro,
specify the Collateral

Valuation Currency,
the Collateral
Valuation  Currency
Screen Page and the
Collateral Valuation
Currency  Specified
Time]

[Predetermined
Collateral Valuation
Currency Rate of

Exchange is appli-
cable]

[Where Predeter-
mined Collateral
Valuation  Currency

Rate of Exchange is
applicable specify the
predetermined rate of
the Collateral Valua-
tion Currency]

[Specify where a
different  Valuation
Point shall be used]

dem Festgelegten Zeit-
punkt fir die Wahrung der
Sicherheitenbewertung,

die in den Zusatzlichen
Emissionsbedingungen

fur Besicherte Faktor-
und Partizipationspro-
dukte angegeben sind,
abweichen]

[Falls die Wé&hrung der
Sicherheitenbewertung
eine andere Wahrung als
der Euro ist, Wahrung der
Sicherheitenbewertung,
Bildschirmseite der
Wéahrung der Sicher-
heitenbewertung und
Festgelegten  Zeitpunkt
fur die Wahrung der
Sicherheitenbewertung
angeben]

[Vorher Festgelegter
Wechselkurs der
Wéhrung der Sicher-

heitenbewertung ist an-
wendbar]

[Falls Vorher Festge-
legter Wechselkurs der
Wahrung der Sicher-
heitenbewertung an-
wendbar ist, vorher fest-
gelegten  Wechselkurs
der Wéahrung der Sicher-
heitenbewertung an-
geben]

[Angeben, falls ein ab-
weichender Bewertungs-
zeitpunkt zu verwenden
ist]

GENERAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO | BESTIMMUNGEN IN BEZUG AUF FAKTOR- UND

LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS PARTIZIPATIONSPRODUKTE

23. Reverse Split of | [Applicable as per | Reverse Split von Fak- | [Anwendbar nach MaR-
Leveraged and | Condition 5.4 of the | tor- und Partizipations- | gabe von Bedingung 5.4

Tracking Products

General Terms and

produkten

der Allgemeinen Emis-

Settlement Date:

ket Value as per Con-
dition 5.9]

Abwicklungstag:

Conditions] [Not sionsbedingungen] [Nicht
applicable] anwendbar]
[If not applicable, delete the remaining | [Falls nicht anwendbar, die weiteren Unterabsatze
subparagraphs] streichen]
(i) Reverse Split | [Not applicable] [Mar- | (i) Reverse-Split- [Nicht anwendbar] [Markt-

wert gemafl Bedingung
5.9]

(if) Reverse Split
Notice Period:

[Specify the Reverse
Split Notice Period for
the purposes of Con-

diton 5.4 of the
General Terms and
Conditions]

(if) Mitteilungsfrist  fur
einen Reverse Split:

[Mitteilungsfrist fur einen
Reverse Split fir die
Zwecke von Bedingung
5.4 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen
angeben]
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(iii) Reverse Split
Effective Date:

[Specify  applicable
Reverse Split Effec-
tive Date for the pur-
poses of Condition
5.4 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions.]

(iif) Stichtag des Re-
verse Split:

[Stichtag des Reverse
Split fur die Zwecke von
Bedingung 5.4 der Allge-
meinen Emissionsbe-
dingungen angeben.]

(iv) Reverse
Settlement
Amount:

Split

[Specify Reverse
Split Settlement
Amount for the pur-
poses of Condition
5.4 of the General
Terms and Condi-
tions]

(iv) Reverse-Split-
Abwicklungsbetrag:

[Reverse-Split-Ab-
wicklungsbetrag fur die
Zwecke von Bedingung
5.4 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen
angeben]

24.

Form of the Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products:

[[Registered Global
Securities registered
in the name of a
nominee for a com-
mon depositary for
Euroclear and Clear-
stream, Luxembourg]
[specify] [Clearing
System Global
Securities deposited
with Société Géné-

rale, Sucursal en
Espafia for Iber-
clear.]]

[If German law Le-
veraged and Tracking
Products in materiali-
sed form: Materiali-
sed Leveraged and
Tracking  Products:
Temporary Global
Certificate]

[If EUI Securities: EUI
Securities in  book-
entry form issued,
cleared and settled
through Euroclear UK
& Ireland Limited
(CREST). Direct
CREST Settlement]

[If Uncertificated
Swedish Securities:
Uncertificated Swe-
dish  Securities in
book entry form is-
sued, cleared and
settled through Euro-
clear Sweden in ac-
cordance with the
Swedish Central
Securities Deposi-
taries and Financial
Instruments Accounts
Act (SFS 1998:1479),
as amended]

Form der Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte:

[[Namensglobalurkunden
, die auf den Namen eines
Nominees fiir eine ge-
meinsame Verwahrstelle
fur Euroclear und Clear-
stream, Luxemburg eing-
etragen sind] [angeben]
[Clearingsystem-Global-
urkunde, verwahrt von
der Société Geénérale,
Sucursal en Espafa flr
Iberclear.]]

[Bei Deutschrechtlichen
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukten in  ma-
terialisierter Form: Ma-
terialisierte Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukte:

Vorlaufige Globalur-
kunde]
[Bei EUI-Wertpapieren:

EUI-Wertpapiere in
stlickeloser Form, deren
Begebung, Clearing und
Abwicklung  Uber die
Euroclear UK & Ireland
Limited (CREST) erfol-
gen. Direkte CREST-
Abwicklung]

[Bei Unverbrieften
Schwedischen Wert-
papieren: Unverbriefte
Schwedische Wert-
papiere in stiickeloser
Form, deren Begebung,
Clearing und Abwicklung

gemall dem schwe-
dischen Gesetz Uber
Zentralverwahrer und
Konten far Finanz-

instrumente (SFS 1998:
1479) in der jeweils
geltenden Fassung Uber
die Euroclear Sweden
erfolgen]
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[If Uncertificated Fin-
nish Securities: Un-

certificated  Finnish
Securities in  book
entry form issued,
cleared and settled
through Euroclear
Finland in accor-

dance with the Fin-
nish Act on the Book-
Entry System and
Clearing Operations
(Fi. Laki arvo-osuus-
jarjestelmasta ja
selvitystoiminnasta
749/2012), as amen-
ded and/or re-en-
acted from time to
time, and the Finnish
Act on Book-Entry Ac-
counts (Fi. Laki arvo-
osuustileista
827/1991), as amen-
ded and/or re-en-
acted from time to
time.]

[If Uncertificated
Italian Securities: Un-
certificated Italian Se-
curities in book entry
form issued, cleared
and settled through
[Monte Titoli S.p.A. in
accordance with the
Italian Financial Ser-
vices Act (Legislative
Decree 24 February
1998, No. 58), as
amended] [Specify]

[If Uncertificated Nor-
wegian Securities:
Uncertificated  Nor-
wegian Securities in
book entry form is-
sued, cleared and
settled through the
Verdipapirsentralen

ASA in accordance
with the Norwegian
Financial Securities
Register Act (Act no.
64 2002), as amen-

[Bei Unverbrieften Fin-
nischen  Wertpapieren:
Unverbriefte  Finnische
Wertpapiere in stiicke-
loser Form, deren Be-
gebung, Clearing und
Abwicklung gemaRl dem
finnischen Gesetz Uber
das Effektengirosystem
und Clearing-Geschéfte
(Fi. Laki arvo-osuus-
jarjestelméasta ja selvity-
stoiminnasta 749/2012) in
der jeweils geédnderten
und/oder neugefassten
Fassung und dem fin-
nischen Gesetz Uber
buchméaRige Konten (Fi.
Laki  arvo-osuustileista
827/1991) in der jeweils
geanderten und/oder
neugefassten  Fassung
Uber die Euroclear Fin-
land erfolgen.

[Bei Unverbrieften Italien-
ischen Wertpapieren: Un-
verbriefte Italienische
Wertpapiere in stiicke-
loser Form, deren Be-
gebung, Clearing und
Abwicklung gemaR dem
italienischen Gesetz Uber
Finanzdienstleistungen
(Gesetzesverordnung
vom  24. Februar 1998,
Nr.58) in der jeweils
geltenden Fassung uber
die [Monte Titoli S.p.A.
erfolgen] [Angeben]

[Bei Unverbrieften Nor-
wegischen Wertpapieren:
Unverbriefte Nor-
wegische Wertpapiere in
stlickeloser Form, deren
Begebung, Clearing und
Abwicklung gemal dem
norwegischen Gesetz
Uber die Wertpapierregis-
trierung (Gesetz Nr. 64
2002) in der jeweils
geltenden Fassung Uber
die Verdipapirsentralen

ded] ASA erfolgen]
25. Date of corporate | [Specify date] [Not | Tag der Erteilung der | [Tag angeben] [Nicht
authorisation  ob- | applicable] gesellschaftsrecht- anwendbar]

tained for the is-
suance of Lever-
aged and Tracking
Products:

lichen Erméachtigung fur
die Emission der
Faktor- und Partizipa-
tionsprodukte:
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[NB: If Substitution of the Issuer is Not
applicable, insert the following paragraph:

[Anm.: Falls Ersetzung der

Emittentin nicht anwendbar

ist, den folgenden Absatz einfligen:

26. Substitution of the | [Not applicable] Ersetzung der Emitten- | [Nicht anwendbar]
Issuer: tin:
[NB: if Gross-up provision is Not applicable, | [Anm.: Falls die Bestimmung zum Steuerausgleich
insert the following paragraph: nicht anwendbar ist, den folgenden Absatz einfligen:
27. Taxation: [Gross-up provision is | Besteuerung: [Bestimmung zum

not applicable]

Steuerausgleich ist nicht
anwendbar]

[NB: The Final Terms should be signed by the
Issuer and the Guarantor, as the case may be,
in those jurisdictions where the Issuer and the
Guarantor, as the case may be, is legally
required to sign or where market practice
dictates that it should]

The signature blocks may be deleted in those
jurisdictions where neither of the above
applies.

[Anm.: Die Endglltigen Bedingungen sollten in den-
jenigen Jurisdiktionen, in denen die Emittentin oder die
Garantin rechtlich zur Unterzeichnung verpflichtet ist
oder in denen die Marktpraxis dies verlangt, von der
Emittentin bzw. der Garantin unterzeichnet werden.]

Die Unterschriftenfelder kdnnen fiir Jurisdiktionen, in
denen keine der vorstehenden Erklarungen anwend-

bar ist, gestrichen werden.

[Signed on behalf of

[Unterzeichnet im Namen

the Issuer: der Emittentin:
By: Durch:
Duly authorised] Ordnungsgemarn

bevollmachtigt]

[Signed on behalf of
the Guarantor:

[Unterzeichnet im Namen
der Garantin:

By:

Durch:

Duly authorised]

Ordnungsgeman
bevollm&chtigt]
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PART B — OTHER INFORMATION

TEIL B — SONSTIGE ANGABEN

LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

BORSENNOTIERUNG UND ZULASSUNG ZUM HANDEL

(i) Listing:

[If no listing: None] [Appli-
cation has been made for the
Leveraged and Tracking Pro-
ducts to be listed on [the
official list of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange] [[Specify
other]]

(i) Bdrsennotierung:

[Falls keine  Notierung:
Keine] [Die Zulassung der
Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte zur Notierung [im
amtlichen  Kursblatt  der
Luxemburger  Wertpapier-
boérse] [[Sonstigen Markt
angeben]] wurde beantragt.]

(i) Admission to
trading:

[In the case of a trading on a
non EU regulated market or
where no admission to
trading is to occur: Not
applicable] [Application has
been made for the Leveraged
and Tracking Products to be
admitted to trading on [the
Regulated Market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchan-
ge] [Specify other] with effect
from [or as soon as practi-
cable after] [the Issue Date]]

[There can be no assurance
that the listing and trading
of the Leveraged and
Tracking Products will be
approved with effect on
[the Issue Date] or at all.]

[Where documenting a fun-
gible issue need to indicate
that original securities are
already admitted to trading:]
[[insert title of the Leveraged
and Tracking Products rela-
ted to the previous Issue]
issued on [insert date] are
already admitted to trading on

[e]]

(ii) Zulassung
Handel:

zum

[Im Fall des Handels an
einem geregelten Markt
auBerhalb der EU oder falls
keine Zulassung zum Han-
del erfolgt: Nicht anwendbar]
[Die Zulassung der Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukte
zum Handel am [Geregelten
Markt der Luxemburger
Wertpapierbdrse]  [Sonsti-
gen Markt angeben] mit
Wirkung vom [Emissionstag]
[oder danach, sobald dies
vernunftigerweise  maoglich
wird,] wurde beantragt.]

[Es kann nicht garantiert
werden, dass die No-
tierung und der Handel der
Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkte mit Wirkung vom
[Emissionstag] oder uber-
haupt gebilligt werden.]

[Wird eine fungible Emission
dokumentiert, ist anzuge-
ben, dass die urspriinglichen
Wertpapiere bereits zum
Handel zugelassen sind:]
[[Bezeichnung der Faktor-
und Partizipationsprodukte
fur die vorangegangene
Emission einfigen], bege-
ben am [Emissionstag ein-
fugen], sind bereits zum
Handel an [e] zugelassen]

GOVERNING LAW

[English] [German] law.

ANWENDBARES RECHT

[Englisches]
Recht.

[Deutsches]

RATINGS

RATINGS

The Leveraged and Tracking Products to be issued

have not been rated.

Die zu begebenden Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte
wurden keinem Rating unterzogen.

[If credit ratings are assigned to Leveraged and

Tracking Products at the

request or with the

cooperation of the Issuer in the rating process, need
to include a brief explanation of the meaning of the
rating if this has previously been published by the

rating provider.]

[Falls den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten Ratings auf
Antrag oder unter Mitwirkung der Emittentin im Rating-
verfahren zugewiesen werden, ist eine Kurzerlauterung der
Bedeutung des Ratings einzufiigen, falls dieses zuvor von
der Ratingagentur veréffentlicht wurde.]
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[The above disclosure should reflect the rating
allocated to Leveraged and Tracking Products of the
type being issued under the Programme generally or,
where the issue has been specifically rated, that
rating.]

[Die obigen Angaben sollen das Rating, das Faktor- und
Partizipationsprodukten der im Rahmen des Programms
ausgegebenen Art allgemein zugewiesen wird, oder, sofern
die Emission gesondert bewertet wurde, dieses Rating
wiedergeben.]

[Such credit rating[s] [has been] [are] issued by [a]
credit rating agency]ies] established in the European
Union, registered under Regulation (EC) No
1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the
Council dated 16 September 2009 (as amended) and
are included in the list of credit rating agencies
registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation
published on the European Securities and Markets
Authority’s website (www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-
registered-and-certified-CRAS).]

[Diese[s] Rating[s] [wurde[n]] [wird] [werden] von [einer]
Ratingagentur[en] mit Sitz in der Europaische Union, die
gemal der Verordnung (EG) Nr.1060/2009 des Euro-
paischen Parlaments und des Rates vom 16. Septem-
ber 2009 in der jeweils geltenden Fassung registriert [ist]
[sind] und auf der Liste der Ratingagenturen, die gemaR der
Verordnung tUiber Ratingagenturen (CRA) registriert wurden,
auf der Website der Européischen Wertpapier- und Markt-
aufsichtsbehdrde  (www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-regis-
tered-and-certified-CRAS) verzeichnet [ist] [sind], vergeben.]

INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PER-
SONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE/OFFER

INTERESSEN VONSEITEN NATURLICHER UND JURIS-
TISCHER PERSONEN, DIE AN DER EMISSION/DEM
ANGEBOT BETEILIGT SIND

[Need to include a description of any interest,
including conflicting ones, that is material to the
issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the
nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the
inclusion of the following statement:

[Eine Beschreibung jeglicher Interessen, einschliellich
Interessenkonflikten, die fir die Emission/das Angebot von
wesentlicher Bedeutung sind, wobei die betreffenden
Personen zu nennen sind und die Art der Interessen
darzulegen ist. Gegebenenfalls ist die Aufnahme folgender
Aussage ausreichend:

Save for any fees payable to the Dealer, so ]
[Offeror(s), so] [Dealer and Offerors(s), so] [So] far as
the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue
of the Leveraged and Tracking Products has an
interest material to the offer.]

Soweit der Emittentin bekannt ist, verfiigt [mit Ausnahme
von Gebuhren, die an den Platzeur] [[den][die] Anbieter]
[den Platzeur und [den] [die] Anbieter] zu zahlen sind,] keine
Person, die an der Emission der Faktor- und Partizi-
pationsprodukte beteiligt ist, iber wesentliche Interessen an
dem Angebot.]

[Amend as appropriate if there are other interests and
include references to the Manager(s) if the issue is
syndicated and if applicable.]

[Gegebenenfalls &ndern, falls andere Interessen bestehen,
und Bezugnahmen auf den/die Konsortialfihrer einfugen,
falls die Emission syndiziert ist und falls anwendbar.]

USE OF PROCEEDS, ESTIMATED NET PRO-
CEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES

VERWENDUNG DES ERLOSES, GESCHATZTER EMIS-
SIONSERLOS UND GESCHATZTE GESAMTKOSTEN

(i) Use of pro- | [Specify the use of proceeds] | (i) Verwendung des Er- | [Verwendung des Erloses
ceeds: [Not applicable] l6ses: angeben] [Nicht anwendbar]
(if) Estimated net | [e] [Not applicable] (ii) Geschatzter [e] [Nicht anwendbar]

proceeds:

Emissionserlos:

(iii)Estimated total
expenses:

[#] [Not applicable]

(iii) Geschatzte  Gesamt-

kosten:

[e] [Nicht anwendbar]

PERFORMANCE OF FORMULA, EXPLANATION
OF EFFECT ON VALUE OF INVESTMENT AND
ASSOCIATED RISKS

WERTENTWICKLUNG DER FORMEL, ERLAUTERUNG
DER AUSWIRKUNGEN AUF DEN WERT DER ANLAGE
UND DER DAMIT VERBUNDENEN RISIKEN

[Need to include a clear and comprehensive explana-
tion of how the value of the investment is affected by
the underlying and the circumstances when the risks
are most evident.]

[Es ist eine klare und verstandliche Erlauterung dazu, wie
der Wert der Anlage durch den Wert des Basiswerts beein-
flusst wird, sowie der Umstande, unter denen Risiken am
starksten zum Tragen kommen, einzufiigen.]

OPERATIONAL INFORMATION

ANGABEN ZUR OPERATIVEN ABWICKLUNG

(i) Other security
identification
code(s):

[Not applicable][Applicable]

(i) Sonstige [Nicht anwendbar] [An-
Wertpapierkenn- wendbar]
nummer(n):
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[- Temporary
ISIN code:

[Insert the code]]

[- Vorlaufiger  ISIN-

Code:

[Code einfiigen]]

[- Temporary
Common
code:

[Insert the code]]

[- Vorlaufiger
Common Code:

[Code einfiigen]]

[- [Insert other
security
identificatio
n code]

[Insert the code]]

[- [Sonstige
Wertpapierkennnu
mmer einflgen]

[Code einfiigen]]

[Add as many
lines as neces-

[Weitere Zeilen nach
Bedarf einfligen]

sary]
(ii) Clearing [give name(s) and ad- | (ii) Clearingsystem(e): [Name(n) und Anschrift(en)
System(s): dress(es) of the relevant des/der mafgeblichen
clearing system(s) and, if Clearingsystem(s)(e) und,
required, relevant identifi- falls erforderlich, die mafR-
cation number(s)] [Not appli- gebliche(n) Kennnummer(n)
cable] angeben] [Nicht anwendbar]
(iii)Delivery: [Delivery against] [free of] | (iii) Lieferung: [Lieferung gegen] [frei von]

payment

Zahlung

(iv)Calculation
Agent:

[Société Générale] [Specify
any successor] [Specify
Calculation Agent’s address
for the purposes of [English
law: Condition 16.3] [German
law: Condition 15.3] of the
General Terms and Condi-
tions]

(iv) Berechnungsstelle:

[Die Société Générale] [Et-
waigen  Rechtsnachfolger
angeben] [Anschrift  der
Berechnungsstelle fur [eng-
lisches Recht: Bedingung
16.3] [deutsches Recht: Be-
dingung 15.3] der Allge-
meinen Emissionsbedingun-
gen angeben]

(v) Agent(s):

[Give name(s) and ad-
dress(es) of Paying Agent(s)
(including any additional
agents under Condition 10 of
the General Terms and
Conditions)

[If EUI Securities: [specify]]

[If German Law Leveraged
and Tracking  Products:

[specify]]

[If Leveraged and Tracking
Products held through
Iberclear: [specify]]

[If Uncertificated Securities:

[specify]]

(v) Beauftragte Stelle(n):

[Name(n) und Anschrift(en)
der Zahlstelle(n) (einschlief3-
lich zusétzlicher beauftrag-
ter Stellen gemal Be-
dingung 10 der Allgemeinen
Emissionsbedingungen) an-
geben]

[Bei EUI-Wertpapieren: [an-
geben]]

[Bei Deutschrechtlichen
Faktor- und Partizipations-
produkten: [angeben]]

[Bei uber Iberclear ge-
haltenen Faktor- und Parti-
zipationsprodukten:
[angeben]]

[Bei Unverbrieften Wert-

papieren: [angeben]]

DISTRIBUTION

PLATZIERUNG

(i) Method of dis- | [Syndicated] [Non-syndi- | (i) Art der Platzierung: [Syndiziert] [Nicht syndiziert]
tribution: cated]
[If syndicated: [Falls syndiziert:
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- Names [and
addresses
and under-
writing com-
mitments]* of
Managers:

[Not applicable] [give names
[and addresses and under-
writing commitments]*  of
Managers]

- Namen [und An-
schriften und Uber-
nahmever-

pflichtungen]* der
Konsortialfuhrer:

[Nicht anwendbar] [Namen
[und Anschriften und Uber-
nahmeverpflichtungen]* der
Konsortialfihrer angeben]

- Date of Syndi-
cation Agree-
ment:

[Not applicable] [give date]

- Datum des Konsor-
tialvertrags:

[Nicht anwendbar] [Datum
angeben]

[If non-syndicated:

[Falls nicht syndiziert:

- Names [and | [Not applicable] [give names - Namen [und An- | [Nicht anwendbar] [Namen
addresses [and addresses and under- schriften und Uber- | [und Anschriften und Uber-
and any un- | writing commitments]* of nahmeverpflich- nahmeverpflichtungen]* der
derwriting Dealers] tung] des/der | Platzeure angeben]
commitment] Platzeurs/
of the Platzeure:

Dealer(s):

(ii) Total commis- | [[e] per cent. of the aggregate | (i) Gesamtprovision und | [[e] Prozent des Gesamt-
sion and con- | Notional Amount] [There is no -gebuhr: nominalbetrags] [Es wird
cession: commission and/or conces- keine Provision und/oder

sion paid by the Issuer to the
Dealer] [or the] [Managers]
[Not applicable] [Specify
other]]*

Gebuhr von der Emittentin
an den Platzeur [oder] [die]
Konsortialfihrer] gezahlt]
[Nicht anwendbar] [Sonstige
Provisionen angeben]]*

(i) TEFRA rules:

[Not Applicable] [TEFRA D]
[TEFRA C]

(iii) TEFRA-Vors